Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume ||

Edited by Pedro Forte, Daniel Leite Portella and Diogo Monteiro

Coordinated by José Eduardo Teixeira

Published in Frontiers in Psychology Frontiers in Sports and Active Living





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5138-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5138-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume II

Topic editors

Pedro Forte — Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal Daniel Leite Portella — Universidade Municipal de São Caetano do Sul, Brazil Diogo Monteiro — Escola Superior Educação e Ciências Sociais, Politécnico de Leiria, Portugal

Topic coordinator

José Eduardo Teixeira — Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (IPB), Portugal

Citation

Forte, P., Portella, D. L., Monteiro, D., Teixeira, J. E., eds. (2024). *Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume II.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5138-7



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume II Pedro Forte, José Eduardo Teixeira, Daniel Leite Portella and Diogo Monteiro
- 07 Effects of exercise on body mass index and waist circumference of individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a systematic review with meta-analysis

Miguel Jacinto, Diogo Monteiro, Raul Antunes, José Pedro Ferreira, Rui Matos and Maria João Campos

20 Sports activity limitation during the COVID-19 pandemic in young Italian athletes: impact on mental health in children, adolescents, and young adults

Elisa Tomezzoli, Oriana D'Ecclesiis, Sara Raimondi, Gabriella Pravettoni, Giulio Cammarata, Giovanna Testa, Federica Bellerba, Patrizia Gnagnarella, Maria Luisa Iannuzzo, Alessandro Sartorio, Clementina Sasso, Dorotea Ricci, Nicoletta Marazzi, Federica Galli and Sara Gandini on behalf of the EuCARE WP4

- 33 The relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being in Chinese university students: the mediating roles of perceived health, social support and self-esteem Tianzhi Liao, Yujia Yin, Xiaoyong Hu, Saizhao Tang and Yunsik Shim
- 43 Effects of a dry-land strengthening exercise program with elastic bands following the Kabat D2 diagonal flexion pattern for the prevention of shoulder injuries in swimmers Ivan Della Tommasina, Alfonso Trinidad-Morales, Pedro Martínez-Lozano, Ángel González-de-la-Flor and José Ángel Del-Blanco-Muñiz
- 50 The effect of the partnership between DanceSport couples on competitive performance: the mediating role of athlete engagement

Xiuxia Liu, Bo Wu, Xinghe Weng and Qi Shan

- 61 Values and physical activity among sports science students in France and China: a transcultural analysis Yan Liang, Olivier Rascle, Paul H. P. Hanel, Jian Yang and
- Nicolas Souchon
 Comparison of force variables and dynamic strength index between age groups in elite young Brazilian football

Daniel L. Portella, Pedro Jatene, Alex O. Da Silva, Gustavo S. dos Santos, Diogo Monteiro, José E. Teixeira, Luís Branquinho, Ricardo Ferraz and Pedro Forte

goalkeepers

82 Effects of golf instructors' professional certification levels on amateur golfers' perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention: testing placebo and nocebo effects

Hye Jin Yang, Ji-Hye Yang, Si Cheol Jung, Chulhwan Choi and Chul-Ho Bum

- 90 Development and validation of an interview guide for examining the effects of sports careers on the quality of life of retired Portuguese football players Eduardo Teixeira, Carlos Silva and António Vicente
- 101 A study on the impact of systematic desensitization training on competitive anxiety among Latin dance athletes Jie Chen, Duoqi Zhou, Dan Gong, Shunli Wu and Weikai Chen
- 109 Psychological correlates of physical activity among adults living in rural and urban settings
 Zoe Sirotiak, Angelique G. Brellenthin, Arjun Hariharan, Amy S. Welch, Jacob D. Meyer and Warren D. Franke

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Guy Cheron, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

*CORRESPONDENCE Pedro Forte ⊠ pedromiguel.forte@iscedouro.pt

RECEIVED 17 May 2024 ACCEPTED 17 June 2024 PUBLISHED 26 June 2024

CITATION

Forte P, Teixeira JE, Portella DL and Monteiro D (2024) Editorial: Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume II. *Front. Psychol.* 15:1434218. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1434218

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Forte, Teixeira, Portella and Monteiro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume II

Pedro Forte^{1,2,3,4*}, José Eduardo Teixeira^{2,3,4,5,6}, Daniel Leite Portella⁷ and Diogo Monteiro^{2,8}

¹CI-ISCE, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Penafiel, Portugal, ²Research Center in Sports, Health, and Human Development, Covilhã, Portugal, ³Department of Sports Sciences, Instituto Politécnico de Bragança, Bragança, Portugal, ⁴Research Center for Active Living and Wellbeing (Livewell), Instituto Politécnico de Bragança, Bragança, Portugal, ⁵Department of Sports Sciences, Polytechnic Institute of Guarda, Guarda, Portugal, ⁶Research Center in Sports Performance, Innovation and Technology (SPRINT) Recreation, Guarda, Portugal, ⁷Master Program in Innovation in Higher Education, University of São Caetano do Sul, São Caetano do Sul, Brazil, ⁸Department of Human Kinetics, School of Education and Social Sciences (ESECS), Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal

KEYWORDS

exercise, sports, performance, psychophysiological, physical activity

Editorial on the Research Topic

Towards a psychophysiological approach in physical activity, exercise, and sports, volume II

The critical role of physical activity in fostering physical and mental health and wellbeing has been well-documented across diverse populations and contexts. Recent studies published in leading journals provide compelling evidence of the multifaceted benefits of exercise, from improving physical metrics such as body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference to enhancing mental health and subjective wellbeing. These insights underscore the importance of promoting physical activity as a cornerstone of public health. Health related physical activity was a very important discussed topic during COVID-19 pandemic, and for that reason, it is cleared illuminated the critical intersection between physical activity and mental health. That's in line with the published study in this Research Topic by Tomezzoli et al. on young Italian athletes. The authors revealed the detrimental effects of sports activity limitations on mental health. The enforced inactivity during lockdowns led to increased anxiety, depression, and a sense of loss among children, adolescents, and young adults. This allows to remind the psychological benefits of regular physical activity and the need for robust policies to ensure continued access to sports and recreational activities. However, where and when to do is a critical aspect and environment may play an important role on wellbeing. The study from Sirotiak et al. highlight significant differences in how physical activity influences psychological wellbeing depending on the environment. This research underscores the importance of considering geographic and environmental factors when promoting physical activity, ensuring that interventions are tailored to the specific needs and contexts of different populations.

The society, culture, and wellbeing were also part of the discussion in this Research Topic. The study from Jacinto et al. delves into the effects of exercise on individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities. The review highlighted significant reductions in BMI and waist circumference, underscoring the potential of tailored exercise programs to improve physical health metrics in this population. This study was particularly crucial to understand the barriers to participating in physical activities, which can exacerbate health disparities. The study from Liao et al. identified perceived health, social support, and self-esteem as key mediating factors, reinforcing the idea that the benefits of physical activity extend beyond physical health to encompass mental and social dimensions. The transcultural analysis by Liang et al. on sports science students in France and China allowed to understand how cultural contexts shape values and attitudes toward physical activity. Finally, Liu et al. explored how partnership dynamics in DanceSport, suggesting that the strong interpersonal relationships and engagement can significantly boost performance, pointing to the broader psychosocial benefits of sports and dance activities.

Regarding to improving the sports performance, four studies measured performance, perceptions, competence, and strategies for long-term and to end the careers. Della Tommasina et al. explored the preventive benefits of exercise, examined a dryland strengthening program for swimmers. The findings showed that exercises using elastic bands could significantly reduce shoulder injuries, highlighting the importance of injury prevention strategies in sports training. This approach not only enhances athletic performance but also ensures the long-term health and participation of athletes. Other study by Portella et al. on Brazilian football goalkeepers highlights the developmental differences in strength and force variables across age groups. This study provided critical data for age-appropriate training regimens, which are essential for the optimal development of young athletes. The impact of professional certification on perceptions of expertise and credibility among golf instructors was investigated by Yang et al.. In their study the perceived quality of instruction can significantly influence learning outcomes and participation intentions, emphasizing the need for professional development in sports education. The study from Teixeira et al. developed an interview guide for the retired Portuguese football players. This instrument allows to assess the long-term impacts of sports careers on quality of life. Finally, the Chen et al. study focused on systematic desensitization training to reduce competitive anxiety in Latin dance athletes. This approach demonstrates how psychological interventions can complement physical training to enhance overall athletic performance. Altogether, several psychological variables played an important role in physiological performance, reinforcing the importance to better understand the concept of Psychophysiology.

Altogether, these studies collectively highlight the indispensable role of physical activity, exercise, and sports in enhancing various dimensions of health and wellbeing. They also stress the importance of continued research and tailored interventions to address specific needs across different populations. As we advance, integrating these insights into public health strategies will be key to fostering a healthier, more active society. This Research Topic aimed to offer valuable insights into the complex relationship between psychological factors, cognition, and physiological variables within the domains of physical activity, exercise, and sports. By exploring these multifaceted interactions through a comprehensive psychophysiological approach, we have achieved a deeper understanding of new strategies for optimizing performance, promoting health, and improving the overall quality of life in sports and exercise contexts. However, benefits of physical activity help to offer a holistic approach to health and wellbeing. It is important to seek further studies on the psychophysiological concept to continue uncovering strategies for enhancing health and performance in diverse populations.

Author contributions

PF: Writing – original draft. JT: Writing – review & editing. DP: Writing – review & editing. DM: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Antonino Patti, University of Palermo, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Marta Sevilla-Sanchez, University of A Coruña, Spain Rafael E. Reigal, Universidad de Málaga, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Diogo Monteiro, ⊠ diogo.monteiro@ipleiria.pt

RECEIVED 08 June 2023 ACCEPTED 21 July 2023 PUBLISHED 02 August 2023

CITATION

Jacinto M, Monteiro D, Antunes R, Ferreira JP, Matos R and Campos MJ (2023), Effects of exercise on body mass index and waist circumference of individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Front. Physiol.* 14:1236379. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2023.1236379

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Jacinto, Monteiro, Antunes, Ferreira, Matos and Campos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of exercise on body mass index and waist circumference of individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a systematic review with meta-analysis

Miguel Jacinto^{1,2,3}, Diogo Monteiro^{2,3,4}*, Raul Antunes^{2,3,5}, José Pedro Ferreira^{1,6}, Rui Matos^{2,3} and Maria João Campos^{1,6}

¹Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, ²ESECS—Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal, ³Life Quality Research Centre (CIEQV), Leiria, Portugal, ⁴Research Center in Sport Sciences, Health Sciences and Human Development (CIDESD), Vila Real, Portugal, ⁵Center for Innovative Care and Health Technology (ciTechCare), Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal, ⁶Research Center for Sport and Physical Activity (CIDAF), Coimbra, Portugal

Introduction/Methods: This systematic review with meta-analysis aims to assess the magnitude of the effects of physical exercise programs on body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference (WC) of individuals with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (IDD), metabolic and cardiovascular health markers.

Results: Considering the eligibility criteria, a final sample of nine articles was obtained. For BMI, the *Z*-value obtained to test the null hypothesis (difference between means is zero), showed a Z = -2.176 and p = 0.03. The highest magnitude of the effect was from the intervention with combined training (difference in means: -0.399), with a value of Z = -1.815 and p = 0.07. For WC, the *Z*-value is zero, showing a Z = -3.306 and p = 0.001. The highest magnitude of the effect was from the intervention with continuous cardiorespiratory training of -0.786, with a value of Z = -2.793 and p = 0.005.

Discussion: Physical exercise prevents increases in BMI and WC in individuals with IDD. Aerobic training seems to be more effective in promoting WC and combined training in BMI.

Systematic Review Registration: [PROSPERO], identifier [CRD42021255316].

KEYWORDS

anthropometric assessment, body mass index intellectual disability, obesity, overweight, waist circumference

1 Introduction

Obesity is a major public health problem due to its growing prevalence, as it increases the risk of developing various diseases such as cardiovascular or metabolic diseases (de Winter et al., 2009; Vancampfort et al., 2020), increasing mortality in earlier ages when compared to the general population (Hosking et al., 2016). Excessive adiposity results from an imbalance between energy intake and expenditure.

Body mass index (BMI) and abdominal adiposity assessed using waist circumference (WC), body composition and anthropometric variables, are essential markers to assess overweight and obesity and are associated to metabolic disease and QoL (Klein et al., 2007; Kobo et al., 2019). This measure are non-evasive methods widely used in individual with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (IDD) to measure nutritional status (Temple et al., 2010; Waninge et al., 2010) and individuals with IDD are more likely to be overweight or obese compared to the general population (Zwierzchowska et al., 2021).

A systematic review with meta-analysis carried out by Maïano and collaborators (Maïano et al., 2016) showed that children and adolescents with IDD were 1.54 and 1.89 times more likely to be overweight and obese, when compared to the population without disability. These results are transversal to all age groups, from children (Wang et al., 2018), to adolescents (Krause et al., 2016) and adults (de Winter et al., 2012). Several factors may influence this prevalence, such as: 1) being female (de Winter et al., 2012); 2) advancing in age (Ranjan et al., 2018); 3) having DS (Krause et al., 2016); 4) having a degree of mild or moderate disability (Ranjan et al., 2018); 5) genetic factors (Wang et al., 2018). Other additional factors such as socioeconomic level, perceptions and attitudes towards physical activity, health problems and other characteristics of the disability itself (McGillivray et al., 2013), may also play a determinant role in this prevalence.

Considering the BMI variable, Temple and collaborators (Temple et al., 2014), when evaluating 11,643 individuals with IDD, verified that 5.5% of the sample was underweight, 36.1% in the normal range, 24.7% overweight, and 32.1% obese. Concluded that levels of overweight and obesity were high. Likewise, Foley and collaborators (Foley et al., 2017), evaluating 4,174 individuals with IDD, he also found that 32% were overweight and 11% were obese. At the same time, 21% of the participants were above the cut-off for abdominal obesity.

High values of BMI and WC, show a high prevalence of overweight and obesity in individuals with IDD. These values are associated with high risk metabolic and cardiovascular disease, excessive health costs (Vohra et al., 2017; Wyszyńska et al., 2017) and increased risk of incidence and mortality (Parra-Soto et al., 2021). On the other hand, BMI and WC are recommended by ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021) as two possible measures of anthropometric and body composition for individuals with IDD.

The global impact of physical activity and physical exercise on BMI and WC in people with IDD is not known, nor is the most effective type of exercise training for promoting these variables. International guidelines recommend by WHO (World Health Organization, 2020) and ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021) identify physical activity and exercise as important tools to improve daily life and wellbeing with a positive impact in different age groups (Kim et al., 2019). For these people, the variable mentioned, when practiced regularly, seem to be associated with improvements not only in physical fitness but also in reducing the risk of the appearance of metabolic and cardiovascular disease, reducing health costs and promoting their QoL (Pestana et al., 2018; Jacinto et al., 2021).

Since all of this work is based on the Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription for individual with IDD (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021), we consider aerobic, resistance and flexibility training. According to ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021) aerobic exercise is the ability of the circulatory and respiratory system to supply oxygen during sustained physical activity, resistance training is the capacity of muscle to exert force and flexibility is the range of motion available at a joint.

The main purpose of the present systematic review with metaanalysis is to measure the magnitude of effects of different types of physical exercise on BMI and WC, metabolic and cardiovascular health parameter, in individual with IDD aiming to provide relevant information to sport sciences and health sciences professionals when planning, implementing and monitoring exercise intervention programs in people with IDD.

2 Materials and methods

The present systematic review with meta-analysis followed the guidelines defined in the original checklist of Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses—PRISMA (Page et al., 2021). The protocol has been registered at the PROSPERO International Propective Regiter of Sytematic Review, with a number 2021: CRD42021255316.

The PICOS strategy (Methley et al., 2014; Nang et al., 2015) was used to ensure rigor defining of the research question, in which: 1) "P" corresponded to participants with IDD of any age, regardless of ethnicity or gender; 2) "T" corresponded to any physical exercise program implemented in the population with IDD (DS included), regardless of the intervention time, according to ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021); 3) "C" (Comparison) corresponded to the comparison between the CG versus the; 4) "O" corresponded to BMI and WC as the first or second variable in focus; 5) "S" (Study Design) corresponded to randomized controlled clinical trials (RCT).

2.1 Data sources

The search was conducted in the English language, in the following electronic databases: PubMed (title and abstract), Web of Science, and Scopus (title, abstract and key words), accessed between February 2021 and December 2022, using the advanced search option, with randomized exercise intervention studies. The search has been updated until the 10th of December. The search strategy combined Key Medical Subject Heading and indexed search descriptors to refine the data, following the recommendation from the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Review of Intervention (Higgins and Altman, 2008), as shown in Table 1.

2.2 Eligibility criteria and studies selection

To be included in the present systematic review with meta-analysis, studies must meet the following inclusion criteria: 1) RCT studies with exercise intervention (with intervention group and control group), with any prescription in terms of intensities and duration, according to ACSM guidelines (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021); 2) All participants mut have an IDD diagnosis, whatever the degrees, including other subgroups with IDD (diagnosis by Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale—Fourth Edition (Wechsler, 2008) or The Wechsler

TABLE 1 Research Content.

Research content

("intellectual disability" OR "intellectual disabilities" OR "mental retardation" OR "Down Syndrome" OR "Intellectual Developmental Disorder" OR "Intellectual Developmental Disability") AND ("exercise" OR "training") AND ("body mass index" OR "waist circumference").

Intelligence Scale for Children-Fifth Edition Integrated (Raiford, 2018); 3) Participants with IDD of any age, gender, race or ethnicity, regarding ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021); 4) Studies focusing on aerobic, neuromuscular, flexibility or combined capacity (training that combines more than one physical capacity, e.g., strength and aerobic capacity), which recommended by ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021), Figure 1 shows research content. In turn, all studies with the following characteristics were excluded: 1) Studies published in a language other than English; 2) Studies that do no describe the intervention protocol; 3) Studies with participants with another type of disability or other associated pathologies; 4) Studies in which the intervention is multidimensional (studies involving exercise and nutrition, exercise and health education sessions); 5) Studies that do not show anthropometric data (BMI and WC); 6) Studies that the intervention protocol is through virtual reality (institution where we want to replicate the protocol does not have access to this material, as well as other institutions where most of this population usually spends their day); sports programs. All studies that did not meet the initial selection criteria and did not report results adequately (mean, standard deviation and sample size) or if the respective authors did not reply to our inquiries sent by email, were excluded. Finally, articles presented in abstracts, letters to the editor, systematic reviews, study protocols, and book chapters were excluded.

2.3 Data extraction

Studies were imported into EndNote X7 software, and duplicates were removed. The study selection procedure was carried out in phases. In the first phase, the search for potentially relevant studies was carried out with the participation of two independent reviewers, based on the titles and the abstract. These studies would proceed to the next evaluation phase in case of doubt following. In the second phase, the studies from the previous stage were reviewed by the same independent reviewers based on the application of the previously defined eligibility criteria. In case of doubt or disagreement regarding the inclusion of a study, this was solved through a third reviewer's opinion playing the mediator's role and whose decision was used as a tiebreaker. Finally, the first two reviewers involved in the selection of the studies participated independently in the analysis of the studies extracting all relevant information and characteristics, namely, the author's name, year and country where it was carried out, objective, participants, instruments/ techniques, duration/frequency, and results. In this phase, discrepancies about the extracted data were resolved by consensus among reviewers.

2.4 Quality assessment of studies

The PEDro Scale from the Physiotherapy Evidence Database, was used (Maher et al., 2003) to assess the quality of each study. The scale consists of 11 items, which analyse the different characteristics of each study, one of which is not counted (item 1) and the two others are not applicable in the field of sports science (items 5 and 6). The results obtained by both were compared and discussed so that there was a consensus. When there was no consensus, a third researcher was invited to collaborate.

2.5 Statistical analysis

Meta-analysis was performed using Comprehensive Metaanalysis Version 3.0 statistical software. The standardised difference in means was calculated based on information on pre and post-intervention means, number of participants, and standard deviation, using the randomized effects model to measure the effect size, the confidence interval (CI) of 95%, the magnitude of effects and level of statistical significance (p < 0.05). Favours A corresponds to, EG and Favour B correspond to CG. Heterogeneity was measured using chi-square, Cochran's Q statistic, Higgin I squared (I^2) , and Tau square tests (T^2) . The Q statistic was used to test the null hypothesis, according to which all studies under analysis share a typical magnitude of effects. If all studies share the same effect-size, the expected values of Q would be equal to the number of degrees of freedom (N-1). I^2 , which represents the percentage of variance attributed to the heterogeneity of the study, ranged from low (25%) to high (50%), with 50% being considered moderate (Batterham and Hopkins, 2006). T^2 is the variance of the true effect dimensions (in log units) between studies (Higgins et al., 2003), assuming that $T^2 > 1$ suggests the presence of substantial heterogeneity. The homogeneity was verified by visualizing the asymmetry of the funnel-shaped scatter plot (Egger et al., 1997), considering that there was no publication bias when the graph had an inverted funnel (Higgins and Altman, 2008). Since the funnelshaped scatter plot interpretation is sometimes subjective, the Egger test was used to check for publication bias (Rosenblad, 2009). Four meta-analyses were carried out, two to investigate the impact of exercise on the BMI and WC and another two to find out which type of training is most effective in provoking such adaptations.

3 Results

3.1 Data search

With the search carried out in different databases PubMed, Web of Science, and Scopus) 329 studies were identified. Subsequently, after eliminating the duplicate studies and reading the titles and abstracts, 47 studies with potential relevance to the study were identified. Considering the eligibility criteria previously defined for this systematic review with meta-analysis, from the complete reading of the articles, a sample of nine studies was constituted for their full analysis (Figure 2).



3.2 Characteristics of the studies

Details of the 9 studies included in the systematic review and assessed for quantitative analysis are presented in Table 2.

3.3 Quality of the information

Rosety-Rodriguez and collaborators (Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014) were the studies that obtained the lowest quality score (4 points—40%), and the studies with the best scores had 8 points (80%) Shields and Taylor (Shields and Taylor, 2015), showing a good quality of the methodological procedures.

3.4 Participants

The total number of participants included in the different studies was 291, 172 in experimental groups and 119 in CG. The studies included different types of IDD, whether it is DS, autism, or others. In Boer et al. study (Boer et al., 2014), participants were attending 40 secondary school at two Belgian special education school. In Boer and Moss study (Boer and Moss, 2016), participants were recruited from three care centres for persons with IDD. Participants in the Diaz and collaborators study (Diaz et al., 2021) and Ordonez and collaborators (Ordonez et al., 2014) were recruited via community support groups for people with IDD. Also, González-Agüero and collaborators (González-Agüero et al., 2012)



recruited participants from different schools and institutions. Ortiz-Ortiz (Boer et al., 2014) and Rosety-Rodriguez and collaborators (Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014) does not mention where and how participants were recruited. Shields and Taylor (Shields and Taylor, 2015) recruited participants by contacting family members who were interested and Yu and collaborators (Ortiz-Ortiz et al., 2019) recruited participants from six special schools for adolescents with mild/moderate IDD.

3.5 Duration

The exercise intervention programs ranged from 8 to 36 weeks, however is more prevalent a prescription of 10–12 weeks (Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Boer and Moss, 2016; Diaz et al., 2021), i.e., short duration programs. The two combined exercise programs included in this systematic review lasted for 21–36 weeks (González-Agüero et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2022), one of neuromuscular capacity exercise programs lasted 16 weeks (Ortiz-Ortiz et al., 2019) and other 12 weeks (Diaz et al., 2021) and the five aerobic exercise programs lasted from 8 to 15 weeks, with half being implemented over 10 weeks (Boer et al., 2014; Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Shields and Taylor, 2015; Boer and Moss, 2016).

The frequency varied between 2 and 5 times per week, with most studies implementing 3 times per week (Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Shields and Taylor, 2015; Boer and Moss, 2016; Diaz et al., 2021). The two combined exercise programs included in this systematic review with meta-analysis have a frequency of 2 times per week (González-Agüero et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2022). Regarding neuromuscular capacity, one of the exercise programs have a frequency of 5 times per week (Ortiz-Ortiz et al., 2019) and other 3 times per week (Diaz et al., 2021). Finally, the 5 aerobic exercise programs have a frequency of 2 and 3 times per week, with the majority implemented 3 times per week (Boer et al., 2014; Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Shields and Taylor, 2015; Boer and Moss, 2016). Regarding the duration of the exercise intervention session, sessions varied between 25 and 65 min including a brief warm-up and a return to calm period. The duration of the training session in the two combined exercise programs varied from 25 to 60 min (González-Agüero et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2022), one of the exercise programs for neuromuscular capacity were implemented for 55 min (Ortiz-Ortiz et al., 2019), with the other one not showing the session duration (Diaz et al., 2021), and from the five aerobic exercise programs four lasted from 30 to 60 min (Boer et al., 2014; Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Boer and Moss, 2016). One of the studies did not mention the duration of the training session, but mentions the weekly volume, namely, 150 min per week (Shields and Taylor, 2015).

3.6 Type of exercise program

Concerning aerobic training, different intensities were reported following the global recommendations/guidelines presented of the ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021) for efforts within the interval of 60%–85% of maximum heart rate (HRmax).

Some studies used an intensity of 40%–65% HRmax (Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Diaz et al., 2021), others used 100%–110% of the ventilatory threshold (Boer et al., 2014) while others reported a 70%–80% maximum oxygen consumption (VO2max) (Boer and Moss, 2016) intensity value, with gradual increments throughout the intervention. These studies use different equipment such as stationary cycling, treadmills, or other materials such as steps or walking/running.

Interval training programs demonstrate a reduced volume compared to continuo training and used periods of 10 s of maximum speed, followed by 90 s of rest (Boer and Moss, 2016) or 15 s of full speed followed by 45 s of rest (Boer et al., 2014) using cycle ergometers or simple walks/runs.

All the exercise programs focused on neuromuscular capacity used a training circuit with different materials. The study by Diaz and collaborators (Diaz et al., 2021) worked at loads of 40%–65% of 8 repetition maximum (RM). One of the combined training programs is based time set (10–30 s per set; 4 sets) and aerobic intensity interval with a HRmax between 30% and 60% (Yu et al., 2022), and a second one is a four-stage circuit based on training with body weight, fitness bands and medicine balls (González-Agüero et al., 2012).

TABLE 2 Characteristics of the 9 selected studies.

Author	Aims	Participants	Assessment tools	Exercise program	Results	Quality score
interval tra metaboli	Effects of sprint interval training on metabolic and physical fitness.	N = 46	BMI (kg/m2); WC (tape: level of the umbilicus with the 92 subject in a standing position after normal expiration).	15 weeks; 2 x week; 40 min/ session	BMI (pre vs. post) Intervention A: 28.4 ± 4.7 vs. 27.7 ± 4.7; Intervention B: 27.5 ± 2.7 vs. 26.9 ± 3.1; Control: 26.9 ± 3.2 vs. 26.9 ± 2.9.	5/8
		17 ± 3 years; IDD (fragile X syndrome, fetal alcohol syndrome, Prader–Willi and others)		Intervention A - Interval training: a sprint interval block (10 min), continuous aerobic exercise (10 min), and another sprint interval block (10 min); each sprint interval block consisted of 10 sprint bouts (>100 r/min) of 15s at a resistance matching with the VTR, alternated with 45s relative rest (50 r/min at VTR); 100%–110% of VTR	WC (pre vs. post) Intervention A: 95.8 ± 13.1 vs. 91.5 ± 13.1; Intervention B: 95.9 ± 9.6 vs. 93.4 ± 9.6; Control: 95 ± 8.8 vs. 95.9 ± 8.2.	
		Randomized groups: interval training—Intervention A (N = 17); continuous aerobic training—Intervention B (N = 15); control (N = 14).	-	Intervention B—Continuous aerobic training: cycling (10 min), walking/running (10 min), stepping (10 min); 100%–110% of VTR.		
Boer and Moss (2016)	Determine the effect of continuous aerobic training vs. interval training on several parameters.	N = 42; 33.8 ± 8.6 years; DS	Body weight; Height; WC (tape: measured at the umbilicus with the participant standing upright after a normal expiration).	12 weeks; 3 x week; 30 min/ session	BMI (pre vs. post) Intervention A: 30.6 ± 6.1 vs. 30.2 ± 6.3 ; Intervention B: 29.3 ± 4 vs. 28.5 ± 4 ; Control: 31.2 ± 4.6 vs. 30.9 ± 4.2 .	7/8
		Randomized groups: continuous aerobic training—Intervention A (N = 13), interval training Intervantion B (N =		Intervention A—Continuous aerobic training: cycling or walking at an intensity of 70%–80% of VO _{2max}	WC (pre vs. post) Intervention A: 95 ± 11.1 vs. 93.7 ± 11.9; Intervention B:	
		training—Intervention B (N = 13); control (N = 16).		Intervention B—Interval training: 10–30 s all out sprints with the 90 s (1: 3 work-rest ratio) of low cadence, low intensity walking or cycling.	94.2 ± 8.1 vs. 93.8 ± 8; Control: 99.4 ± 10.9 vs. 98 ± 10.6.	
Diaz et al. (2021)	Analyze the impact of circuit RT on markers of muscle damage.	N = 36; mean age 28.1 ± 3.3 years; DS	BMI (kg/m2); WC (tape: between the costal edge and the iliac crest).	12 weeks; 3 x week; Duration of session: NA	BMI (pre vs. post): EG: 31.4 ± 5.7 vs. 31.6 ± 6; CG: 30.8 ± 5.2 vs. 31 ± 5.5.	7/8
		Randomized groups: exercise (N = 18); control (N = 18).		Resistance circuit training: 40%–65% 8RM; 2 sets; 6 to 10 reps; 90s rest between stations; Exer: arm curl (elbow flexion), triceps extension (elbow extension), leg extension, seated row, leg curl (knee flexion), and leg press (combined hip and knee extension)	WC (pre vs. post): EG: 91.4 ± 12.8 vs. 90.8 ± 13.4; Control group: 88.9 ± 13.3 vs. 89 ± 13.4.	
González-Agüero et al. (2012)	Effect of training on bone mass.	N = 28; 10–19 years; DS	Height; Weight; BMI (kg/m²)	21 weeks; 2 x week; 25 min/ session 1 or 2 rotations in a four-stage	BMI (pre vs. post): EG: 19.6 ± 2.7 vs. 20.2 ± 2.6; CG:	5/8
		Randomized groups: exercise (N = 14); control (N = 14).		circuit: jumps, press-ups on the wall, fitness bands and medicine balls.	22.4 ± 3.4 vs. $22.3 \pm 3.2.$	

(Continued on following page)

TABLE 2 (Continued) Characteristics of the 9 selected studies.

Author	Aims	Participants	Assessment tools	Exercise program	Results	Quality score
(2014) train inf cytok	Influence of aerobic training on pro- inflammatory cytokines and acute phase proteins.	N = 20; 8–30 years; DS	Height; Body weight; BMI (kg/m2); WC (tape: between the costal edge and the iliac crest).	10 weeks; 3 x week; 45–65 min/session.	BMI (pre vs. post): EG: 30.2 ± 0.9 vs. 29.8 ± 0.7; CG: 30.7 ± 0.8 vs. 30.9 ± 0.8.	5/8
		Randomized groups: exercise (N = 11); control (N = 9).		Aerobic training: 30–40 min treadmill exercise at 55%–65% of peak heart rate.	WC (pre vs. post): EG: 94.7 ± 3.3 vs. 91.5 ± 3.1; CG: 93.5 ± 3.1 vs. 93.7 ± 3.2.	
Ortiz-Ortiz et al. (2019)	Effect of a exercise on body	N = 22; 8-16 years; DS	Height; Weight; BMI (kg/m ²).	16 weeks; 5 x week; 55 min/ session	BMI (pre vs. post) Males: 21.1 ± 1.8 vs.	7/8
composition and isometric strengt		Randomized groups: exercise (N = 13); control (N = 9).		Strength training: circuit and "tabata" exercises; Different materials were used, such as weight discs, tension ropes, dumbbells, medicine balls, and handgrips; Exer: biceps curl, triceps extension, chest press, and handgrip with different degrees of tension.	19.7 ± 1.8; Females: 23.2 ± 2.9 vs. 21.5 ± 3; CG: Males: 23.3 ± 6.3 vs. 21.8 ± 5.9; CG Females: 23.3 ± 1 vs. 22.2 ± 0.9	
Rosety-Rodriguez et al. (2014)	Determine for how long the anti-	N = 20; 18–30 years; DS	WC (tape: do not mention the	10 weeks; 3 x week; 60 min/ session.	WC (pre vs. post): EG: 94.7 ± 3.3 vs. 91.5 ± 3.1; CG: 93.5 ± 3.1 vs. 93.7 ± 3.2.	4/8
	inflammatory effect induced by aerobic training.	Randomized groups: exercise (N = 11); control (N = 9).	procedures).	Aerobic training: 30–40 min—treadmill; 55%– 65% of peak heart rate.		
hields and Taylor (2015)	Feasibility of a physical activity program.	N = 16; 18–35 years; DS	WC (tape: do not mention the procedures).	8 weeks; 3 x week; 150 min of moderate intensity PA per week	WC (pre vs. post): EG: 95.6 ± 17.2 vs. 90.1 ± 12.1; CG:	8/8
		Randomized groups: exercise (N = 8); control (N = 8).		Aerobic training: walking.	89.3 ± 8.8 vs. 94.1 ± 7.4.	
Yu et al. (2022)	Effectiveness school-based adapted physical activity.	N = 61; 12–18 years; IDD	BMI: (kg/m2); WC (tape: midway point between the lowest rib margin and the top of the iliac crest at the end of a gentle ventilatory	36 weeks; 2 x week; 45–60 min/session	BMI (pre vs. post): EG: 28.16 ± 3.69 vs. 27.5 ± 3.97; CG: 27.37 ± 3.99 vs. 28.05 ± 3.75.	6/8
		Randomized groups: EG (N = 39); CG (N = 22).	expiration).	Aerobic training: 30%–60% peak heart rate—walk/run	WC (pre vs. post): EG 93.55 ± 10.11 vs.	
				Strength training: jumping jacks, high kness, sit-ups; 10–30s/sets; 4 sets; 1 min to 40 s break between sets.	91.54 ± 11.1; CG: 90.51 ± 11.72 vs. 92.27 ± 9.26.	

Note: CG, control group; EG, exercise group; DS, down syndrome; Exer, Exercise/s; Min, minutes; N, participants; Rep, repetitions; RM, maximum repetition; s, Seconds; SD, standard deviation; VO_{2max}, maximum oxygen consumption; VTR, ventilatory threshold; *, Only analysed the exercise and control group.

3.7 Results of intervention on BMI

Figure 2 show the impact of exercise on BMI.

The sum of the effects is -0.263, which means that individuals in the, EG are 0.263 times more likely to report decreases when compared to the CG when the inclusion and exclusion criteria previously described in the study are met. The CI for the difference in means is from -0.5 to -0.026, which means that the gross disparity in means, in the universe of studies, may fall somewhere in this interval. On the other hand, this range does not include the difference of zero, which means that the true difference in means is different from zero. The *Z* values obtained to test the null hypothesis, according to which the difference between means is zero, showed a Z = -2.176, with the corresponding value of p = 0.03. The obtained value of Q is 3.856 with 9 degrees of freedom and with a $p \ge 0.05$. We cannot reject the null hypothesis that the true magnitude of effects is the same across studies, and we can say that the true extent of effects does not varies from study to study. In the present meta-analysis, the I^2 value obtained is 0, which means that the variance in the observed effects reflect 0% the variance in the true results. On the other hand, T^2 corresponds to the variance of the true magnitude of the impact



Group by	Study name		_	Statistics for	or each s	tudy				Std d	iff in means and 9	5% CI		
pe of training		Std diff in means	Standard error	Variance	Lower limit	Upper limit	Z-Value	p-Value						Relat weig
erobic training	Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention B	-0,258	0,373	0,139	-0,989	0,473	-0,691	0,489	1			- 1	1	37
erobic training	Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention A	-0,024	0,373	0,139	-0,756	0,707	-0,065	0,948				_		37
erobic training	Ordonez et al. (2014)	-0,945	0,474	0,224	-1,874	-0,017	-1,996	0,046						25
erobic training		-0,343	0,253	0,064	-0,839	0,154	-1,352	0,176						
Combined training	González-Agüero et al. (2012)	-0,301	0,380	0,144	-1,046	0,444	-0,793	0,428						33
Combined training	Yu et al. (2022)	-0,448	0,270	0,073	-0,977	0,080	-1,663	0,096						66
Combined training		-0,399	0,220	0,048	-0,830	0,032	-1,815	0,070						
nterval training	Boer et al. (2014) Intervention A	-0,223	0,362	0,131	-0,933	0,486	-0,616	0,538				-		51
nterval training	Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B	-0, 152	0,374	0,140	-0,885	0,581	-0,407	0,684		I —		-		48
nterval training		-0, 189	0,260	0,068	-0,699	0,321	-0,726	0,468						
trength training	Diazetal. (2021)	-0,000	0,333	0,111	-0,653	0,653	-0,000	1,000		- 1	_	_		63
trength training	Ortiz-Ortiz et al. (2019) - Males	-0,029	0,577	0,333	-1,160	1,103	-0,050	0,960		_				21
trength training	Ortiz-Ortiz et al. (2019) - Females	-0,298	0,693	0,481	-1,657	1,061	-0,430	0,668	- 1					14
trength training		-0,050	0,266	0,071	-0,572	0,472	-0, 188	0,851		- -		-		
									-2,00	-1,00	0,00	1,00	2,00	
										Intervention		Control		
										marvendon		CONTO		
IGURE 4														
ifference in	effect size means comp	aring diff	erent e	exercise	- (BM	1)								
	encer size means comp	ann g ann	o. one e		,011	.,.								

(true effect sizes) between studies that, in the present study, have a value of 0, as well as the value of *T*, concerning the deviation pattern of the true magnitude of the effects.

Figure 3 show the publication bias.

In addition, the Egger test was carried out, which proposes to test the null hypothesis according to which the intercept is equal to zero in the population. For Figure 4, the intercept is -0.03655, 95% CI (-2.20324, -2.13014), with t = 0.0389, degrees of freedom = 8 The recommended value of p (2-tailed) is 0.96. There is no statistical evidence for the existence of publication bias.

3.7.1 Most effective type of training to improve BMI

Figure 4 show the impact of different exercise on BMI.

Continuous aerobic training—The magnitude of the effect of the intervention with aerobic training was -0.343, with a value of Z = -1.352 and p = 0.176. Combined training—The effect of the intervention with interval training was -0.399, with a value of Z = -1.815 and p = 0.07. Interval training—The effect of the intervention with interval training was -0.189, with a value of Z = -0.726 and p = 0.468. Strength training—The magnitude of the effect of the intervention with strength training was -0.05, with a value of Z = -0.188 and p = 0.851. In this case, Q = 1.202 with 3 degrees of freedom and p > 0.05. We can accept the null hypothesis that the actual effect size is the same in all studies. However, the study that shows the greatest effectiveness is combined training, which has a higher magnitude of effect, although the difference between the effects of different studies is not significant.





3.8 Results of intervention on WC

Figure 5 show the impact of exercise on WC.

The sum of the effects is -0.515, which means that individuals in the, EG are 0.515 times more likely to report decreases when compared to the CG when the inclusion and exclusion criteria previously described in the study are met. The CI for the difference in means is from -0.82 to -0.21, which means that the gross disparity in means, in the universe of studies, may fall somewhere in this interval. On the other hand, this range does not include the difference of zero, which means that the true difference in means is different from zero. The Z values obtained to test the null hypothesis, according to which the difference between means is zero, showed a Z = -3.306, with the corresponding value of p = 0.001. The obtained value of Q is 11.683 with 8 degrees of freedom and with a p = 0.166. We cannot reject the null hypothesis that the true magnitude of effects is the same across studies, and we cannot say that the true extent of effects varies from study to study. In the present metaanalysis, the I^2 value obtained is 31.526, which means that the variance in the observed effects does not reflect the variance in the true results (just reflect 31%). On the other hand, T^2 corresponds to the variance of the true magnitude of the impact (true effect sizes) between studies that, in the present study, have a value of 0.067, as

Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention B Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention A Ordonez et al. (2014) Rosety-Rodrugze et al. (2014)	Std diff in means -0,482 -0,012 -1,379	Standard error 0,377 0,373	Variance 0,142 0.139	limit -1,221	Upper limit 0,257	Z-Value -1,279	p-Value 0,201						Rela
Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention A Ordonez et al. (2014)	-0,012	0,373			0,257	-1,279	0.201	1	I —		1	1	2
Ordonez et al. (2014)			0 139										4
	-1,379			-0,743	0,720	-0,031	0,975						2
Rosety-Rodriguez et al. (2014)		0,500	0,250	-2,358	-0,400	-2,760	0,006			- 1			1
	-1,379	0,500	0,250	-2,358	-0,400	-2,760	0,006			_			1
Shields & Taylor (2015)	-1,051	0,533	0,285	-2,097	-0,006	-1,971	0,049		╶────				1
	-0,786	0,281	0,079	-1,337	-0,234	-2,793	0,005						
Yu et al. (2022)	-0,453	0,270	0,073	-0,982	0,076	-1,678	0,093		-				10
	-0,453	0,270	0,073	-0,982	0,076	-1,678	0,093			Ō			
Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A	-0,595	0,369	0,136	-1,318	0,128	-1,614	0,107			Ť.			5
Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B	-0,134	0,374	0,140	-0,866	0,599	-0,358	0,720						4
	-0,368	0,263	0,069	-0,882	0,147	-1,400	0,161						
Diaz et al. (2021)	-0,068	0,333	0,111	-0,722	0,585	-0,205	0,838			—			10
	-0,068	0,333	0,111	-0,722	0,585	-0,205	0,838						
								-4,00	-2,00	0,00	2,00	4,00	
									Intervention		Control		
	Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 -0,453 -0,453 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0,555 Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B -0,134 Diaz et al. (2021) -0,008	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 -0,453 0,270 -0,453 0,270 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0,565 0,389 Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B -0,134 0,374 -0,368 0,263 0,263 Diaz et al. (2021) -0,068 0,333	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0,073 -0,453 0,270 0,073 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0,55 0,399 0,138 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0,155 0,399 0,138 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention B -0,134 0,434 0,409 Diaz et al. (2021) -0,068 0,333 0,111	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0,073 -0,982 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0,955 0,398 0,156 -0,138 Boer & M.oss (2016) - Intervention B -0,134 0,374 0,490 0,882 Diaze et al. (2021) -0,038 0,033 0,114 0,724	Yu et al. (2022) -0.453 0.270 0.073 -0.982 0.076 -0.463 0.270 0.073 -0.982 0.076 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0.956 0.389 0.135 -1.138 0.128 Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B -0.134 0.374 0.140 -0.866 0.989 Data et al. (2021) -0.098 0.333 0.0111 -0.722 0.956	Yu et al. (2022) -0,463 0,270 0,073 -0,882 0,076 -1,678 -0,463 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 Boer et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0,956 0,368 0,378 0,318 -0,184 Boer & Moss (2016) - Intervention B -0,154 0,374 0,484 0,586 0,589 0,388 0,589 0,388 0,482 0,474 -0,485 0,584 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,488 0,489 0,489 0,388 0,489 0,486 0,489 <td< td=""><td>Yu et al. (2022) -0.453 0.270 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.083 Boar et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0.453 0.270 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.083 Boar et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0.956 0.398 0.136 -1.138 0.128 -1.614 0.107 Boar et al. (2014) - Intervention B -0.134 0.374 0.409 -0.868 0.899 0.358 0.720 Boar et al. (2012) -0.0368 0.234 0.409 -0.868 0.482 0.147 -1.400 0.161 Diaze et al. (2021) -0.0688 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.865 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368</td><td>Yu et al. (2022) -0.463 0.270 0.073 -0.882 0.076 -1.678 0.003 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.027 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.003 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.023 0.027 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.003 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.033 0.138 -1.318 0.287 0.138 0.138 0.164 0.107 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.263 0.263 0.268 0.268 0.268 0.270 0.720 Boer et al. (2014) -1.618 0.214 0.244 0.40 -0.868 0.474 -1.400 0.171 Diaz et al. (2021) -0.068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838</td><td>Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1145 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) - 1145 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) - 1145 0,156 -1,138 0,282 0,176 -1,1678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) - 1146 0,107 - 0,058 0,283 0,169 - 0,358 0,720 - 0,058 0,263 0,161 - 0,161 Boar et al. (2021) - 0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,565 -0,205 0,838 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,565 -0,205 0,838 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,565 -0,205 0,838</td><td>Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0.270 0.073 -0,982 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10453 0.270 0.073 -0,982 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.389 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.389 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.389 0.082 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.383 0.134 0.374 0.140 0.866 0.599 -0.368 0.720 Diaz et al. (2021) -0,068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838 -0,068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838 -0,068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838</td><td>Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,0270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,082 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,082 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,082 0,076 -1,678 0,083 -0,685 0,389 0,336 0,128 -1,614 0,107 Boer et al. (2014) -1,678 0,082 0,767 -1,678 0,083 -0,388 0,283 0,089 -0,388 0,720 -0,688 0,720 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,585 -0,225 0,838 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,585 -0,225 0,838</td><td>Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0.073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) Intervention A -0,956 0,389 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) Intervention A -0,956 0,389 0,128 -1,614 0,107 Boer et al. (2014) Intervention B -0,134 0,374 0,140 0,886 0,259 -0,388 0,720 Dear et al. (2012) -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,555 -0,255 0,838 Dear et al. (2021) -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,555 -0,255 0,838 Dear et al. (2022) -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,555 -0,255 0,838</td></td<>	Yu et al. (2022) -0.453 0.270 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.083 Boar et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0.453 0.270 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.083 Boar et al. (2014) - Intervention A -0.956 0.398 0.136 -1.138 0.128 -1.614 0.107 Boar et al. (2014) - Intervention B -0.134 0.374 0.409 -0.868 0.899 0.358 0.720 Boar et al. (2012) -0.0368 0.234 0.409 -0.868 0.482 0.147 -1.400 0.161 Diaze et al. (2021) -0.0688 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.865 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368 0.265 0.368	Yu et al. (2022) -0.463 0.270 0.073 -0.882 0.076 -1.678 0.003 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.027 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.003 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.023 0.027 0.073 -0.862 0.076 -1.678 0.003 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.033 0.138 -1.318 0.287 0.138 0.138 0.164 0.107 Boer et al. (2014) -1.678 0.263 0.263 0.268 0.268 0.268 0.270 0.720 Boer et al. (2014) -1.618 0.214 0.244 0.40 -0.868 0.474 -1.400 0.171 Diaz et al. (2021) -0.068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1145 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) - 1145 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) - 1145 0,156 -1,138 0,282 0,176 -1,1678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) - 1146 0,107 - 0,058 0,283 0,169 - 0,358 0,720 - 0,058 0,263 0,161 - 0,161 Boar et al. (2021) - 0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,565 -0,205 0,838 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,565 -0,205 0,838 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,565 -0,205 0,838	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0.270 0.073 -0,982 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10453 0.270 0.073 -0,982 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.389 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.389 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.389 0.082 0.076 -1,678 0.083 Boer et al. (2014) -10456 0.383 0.134 0.374 0.140 0.866 0.599 -0.368 0.720 Diaz et al. (2021) -0,068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838 -0,068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838 -0,068 0.333 0.111 -0.722 0.585 -0.205 0.838	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,0270 0,073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,082 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,082 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) -1,676 0,082 0,076 -1,678 0,083 -0,685 0,389 0,336 0,128 -1,614 0,107 Boer et al. (2014) -1,678 0,082 0,767 -1,678 0,083 -0,388 0,283 0,089 -0,388 0,720 -0,688 0,720 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,585 -0,225 0,838 -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,585 -0,225 0,838	Yu et al. (2022) -0,453 0,270 0.073 -0,982 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) Intervention A -0,956 0,389 0,076 -1,678 0,083 Boer et al. (2014) Intervention A -0,956 0,389 0,128 -1,614 0,107 Boer et al. (2014) Intervention B -0,134 0,374 0,140 0,886 0,259 -0,388 0,720 Dear et al. (2012) -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,555 -0,255 0,838 Dear et al. (2021) -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,555 -0,255 0,838 Dear et al. (2022) -0,068 0,333 0,111 -0,722 0,555 -0,255 0,838

well as the value of *T*, concerning the deviation pattern of the true magnitude of the effects.

Figure 6 show the publication bias.

In addition, the Egger test was carried out, which proposes to test the null hypothesis according to which the intercept is equal to zero in the population. For Figure 7, the intercept is -3.7287, 95% CI (-7.40536, -0.04837), with t = 2.39572, degrees of freedom = 7. The recommended value of p (2-tailed) is 0.04777. There is statistical evidence of the existence of publication bias.

3.8.1 Most effective type of training to improve WC

Figure 7 show the impact of different exercise on WC.

Continuous aerobic training—The effect of the intervention with continuous aerobic training was -0.786, with a value of Z = -2.793 and p = 0.005. Combined training—The effect of the intervention with combined training was -0.453, with a value of Z = -1.678 and p = 0.093. Interval training—The effect of the intervention with interval training was -0.368, with a value of Z = -1.4 and p = 0.161. Strength training—The magnitude of the effect of the intervention with strength training was -0.068, with a value of Z = -0.205 and p = 0.838. In this case, Q = 2.831 with 3 degree of freedom and p > 0.05, so we can accept the null hypothesis that the actual effect size is the same in all studies. However, the study that shows the greatest effectiveness is continuous aerobic training, which has a higher magnitude of effect, although the difference between the effects of different studies is not significant.

4 Discussion

This systematic review with meta-analysis aimed to assess the magnitude of the effects of different types of exercise programs on BMI and WC, variables related to metabolic and cardiovascular health of individuals with IDD.

The results of exercise programs are varied, depending on the objectives and the assessment tools/techniques. The fact that the present systematic review encompassed people with IDD of varying degrees and diagnoses (DS, autism, or others) may have influenced our results, because subgroups may have different responses to exercise ACSM (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021). However, these different responses to exercise still need further study to determine the optimal exercise intensities and modes for the population. However, taking into account the purposes of this systematic review with metaanalysis, we found that all studies that assess the BMI (Boer et al., 2014; Ordonez et al., 2014; Boer and Moss, 2016; Ortiz-Ortiz et al., 2019; Yu et al., 2022) and WC (Boer et al., 2014; Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Shields and Taylor, 2015; Boer and Moss, 2016; Yu et al., 2022) had a decrease in the values of these same variables through the implementation of exercise programs, except studies by González-Agüero and collaborators (González-Agüero et al., 2012) and Diaz and collaborators (Diaz et al., 2021), where there were an increases in BMI. In the González-Agüero and collaborators (González-Agüero et al., 2012) study, it was natural to see an increase in BMI due to the aim of the study. On the other hand, this increase was beneficial due to the relatively low mean BMI values of the sample, according to the cut-off values, in contrast to most of the literature. In the Diaz and collaborators (Diaz et al., 2021) study, the increase in BMI values may be justified by increases in muscle mass.

All studies used the same paradigm, whereby individuals with IDD were randomly placed in the experimental group (with exercise) or the CG. There is a shortage of exercise programs with randomized controlled methodology that assesses the impact on BMI and WC, along with only the population with IDD. The results were reported regarding the improvement of the BMI or WC.

Exercise was different in the studies, also differing in the physical capacity for training (aerobic training, strength, and/or combined training). The most used training methodology is the continuous aerobic type (Boer et al., 2014; Ordonez et al., 2014; Rosety-Rodriguez et al., 2014; Shields and Taylor, 2015; Boer and Moss, 2016), with observing a reduced or null number of interventions focusing on other physical fitness components. Therefore, which presupposes that the results of this study should be taken with caution.

Considering the present systematic review with meta-analysis, exercise had superior effects in most studies. However, the differences were not significant in some studies. Thus, we can reject the null hypothesis that exercise does not affect the BMI or WC of individuals with IDD, on the other hand, exercise seems decreases BMI and WC values. This is the strength of the study, since previous research shows that exercise interventions did not promote BMI and WC of individuals with IDD (Harris et al., 2015), even multi-component

weight management interventions, namely, inclusion of an energy deficit diet, physical activity, and behaviour change techniques, are effective (Harris et al., 2018) and that only exercise and diet interventions could promote the variables under study (Harris et al., 2018; Ptomey et al., 2018). Currently, more researchers interested in promoting the QoL of these individuals may be at the origin of the results of the present study (Schalock et al., 2002), since recommendations for the assessment and prescription of exercise in individuals with IDD are frequently published, adapted, from previously implemented studies (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021). This increased interest increases knowledge of effective strategy and methodologies for QoL improvement. Since individuals with disabilities usually have high levels of overweight and obesity, the results of this study highlight the importance of regular exercise practice by individuals with IDD, to prevent the increase in values such as BMI and WC and, consequently, prevent the onset of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. On the other hand, a follow-up by the technical of exercise, in order to assess and prescribe exercise in a correct and adapted way should be considered (American College of Sports Medicine, 2021).

According to this systematic review with meta-analysis, combined training appears to be the most efficient method for the promotion of BMI and aerobic training for WC and, in turn, the metabolic health of individuals with IDD. The literature is not clear about the training methodology that best promotes the variables under study. For Skrypnik and collaborators (Skrypnik et al., 2015) there are no significant differences between the different methods. Aerobic training reduces fat mass but has little effect on maintaining fat free mass (Garrow and Summerbell, 1995), and some authors point out that it is effectively the best method to reduce body mass (Willis et al., 2012). However, strength training, which produces fat-free mass gain, also increases resting energy expenditure (Hunter et al., 2000). Exercise combined resistance and aerobic training showed to be a good alternative for increasing fat-free mass and reducing fat mass (Willis et al., 2012), with authors claiming that it is the best method for losing weight and fat mass and maintaining fat free mass (Ho et al., 2012).

This article investigates which type of intervention best promotes BMI and WC in individuals with IDD. However, the small number of articles included and heterogeneity of population and diagnosis in the meta-analysis and a higher prevalence of studies with continuous aerobic methodology may have limited the results. It is recommended to continue implementing exercise programs with different methods, focusing on physical abilities in isolation or combination, so that further studies can measure these results way more precisely and robustly. On the other hand, waist circumference, may be considered a limitation of the present study, despite its usefulness, low cost and wide availability in any clinical setting, due to measurement errors because of its lack of reproducibility (Bouchard, 2007). Several studies are recommending the use of imaging techniques as they are more accurate and reproducible, however, they are also more expensive and complex (El Ghoch et al., 2012). At the same time, we recommend that future studies investigate the impact of a multidisciplinary intervention on these variables. Seeing if it can have more impact than exercise alone. We also recommend that future interventions are aimed at reducing energy intake and not just energy expenditure through the exercise.

5 Conclusion

Based on the results of the systematic review with meta-analysis, we can affirm that exercise programs prevent BMI and WC increments of individuals with IDD. Although without significant results, combined training looks to be more effective in promoting BMI and continuous aerobic training for WC since it had a greater effect size. The interest of various stakeholders in studying the QoL of individuals with IDD has increased, and the results of this systematic review with meta-analysis should be considered when planning interventions with the focus populations, in the sense that exercise programs promote BMI and WC, which, in turn, is associated with metabolic and cardiovascular health. The practice of exercise, in addition to promoting physical capacity, reduces the risk of diseases, being an essential aspect for a better QoL in individuals with IDD.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

MJ, MC, JF, and RM contributed to the conception and design of the study. MJ organized the database. MJ, DM, and RA performed the statistical analysis. MJ wrote the first draft of the manuscript. DM, RA, MC, JF, and RM wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by CIDAF (research unit funded by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), I.P., Grant/Award Number UIDP/04213/2020).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

American College of Sports Medicine. ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. Eleventh, Spiral edition. Philadelphia: LWW; 2021

Batterham, A. M., and Hopkins, W. G. (2006). Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes. Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform. 1 (1), 50–57. doi:10.1123/ijspp.1.1.50

Boer, P. H., Meeus, M., Terblanche, E., Rombaut, L., Wandele, I. D., Hermans, L., et al. (2014). The influence of sprint interval training on body composition, physical and metabolic fitness in adolescents and young adults with intellectual disability: A randomized controlled trial. *Clin. Rehabil.* 28 (3), 221–231. doi:10.1177/0269215513498609

Boer, P. H., and Moss, S. J. (2016). Effect of continuous aerobic vs. interval training on selected anthropometrical, physiological and functional parameters of adults with Down syndrome. J. Intellect. Disabil. Res. 60 (4), 322–334. doi:10.1111/jir.12251

Bouchard, C. (2007). BMI, fat mass, abdominal adiposity and visceral fat: Where is the 'beef. Int. J. Obes. (Lond) 31 (10), 1552–1553. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803653

de Winter, C. F., Bastiaanse, L. P., Hilgenkamp, T. I. M., Evenhuis, H. M., and Echteld, M. A. (2012). Overweight and obesity in older people with intellectual disability. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 33 (2), 398–405. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2011.09.022

de Winter, C. F., Magilsen, K. W., van Alfen, J. C., Penning, C., and Evenhuis, H. M. (2009). Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in older people with intellectual disability. *Am. J. Intellect. Dev. Disabil.* 114 (6), 427–436. doi:10.1352/1944-7558-114.6.427

Diaz, A. J., Rosety, I., Ordonez, F. J., Brenes, F., Garcia-Gomez, N., Castejon-Riber, C., et al. (2021). Effects of resistance training in muscle mass and markers of muscle damage in adults with Down syndrome. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18 (17), 8996. doi:10. 3390/ijerph18178996

Egger, M., Smith, G. D., Schneider, M., and Minder, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 315 (7109), 629–634. doi:10.1136/bmj.315. 7109.629

El Ghoch, M., Alberti, M., Milanese, C., Battistini, N. C., Pellegrini, M., Capelli, C., et al. (2012). Comparison between dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and skinfolds thickness in assessing body fat in anorexia nervosa before and after weight restoration. *Clin. Nutr.* 31 (6), 911–916. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2012.03.009

Foley, J. T., Lloyd, M., Turner, L., and Temple, V. A. (2017). Body mass index and waist circumference of Latin American adult athletes with intellectual disability. *Salud Publica Mex.* 59 (4), 416–422. doi:10.21149/8204

Garrow, J. S., and Summerbell, C. D. (1995). Meta-analysis: Effect of exercise, with or without dieting, on the body composition of overweight subjects. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 49 (1), 1–10.

González-Agüero, A., Vicente-Rodríguez, G., Gómez-Cabello, A., Ara, I., Moreno, L. A., and Casajús, J. A. (2012). A 21-week bone deposition promoting exercise programme increases bone mass in young people with Down syndrome. *Dev. Med. Child Neurology* 54 (6), 552–556. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04262.x

Harris, L., Hankey, C., Murray, H., and Melville, C. (2015). The effects of physical activity interventions on preventing weight gain and the effects on body composition in young adults with intellectual disabilities: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin. Obes.* 5 (4), 198–210. doi:10.1111/cob.12103

Harris, L., Melville, C., Murray, H., and Hankey, C. (2018). The effects of multicomponent weight management interventions on weight loss in adults with intellectual disabilities and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 72, 42–55. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2017.10.021

Higgins, J. P., and Altman, D. G. (2008). Assessing risk of bias in included studies in *Cochrane Handbook for systematic reviews of interventions [internet]* (New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd). p. 187–241. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1002/9780470712184.ch8.

Higgins, J. P. T., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., and Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 327 (7414), 557–560. doi:10.1136/bmj.327. 7414.557

Ho, S. S., Dhaliwal, S. S., Hills, A. P., and Pal, S. (2012). The effect of 12 weeks of aerobic, resistance or combination exercise training on cardiovascular risk factors in the overweight and obese in a randomized trial. *BMC Public Health* 12 (1), 704. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-704

Hosking, F. J., Carey, I. M., Shah, S. M., Harris, T., DeWilde, S., Beighton, C., et al. (2016). Mortality among adults with intellectual disability in england: Comparisons with the general population. *Am. J. Public Health* 106 (8), 1483–1490. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303240

Hunter, G. R., Wetzstein, C. J., Fields, D. A., Brown, A., and Bamman, M. M. (2000). Resistance training increases total energy expenditure and free-living physical activity in older adults. *J. Appl. Physiol.* (1985) 89 (3), 977–984. doi:10.1152/jappl.2000.89.3.977

Jacinto, M., Oliveira, R., Brito, J. P., Martins, A. D., Matos, R., and Ferreira, J. P. (2021). Prescription and effects of strength training in individuals with intellectual disability—a systematic review. *Sports* 9 (9), 125. doi:10.3390/sports9090125

Kim, K. B., Kim, K., Kim, C., Kang, S. J., Kim, H. J., Yoon, S., et al. (2019). Effects of exercise on the body composition and lipid profile of individuals with obesity: A

systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Obes. Metab. Syndr. 28 (4), 278-294. doi:10. 7570/jomes.2019.28.4.278

Klein, S., Allison, D. B., Heymsfield, S. B., Kelley, D. E., Leibel, R. L., Nonas, C., et al. (2007). Waist circumference and cardiometabolic risk: A consensus statement from shaping America's health: Association for weight management and obesity prevention; NAASO, the obesity society; the American society for nutrition; and the American diabetes association. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 85 (5), 1197–1202. doi:10.1093/ajcn/85.5.1197

Kobo, O., Leiba, R., Avizohar, O., and Karban, A. (2019). Normal body mass index (BMI) can rule out metabolic syndrome: An Israeli cohort study. *Medicine* 98 (9), e14712. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000014712

Krause, S., Ware, R., McPherson, L., Lennox, N., and O'Callaghan, M. (2016). Obesity in adolescents with intellectual disability: Prevalence and associated characteristics. *Obes. Res. Clin. Pract.* 10 (5), 520–530. doi:10.1016/j.orcp.2015.10.006

Maher, C. G., Sherrington, C., Herbert, R. D., Moseley, A. M., and Elkins, M. (2003). Reliability of the PEDro scale for rating quality of randomized controlled trials. *Phys. Ther.* 83 (8), 713–721. doi:10.1093/ptj/83.8.713

Maïano, C., Hue, O., Morin, A., and Moullec, G. (2016). Prevalence of overweight and obesity among children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities: A systematic review and meta-analysis: Prevalence of overweight and obesity. *Obes. Rev.*, 17.

McGillivray, J., McVilly, K., Skouteris, H., and Boganin, C. (2013). Parental factors associated with obesity in children with disability: A systematic review. *Obes. Rev.* 14 (7), 541–554. doi:10.1111/obr.12031

Methley, A. M., Campbell, S., Chew-Graham, C., McNally, R., and Cheraghi-Sohi, S. (2014). PICO, PICOS and SPIDER: A comparison study of specificity and sensitivity in three search tools for qualitative systematic reviews. *BMC Health Serv. Res.* 14 (1), 579. doi:10.1186/s12913-014-0579-0

Nang, C., Piano, B., Lewis, A., Lycett, K., and Woodhouse, M. (2015). Using the PICOS model to design and conduct A systematic search: A speech pathology case study. *undefined* 51.

Ordonez, F. J., Rosety, M. A., Camacho, A., Rosety, I., Diaz, A. J., Fornieles, G., et al. (2014). Aerobic training improved low-grade inflammation in obese women with intellectual disability. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 58 (6), 583–590. doi:10.1111/jir.12056

Ortiz-Ortiz, M., Terrazas-Ordorica, K., Cano-Rodríguez, L., Gómez Miranda, L., Ozols-Rosales, A., and Moncada-Jiménez, J. (2019). Effect of an intensive physical conditioning program on body composition and isometric strength in children with Down syndrome. J. Phys. Educ. Sport 19, 897–902. doi:10.7752/jpes.2019.s3129

Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., et al. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 372, 790–799. doi:10.1016/j.rec.2021.07.010

Parra-Soto, S., Cowley, E. S., Rezende, L. F. M., Ferreccio, C., Mathers, J. C., Pell, J. P., et al. (2021). Associations of six adiposity-related markers with incidence and mortality from 24 cancers—Findings from the UK biobank prospective cohort study. *BMC Med.* 19 (1), 7. doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01848-8

Pestana, M. B., Barbieri, F. A., Vitório, R., Figueiredo, G. A., and Mauerberg de Castro, E. (2018). Efeitos do exercício físico para adultos com deficiência intelectual: UMA revisão sistemática. *J. Phys. Educ.* 29. doi:10.4025/jphyseduc.v29i1.2920

Ptomey, L. T., Steger, F. L., Lee, J., Sullivan, D. K., Goetz, J. R., Honas, J. J., et al. (2018). Changes in energy intake and diet quality during an 18-month weight-management randomized controlled trial in adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *J. Acad. Nutr. Diet.* 118 (6), 1087–1096. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2017.11.003

Raiford, S. E. (2018). The wechsler intelligence scale for children—Fifth edition integrated in *Contemporary intellectual assessment: Theories, tests, and issues.* 4th ed. (New York, NY, US: The Guilford Press), 303–332.

Ranjan, S., Nasser, J. A., and Fisher, K. (2018). Prevalence and potential factors associated with overweight and obesity status in adults with intellectual developmental disorders. *J. Appl. Res. Intellect. Disabil.* 31 (Suppl. 1), 29–38. doi:10.1111/jar.12370

Rosenblad, A. (2009). Introduction to meta-analysis by michael Borenstein, larry V. Hedges, julian P.T. Higgins, hannah R. Rothstein. *Int. Stat. Rev.* 77 (3), 478–479. doi:10. 1111/j.1751-5823.2009.00095_15.x

Rosety-Rodriguez, M., Diaz, A. J., Rosety, I., Rosety, M. A., Camacho, A., Fornieles, G., et al. (2014). Exercise reduced inflammation: But for how long after training? *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 58 (9), 874–879. doi:10.1111/jir.12096

Schalock, R. L., Brown, I., Brown, R., Cummins, R. A., Felce, D., Matikka, L., et al. (2002). Conceptualization, measurement, and application of quality of life for persons with intellectual disabilities: Report of an international panel of experts. *Ment. Retard.* 40 (6), 457–470. doi:10.1352/0047-6765(2002)040<0457:CMAAOQ>2.0.CO;2

Shields, N., and Taylor, N. F. (2015). The feasibility of a physical activity program for young adults with Down syndrome: A phase II randomised controlled trial. *J. Intellect. Dev. Disabil.* 40 (2), 115–125. doi:10.3109/13668250.2015.1014027

Skrypnik, D., Bogdański, P., Mądry, E., Karolkiewicz, J., Ratajczak, M., Kryściak, J., et al. (2015). Effects of endurance and endurance strength training on body composition and physical capacity in women with abdominal obesity. *OFA* 8 (3), 175–187. doi:10. 1159/000431002 Temple, V. A., Foley, J. T., and Lloyd, M. (2014). Body mass index of adults with intellectual disability participating in Special Olympics by world region. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 58 (3), 277–284. doi:10.1111/jir.12011

Temple, V. A., Walkley, J. W., and Greenway, K. (2010). Body mass index as an indicator of adiposity among adults with intellectual disability. *J. Intellect. Dev. Disabil.* 35 (2), 116–120. doi:10.3109/13668251003694598

Vancampfort, D., Schuch, F., Damme, T. V., Firth, J., Suetani, S., Stubbs, B., et al. (2020). Metabolic syndrome and its components in people with intellectual disability: A meta-analysis. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 64 (10), 804–815. doi:10. 1111/jir.12772

Vohra, R., Madhavan, S., and Sambamoorthi, U. (2017). Comorbidity prevalence, healthcare utilization, and expenditures of Medicaid enrolled adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism* 21 (8), 995–1009. doi:10.1177/1362361316665222

Wang, J., Gao, Y., Kwok, H. H. M., Huang, W. Y. J., Li, S., and Li, L. (2018). Children with intellectual disability are vulnerable to overweight and obesity: A cross-sectional study among Chinese children. *Child. Obes.* 14 (5), 316–326. doi:10.1089/chi.2018.0015

Waninge, A., Ligthart, K. a. M., Kramer, J., Hoeve, S., van der Schans, C. P., and Haisma, H. H. (2010). Measuring waist circumference in disabled adults. *Res. Dev. Disabil.* 31 (3), 839–847. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2010.02.009

Wechsler, D. (2008). Wechsler adult intelligence scale-fourth edition [internet]. San Antonio, TX, Pearson: APA PsycTests. Available from: https://psycnet.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037%2Ft15169-000.

Willis, L. H., Slentz, C. A., Bateman, L. A., Shields, A. T., Piner, L. W., Bales, C. W., et al. (2012). Effects of aerobic and/or resistance training on body mass and fat mass in overweight or obese adults. *J. Appl. Physiol.* (1985) 113 (12), 1831–1837. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01370.2011

World Health Organization (2020). *Guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour: At a glance.* Switzerland: World Health Organization.

Wyszyńska, J., Podgórska-Bednarz, J., Leszczak, J., and Mazur, A. (2017). Prevalence of hypertension and prehypertension in children and adolescents with intellectual disability in southeastern Poland. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* 61 (11), 995–1002. doi:10. 1111/jir.12398

Yu, S., Gao, Y., Wang, A., Sun, Y., Wang, J., Kwok, H. H. M., et al. (2022). Effectiveness of an adapted physical activity intervention for weight management in adolescents with intellectual disability: A randomized controlled trial. *Pediatr. Obes.* 17 (5), e12882. doi:10.1111/ijpo.12882

Zwierzchowska, A., Celebańska, D., Rosołek, B., Gawlik, K., and Żebrowska, A. (2021). Is body mass index (BMI) or body adiposity index (Bai) a better indicator to estimate body fat and selected cardiometabolic risk factors in adults with intellectual disabilities? *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. 21 (1), 119. doi:10.1186/s12872-021-01931-9

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Soukaina Hattabi, University of Jendouba, Tunisia José Eduardo Teixeira, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (IPB), Portugal

★CORRESPONDENCE Sara Raimondi Sara.raimondi@ieo.it

[†]These authors share first authorship [‡]These authors share last authorship

RECEIVED 12 June 2023 ACCEPTED 24 July 2023 PUBLISHED 10 August 2023

CITATION

Tomezzoli E, D'Ecclesiis O, Raimondi S, Pravettoni G, Cammarata G, Testa G, Bellerba F, Gnagnarella P, Iannuzzo ML, Sartorio A, Sasso C, Ricci D, Marazzi N, Galli F and Gandini S (2023) Sports activity limitation during the COVID-19 pandemic in young Italian athletes: impact on mental health in children, adolescents, and young adults. *Front. Public Health* 11:1237443. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1237443

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Tomezzoli, D'Ecclesiis, Raimondi, Pravettoni, Cammarata, Testa, Bellerba, Gnagnarella, lannuzzo, Sartorio, Sasso, Ricci, Marazzi, Galli and Gandini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Sports activity limitation during the COVID-19 pandemic in young Italian athletes: impact on mental health in children, adolescents, and young adults

Elisa Tomezzoli^{1†}, Oriana D'Ecclesiis^{2†}, Sara Raimondi^{2*}, Gabriella Pravettoni¹, Giulio Cammarata², Giovanna Testa³, Federica Bellerba², Patrizia Gnagnarella⁴, Maria Luisa Iannuzzo⁵, Alessandro Sartorio⁶, Clementina Sasso⁷, Dorotea Ricci⁸, Nicoletta Marazzi⁶, Federica Galli^{9†} and Sara Gandini^{2†} on behalf of the EuCARE WP4

¹Applied Research Division for Cognitive and Psychological Science, IEO, European Institute of Oncology Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Milan, Italy, ²Molecular and Pharmaco-Epidemiology Unit, Department of Experimental Oncology, IEO, European Institute of Oncology Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Milan, Italy, ³Independent Researcher, Milan, Italy, ⁴Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, IEO, European Institute of Oncology Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Milan, Italy, ⁵AULSS 9 Scaligera, Dipartimento di Prevenzione, UOC Medicina Legale, Verona, Italy, ⁶Experimental Laboratory for Auxo-endocrinological Research, Istituto Auxologico Italiano, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Milan, Italy, ⁹ARES-ODV Associazione Regionale Emergenza Sanitaria, Ancona, Italy, ⁹Department of Dynamic and Clinical Psychology, and Health Studies, Faculty of Medicine and Psychology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Introduction: The closure of sports centres was implemented as a preventive measure to mitigate the transmission of SARS-CoV-2. Given the observed global decline in physical activity and concurrent rise in sedentary behaviour, even among younger age groups, a retrospective cross-sectional study was undertaken to evaluate the effects of this measure on mental health in children, adolescents, and young adults during the initial phases of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: A total of 1,717 non-professional athletes (age range: 6–25; 53.9% males, 44.6% females) completed an online questionnaire including widely used and validated measures for mental health assessment (SDQ and PGWB-S) and questions regarding sociodemographic characteristics (such as gender), physical activity, and screen time. The association between mental health and sociodemographic characteristics, physical activity, and screen time was evaluated by using univariate and multivariable logistic regression models.

Results: In children and adolescents, the incidence of psychological difficulties was associated with not being physically active (OR = 1.49; 95% CI: 1.09, 2.07; p = 0.015). Engaging in physical activity during the period of closures, particularly if more than twice a week, was significantly associated with less psychological difficulties for children/adolescents (OR = 0.54; 95% CI: 0.35, 0.82; p = 0.004) and psychological symptoms (i.e., psychological well-being lower than the median) for youth/young adults (OR = 0.25; 95% CI: 0.14, 0.45; p < 0.001). More psychological difficulties were also found in males for children and adolescents (OR = 1.37; 95% CI: 1.06, 1.79; p = 0.018). However, young adult males showed less psychological symptoms than females (OR = 0.35; 95% CI: 0.22, 0.55; p = 0.001). Additionally,

a greater amount of screen time was associated with a higher incidence of psychological symptoms in the whole sample.

Conclusions: Our results confirm the positive impact of physical activity on mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic among younger age groups. They also provide valuable insights into the risk-benefit relationship of interrupting sports activities as a preventive measure for infectious diseases.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, preventive measures, physical activity, mental health, children, adolescents, young adults

Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by the SARS-CoV-2 infection, was first identified in China in December 2019 (1). Since the virus started spreading steadily in several countries in all continents, the World Health Organisation (WHO) declared a pandemic in March 2020. Having it posed a serious threat to public health worldwide, many governments introduced lockdowns to reduce the spread of the virus. Since transmission of SARS-CoV-2 is mainly related to direct exposure to aerosolised respiratory particles (2), it was suggested that their spread could be enhanced by high-intensity exercise (3). Indeed, during the different pandemic waves, shutdown of sports activities, centres, and clubs was included among other preventive measures.

However, it is well-known that physical activity (PA) improves physical and psychological well-being at any age. Specifically, PA is beneficial for the preservation of the immune system, cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness, cardiometabolic health, and bone health (4, 5). It is therefore crucial in preventing infections, cardiovascular diseases, type-2 diabetes, and certain types of cancer (6). As for the psychological aspect, PA entails release of endorphins and reduction in the levels of stress hormones such as cortisol and adrenaline, thus being associated with lower levels of stress, anxiety, and depression (7–11).

Given that risk factors for severe COVID-19 include heart and respiratory problems, cancer, diabetes, and obesity (12–15), which might be exacerbated by a sedentary lifestyle and physical inactivity, the WHO reiterated the importance of PA and provided specific guidelines during the pandemic (16). On a psychological level, PA was considered a key strategy to cope with distress associated with the implementation of preventive measures such as lockdowns and quarantines (17, 18). Indeed, physical inactivity can also contribute to mental health conditions that in turn are known to further encourage sedentary behaviours (19), such as depressive symptoms.

Nevertheless, several studies showed that during the COVID-19 pandemic mental health was deeply affected (20, 21), and PA levels substantially decreased while sedentary behaviours increased in several countries (22–24), also in younger age groups (25). Even prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, physical inactivity was recognised as a global health concern (26), with younger individuals also being affected (27). Since this might entail detrimental consequences on the overall well-being of individuals, and risks associated with physical inactivity might as well affect public health in the long term, it is crucial to address this issue across all ages and countries.

Italy was the first country outside of China where SARS-CoV-2 local transmission was detected and that soon implemented some of the strictest anti-COVID-19 measures (28, 29). However, our previous study (30) showed that there is no evidence that shutdown and limitation of sports activities were effective in reducing the spread of COVID-19 in Italy in young Italian athletes, namely children, adolescents, and young adults. Additionally, our findings indicated an increase in Body Mass Index (BMI) within this demographic. In order to deepen these results, we further investigated the impact of the interruption of sports activities on mental health, which is the focus of the present paper. The primary hypothesis asserted that levels of PA performed during the beginning of the second European and North American pandemic wave and the following months are associated with a different mental health status among young Italian nonprofessional athletes. Secondary aims regard the evaluation of possible differences concerning mental health with respect to sociodemographic variables (such as gender and educational level) and screen time.

Materials and methods

Procedures and sampling

Between June and September 2021, a national retrospective survey-based cross-sectional study involving children (≥ 6 years), adolescents, and young adults (aged ≤ 25 years) who used to play sports before the COVID-19 pandemic at a non-professional level was conducted. Data were collected via Google Forms and the link to the questionnaire was sent to Italian sports clubs and centres and shared on social media platforms. The survey administration was preceded by a 2-week pilot phase in which the reliability of the questionnaire and the clarity of the questions were assessed.

For participants under the age of 13, completion of the questionnaire required the involvement of legal guardians, while participants aged 13 and above were able to independently complete the questionnaire.

Eligibility criteria

In order to be included in the study, participants needed to meet specific inclusion criteria. These criteria included: (a) being aged between 6 and 25 years old, (b) not being professional athletes, and (c) providing informed consent. Participants who were 18 years or older were required to provide their own informed consent, while legal guardians were responsible for providing informed consent for participants under the age of 18. Conformity with these criteria was assessed through specific questions at the beginning of the questionnaire. As a result, participants who met the inclusion criteria were able to fully complete the questionnaire. Instead, individuals who were younger than 6 or older than 25 years, professional athletes, or those who did not provide informed consent were not permitted to proceed with the questionnaire.

Sample selection

Among the initial sample of 2,910 individuals who intended to complete the questionnaire, a total of 790 participants were unable to proceed. This was due to either their failure to provide the required informed consent (n = 5) or their non-conformity with the inclusion criteria (n = 540 participants older than 25 years; n = 245 professional athletes). After conducting quality checks to evaluate the completeness and validity of responses, 356 submissions were excluded due to incomplete/unrealistic answers. From the remaining 1,764 submissions, 47 were excluded due to missing responses for the mental health assessment. Consequently, a total of 1,717 submissions were used for the statistical analyses presented in this paper (Supplementary Figure 1).

Sample representativeness

The collected sample has proven to be representative of young Italian athletes to a good extent. In fact, according to a report released by the Italian National Olympic Committee (CONI) (31), the geographical representativeness of our sample closely aligns with the national distribution in 2020. Specifically, the CONI observed that 56% of athletes were situated in northern Italy, while 22% were located in central Italy, and another 22% in southern Italy/islands. In our study, 64.5% of the sample was located in northern Italy, 16.1% in the central Italy, and 15.5% in southern Italy/islands (see Table 1). A good representativeness was also achieved in terms of age. Indeed, national data concerning the age distribution of young Italian athletes (<35 years) indicates that young adults (age range: 18-35 years) constitute roughly one-third of the total, mirroring the findings of our study. Specifically, in our study, youth/young adults (age range: 16-25 years) accounted for 24.8% (n = 1,292) of the overall sample, while children/adolescents (age range: 6–15 years) constituted 75.2% (n = 425). Regarding gender, Italian data report a higher percentage of male athletes (71.8%), whereas our study shows a good balance between both genders (53.9% males and 44.6% females). Notably, the CONI sample includes professional athletes, a category that was excluded from the present study. Nevertheless, it is important to highlight that data from both the CONI and our study refer to the pandemic period.

Ethics statement

The study was conducted in agreement with the national and international regulations and the Declaration of Helsinki (2000). Approval by the Ethics Committee was not required as the online survey was completely anonymous, and it was not possible to keep track of any identifiable personal data. Further details regarding the procedure can be found in the previous publication (30).

Materials

The questionnaire was developed by a panel of experts with in-depth knowledge in different subjects, such as epidemiology, psychology, and nutrition. It was administered in Italian language and required \sim 12–15 min to be completed. The questionnaire included multiple choice and open-ended questions covering six different areas: (a) SARS-CoV-2 infections, (b) socio-demographic information, (c) sports practice and level of PA, (d) mental health, (e) diet, and (f) screen time. The original version of the questionnaire has been previously published (30). The present paper is focused on the results regarding the following areas and corresponding aspects.

Sociodemographic information: participants were asked to report their gender, age, geographical area, currently attended school year, presence of outdoor spaces where to exercise at home between September 2020 and May 2021.

Sports practice: practice of any sports activity between September 2020 and May 2021, sport type, weekly frequency of training sessions, participation in sports competitions and/or activities organised by sports societies and centres, individual/team training, indoor/outdoor PA.

Level of PA was evaluated by using an adaptation of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (32) in its short form (IPAQ-SF), a widely used 7-item self-report measure of habitual PA, whose reliability and validity have been confirmed in different countries (33). In this context, time spent on PA was recorded according to three intensity levels (vigorous, moderate, and light), along with the time spent in a sedentary position, in the period of COVID-19 waves instead of the previous week. This questionnaire was used to define compliance to WHO guidelines (34) according to athletes' age.

Mental health was investigated through two questionnaires: the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (35) and the Psychological General Well-Being Index-Short Version (PGWB-S) (36). The SDQ is a 25-item scale with response options provided on a 3-point Likert-type scale (from 0 to 2) widely used to screen children and adolescents' mental health in terms of psychological difficulties. This scale allows evaluating emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, peer relationship problems, and prosocial behaviour. The first four subscales can be added together to generate a total difficulties score, and higher scores indicate a higher level of symptomatology. As for the latter subscale, higher scores indicate higher prosocial behaviour. The parent version was used for participants up to the age of 12, whereas the self-report version was administered to participants aged 13 and older. In this study, Cronbach's alpha for both versions of the SDQ was 0.85, indicating good internal consistency. The PGWB-S

			Weekly trainin		
	Overall (<i>n</i> = 1,717)	0 (<i>n</i> = 479)	1–2 (<i>n</i> = 834)	>2 (<i>n</i> = 404)	<i>p</i> -value
Gender					<0.001
Male	926 (53.9)	218 (45.5)	503 (60.3)	205 (50.7)	
Female	766 (44.6)	252 (52.6)	325 (39.0)	189 (46.8)	
Missing	25 (1.5)	9 (1.9)	6 (0.7)	10 (2.5)	
Compliance with WHO guidelines for PA					<0.001
Yes	568 (33.1)	112 (23.4)	228 (27.3)	228 (56.4)	
No	1,138 (66.3)	362 (75.6)	602 (72.2)	174 (43.1)	
Missing	11 (0.6)	5 (1.0)	4 (0.5)	2 (0.5)	
Outdoor PA					<0.001
Yes	1,173 (68.3)	212 (44.3)	652 (78.2)	309 (76.5)	
No	538 (31.3)	265 (55.3)	179 (21.5)	94 (23.3)	
Missing	6 (0.4)	2 (0.4)	3 (0.3)	1 (0.2)	
Sport					<0.001
Contact sports	685 (39.9)	126 (26.3)	415 (49.8)	144 (35.6)	
Non-contact sports	966 (56.3)	292 (61.0)	415 (49.8)	259 (64.1)	
Missing	66 (3.8)	61 (12.7)	4 (0.4)	1 (0.2)	
Educational level					<0.001
Kindergarten, primary school	679 (39.5)	178 (37.2)	417 (50.0)	84 (20.8)	
Middle school	425 (24.8)	93 (19.4)	206 (24.7)	126 (31.2)	
Technical or professional institute	76 (4.4)	13 (2.7)	29 (3.5)	34 (8.4)	
High school	298 (17.4)	74 (15.4)	112 (13.4)	112 (27.7)	
University	152 (8.9)	87 (18.2)	32 (3.8)	33 (8.2)	
Currently not attending school	74 (4.3)	34 (7.1)	26 (3.1)	14 (3.5)	
Missing	13 (0.7)	0 (0)	12 (0.2)	1 (0.2)	
Geographical area					<0.001
Southern Italy/Islands	266 (15.5)	115 (24.0)	98 (11.8)	53 (13.1)	
Central Italy	276 (16.1)	52 (10.9)	122 (14.6)	102 (25.2)	
Northern Italy	1,107 (64.5)	293 (61.2)	585 (70.1)	229 (56.7)	
Abroad	30 (1.7)	7 (1.5)	14 (1.7)	9 (2.2)	
Missing	38 (2.2)	12 (2.5)	15 (1.8)	11 (2.7)	
Outdoor spaces at home					<0.001
Yes	958 (55.8)	203 (42.4)	492 (59.0)	263 (65.1)	
No	743 (43.3)	271 (56.6)	332 (39.8)	140 (34.7)	
Missing	16 (0.9)	5 (1.0)	10 (1.2)	1 (0.2)	
Screen time (hours)					<0.001
≤2 h	427 (24.9)	87 (18.2)	229 (27.4)	111 (27.5)	
2-4 h	398 (23.2)	114 (23.8)	209 (25.0)	75 (18.6)	
>4 h	662 (38.6)	209 (43.6)	284 (34.1)	169 (41.8)	
Missing	230 (13.3)	69 (14.4)	112 (13.5)	49 (12.1)	

TABLE 1 Characteristics of overall participants and by number of weekly training sessions.

Frequencies and percentages (in parentheses) are reported in the table. Significant values are in bold.

is a 6-item health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL) questionnaire that investigates psychological general well-being in youth and adulthood and was therefore used to assess participants' mental health from 16 years of age. Response options are provided on a 6-point Likert-type scale (from 0 to 5), and higher scores indicate higher levels of psychological well-being. Cronbach's alpha for the PGWB-S in this study was 0.90, showing high internal consistency.

Screen time: participants were asked to report the amount of time spent on screens daily in terms of hours between September 2020 and May 2021, including television, personal computer, tablet, smartphone, and videogames.

The validated questionnaires used for the present study are summarised in Supplementary Table 1.

Variables definition

In order to assess the association between PA/sports activity and mental health during the study period, we defined different variables. Specifically, two different variables were defined with respect to PA/sports activity: (1) training during periods of openings/closures, which refers to PA/sports activity carried out only in periods of openings (September-October 2020 and April-May 2021), also throughout the period of lockdowns and closures (November 2020-March 2021), or none; and (2) weekly training sessions, which refers to the average number of weekly trainings. Continuous training sessions refer to PA carried out both during periods of closures and during periods of reopening. Noncontinuous training sessions refer to PA carried out only during periods of openings. Furthermore, compliance with the WHO guidelines measured with the IPAQ-SF was assigned the value of 1, and non-compliance was assigned the value of 0. Compliance or non-compliance were specifically assessed by considering duration and frequency of moderate and vigorous-intensity activities per week, as well as age, as reported (34).

As for mental health, all the scores for the SDQ (35) and for the PGWB-S (36) were considered both as continuous and categorical variables. When considered as continuous variables, as previously stated, higher scores for the SDQ indicate higher levels of difficulties/symptomatology, whereas higher scores for the PGWB-S indicate higher levels of psychological wellbeing. However, in order to clarify the treatment of scores as categorical variables, further explanations are required. Indeed, scores for children/adolescents were categorised into three groups (i.e., normal, borderline, and abnormal) following the 3-band categorisation from the SDQ scoring guidelines. Subsequently, borderline and abnormal scores were merged for the present analyses. The four subscales related to psychological difficulties (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, peer relationship problems) were analysed both individually and combined to create a total difficulties score. Psychological difficulties for each subscale and for the total score were intended as scoring as borderline or abnormal. Conversely, prosocial behaviour was considered as absent when scoring as borderline or abnormal. For youth and young adults, the median for the PGWB-S was calculated (Median = 14) to separate the half of the sample showing higher levels of psychological well-being from the half that showed lower levels. Since the items of the PGWB-S evaluate psychological well-being by assessing the presence/absence of psychological symptoms, those who scored below the median were considered to be experiencing psychological symptoms. When presenting and discussing the overall results of the study, psychological difficulties measured for children/adolescents and levels of psychological well-being below the median measured for youth/young adults are collectively referred to as psychological symptoms.

Note that, in Italy, children who are 6 years old may attend either kindergarten or primary school. Consequently, we merged the data of children aged 6 who were attending kindergarten with those attending primary school.

Statistical analyses

Separating the analyses based on the type of questionnaire used to assess mental health between (SDQ for children/adolescents aged 6–15 years, and PGWB-S for youth/young adults aged 16– 25 years), multivariable logistic regression models were used to estimate the risk of psychological difficulties; odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated. Scores both for the SDQ and each subscale and for the PGWB-S were considered as continuous variables for the boxplots.

Besides gender, age range (i.e., educational level), and geographical area, significant variables identified during the univariate analysis were included as co-factors in the multivariable analysis.

Chi-square test, Kruskal-Wallis test, and Wilcoxon-sum rank test were performed to investigate the association between variables regarding training and the participants' characteristics depending on the nature of the variable.

P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The analyses were performed by using the statistical software R (version 4.1.1).

Results

Characteristics of the subjects in terms of weekly training sessions are presented in Table 1. Females reported training 1–2 times/week significantly less compared to males (39.0% vs. 60.3%), while demonstrating similar levels of intensive weekly training sessions (>2 times/week). Furthermore, individuals training >2 times/week reported significantly lower screen time (27.5% \leq 2 h) than those who did not train (18.2%). Similar results were obtained considering periods of openings and closures (Supplementary Table 2).

Children and adolescents

The association of sports activity and other covariables with mental health for children and adolescents and for youth and young adults are presented separately in Supplementary Tables 3, 4 and Figures 1–3, respectively. ORs and 95% CIs are presented indicating the strength of the association of sports activity with



FIGURE 1

(A, B) Boxplots regarding psychological difficulties in terms of average weekly training sessions (continuous vs. non-continuous) in children (A) and adolescents (B). Psychological difficulties were calculated by adding together continuous scores from the subscales referring to emotional symptoms, conduct problems, peer relationship problems, and hyperactivity/inattention of the SDQ (35). Higher scores indicate a higher level of symptomatology. Continuous training sessions refer to PA carried out both during periods of closures and during periods of openings. Non-continuous training sessions refer to PA carried out only during periods of openings.



Relative frequencies of psychological difficulties in children and adolescents by average weekly training sessions. Presence/absence for the subscales referring to psychological difficulties (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, and peer relationship problems) and prosocial behaviour were determined using the 3-band categorisation (37) suggested in the scoring guidelines for the Strengths and Difficulties (Questionnaire (SDQ) (35). Absence for the four subscales related to psychological difficulties indicates a normal score, while presence indicates a borderline or abnormal score. Conversely, absence for the prosocial behaviour scale indicates a borderline or abnormal score, while presence indicates a normal score.



and young adults. Psychological well-being was calculated by using the continuous score obtained through the PGWB-S (36), and higher scores indicate a higher level of psychological well-being. Continuous training sessions refer to PA carried out both during periods of closures and during periods of reopening. Noncontinuous training sessions refer to PA carried out only during periods of openings.

psychological difficulties and with each subscale of the SDQ, adjusted for possible confounding factors presented in Table 1 and Supplementary Table 2.

As shown in Figures 1A, B, training more than twice a week, especially in a continuous way, is associated with lower levels of psychological difficulties in children and adolescents. On the other hand, those who did not train during the study period showed higher levels of psychological difficulties. As shown in Supplementary Table 3, carrying out >2 training sessions per week compared to none is inversely associated with psychological difficulties (OR = 0.54, 95% CI 0.35-0.82) for children and adolescents. Being male, not adherent to WHO guidelines for PA, living in a house with no outdoor space and using electronic devices >2 h/day were found to be significantly associated with psychological difficulties, as well as not engaging in outdoor PA. Psychological difficulties were more prevalent in kindergarten and primary school students than middle and high school students.

Results regarding each subscale of the SDQ are presented in Table 2.

Figure 2 shows that children and adolescents who have not exercised show more frequent emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, and peer relationships problems compared to those who have exercised. The difference is particularly noticeable when comparing those who did not exercise and those who exercised more than twice a week.

Emotional symptoms

Exercising is significantly inversely associated with emotional symptoms (1–2 times/week vs. 0: OR = 0.72, 95% CI 0.54–0.97; >2 times/week vs. 0: OR = 0.54, 95% CI 0.36–0.81), along with having outdoor spaces at home. Spending >2 h/day using electronic devices is significantly directly associated with emotional symptoms, which are more prevalent in kindergarten/primary school and middle school compared to high school. No association emerged with gender and geographical area.

Conduct problems

Variables significantly inversely associated with conduct problems are the following: exercising >2 times/week (OR = 0.63, 95% CI 0.43–0.92), outdoors PA during the period between September 2020 and May 2021, and having outdoor space at home. Males showed more conduct problems than females. A difference emerged in terms of conduct problems between education levels: kindergarten, primary school and middle school students show more conduct problems than high school students. Finally, children and adolescents from Southern Italy/Islands reported more conduct problems than North Italians.

Hyperactivity/inattention

Exercising more than twice a week (OR = 0.61, 95% CI 0.44–0.84), having carried out at least 1 training session during the period of closures (OR = 0.61, 95% CI 0.44–0.84; result not shown), outdoor PA, and being physically active according to WHO guidelines are significantly inversely associated with hyperactivity/inattention. Males compared to females are more prone to hyperactivity/inattention. A difference in terms of hyperactivity/inattention also emerged among educational levels: subjects in kindergarten/primary school and middle school are at higher risk of presenting hyperactivity/inattention than students in high school.

Peer relationship problems

Being physically active according to WHO guidelines and engaging in outdoor PA during the study period are inversely associated with peer relationship problems. Those living in Southern Italy/Islands and those using electronic devices for >2h/day are more prone to peer relationship problems. A difference in terms of peer relationship problems emerged between educational levels, with higher problems reported for children compared to adolescents, while no significant differences emerged for gender.

Prosocial behaviour

Outdoor PA and compliance to WHO guidelines are associated with lower probability of lack of prosocial behaviour. As for gender, males are less likely to show prosocial behaviour than females. No association emerged with educational levels and geographical area.

	Emotional symptoms	Conduct problems	Hyperactivity/ inattention	Peer relationships problems	Lack of prosocial behaviour
Variables	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Average weekly trainings (days)					
>2 vs. 0	0.54 (0.36-0.81)**	0.63 (0.43-0.92)*	0.61 (0.44-0.84)**	-	-
1–2 vs. 0	0.72 (0.54-0.97)*	1.17 (0.87–1.58)	0.73 (0.49–1.07)	-	-
Compliance with WHO guidelines for PA	Ą				
Yes vs. no	0.61 (0.44-0.83)**	-	0.56 (0.39-0.78)***	0.53 (0.38-0.73)***	0.72 (0.52-1.00)*
Outdoor PA					
Yes vs. no	-	0.66 (0.50-0.87)**	0.68 (0.52-0.90)***	0.58 (0.45-0.76)***	0.70 (0.52-0.94)*
Gender					
Males vs. females	0.93 (0.73-1.21)	1.45 (1.14-1.86)**	1.82 (1.38-2.43)***	1.13 (0.87–1.46)	1.51 (1.14-2.01)**
Education					
Technical or professional institute vs. High school	0.97 (0.21-3.20)	1.61 (0.61-3.99)	1.64 (0.43-5.16)	0.60 (0.16-1.73)	2.19 (0.91-5.13)
Kindergarten, primary school vs. High school	5.49 (3.23-9.79)***	3.59 (2.32-5.69)***	3.98 (2.26-7.61)***	2.07 (1.32-3.32)**	1.01 (0.65–1.60)
Middle school vs. High school	2.77 (1.62-4.98)***	1.64 (1.04–2.64)*	2.03 (1.11-3.98)*	1.67 (1.05-2.70)*	0.84 (0.52-1.37)
Geographical area					
Abroad vs. Northern Italy	1.83 (0.49-6.56)	0.86 (0.21-3.03)	3.18 (0.85-11.4)	1.46 (0.37-5.09)	1.61 (0.34–5.78)
Central vs. Northern Italy	0.94 (0.65-1.34)	1.12 (0.80-1.56)	0.88 (0.59-1.30)	0.92 (0.64–1.31)	1.01 (0.68–1.46)
Southern Italy Islands vs. Northern Italy	1.17 (0.82–1.67)	1.86 (1.32-2.62)***	1.07(0.73-1.57)	1.43 (1.01-2.01)*	1.31 (0.89–1.89)
Outdoor spaces at home	·				
Yes vs. no	0.64 (0.50-0.82)**	0.66 (0.52-0.84)***	-	-	-
Screen time (hours)					
>4 vs. ≤ 2 h	1.92 (1.37-2.71)***	-	-	2.00 (1.41-2.84)***	-
$2-4$ h vs. ≤ 2 h	1.44 (1.03-2.02)*			1.77 (1.25–2.52)**	

TABLE 2 Estimates of association from multivariable model regarding each subscale of the SDQ in children and adolescents.

OR, Odds Ratio; CI, Confidence Interval.

Odds Ratios (ORs) and 95% Confidence Intervals (CIs) for significant variables for each subscale were reported. All the models were adjusted by gender, age range (i.e., educational level), and geographical area. The event consisted of presenting the problem corresponding to each subscale, i.e., scoring as borderline or abnormal according to the 3-band categorisation suggested in the scoring guidelines (37) for the SDQ (35).

* $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$. Significant values in bold.

Youth and young adults

Results regarding youth and young adults are reported in Supplementary Table 4. Training >2 times/week vs. zero is inversely associated with psychological symptoms (OR = 0.25, 95% CI 0.14–0.45), as well as training during the period of closures (OR = 0.35, 95% CI 0.21–0.57, results not shown) and being male. Using electronic devices >2 h/day is significantly associated with psychological symptoms.

Figure 3 shows that exercising twice a week is associated with higher levels of psychological well-being, especially compared to those who have not exercised, in participants aged 16–25 years.

Discussion

The current study sought to investigate the relationship between PA and psychological health in various young age groups during the COVID-19 pandemic. Particularly, levels of PA performed during the beginning of the second European and North American pandemic wave and the following months were expected to be associated with a different mental health status among young Italian non-professional athletes. Our findings confirmed this hypothesis, revealing that not engaging in PA was associated with a higher incidence of psychological symptoms in both children/adolescents and youth/young adults. Those who were able to train continuously, both during closures/lockdowns and openings, showed fewer psychological symptoms.

In addition, engaging in outdoor PA or having access to outdoor spaces at home appears to be particularly crucial for children and adolescents. This is in line with previous studies highlighting an association between outdoor activities and psychological well-being (38–42). As suggested by previous research (43, 44), these findings emphasise the need to facilitate outdoor recreation opportunities, which should be taken into account for younger age groups during times of crisis in Italy as well. It should also be considered that outdoor activities reduce the probability of transmission of respiratory viruses (45, 46).

Furthermore, screen time has been found to be associated with psychological symptoms in children and adolescents, as well as youth and young adults. As we discovered, excessive use of electronic devices has a negative impact on psychological wellbeing (47-50) and is associated with a decrease in PA (51, 52). Over 2 h of daily screen time, in particular, was linked to emotional and peer relationship problems in children/adolescents. Indeed, studies show that increased screen time is linked to lower levels of social competence (53, 54), as well as higher levels of depression and anxiety symptoms (55-57). It is to note that emotional and social competences and PA/sports show a reciprocal relationship, with one positively influencing the other. In fact, PA and sports can enhance emotional and social competences (58, 59), explaining why exercise resulted as linked to the adoption of prosocial behaviour in children/adolescents as well. It is to note that possessing high levels of these competences (such as self-control, empathy, and communication) can in turn improve one's likelihood of engaging in PA and sports activities. Social contact and support from others due to sports activities increases the beneficial effects of physical exercise interventions (60), and these benefits should be taken into account (17). In fact, in a Norwegian cohort study involving 382 children, it was found that there was no clear link between post COVID-19 conditions and the previous infection. Instead, loneliness and lack of PA were shown to be important factors. However, it is important to note that the increase in remote learning has contributed to the amount of screen time.

The current study also discovered significant gender differences. Indeed, male children and adolescents were more prone to present psychological difficulties overall—specifically, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, and lower prosocial behaviour. This is consistent with research showing that males exhibit externalising problems more frequently than females (i.e., dysfunctional acting-out and outward behaviours related to poor impulse control, such as rule-breaking, aggression, and impulsivity) (61–65). However, young adult males presented less psychological symptoms than young adult females. This is in line with previous findings (66) and might be due to the fact that females reported training less than males during the study period.

In a study conducted on 3,245 children and adolescents (67), caregivers reported behavioural changes in 64.3% of children under 6 years old and in 72.5% of those between the ages of 6 and 18 during the COVID-19 pandemic. In both age groups, distress linked to quarantine was significantly associated with such behavioural changes. However, in our study more psychological difficulties were found among children in kindergarten and primary school students, along with middle school students, compared to high school. Indeed, children attending kindergarten, primary and middle schools were more frequently reported as not having trained at all during the study period.

Along with the positive effects of PA on mental health, its beneficial outcomes on physical health, specifically concerning infectious diseases, should be considered as well. By boosting the immune system, PA can help minimise the adverse effects of the infectious process caused by COVID-19 (68). Recent publications showed a reduction in aggravation of the disease, in hospital admissions and a decrease of death from COVID-19 (69, 70). Furthermore, PA can also prevent COVID-19 infection, and the mechanisms can be partially explained by the higher concentration of immune cells, such as T lymphocytes, and the increased resistance of the mucosal immune barrier (salivary IgA immunoglobulin), observed in more physically active individuals (71, 72), providing a greater immunity against different types of viruses and bacteria entering the human body through the oral cavity and upper airways.

Fortunately, COVID-19 showed a very good prognosis in youth (73), and young index cases were found to be significantly less likely than adults to favour viral spread (74). In fact, it has been shown that the increased exposure to various types of viruses during childhood, including some cold coronaviruses, increased the immune response to SARS-CoV-2 (75).

All these factors should be duly considered when determining the appropriate preventive measures to be implemented for the younger demographic, given the impact on the psychological dimensions, which could affect the adoption of health behaviours.

A limitation of this study is that data were collected retroactively by using a self-administered web survey, raising questions about the accuracy of such information. However, the high interpretability of our results and the agreement with previous research suggest that the overall standard was high. Although other unmeasured confounders might affect the outcomes, key athletes' and sport-related characteristics were taken into account, as well as several sociodemographic variables, and a longer questionnaire might have led to lower compliance and accuracy. Lastly, the findings reported in the present paper refer to the young Italian population and may not necessarily apply to other regions and age groups. However, our results are in line with previous studies conducted in other countries investigating the impact of PA on psychological health during the COVID-19 pandemic (43, 76–80).

Ultimately, the present study confirms the positive impact of PA on mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic among younger age groups, and limitation of sports activities as a preventive measure should be considered in light of the associated risks. Indeed, these findings also provide further understanding of the risk-benefit relationship of interrupting sports activities as a preventive measure against contagion, having significant implications for policymakers and healthcare professionals in developing effective strategies to promote PA and mental health in younger populations. Particularly, the psychosocial aspects most related to PA identified in this study can be helpful to identify alternative and targeted solutions for future epidemics/pandemics. Although these results can provide valuable insights on possible solutions, further research is needed to develop effective interventions. The assessment of PA benefits and its promotion is particularly relevant in childhood and adolescents, as it is a critical period for the establishment of future lifestyles and the development of habits that exert a profound impact on overall health throughout the lifespan (81), also affecting public health in the long term.

Conclusions

The current study provides additional evidence supporting the positive impact of PA on mental health among younger age groups during the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, it emphasises the importance of considering the potential risks associated with the restriction of sports activities as a preventive measure. Specifically, by assessing the psychosocial dimensions closely linked to PA, targeted strategies can be developed. These findings contribute to a better understanding of the global situation and can be valuable in enhancing the management of infectious diseases in the future.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The study was conducted in agreement with the national and international regulations and the Declaration of Helsinki (2000). Approval by the Ethics Committee was not required as the online survey was completely anonymous, and it was not possible to keep track of any identifiable personal data. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin. No potentially identifiable images or data are presented in this study.

The EuCARE WP4

We want to mention the members of the EuCARE WP4, who supported the development of this study, which is part of the EuCARE Project: Francesca Incardona (1), Chiara Mommo (1), Gibran Horemheb Rubio Quintanares (2, 3, 4), Ana Abecasis (5), Daniela Alves (5), Inês Cruz Alves (5), Marta Pingarilho (5) Pier Luigi Lopalco (6), Susanna Chiocca (7), Ilaria Cutica (8), Davide Mazzoni (8), Nuno Amparo (5), Daniela Carmagnola (9), Claudia Dellavia (9), Gianvincenzo Zuccotti (10, 11), Felix Dewald (2), Rolf Kaiser (2), Nils Bardeck (2), Michael Böhm (2), Michal Rosen-Zvi (12), Yishai Shimoni (12), Sivan Ravid (12), Tal Kozlovski (12), Sofia Seabra (5), Victor Pimentel (5), Mafalda Miranda (5), Giuseppina Tucci (13), Carmen Romero (13), Francesco Vairo (14), Martina Spaziante (14), Valeria Gabellone (6), Giulia Vaglio (6), Fabrizio Fedele (6), Osvaldo Rafael Ramírez Ibarra (15), Victor Martín Escalante Gómez (15), and Mariela González Rodríguez (15).

(1) EuResist Network, Rome, Italy; (2) Institute of Virology, University Clinics of Cologne, Cologne, Germany; (3) Paul Ehrlich Institut, Langen, Germany; (4) Infectious Diseases Department, Instituto Nacional de Ciencias Médicas y Nutrición Salvador Zubitsn, Mexico City, Mexico; (5) Global Health and Tropical Medicine, GHTM, Associate Laboratory in Translation and Innovation Towards Global Health, LA-REAL, Instituto de Higiene e Medicina Tropical, IHMT, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, UNL, Portugal; (6) Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Technology, University of Salento, Lecce, Italy; (7) Department of Experimental Oncology, IEO, European Institute of Oncology IRCCS, Milan, Italy; (8) Department of Oncology and Hemato-Oncology, University of Milan, Milan, Italy; (9) Department of Biomedical, Surgical and Dental Sciences, University of Milan, Milan, Italy; (10) Paediatric Department, Vittore Buzzi Children's Hospital, Milan, Italy; (11) Department of Biomedical and Clinical Science, University of Milan, Milan, Italy; (12) IBM Research, Mount Carmel Haifa, Israel; (13) Organising Bureau of European School Student Unions (OBESSU); (14) National Institute for Infectious Diseases, "Lazzaro Spallanzani" IRCCS, Rome, Italy; (15) Laboratorio Universitario de Diagnóstico Molecular, Universidad de Guanajuato, Mexico.

Author contributions

ET, SR, and OD'E: conception, design, analysis and interpretation of data, and drafting and revising manuscript critically for important intellectual content. GT: conception, design, and drafting and revising manuscript critically for important intellectual content. FB and GC: analysis and interpretation of data and revising manuscript critically for important intellectual content. FG, PG, and SG: conception, design, interpretation of data, and revising manuscript critically for important intellectual content. MI, DR, AS, CS, GP, and NM: conception, design, and revising manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors provided final approval of the version to be published and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Funding

This research received contributions from the EuCARE Project funded by the European Union's Horizon Europe Research and Innovation Program under Grant Agreement No. 101046016. The funding source had no role in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data, nor in the writing up of the results, and in the decision to submit the present paper for publication. This work was also partially supported by the Italian Ministry of Health with Ricerca Corrente and 5x1000 funds.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the sports societies and organisations that contributed to the diffusion of the questionnaire to their athletes. We particularly thank for the support UISP Lombardia and FIN Veneto, CRESCERE SANI Onlus, Kids United ASD, Commissione Medico Scientifica Federale and Commissione Federale Antidoping e Tutela della Salute (FGIC), CSI, and G.S. Muraglia Calcio Pesaro. We thank Laura Lippi for her helpful support. We thank all the children, adolescent, young adults, and their parents for participating in the study. FB is a Ph.D. student within the European School of Molecular Medicine (SEMM).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Bogoch II, Watts A, Thomas-Bachli A, Huber C, Kraemer MUG, Khan K. Pneumonia of unknown aetiology in Wuhan, China: potential for international spread via commercial air travel. *J Travel Med.* (2020) 27:taaa008. doi: 10.1093/jtm/taaa008

2. Furukawa NW, Brooks JT, Sobel J. Evidence supporting transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 while presymptomatic or asymptomatic. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2020) 26:201595. doi: 10.3201/eid2607.201595

3. Sasser P, McGuine TA, Haraldsdottir K, Biese KM, Goodavish L, Stevens B, et al. Reported COVID-19 incidence in Wisconsin High School Athletes in Fall 2020. *J Athl Train.* (2022) 57:59–64. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-0185.21

4. Nieman DC, Wentz LM. The compelling link between physical activity and the body's defense system. *J Sport Health Sci.* (2019) 8:201–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2018.09.009

5. Evaristo S, Moreira C, Lopes L, Oliveira A, Abreu S, Agostinis-Sobrinho C, et al. Muscular fitness and cardiorespiratory fitness are associated with health-related quality of life: results from labmed physical activity study. *J Exerc Sci Fit.* (2019) 17:55–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jesf.2019.01.002

6. Li Y, Schoufour J, Wang DD, Dhana K, Pan A, Liu X, et al. Healthy lifestyle and life expectancy free of cancer, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: prospective cohort study. *Br Med J.* (2020) 2020:l6669. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l6669

7. Anderson E, Shivakumar G. Effects of exercise and physical activity on anxiety. *Front Psychiatry.* (2013) 4:27. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00027

8. Peluso MAM, Andrade LHSG. Physical activity and mental health: the association between exercise and mood. *Clinics.* (2005) 60:61– 70. doi: 10.1590/S1807-59322005000100012

9. Garcia-Falgueras A. Psychological benefits of sports and physical activities. Br J Educ Soc Behav Sci. (2015) 11:1-7. doi: 10.9734/BJESBS/2015/21865

10. Pearce M, Garcia L, Abbas A, Strain T, Schuch FB, Golubic R, et al. Association between physical activity and risk of depression. *J Am Med Assoc Psychiatry.* (2022) 79:550. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.0609

11. De Nys L, Anderson K, Ofosu EF, Ryde GC, Connelly J, Whittaker AC. The effects of physical activity on cortisol and sleep: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2022) 143:105843. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2022.105843

12. Peña JE, Rascón-Pacheco RA, Ascencio-Montiel IJ, González-Figueroa E, Fernández-Gárate JE, Medina-Gómez OS, et al. Hypertension, diabetes and obesity, major risk factors for death in patients with COVID-19 in Mexico. *Arch Med Res.* (2021) 52:443–9. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.12.002

13. Al-Sabah S, Al-Haddad M, Al-Youha S, Jamal M, Almazeedi S. COVID-19: impact of obesity and diabetes on disease severity. *Clin Obes.* (2020) 10:12414. doi: 10.1111/cob.12414

14. Shah H, Khan MSH, Dhurandhar NV, Hegde V. The triumvirate: why hypertension, obesity, and diabetes are risk factors for adverse effects in patients with COVID-19. *Acta Diabetol.* (2021) 58:831–43. doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01636-z

15. Tsankov BK, Allaire JM, Irvine MA, Lopez AA, Sauvé LJ, Vallance BA, et al. Severe COVID-19 infection and pediatric comorbidities: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 103:246–56. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.11.163

16. Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br J Sports Med.* (2020) 54:1451–62. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955

17. Amatriain-Fernández S, Murillo-Rodríguez ES, Gronwald T, Machado S, Budde H. Benefits of physical activity and physical exercise in the time of pandemic. *Psychol Trauma*. (2020) 12:S264–6. doi: 10.1037/tra0000643

18. Wolf S, Seiffer B, Zeibig JM, Welkerling J, Brokmeier L, Atrott B, et al. Is physical activity associated with less depression and anxiety during the

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1237443/full#supplementary-material

COVID-19 pandemic? A rapid systematic review. Sports Med. (2021) 51:1771-83. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01468-z

19. Chen P, Mao L, Nassis GP, Harmer P, Ainsworth BE, Li F. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): the need to maintain regular physical activity while taking precautions. *J Sport Health Sci.* (2020) 9:103–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2020.02.001

20. Vindegaard N, Benros ME. COVID-19 pandemic and mental health consequences: systematic review of the current evidence. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 89:531–42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.048

21. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, Lui LMW, Gill H, Phan L, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. *J Affect Disord*. (2020) 277:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

22. Martinez-Ferran M, de la Guía-Galipienso F, Sanchis-Gomar F, Pareja-Galeano H. Metabolic impacts of confinement during the COVID-19 pandemic due to modified diet and physical activity habits. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1549. doi: 10.3390/nu12061549

23. Wilke J, Mohr L, Tenforde AS, Edouard P, Fossati C, González-Gross M, et al. A pandemic within the pandemic? Physical activity levels substantially decreased in countries affected by COVID-19. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:2235. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18052235

24. Stockwell S, Trott M, Tully M, Shin J, Barnett Y, Butler L, et al. Changes in physical activity and sedentary behaviours from before to during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown: a systematic review. *Br Med J Open Sport Exerc Med.* (2021) 7:e000960. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000960

25. Rossi L, Behme N, Breuer C. Physical activity of children and adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic—A scoping review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:11440. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182111440

26. Kohl HW, Craig CL, Lambert EV, Inoue S, Alkandari JR, Leetongin G, et al. The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:294–305. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60898-8

27. Hills AP, Andersen LB, Byrne NM. Physical activity and obesity in children. Br J Sports Med. (2011) 45:866–70. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090199

28. Torri E, Sbrogiò LG, Di Rosa E, Cinquetti S, Francia F, Ferro A. Italian public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic: case report from the field, insights and challenges for the department of prevention. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:3666. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17103666

29. Ministero della Salute – Istituto superiore di Sanità. Prevention and Response to COVID-19: Evolution of Strategy and Planning in the Transition Phase for the Autumn-Winter Season. (2020). Available online at: https://www.iss.it/documents/ 5430402/0/COVID\$+\$19_\$+\$strategy_ISS_MoH\$+\$%281%29.pdf/f0d91693-c7ce-880b-e554-643c049ea0f3?t=1604675600974 (accessed June 11, 2023).

30. Raimondi S, Cammarata G, Testa G, Bellerba F, Galli F, Gnagnarella P, et al. The impact of sport activity shut down during the COVID-19 pandemic on children, adolescents, and young adults: was it worthwhile? *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:7908. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19137908

31. Comitato Olimpico Nazionale Italiano. *I numeri dello sport*. (2020). Available online at: https://www.coni.it/images/INDS_v11report_gfx_DOCUMENTO.pdf (accessed July 19, 2023).

32. Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2003) 35:1381–95. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924. 61453.FB

33. Lee PH, Macfarlane DJ, Lam T, Stewart SM. Validity of the international physical activity questionnaire short form (IPAQ-SF): a systematic review. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2011) 8:115. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-115

34. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour. (2020). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240015128 (accessed June 11, 2023).

35. Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2001) 40:1337–45. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200111000-00015

36. Grossi E, Groth N, Mosconi P, Cerutti R, Pace F, Compare A, et al. Development and validation of the short version of the Psychological General Well-Being Index (PGWB-S). *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2006) 4:88. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-4-88

37. Youth in Mind. *Scoring the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire*. (2016). Available online at: https://sdqinfo.org/py/sdqinfo/c0.py (accessed June 11, 2023).

38. Korpela K, Borodulin K, Neuvonen M, Paronen O, Tyrväinen L. Analyzing the mediators between nature-based outdoor recreation and emotional well-being. *J Environ Psychol.* (2014) 37:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2013.11.003

39. Wolsko C, Lindberg K. Experiencing connection with nature: the matrix of psychological well-being, mindfulness, and outdoor recreation. *Ecopsychology.* (2013) 5:80–91. doi: 10.1089/eco.2013.0008

40. Frühauf A, Niedermeier M, Elliott LR, Ledochowski L, Marksteiner J, Kopp M. Acute effects of outdoor physical activity on affect and psychological well-being in depressed patients—A preliminary study. *Ment Health Phys Act.* (2016) 10:4–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2016.02.002

41. Wolsko C, Lindberg K, Reese R. Nature-based physical recreation leads to psychological well-being: evidence from five studies. *Ecopsychology*. (2019) 11:222–35. doi: 10.1089/eco.2018.0076

42. Lawton E, Brymer E, Clough P, Denovan A. The relationship between the physical activity environment, nature relatedness, anxiety, and the psychological well-being benefits of regular exercisers. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:1058. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01058

43. Jackson SB, Stevenson KT, Larson LR, Peterson MN, Seekamp E. Outdoor activity participation improves adolescents' mental health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:2506. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18052506

44. Lades LK, Laffan K, Daly M, Delaney L. Daily emotional well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Br J Health Psychol.* (2020) 25:902–11. doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12450

45. Rowe BR, Canosa A, Drouffe JM, Mitchell JBA. Simple quantitative assessment of the outdoor versus indoor airborne transmission of viruses and COVID-19. *Environ Res.* (2021) 198:111189. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2021.111189

46. Wang CC, Prather KA, Sznitman J, Jimenez JL, Lakdawala SS, Tufekci Z, et al. Airborne transmission of respiratory viruses. Science (1979). (2021) 373. doi: 10.1126/science.abd9149

47. Carson V, Hunter S, Kuzik N, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput JP, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metabol.* (2016) 41(Suppl.3):S240–65. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0630

48. Hinkley T, Teychenne M, Downing KL, Ball K, Salmon J, Hesketh KD. Early childhood physical activity, sedentary behaviors and psychosocial wellbeing: a systematic review. *Prev Med.* (2014) 62:182–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014. 02.007

49. Wong CKH, Wong RS, Cheung JPY, Tung KTS, Yam JCS, Rich M, et al. Impact of sleep duration, physical activity, and screen time on health-related quality of life in children and adolescents. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2021) 19:145. doi: 10.1186/s12955-021-01776-y

50. Guerrero MD, Barnes JD, Chaput JP, Tremblay MS. Screen time and problem behaviors in children: exploring the mediating role of sleep duration. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2019) 16:105. doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0862-x

51. Rocka A, Jasielska F, Madras D, Krawiec P, Pac-Kozuchowska E. The impact of digital screen time on dietary habits and physical activity in children and adolescents. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:2985. doi: 10.3390/nu14142985

52. Dahlgren A, Sjöblom L, Eke H, Bonn SE, Trolle Lagerros Y. Screen time and physical activity in children and adolescents aged 10–15 years. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0254255. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0254255

53. Ma S, Li J, Chen EE. Does screen media hurt young children's social development? Longitudinal associations between parental engagement, children's screen time, and their social competence. *Early Educ Dev.* (2022) 2022:1-16. doi:10.1080/10409289.2022.2151401

54. Skalická V, Wold Hygen B, Stenseng F, Kårstad SB, Wichstrøm L. Screen time and the development of emotion understanding from age 4 to age 8: a community study. *Br J Dev Psychol.* (2019) 37:427–43. doi: 10.1111/bjdp.12283

55. Domingues-Montanari S. Clinical and psychological effects of excessive screen time on children. *J Paediatr Child Health.* (2017) 53:333–8. doi: 10.1111/jpc. 13462

56. Tang S, Werner-Seidler A, Torok M, Mackinnon AJ, Christensen H. The relationship between screen time and mental health in young people: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2021) 86:102021. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102021

57. Maras D, Flament MF, Murray M, Buchholz A, Henderson KA, Obeid N, et al. Screen time is associated with depression and anxiety in Canadian youth. *Prev Med.* (2015) 73:133–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.029

58. Holt NL, Neely KC, Slater LG, Camiré M, Côté J, Fraser-Thomas J, et al. A grounded theory of positive youth development through sport based on results from a qualitative meta-study. *Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol.* (2017) 10:1–49. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2016.1180704

59. Eime RM, Young JA, Harvey JT, Charity MJ, Payne WR. A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2013) 10:98. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-98

60. Burke SM, Carron AV, Eys MA, Ntoumanis N, Estabrooks PA. Group versus individual approach 1 running head: group versus individual approach group versus individual approach? A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of interventions to promote physical activity. *Sport Exer Psychol Rev.* 1745:2. doi: 10.53841/bpssepr.2006.2.1.13

61. Selvakumar J, Havdal LB, Drevvatne M, Brodwall EM, Lund Berven L, Stiansen-Sonerud T, et al. Prevalence and characteristics associated with post–COVID-19 condition among nonhospitalized adolescents and young adults. *J Am Med Assoc Netw Open.* (2023) 6:e235763. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.5763

62. Leadbeater BJ, Kuperminc GP, Blatt SJ, Hertzog C. A multivariate model of gender differences in adolescents' internalizing and externalizing problems. *Dev Psychol.* (1999) 35:1268–82. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.35.5.1268

63. Rescorla L, Ivanova MY, Achenbach TM, Begovac I, Chahed M, Drugli MB, et al. International epidemiology of child and adolescent psychopathology II: integration and applications of dimensional findings from 44 societies. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2012) 51:1273–83.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2012.09.012

64. Achenbach TM, Ivanova MY, Rescorla LA, Turner L V, Althoff RR. Internalizing/externalizing problems: review and recommendations for clinical and research applications. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2016) 55:647–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2016.05.012

65. Chen JJ. Gender differences in externalising problems among preschool children: implications for early childhood educators. *Early Child Dev Care.* (2010) 180:463–74. doi: 10.1080/03004430802041011

66. Karageorghis CI, Bird JM, Hutchinson JC, Hamer M, Delevoye-Turrell YN, Guérin SMR, et al. Physical activity and mental well-being under COVID-19 lockdown: a cross-sectional multination study. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:988. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10931-5

67. Singh S, Roy D, Sinha K, Parveen S, Sharma G, Joshi G. Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on mental health of children and adolescents: a narrative review with recommendations. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 293:113429. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113429

68. Pitanga FJG. Physical activity, empowerment of the immune system and public health: what we learned from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:13837. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192113837

69. Ezzatvar Y, Ramírez-Vélez R, Izquierdo M, Garcia-Hermoso A. Physical activity and risk of infection, severity and mortality of COVID-19: a systematic review and non-linear dose-response meta-analysis of data from 1,853,610 adults. *Br J Sports Med.* (2022) 56:1188–93. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2022-105733

70. Lee SW, Lee J, Moon SY, Jin HY, Yang JM, Ogino S, et al. Physical activity and the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, severe COVID-19 illness and COVID-19 related mortality in South Korea: a nationwide cohort study. *Br J Sports Med.* (2022) 56:901–12. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2021-104203

71. Chastin SFM, Abaraogu U, Bourgois JG, Dall PM, Darnborough J, Duncan E, et al. Effects of regular physical activity on the immune system, vaccination and risk of community-acquired infectious disease in the general population: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2021) 51:1673–86. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-01466-1

72. Klentrou P, Cieslak T, MacNeil M, Vintinner A, Plyley M. Effect of moderate exercise on salivary immunoglobulin A and infection risk in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2002) 87:153–8. doi: 10.1007/s00421-002-0609-1

73. Zimmermann P, Curtis N. Why is COVID-19 less severe in children? A review of the proposed mechanisms underlying the age-related difference in severity of SARS-CoV-2 infections. *Arch Dis Child.* (2021) 106:429–39. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-320338

74. Caini S, Martinoli C, La Vecchia C, Raimondi S, Bellerba F, D'Ecclesiis O, et al. SARS-CoV-2 circulation in the school setting: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:5384. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19095384

75. Humbert M, Olofsson A, Wullimann D, Niessl J, Hodcroft EB, Cai C, et al. Functional SARS-CoV-2 cross-reactive CD4 ⁺ T cells established in early childhood decline with age. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2023) 2023:120. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2220320120

76. Okuyama J, Seto S, Fukuda Y, Funakoshi S, Amae S, Onobe J, et al. Mental health and physical activity among children and adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Tohoku J Exp Med.* (2021) 253:203–15. doi: 10.1620/tjem.253.203

77. Ai X, Yang J, Lin Z, Wan X. Mental health and the role of physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:759987. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.759987

78. Ozdemir F, Cansel N, Kizilay F, Guldogan E, Ucuz I, Sinanoglu B, et al. The role of physical activity on mental health and quality of life during COVID-19 outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *Eur J Integr Med.* (2020) 40:101248. doi: 10.1016/j.eujim.2020.101248

79. Pieh C, Budimir S, Probst T. The effect of age, gender, income, work, and physical activity on mental health during coronavirus disease (COVID-19) lockdown in Austria. *J Psychosom Res.* (2020) 136:110186. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110186

80. Alsalhe TA, Aljaloud SO, Chalghaf N, Guelmami N, Alhazza DW, Azaiez F, et al. Moderation effect of physical activity on the relationship between fear of COVID-19 and general distress: a pilot case study in Arabic countries. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:570085. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.570085

81. Hernández-Mendo A, Reigal RE, López-Walle JM, Serpa S, Samdal O, Morales-Sánchez V, et al. Physical activity, sports practice, and cognitive functioning: the current research status. *Front Psychol.* (2019) 10:2658. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02658

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Soukaina Hattabi, University of Jendouba, Tunisia José Eduardo Teixeira, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (IPB), Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Yunsik Shim yunsikshim@gmail.com

RECEIVED 20 August 2023 ACCEPTED 12 October 2023 PUBLISHED 25 October 2023

CITATION

Liao T, Yin Y, Hu X, Tang S and Shim Y (2023) The relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being in Chinese university students: the mediating roles of perceived health, social support and self-esteem. Front. Sports Act. Living 5:1280404. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2023.1280404

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liao, Yin, Hu, Tang and Shim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being in Chinese university students: the mediating roles of perceived health, social support and self-esteem

Tianzhi Liao¹, Yujia Yin², Xiaoyong Hu³, Saizhao Tang⁴ and Yunsik Shim⁵*

¹Department of Sports Science, Guiyang University, Guiyang, China, ²Department of Sports Sociology, Guiyang University, Guiyang, China, ³Department of Physical Education, Guiyang University, Guiyang, China, ⁴Department of Sports Medicine, Guiyang University, Guiyang, China, ⁵Department of Sports Science, Soonchunhyang University, Asan, Republic of Korea

Purpose: The intent of this paper is to understand the effect of Physical Activity on university students' Subjective Well-being and to explore whether Perceived Health, Social Support, and Self-esteem play roles as mediating variables.

Methods: Self-reported data from 404 college students (147 males and 257 females) were analyzed using structural equation modeling (SEM). The relationships between the study variables were tested by mediation models and 5,000 bootstrap samples using AMOS version 24.

Results: (1) The six hypotheses were supported in the measurement model in the results (P < 0.05). Physical Activity was related to Social Support, Perceived Health, and to Self-esteem; Social Support, Perceived Health, and Self-esteem were all related to Subjective Well-being. However, the direct positive effect of Physical Activity gradually decreased in the order of Self-esteem, Social Support, and Perceived Health. The direct effect of Perceived Health, Social Support, and Self-esteem on Subjective Well-being also decreased sequentially. (2) In the Structural Equation Model ($\chi^2 = 825.451$, p < 0.001, df = 455, CMIN/df = 1.814, CFI = 0.942, RMSEA = 0.045), the three hypotheses of mediation were supported (P < 0.05), showing positive indirect effects between Physical Activity and Subjective Well-being. Of the three mediating effects, Social Support and Self-esteem were not different, and the mediating effect of Perceived Health showed the largest impact. This indicates that Social Support, Perceived Health, and Self-esteem mediate the effects of Physical Activity, and Subjective Well-being regulation has positive indirect effects.

Conclusion: This study demonstrates the importance of meeting the needs of Social Support, Perceived Health, and Self-esteem when designing interventions to promote college students' sports participation to enhance Subjective Wellbeing.

KEYWORDS

physical activity, subjective well-being, social support, perceived health, self-esteem

1. Introduction

Most college students face mental health problems such as depression and anxiety (1, 2). In the United States, almost half of college-aged individuals have a psychiatric disorder (3). The prevalence of mental health problems among U.S. college students was higher in 2011 than in 2008, with 34.5% of college students reporting depressive symptoms according to the 2015 National College Health Assessment (4). Likewise, more than 20% of Chinese college students suffer from depression, and this ratio has continued to grow over the past decade (5). Research indicates that approximately half of university students have moderate stress-related mental health concerns, including anxiety and depression (6). Physical activity (PA), as a modifiable health behavior, has been identified as an influential factor in promoting physical and mental health (7). Regular participation in PA is associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease, hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and depression (8). Mental health research should study positive psychological traits such as subjective well-being (SWB) (9). Despite evidence suggesting a positive impact of PA on mental health, PA has been primarily considered a method of preventing or treating mental disorders.

"The body of research on the link between PA and SWB is still in its early stages. SWB, according to Diener et al., is "a person's cognitive and affective evaluations of their life" (10). Living satisfaction is the overall judgment people make of their living situations (11, 12), and is the cognitive component of SWB, whereas positive and negative affect are the affective components (13). Happiness, defined as a subjective psychological state characterized by enjoyment and contentment, is extensively employed as a measure of SWB and an effective component of SWB (14). Life satisfaction is an essential variable since it is related to university students" mental and physical health and has been identified as one of the basic conceptions in the field of positive psychology (15). Thus, Understanding the factors that contribute to life satisfaction is a critical problem for university students. SWB dimensions can be mixed in a variety of ways, and SWB can be studied as a rapid cognitive assessment of one's health satisfaction."

Perceived or self-rated health refers to an individual's perception of their health status. There is evidence that perceived health correlates more with SWB than objectively measured health (16, 17). From the perspective of perceived health, perceived health and well-being in adults are positively correlated among individuals and communities in the United States (18), and perceived health status is significantly associated with well-being in Sweden (19). Although objective health indicators such as physical health and functional rate have a relatively small effect on life satisfaction in older adults (20, 21), perceived health is significantly associated with well-being (22), and perceived health in middle-aged and older adults mediates PA and SWB (23). However, whether perceived health also mediates this relationship in college students remains unknown.

Social support is the feeling or experience of being loved, cared for, respected, and valued by a person as part of a social network of mutual aid and obligation (24). Social support is widely believed to be positively related to SWB (25, 26). Some studies suggest that social support is necessary for SWB (27). Social support should promote well-being by influencing cognition, emotion, and behavior to support positive affect (28). Social support varies by partner, family, and friends (29). Social help from family and friends positively relates to life satisfaction, but the interaction between these two variables is not statistically significant (30). Diener et al. (1999) (31) suggested that the theory must be refined to identify differential effects of input variables on components of SWB-specific predictions. There are separable components of SWB that exhibit unique patterns of relationships with different variables.

Self-esteem is an individual's overall sense of worth or value (Rosenberg, 1979) (32) and is framed in the context of demographic characteristics, social relationships, and personality (33–35). In many past studies, self-esteem has been strongly correlated with each component of SWB. Individuals with higher levels of self-esteem report higher life satisfaction and positive emotions and lower negative emotions, especially in individualistic cultures (33, 34, 36, 37). Self-esteem is strongly correlated with PA in children (38), and adolescents (39–41), and adults (42–44). Rosenberg et al. (1995) (45) emphasized that specific behaviors may be related to similar explicit self-esteem. In addition, it has been proposed that participation in PA contributes indirectly to an overall sense of self-worth and may enhance perceptions of the physical self, such as perceived physical appearance and physical motor ability (46).

In addition, several studies have shown that self-esteem is one of the strongest predictors of the cognitive component of SWB in adolescents and adults (47, 48). On the other hand, past research has shown that social support appears to have direct and indirect effects on well-being through specific cognitive mechanisms, personality factors (e.g., optimism, self-efficacy), and health behaviors (49–51). Considering that social support contributes theoretically (32, 52)and empirically (53–55) to self-esteem, selfesteem contributes theoretically and empirically to SWB.

The positive effects of PA on physical and mental health are well documented. Previous research has widely documented the positive relationship between PA and various physical health parameters (56–58). PA is associated with lower overall mortality (59), improved cardiovascular and musculoskeletal health (60), lower risk of obesity and stroke (59), lower mental health burdens (61), and reduced symptoms of depression and anxiety (62–64). Studies based on a large general population suggest a positive correlation between PA and SWB (65, 66), and some studies suggest that regular PA may increase SWB in all age groups: children and adolescents (15, 67); young adults (68); adults (69, 70); and older adults (71–73). Research on this relationship among college students is limited, and only a few relevant studies exist.

The findings reveal the relationship between PA and SWB but can only provide generalizability to a limited extent. Most recent well-being studies focus on the relationship between a single factor and SWB, lacking systematic integration of various influencing factors, yet multiple factors influence SWB simultaneously. Only by considering individual factors, i.e., external environmental factors, can a multidimensional integration model be formed to explore the direct or indirect effects and contributions of individual factors on well-being. In addition, perceived health, social support, and self-esteem positively impact psychological well-being. In conclusion, given the robust evidence of a strong relationship between health and SWB and the beneficial effects of PA on health, we conclude that the relationship between PA and SWB among university students may be mediated by perceived health, social support, and selfesteem.

Research on the mediating variables of PA and SWB among the areas of university students, PA and Perceived Health, Social Support, and Self-esteem has become a significant research topic. This study uses the Physical Activity Scale, SWB Scale, Perceived Health Scale, Social Support Scale, and Self-esteem to analyze the effects of PA on university students' SWB and to explore whether Perceived Health, Social Support, and Self-esteem mediate the effects of PA on SWB, taking Chinese university students, a particular group, as its sample.

2. Method

The purpose of this study was to investigate the association between PA and SWB among university students, as well as the function of Perceived Health, Social Support, and Self-esteem in mediating the relationship between PA and SWB. As a result, the research subjects, research equipment, and data processing were carried out in accordance with the study's purpose.

2.1. Research model and research hypothesis

2.1.1. Research model

As shown in **Figure 1**, this study aimed to determine the effect of PA on university students' SWB and explore whether Perceived Health, Social Support, and Self-esteem mediate the effect of PA on SWB.

2.1.2. Research hypothesis

According to the research model and the problems to be solved, we put forward nine corresponding research hypotheses, which are described as follows:

- H1 Physical activity affects social support.
- H2 Physical activity affects perceived health.
- H3 Physical activity affects self-esteem.
- H4 Social support affects subjective well-being.
- H5 Perceived health affects subjective well-being.
- H6 Self-esteem affects subjective well-being.
- H7 Social support mediates the relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being.
- H8 Perceived health mediates the relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being.
- H9 Self-esteem mediates the relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being.

2.2. Participants

Participants for this study were recruited through Questionnaire Star, and 420 Chinese university students were identified from May to June 2022. An explanation of the primary purpose and content of the survey was given to participants in Questionnaire Star, and written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the survey. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB)-(1040875-202202-SB-021) in Korea. These participants completed questionnaires assessing their well-being, life satisfaction, PA, and perceived health during the assessment. As reported in Table 1, a total of 420 questionnaires were recovered, and those who skipped more than 16 questions or answered the questionnaire incorrectly were excluded, leaving 404 samples for further analysis. Looking at the individual characteristics in detail, 147 males (36.4%) and 257 females (63.6%) were included. As indicated previously, the survey captured College year groups: Freshman (28, 6.9%); Sophomore (141, 34.9%); Junior (143, 35.4%); Senior (92, 22.8%). In terms of Habit, less than 12 months (304, 75.2%), more than 12 months (100, 24.8%).


TABLE 1 Socio-demographic characteristics of participants (N = 404).

Characteri	stics	Number (persons)	percent (%)
Sex	Male	147	36.4
	Female	257	63.6
Age	18	5	1.2
	19	47	11.6
	20	88	21.8
	21	78	19.3
	22	75	18.6
	23	62	15.3
	24	31	7.7
	25	10	2.5
	26	6	1.5
	27	2	0.5
College year	Freshman	28	6.9
	Sophomore	141	34.9
	Junior	143	35.4
	Senior	92	22.8
Habits	0-3 months	166	41.1
	3-6 months	95	23.5
	6-12 months	43	10.6
	12-18 months	18	4.5
	More than18 months	82	20.3

2.3. Measures

The Physical Activity Scale, Social Support Scale, and SWB, and Perceived Health, and Self-esteem measures were employed in this study. We investigated the effect of PA on college students' SWB using a cohort of Chinese university students as subjects. We investigated whether perceived health, social support, and selfesteem act as moderators of the effect of PA on SWB.

2.3.1. Moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA)

MVPA was measured using two questions adapted from the PA and physical fitness section of the 2007–2008 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (74):(1) "In a typical week, how much time do you usually spend doing moderate-intensity physical activities that cause small increases in breathing or heart rate?" and (2) "In a typical week, how much time do you usually spend doing vigorous-intensity physical activities that cause large increases in breathing or heart rate?" (75, 76).

2.3.2. Subjective well-being scale

2.3.2.1. Positive affect and negative affect scale

Positive affect and negative affect were assessed using the Chinesetranslated version of the Scale of Positive and Negative Experience (SPANE) (77). The validity and reliability of SPANE have been tested previously among Chinese adults (78). The SPANE has twelve items describing positive and negative feelings such as "pleasant," "joyful," and "sad." The respondents were asked to rate the extent to which they experienced each item using a 5-point Likert scale from 1 (very rarely or never) to 5 (very often or always). The SPANE produces a score for positive affect (Cronbach's Alpha = 0.914) and a score for negative affect (Cronbach's Alpha = 0.901) by adding the scores of the corresponding items.

2.3.2.2. Happiness scale

Happiness was measured as the affective component of SWB using the Chinese translated version of the Subjective Happiness Scale (SHS) (79). The SHS consists of four items on happiness, asking to what extent you agree or disagree with statements including (1) "In general, I consider myself a very happy person," and (2) "Compared to most of my peers, I consider myself happier." Response options were scaled from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). In this study, Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the Happiness Scale index was 0.871.

2.3.2.3. Life satisfaction scale

Life satisfaction was measured as the cognitive component of SWB using the Chinese translated version of the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) (80). The SWLS consists of five items to measure global cognitive judgments of life satisfaction, including (1) "In most ways, my life is close to my ideal," (2) "The conditions of my life are excellent," (3) "I am satisfied with life," (4) "So far, I have gotten the important things I want in life," and (5) "If I could live my life over, I would change almost nothing." The score of each item ranges from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), indicating how much you agree or disagree with each statement. A mean score was computed by averaging the score of each item, with higher scores indicating greater life satisfaction. Previous studies have shown that the SWLS has good levels of reliability and validity for Chinese university students (81, 82). In this study, Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the Life Satisfaction Scale index was 0.879.

2.3.3. Perceived health scale

Perceived health was assessed using a single item: "During the past 30 days, how often did you feel very healthy and full of energy?" The predefined responses were "never," "seldom," "sometimes," "oftentimes," and "always" (coded as 1–5). This one-item question was adapted from the healthy days core module of the 2001 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey (83, 84).

2.3.4. Social support scale

To assess perceived social support in participants, we administered the Multi-Dimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS) (85), consisting of twelve items. The scale assesses three sources of support: significant other, family, and friends. Example items include statements like "There is a special person who is around when I am in need", "There is a special person with whom I can share my joys and sorrows", and "My family really tries to help me". Each item is answered on a seven-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 7 = strongly agree. In this study, Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the Social Support Scale index was 0.865.

2.3.5. Self-Esteem scale

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale contains ten items scored on a four-point Likert scale and provides an overall evaluation of one's worth or value (Rosenberg, 1965) (86). For example, items included "I feel that I have a number of good qualities," "I feel I do not have much to be proud of," and "I feel that I'm a person of worth, at least on an equal plane with others." In this study, Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the Self-Esteem Scale index was 0.811.

2.4. Statistical analysis

In this study, the descriptive statistics and reliability of the demographic characteristics of the study population were studied using SPSS 23.0, and correlation analysis was performed using SPSS 23.0. The AMOS 24.0 program was used to perform validation factor analysis, construct models, etc. The main research questions and analysis were conducted in the following ways.

First, the questions were subjected to a validation factor analysis to filter out the questions suitable for representing each dimension and verify the validity of the measurement instrument. Second, Cronbach's alpha values were calculated to verify the reliability of each item of the questionnaire, such as the tools from the measurement scales for PA, SWB, perceived health, social support, and self-esteem. Third, correlation analysis was conducted using the correlation coefficient of Person to identify problems of multicollinearity in the observed variables. Fourth, descriptive statistical analysis was conducted to understand the demographic characteristics of each measured variable. Fifth, the direct effects in the model were analyzed by using structural equation modeling to predict the variables. Sixth, the PA factor of college students was used as the independent variable, the SWB factor was used as the dependent variable, and the perceived health, social support, and self-esteem of college students were used as mediating variables. The significance of indirect effects was verified by bootstrapping. All statistical tests set the statistical significance level at p < 0.05.

3. Results

In this study, AMOS 24.0 was used to construct structural equation models before structural modeling analysis to test the proposed hypotheses. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was conducted first, followed structural equation modeling (SEM) estimation according to Anderson and Gerbing's (1988) (87) two-step approach and recommended principles. The consistency of all scales was assessed, with a high Cronbach's alpha of 0.70 indicating good internal consistency (Fomell & Lacker, 1981) (88). In addition, this study used χ^2 , df, CMIN/DF, CFI, and RMSEA to further analyze the model's fit to the data, with CMIN/DF less than 3, CFI greater than 0.9, and RMSEA less than 0.08.

3.1. Structural model

AMOS 24.0 was used to establish the structural equation model and test the hypotheses based on the theoretical model and hypotheses proposed in the study. Table 2 shows that the fitness TABLE 2 The result of the structural model.

CMIN	DF	CMIN/DF	CFI	RMSEA
825.451	455	1.814	0.942	0.045

of the structural equation model of the complete model is $\chi^2 = 825.451$, p < 0.001, df = 455, CMIN/df = 1.814, CFI = 0.942, RMSEA = 0.045. The fitness of the structural equation model can be evaluated as good. The structural equation model analysis result is shown in Figure 2.

Table 3 show the results of hypothesis testing.

The path coefficient of the effect of PA on social support was significantly positive, with a path coefficient of 0.813; hypothesis H1 was supported.

The path coefficient of the effect of PA on perceived health was significantly positive, with a path coefficient of 0.650; hypothesis H2 was supported.

The path coefficient of the effect of PA on self-esteem was significantly positive, with a path coefficient of 0.930; hypothesis H3 was supported.

The path coefficient of the effect of social support on SWB was significantly positive, with a path coefficient of 0.253; hypothesis H4 was supported.

The path coefficient of the effect of perceived health on SWB was significantly positive, with a path coefficient of 0.484; hypothesis H5 was supported.

The path coefficient of the effect of self-esteem on SWB was significantly positive, with a path coefficient of 0.217; hypothesis H6 was supported.

The R² value was used to analyze the predictive power of each variable. The values should be sufficiently high for the model to have a minimum level of explanatory power. Chin (1998) (89) considers values of approximately 0.670 substantial, approximately 0.333 average, and values of 0.190 and lower weak. PA accounted for 66.1% of the variance in social support ($R^2 = .661$). PA was 42.3% of the variance in perceived health ($R^2 = .423$) and 86.5% of the variance in self-esteem ($R^2 = .865$). Social support for SWB, perceived health, and self-esteem explained 68.5% of the variance in SWB ($R^2 = .685$).

3.2. Mediation effect

To verify the mediation effect more accurately, the bootstrap method is adopted. The data were bootstrapped with repeated sampling 5,000 times, with the confidence interval level set at 95%, and the sampling method was a nonparametric percentile with deviation correction.

As seen in **Table 4**, the indirect effect of $PA \rightarrow SS \rightarrow SWB$ was 0.067 with a 95% confidence interval (.019-.164), excluding zero, indicating a significant mediating impact. The indirect effect of $PA \rightarrow PH \rightarrow SWB$ was 0.103, with a 95% confidence interval (.057-.180), excluding zero, marking a significant mediating effect. The immediate impact of $PA \rightarrow SE \rightarrow SWB$ was 0.066, with a 95% confidence interval (.009-.172), excluding zero, indicating a significant mediating effect.



4. Discussion

There is much research on PA and SWB, and many studies and meta-analyses report a close relationship between the variables of PA and SWB (66). According to Zhang and Chen's (4) recommendations, the researchers combine PA with SWB by leveraging their theoretical advantages for describing health to improve their interpretations through the mediating effects of perceived health, and social support, and self-esteem. Predictions were made through a holistic model that promotes approachand reality-based intervention plans. This study attempted to address the following areas: To examine the relationship between PA and the SWB of university students, and to observe whether perceived health, social support, and self-esteem played a mediating role on the relationship between PA and SWB.

This study helps to elucidate the effect of PA on SWB. The results showed that (1) according to the measurement model, all hypotheses were supported by the results. PA was related to social support, perceived health, and self-esteem; social support, perceived health, and self-esteem were related to SWB. However, the direct effect of PA observed in H1-H3 became more minor in self-esteem, social support, and perceived health. The direct effects of perceived health, social support, and self-esteem on SWB decrease sequentially. (2) According to the structural

Path		Estimate	SE	Z	Р	β	R ²	Results
H1	PA→SS	0.262	0.045	5.851	***	0.813	0.661	support
H2	PA→PH	0.513	0.075	6.874	***	0.650	0.423	support
H3	PA→SE	0.354	0.058	6.127	***	0.930	0.865	support
H4	SS→SWB	0.257	0.087	2.934	0.003	0.253	0.685	support
H5	PH→SWB	0.200	0.029	6.841	***	0.484		support
H6	SE→SWB	0.186	0.077	2.411	0.02	0.217		support

PA, Physical Activities; SS, Social Support; PH, Perceived Health; SE, Self-Esteem; SWB, Subjective Well-Being; $\chi^2 = 825.451$, p < 0.001, df = 455, CMIN/df = 1.814, CFI = 0.942, RMSEA = 0.045; 3. ***P < .001.

TABLE 4 Mediation test.

Path Estimate		Estimate Product of Coefficients		Bootstrapping			
			BC 95% CI Two-tailed sig		BC 95% CI		Two-tailed significance
			SE	Z	Lower	Upper	
H7	PA→SS→SWB	0.067	0.035	1.914	0.019	0.164	0.005 (***)
H8	PA→PH→SWB	0.103	0.030	3.433	0.057	0.180	0 (***)
H9	PA→SE→SWB	0.066	0.041	1.610	0.009	0.172	0.026 (**)

PA, Physical Activities; SS, Social Support; PH, Perceived Health; SE, Self-Esteem; SWB, Subjective Well-Being; χ^2 = 825.451, p < 0.001, df = 455, CMIN/df = 1.814, CFI = 0.942, RMSEA = 0.045; 3 **P<.01

***P<.001.

model, all three mediating hypotheses were supported. All three mediating effects showed positive indirect effects between PA and SWB. Of the three mediating effects, social support and selfesteem were not different, and the mediating result of perceived health had the greatest effect. This indicates that social support, perceived health, and self-esteem mediate PA to positively affect SWB regulation.

Studies based on a large general population have shown a positive correlation between PA and SWB and that PA is a crucial predictor of life satisfaction (90), consistent with the results of college students in this study (65, 66). It is widely accepted that social support positively relates to SWB (25, 26). Some studies have even shown that social support is necessary for SWB, consistent with the results of the college students in this study (27).

Direct impact studies in research have shown that self-esteem explains PA better than social support and perceived health, with PA contributing less to predictions of perceived health. Selfesteem was one of the strongest predictors of the cognitive component of SWB in adolescents and adults, which is consistent with the results of previous studies (35, 47, 48). Perceived health better explained SWB, with similar levels of prediction for social support and self-esteem. Perceived health was more strongly correlated with SWB than objectively measured health (16, 17), similar to previous studies. When social support, perceived health, and self-esteem were used as mediating variables, they positively influenced PA and SWB, with all three mediating effects significantly moderated. Analysis of the pathway results indicated that perceived health was the best mediator of the mediating effect. Past research has shown that social support appears to have a direct and indirect impact on wellbeing through specific cognitive mechanisms, personality factors, and health behaviors (26, 49-51). Perceived health in middle-aged and older adults mediates PA and SWB (23). This study demonstrated this relationship is mediated by perceived health also among college students.

The present study has important theoretical implications for research related to PA and SWB. In this paper, we systematically review the literature on PA and SWB to identify as many factors that affect them as possible and to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the research in this field. Some scholars have studied the relationship between PA and SWB in the past, and some studies have separately modeled the three dimensions of

social support, perceived health, and self-esteem, but no scholars have developed a comprehensive structural model of social support, perceived health, and self-esteem along with PA and SWB to explore their relationship. In this paper, we explore the relationship between PA and SWB among Chinese university students through a web-based survey and verify the mediating effects of social support, perceived health, and self-esteem.

From a practical perspective, this study provides guidance for future scholars who study PA and SWB. First, based on the final results of the mediated effects, we will increase the attention brough to social support, perceived health, and self-esteem in future PA interventions for college students to enhance physical fitness and improve SWB at the same time. Second, in the context of enhancing SWB, this study strengthens the capacity of physical education teachers to give guidance to students to mobilize their own pursuits, changing traditional teaching concepts to keep up with the times, and improving the developmental consciousness of students in a comprehensive manner to better provide precise services for Chinese university sports participants.

Despite the limitations of the study, the findings are valuable. The study discovered a mediation influence between PA and SWB in terms of social support, perceived health, and self-esteem. However, there are some restrictions, most notably in the following areas: (1) To begin, the study employs a cross-sectional design, which gives a measure of past or current behavior rather than a prediction of future conduct. Because of its limitations, consistency bias may exist, making it impossible to discern causal links between variables. Longitudinal designs and randomized controlled trials may be used in future studies to assist in demonstrate causal links between SWB and PA. (2) One weakness of this study is the use of self-report tools. Because of the assessor, the context of measurement, and the content and qualities of the question items, such self-reporting can lead to changes in independent variables and changes in artifacts across variables, all of which can lead to differing participant reports. Thus, despite efforts to control for ambiguity in the question items, scale format, and questionnaire length, some uncontrollable elements in the study, such as societal expectations and subject response emotions, may have nevertheless influenced the outcomes. (3) Because this study was conducted with Chinese university students, it is crucial to exercise caution when extrapolating the findings to other populations.

5. Conclusion

This study focused on determining the relationship between physical activity and subjective well-being among Chinese university students, and the mediating effects of social support, perceived health, and self-esteem was verified in the composed integrated theoretical model. For application in physical activity research, we emphasized the role of social support, perceived health, and self-esteem in physical activity and subjective wellbeing based on evidence from previous studies, with theoryguided research promoting a more profound understanding among researchers and research subjects. Thus, the current study provides a valuable framework for research related to physical activity and subjective well-being. Finally, our findings suggest that creating a psychological environment that satisfies social support, perceived health, and self-esteem is essential to encouraging college students to participate in sports. This study theoretically confirms that interventions in the areas of social support, perceived health, and self-esteem ultimately results in enhancing college students' subjective well-being and quality of life and reducing conditions such as stress and depression.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Soonchunhyang Institutional Review Board on Human Subjects Research and Ethics Committees, Soonchunhyang University. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

References

1. Misra R, McKean M. College students' academic stress and its relation to their anxiety, time management, and leisure satisfaction. *Am J Health Stud.* (2000) 16(1):41–51. http://ezproxy.staffs.ac.uk/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login. aspx?direct=true&db=s3h&AN=3308416&site=ehost-live

2. Sutin AR, Terracciano A, Milaneschi Y, An Y, Ferrucci L, Zonderman AB. The trajectory of depressive symptoms across the adult life span. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 70(8):803–11. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.193

3. Blanco C, Okuda M, Wright C, Hasin DS, Grant BF, Liu SM, et al. Mental health of college students and their non-college-attending peers: results from the national epidemiologic study on alcohol and related conditions. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2008) 65(12):1429–37. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc. 65.12.1429

4. Zhang Z, He Z, Chen W. The relationship between physical activity intensity and subjective well-being in college students. *J Am Coll Health.* (2022) 70(4):1241–6. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2020.1790575

Author contributions

TL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Writing – original draft. YY: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. XH: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ST: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Software, Writing – original draft. YS: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

This work was supported by the Soonchunhyang University and Guiyang University Research Fund.

Acknowledgments

We are indebted to the anonymous reviewers and editor for their comments.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Liu X, Gao X, Ping S. Post-1990s college students academic sustainability: the role of negative emotions, achievement goals, and self-efficacy on academic performance. *Sustainability.* (2019) 11(3):775. doi: 10.3390/su11030775

6. Regehr C, Glancy D, Pitts A. Interventions to reduce stress in university students: a review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord.* (2013) 148(1):1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2012.11.026

7. Rhodes RE, Janssen I, Bredin SS, Warburton DE, Bauman A. Physical activity: health impact, prevalence, correlates and interventions. *Psychol Health.* (2017) 32 (8):942-75. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2017.1325486

8. Piercy KL, Troiano RP, Ballard RM, Carlson SA, Fulton JE, Galuska DA, et al. The physical activity guidelines for Americans. *JAMA*. (2018) 320(19):2020–8. doi: 10. 1001/jama.2018.14854

9. Seligman ME, Csikszentmihalyi M. Positive psychology: an introduction. In. Flow and the foundations of positive psychology. Dordrecht: Springer (2014). p. 279–98. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.5 10. Diener E, Lucas RE, Oishi S. Subjective well-being: the science of happiness and life satisfaction. In: Snyder CR, Lopez SJ, editors. *Handbook of positive psychology*. Oxford, UK and New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2002) p. 63–73.

11. Caprara GV, Steca P, Alessandri G, Abela JR, McWhinnie CM. Positive orientation: explorations on what is common to life satisfaction, self-esteem, and optimism. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2010) 19(1):63–71. doi: 10.1017/S1121189X00001615

12. Pavot W, Diener ED, Colvin CR, Sandvik E. Further validation of the satisfaction with life scale: evidence for the cross-method convergence of well-being measures. *J Pers Assess.* (1991) 57(1):149–61. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5701_17

13. Ryan RM, Deci EL. On happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annu Rev Psychol.* (2001) 52(1):141–66. doi: 10. 1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141

14. Veenhoven R. How universal is happiness? In: Diener E, Helliwell JF, Kahneman D, editors. *International Differences in Well-Being*. NewYork: Oxford University Press (2010). p. 328–50. doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199732739.003.0011

15. Proctor CL, Linley PA, Maltby J. Youth life satisfaction: a review of the literature. J Happiness Stud. (2009) 10:583–630. doi: 10.1007/s10902-008-9110-9

16. Okun MA, Stock WA, Haring MJ, Witter RA. Health and subjective well-being: a meta-analyis. *International J Aging Hum Dev.* (1984) 19(2):111–32. doi: 10.2190/QGJN-0N81-5957-HAQD

17. Siahpush M, Spittal M, Singh GK. Happiness and life satisfaction prospectively predict self-rated health, physical health, and the presence of limiting, long-term health conditions. *Am J Health Promot.* (2008) 23(1):18–26. doi: 10.4278/ajhp. 061023137

18. Subramanian SV, Kim D, Kawachi I. Covariation in the socioeconomic determinants of self-rated health and happiness: a multivariate multilevel analysis of individuals and communities in the USA. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2005) 59(8):664–9. doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.025742

19. Gerdtham UG, Johannesson M. The relationship between happiness, health, and socio-economic factors: results based on Swedish microdata. *J Socio Econ.* (2001) 30 (6):553–7. doi: 10.1016/S1053-5357(01)00118-4

20. Bowling A, Farquhar M, Grundy E, Formby J. Changes in life satisfaction over a two and a half year period among very elderly people living in London. *Soc Sci Med.* (1993) 36:641–55. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(93)90061-8

21. Berg AI, Hassing LB, McClearn GE, Johansson B. What matters for life satisfaction in the oldest-old? *Aging Ment Health.* (2006) 10:257-64. doi: 10.1080/13607860500409435

22. Despot-Lucanin J, Lucanin D. Associations of psychological, functional, and biological factors with age changes in the self-perceived health of old persons. *GeroPsych: J Gerontopsychology Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2012) 25:135–43. doi: 10.1024/1662-9647/a000063

23. Lera-López F, Ollo-López A, Sánchez-Santos JM. How does physical activity make you feel better? The mediational role of perceived health. *Appl Res Qual Life*. (2017) 12(3):511–31. doi: 10.1007/s11482-016-9473-8

24. Wills TA. Social support and interpersonal relationships. In: Clark MS, editors. *Prosocial behavior* (1991). p. 265–89.

25. Kahn JH, Hessling RM, Russell DW. Social support, health, and well-being among theelderly: what is the role of negative affectivity? *Pers Individ Dif.* (2003) 35:5-17. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00135-6

26. Karademas EC. Self-efficacy, social support and well-being: the mediating role of optimism. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2006) 40:1281–90. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005. 10.019

27. Diener E, Seligman E. Very happy people. *Psychol Sci.* (2002) 13:81–4. doi: 10. 1111/1467-9280.00415

28. Cohen S, Gottlieb B, Underwood L. Theoretical and historical perspectives. In: Cohen S, Underwood L, Gottlieb B, editors. *Social support measurement and intervention: A guide for health and social scientists.* New York: Oxford University Press (2000). p. 3–28.

29. Walen HR, Lachman ME. Social support and strain from partner, family, and friends: costs and benefits for men and women in adulthood. *J Soc Pers Relat.* (2000) 17(1):5–30. doi: 10.1177/0265407500171001

30. Sheets RL Jr, Mohr JJ. Perceived social support from friends and family and psychosocial functioning in bisexual young adult college students. *J Couns Psychol.* (2009) 56(1):152. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.56.1.152

31. Diener E, Suh EM, Lucas RE, Smith HL. Subjective well-being: three decades of progress. *Psychol Bull.* (1999) 125(2):276–302. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.125.2.276

32. Rosenberg M. Conceiving the self. New York: Basic Books (1979).

33. Diener E, Diener M. Cross-cultural correlates of life satisfaction and self-esteem. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1995) 68:653-63. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.68.4.653

34. Bosson JK, Swann WB, Pennebaker JW. Stalking the perfect measure of implicit self-esteem: the blind men and the elephant revisited? *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2000) 79:631–43. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.79.4.631

35. Zhang L, Leung J. Moderating effects of gender and age on the relationship between self-esteem and life satisfaction in mainland Chinese. *Int J Psychol.* (2002) 37:83–91. doi: 10.1080/00207560143000252

36. Kwan VSY, Bond MH, Singelis TM. Pan cultural explanations for life satisfaction: adding relationship harmony to self-esteem. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (1997) 73:1038–51. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.73.5.1038

37. Oishi S, Diener E, Lucas RE, Suh EM. Cultural variation in predictors of life satisfaction: a perspective from needs and values. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (1999) 25:980–90. doi: 10.1177/01461672992511006

38. Strauss RS, Rodzilsky D, Burack G, Colin M. Psychosocial correlates of physical activity in healthy children. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2001) 155(8):897–902. doi: 10. 1001/archpedi.155.8.897

39. Daniels E, Leaper C. A longitudinal investigation of sport participation, peer acceptance, and self-esteem among adolescent girls and boys. *Sex Roles.* (2006) 55 (11):875–80. doi: 10.1007/s11199-006-9138-4

40. Erkut S, Tracy AJ. Predicting adolescent self-esteem from participation in school sports among latino subgroups. *Hisp J Behav Sci.* (2002) 24(4):409–29. doi: 10.1177/0739986302238212

41. Zhang M, Xu X, Jiang J, Ji Y, Yang R, Liu Q, et al. The association between physical activity and subjective well-being among adolescents in southwest China by parental absence: a moderated mediation model. *BMC psychiatry.* (2023) 23 (1):1–15. doi: 10.1186/s12888-022-04495-w

42. Cao M, Teng Y, Shao N, Wu Y. The relationship between home-based physical activity and general well-being among Chinese university students during the COVID-19 pandemic: the mediation effect of self-esteem. *Humanit Soc Sci Commun.* (2023) 10 (1), 1–6. doi: 10.1057/s41599-022-01483-z

43. Iwon K, Skibinska J, Jasielska D, Kalwarczyk S. Elevating subjective well-being through physical exercises: an intervention study. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:702678. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.702678

44. McAuley E, Blissmer B, Katula J, Duncan TE, Mihalko SL. Physical activity, selfesteem, and self-efficacy relationships in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Ann Behav Med.* (2000) 22(2):131–9. doi: 10.1007/BF02895777

45. Rosenberg M, Schooler C, Schoenbach C, Rosenberg F. Global self-esteem and specific self-esteem: different concepts, different outcomes. *Am Sociol Rev.* (1995) 60 (1):141. doi: 10.2307/2096350

46. Bowker A. The relationship between sports participation and self-esteem during early adolescence. *Can J Behav Sci/Revue Canadienne des Sciences du Comportement.* (2006) 38(3):214–29. doi: 10.1037/cjbs2006009

47. Neto F. Satisfaction with life among adolescents from immigrant families in Portugal. J Youth Adolesc. (2001) 30:53–67. doi: 10.1023/A:1005272805052

48. Chen S, Cheung FM, Bond MH, Leung JP. Going beyond self-esteem to predict life satisfaction: the Chinese case. *Asian J Soc Psychol.* (2006) 9:24–35. doi: 10.1111/j. 1467-839X.2006.00182.x

49. Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychol Bull.* (1985) 98:310–57. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310

50. Davis MC, Swan PD. Association of negative and positive social ties with fibrinogen levels in young women. *Health Psychol.* (1999) 18:131–9. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.18.2.131

51. Wills TA, Fegan MF. Social networks and social support. In: Baum A, Revenson TA, Singer JE, editors. *Handbook of health psychology*. Mahwah, NJ, USA: Erlbaum (2001). p. 209–34.

52. Mruk C. Self-esteem: research, theory, and practice. New York: Springer (2006).

53. Sarason IG, Levine HM, Basham RB, Sarason BR. Assessing social support: the social support questionnaire. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (1983) 44:127–39. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.127

54. Dumont M, Provost MA. Resilience in adolescents: protective role of social support, coping strategies, self-esteem, and social activities on experience of stress and depression. J Youth Adolesc. (1999) 28:343–63. doi: 10.1023/A:1021637011732

55. Symister P, Friend R. The influence of social support and problematic support on optimism and depression in chronic illness: a prospective study evaluating self-esteem as a mediator. *Health Psychol.* (2003) 22(2):123–9. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133. 22.2.123

56. Humphreys BR, McLeod L, Ruseski JE. Physical activity and health outcomes: evidence from Canada. *Health Econ*. (2014) 23(1):33–54. doi: 10.1002/hec.2900

57. Lechner M. Long-run labour market and health effects of individual sports activities. J Health Econ. (2009) 28(4):839–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009.05.003

58. Reiner M, Niermann C, Jekauc D, Woll A. Long-term health benefits of physical activity-a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *BMC Public Health.* (2013) 13 (1):1-9. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-813

59. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet.* (2012) 380(9838), 219–29. doi: 10. 1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9

60. Curtis GL, Chughtai M, Khlopas A, Newman JM, Khan R, Shaffiy S, et al. Impact of physical activity in cardiovascular and musculoskeletal health: can motion be medicine? *J Clin Med Res.* (2017) 9(5):375. doi: 10.14740/jocmr3001w

61. Chekroud SR, Gueorguieva R, Zheutlin AB, Paulus M, Krumholz HM, Krystal JH, et al. Association between physical exercise and mental health in 1 2 million individuals in the USA between 2011 and 2015: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Psychiatry.* (2018) 5(9):739–46. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30227-X

62. Kvam S, Kleppe CL, Nordhus IH, Hovland A. Exercise as a treatment for depression: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 202:67–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2016.03.063

63. Schuch FB, Vancampfort D, Richards J, Rosenbaum S, Ward PB, Stubbs B. Exercise as a treatment for depression: a meta-analysis adjusting for publication bias. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2016) 77:42–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.02.023

64. Wegner M, Helmich I, Machado S, Nardi AE, Arias-Carrion O, Budde H. Effects of exercise on anxiety and depression disorders: review of meta-analyses and neurobiological mechanisms. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets*. (2014) 13 (6):1002–14. doi: 10.2174/1871527313666140612102841

65. Ngamaba KH, Panagioti M, Armitage CJ. How strongly related are health status and subjective well-being? Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Public Health.* (2017) 27(5):879–85. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckx081

66. Buecker S, Simacek T, Ingwersen B, Terwiel S, Simonsmeier BA. Physical activity and subjective well-being in healthy individuals: a meta-analytic review. *Health Psychol Rev.* (2021) 15(4):574–92. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2020.1760728

67. Proctor C, Tsukayama E, Wood AM, Maltby J, Eades JF, Linley PA. Strengths gym: the impact of a character strengths-based intervention on the life satisfaction and well-being of adolescents. *J Posit Psychol.* (2011) 6(5):377–88. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2011.594079

68. Grant N, Wardle J, Steptoe A. The relationship between life satisfaction and health behavior: a cross-cultural analysis of young adults. *Int J Behav Med.* (2009) 16(3):259–68. doi: 10.1007/s12529-009-9032-x

69. Schnohr P, Kristensen TS, Prescott E, Scharling H. Stress and life dissatisfaction are inversely associated with jogging and other types of physical activity in leisure time-the Copenhagen city heart study. *Scand J Med Sci Sports.* (2005) 15(2):107–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2004.00394.x

70. Eime RM, Harvey JT, Brown WJ, Payne WR. Does sports club participation contribute to health-related quality of life? *Med Sci Sports Exercise.* (2010) 42 (5):1022-8. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c3adaa

71. Clark SD, Long MM, Schiffman LG. The mind-body connection: the relationship among physical activity level, life satisfaction, and cognitive age among mature females. *J Soc Behav Pers.* (1999) 14(2):221-40. https://search.ebscohost. com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1999-01008-005&site=ehost-live

72. Elavsky S, McAuley E, Motl RW, Konopack JF, Marquez DX, Hu L, et al. Physical activity enhances long-term quality of life in older adults: efficacy, esteem, and affective influences. *Ann Behav Med.* (2005) 30(2):138–45. doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm3002_6

73. Withall J, Stathi A, Davis M, Coulson J, Thompson JL, Fox KR. Objective indicators of physical activity and sedentary time and associations with subjective well-being in adults aged 70 and over. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2014) 11 (1):643–56. doi: 10.3390/ijerph110100643

74. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. (2013). Centers for disease control and prevention. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes.htm (Accessed November 12, 2013.A 2007-2008).

75. Wanner M, Probst-Hensch N, Kriemler S, Meier F, Bauman A, Martin BW. What physical activity surveillance needs: validity of a single-item questionnaire. Br J Sports Med. (2014) 48(21):1570–6. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-092122

76. Pierannunzi C, Hu SS, Balluz L. A systematic review of publications assessing reliability and validity of the behavioral risk factor surveillance system (BRFSS), 2004–2011. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2013) 13(1):1–14. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-49

77. Diener E, Wirtz D, Tov W, Kim-Prieto C, Choi DW, Oishi S, et al. New wellbeing measures: short scales to assess flourishing and positive and negative feelings. *Soc Indic Res.* (2010) 97(2):143–56. doi: 10.1007/s11205-009-9493-y

78. Li F, Bai X, Wang Y. The scale of positive and negative experience (SPANE): psychometric properties and normative data in a large Chinese sample. *PloS One.* (2013) 8(4):e61137. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061137

79. Lyubomirsky S, Lepper HS. A measure of subjective happiness: preliminary reliability and construct validation. *Soc Indic Res.* (1999) 46(2):137–55. doi: 10.1023/A:1006824100041

80. Diener ED, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The satisfaction with life scale. J Pers Assess. (1985) 49(1):71-5. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13

81. Sachs J. Validation of the satisfaction with life scale in a sample of Hong Kong university students. *Psychologia*. (2003) 46(4):225-34. doi: 10.2117/psysoc. 2003.225

82. Wu CH, Yao G. Analysis of factorial invariance across gender in the Taiwan version of the satisfaction with life scale. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2006) 40(6):1259–68. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.11.012

83. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Behavioral risk factor surveillance system survey questionnaire*. Atlanta, Georgia: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2001). p. 22–3.

84. Horner-Johnson W., Krahn G., Andresen E., Hall T., & RRTC Expert Panel on Health Status Measurement. (2009). Developing summary scores of health-related quality of life for a population-based survey. *Public Health Rep*, 124(1), 103–10. doi: 10.1177/003335490912400113

85. Zimet GD, Dahlem NW, Zimet SG, Farley GK. The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *J Pers Assess.* (1988) 52(1):30–41. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2

86. Rosenberg M. Rosenberg self-esteem scale (RSE). Acceptance and commitment therapy. *Measures package*. (1965). p. 61–2. doi: 10.1037/t01038-000

87. Anderson JC, Gerbing DW. Structural equation modeling in practice: a review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychol Bull.* (1988) 103(3):411. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411

88. Fornell C, Larcker DF. Structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error: Algebra and statistics (1981).

89. Chin WW. The partial least squares approach to structural equation modeling. *Modern Methods Bus Res.* (1998) 295(2):295–336.

90. Lightsey OR Jr, Boyraz G. Do positive thinking and meaning mediate the positive affect—life satisfaction relationship? *Can J Behav Sci/Revue Canadienne des Sciences du Comportement.* (2011) 43(3):203. doi: 10.1037/a0023150

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Soukaina Hattabi, University of Jendouba, Tunisia José Eduardo Teixeira, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (IPB), Portugal Andrew Sortwell, University of Notre Dame Australia, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Alfonso Trinidad-Morales, ⋈ alfonso.trinidad@ universidadeuropea.es

RECEIVED 09 August 2023 ACCEPTED 02 November 2023 PUBLISHED 13 November 2023

CITATION

Della Tommasina I, Trinidad-Morales A, Martínez-Lozano P, González-de-la-Flor Á and Del-Blanco-Muñiz JÁ (2023), Effects of a dry-land strengthening exercise program with elastic bands following the Kabat D2 diagonal flexion pattern for the prevention of shoulder injuries in swimmers. *Front. Physiol.* 14:1275285. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2023.1275285

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Della Tommasina, Trinidad-Morales, Martínez-Lozano, Gonzálezde-la-Flor and Del-Blanco-Muñiz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of a dry-land strengthening exercise program with elastic bands following the Kabat D2 diagonal flexion pattern for the prevention of shoulder injuries in swimmers

Ivan Della Tommasina¹, Alfonso Trinidad-Morales²*, Pedro Martínez-Lozano¹, Ángel González-de-la-Flor¹ and José Ángel Del-Blanco-Muñiz¹

¹Faculty of Physical Activity and Sport Sciences, European University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain, ²Faculty of Education and Humanities, European University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain

Background: During the repetitive execution of the swimming strokes, the muscles responsible for the internal rotations of the shoulders tend to become stronger compared to the muscles that oppose these movements. The aim of this study was to analyse the effect of a strengthening program for the shoulder rotator muscles using elastic band exercises in a diagonal Kabat pattern (D2 for flexion) in swimmers, to develop an effective, quick and easy-to-implement protocol for preventive training routines.

Methods: A randomized controlled trial design was carried out. Internal and external rotation range of movement, isometric strength of the muscles responsible for internal and external rotation of the shoulder, scapular movements, was measured at the beginning of the study and after 8 weeks post-intervention. A total of 22 male swimmers participated in the study and were randomly assigned to either an experimental group (n = 11) or a control group (n = 11). The experimental group underwent a 8-week shoulder-strength program using elastic bands, while the control group focused on aquatic training.

Results: The strength-training program resulted in an improvement in the isometric strength of the muscles responsible for external rotation and a better balance between the shoulder rotator muscles in the experimental group. However, these improvements have not been significant (p > 0.05).

Conclusion: The strengthening exercise program showed minimal improvement in shoulder rotation strength and range of motion. These findings suggest that the prescribed shoulder-strengthening exercise could be a quick-beneficial dry-land training option to improve external rotation shoulder strength or range of motion, but more studies with larger sample sizes and more weeks of treatment are needed to determine the efficacy of this protocol.

KEYWORDS

swimming, shoulder injuries, exercise, rotator cuff, elastic band

1 Introduction

Swimming is a cyclical sport with high technical demands, training loads and strength requirements to overcome an external load on the upper body (Jürimäe et al., 2007). The leverage effect of the upper limbs in the water can lead to joint and muscle overload and even injury (Hill et al., 2015). The rotator cuff in particular plays an important role in this process, as it is involved in stabilizing the shoulder against the addiction and internal rotation movements required to propel the swimmer through the water (Batalha et al., 2015). However, during the training season, overuse of the internal rotators and shoulder adductors can lead to a strength imbalance in swimmers, as the internal rotators gain much more strength compared to the external rotators and shoulder abductors, weakening the latter by the end of the season (Trinidad et al., 2021). This reason, an imbalance between these antagonistic muscle groups can lead to rotator cuff injuries known as "swimmer's shoulder" (Batalha et al., 2015; Kluemper et al., 2016). As a preventive measure, strength and stretching exercises have been incorporated into training in various sports disciplines to improve the performance of athletes (Asker et al., 2018). It would thus be advisable to develop protocols to prevent shoulder injuries caused by these muscular imbalances by strengthening the muscles responsible for external rotation and abduction of the shoulder (Marek et al., 2014).

In terms of etiology, prevalence and incidence, the shoulder is the joint with the greatest range of motion in the whole body, so the incidence of injury is very high (Tooth et al., 2020). In so-called "overhead athletes," which include swimmers, injuries to this joint complex have a high prevalence (Gaunt and Mafulli, 2012; Wanivenhaus et al., 2012). However, the incidence of shoulder pain in swimmers is around 38%, with between 29% and 91% of swimmers having experienced this symptom during their sporting career (Bak, 2010). This could be explained by the fact that in water, propulsion is based on the upper limbs, in contrast to land sports where the lower limbs are predominantly used (Sein et al., 2010). In addition, overuse of the shoulder muscles during weekly training sessions, which can be as many as 6 or 7 per week, leads to muscle imbalances between the rotators which, if not treated or prevented, can lead to injury later (Tessaro et al., 2017). Furthermore, in terms of therapeutic treatment, the most commonly used techniques to increase rotator cuff strength and muscular balance in overhead athletes include scapular-humeral stabilisation exercises. plyometrics, maximal strength exercises and the use of electrotherapy (Feijen et al., 2020). However, in recent years some studies have been published demonstrating the efficacy of strength exercises with elastic bands following a PNF-type diagonal Kabat pattern (Page et al., 1993; Richards and Dawson, 2009), showing positive effects on the improvement of rotator cuff strength (Moeller et al., 2014) after combining compensatory training with elastic bands with the diagonal Kabat pattern. However, most of these studies analysed sports with similar biomechanics to swimmers, such as handball, volleyball and baseball (Swanik et al., 2002).

In relation to elastic band training, scientific evidence has demonstrated the effectiveness of Kabat diagonal training using elastic bands following a progressive strength training protocol (Page et al., 1993). The elastic bands used in the current studies are characterised by different resistances, indicated by different colours, and are thought to provide greater electromyographic activation of the scapular musculature compared to free weight training (Witt et al., 2011). The protocol proposed by Manske et al. (Manske et al., 2015) shows the progression of the resistance of the elastic band as a function of the subject's perceived exertion (RPE) after performing the training tasks, using a numerical scale from 0 to 10 (Wong-Baker scale): if the RPE value was lower than 6, the resistance was increased. During the repetitions, each patient's subjective perception of exertion (RPE) was assessed. If the RPE was equal to or less than 6, the repetitions were increased to a maximum of 25, then the resistance was increased by changing the elastic band and returning to 15 repetitions (Manske et al., 2015). But the position of the patient to perform the Kabat diagonals varies according to the studies, the most common position being seated to avoid thoracic compensations (Escamilla et al., 2009). As for the point of fixation of the elastic band, this varies according to the studies in 3 points: head, feet, and iliac crest. However, there is no single consensus in the current literature on protocols applied to swimmers, with most studies focusing on overhead athletes in water polo, volleyball, baseball and softball (Escamilla et al., 2009; Witt et al., 2011; Manske et al., 2015; Batalha et al., 2018; Park and Park, 2019).

Therefore, training the external rotators of the shoulder may be a strategy to prevent rotator cuff injuries in swimmers due to the high incidence of injuries and the biomechanical importance of the rotator cuff during the sporting gesture [Batalha et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2014). For this reason, the aim of the study was to examine the effects of a diagonal Kabat pattern (D2 for flexion) on the strength of all the movements involving external rotation of the shoulder, scapular movements, and shoulder range of motion (ROM). We hypothesized that the experimental group had an improvement in shoulder strength, ROM and scapular movements.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Study design

A prospective, longitudinal, randomised, controlled, singleblind, 8-week clinical trial was conducted following the CONSORT guidelines and registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov (No. NCT05884996). Subjects who agreed to take part in the study were randomised into two groups using opaque envelopes: Control Group and Intervention Group (shoulder external rotator cuff strengthening using Kabat diagonal of D2 flexion and progressive resistance using elastic bands). All pre- and postintervention assessments were performed by 2 assessors blinded to the subject's group.

2.2 Participants

A total of twenty-two university swimmers were included in this study. Inclusion criteria were to be between 18 and 33 years old, male, and to train at least 2 days per week; exclusion criteria were to have no acute infections or to have any shoulder pathology. On the other hand, subjects who did not sign the informed consent form

2.3 Instruments

2.3.1 Maximum isometric strength of the external and internal rotators of the shoulder joint complex

An Active Force 2 dynamometer (San Diego, United States of America) was used according to the protocol of Hébert et al. (2011). Prior to the start of the test, the swimmers were instructed in the entire procedure, given time to familiarise themselves with the equipment and given 3 min to warm up with 2 test sets at minimum effort. The unit of measurement of the device was the kilogram (kg).

Subjects were then placed in the supine decubitus position. The upper limb to be assessed was placed in shoulder abduction and 90° elbow flexion so that the forearm was perpendicular to the ground and the stretcher. The dynamometer was placed transversely to the distal extremity of the upper limb, in precise contact with the patient's wrist. Two maximal isometric contractions were performed for 5 s, with 30 s rest between contractions, for the external and internal rotation movements. During execution, the blinded physiotherapist maintained firm contact with the dynamometer and applied a parallel resistance equal to the force applied by the athlete, without allowing the swimmer's upper limb to move. In addition, the athletes were verbally stimulated to produce the maximum possible effort and were instructed not to perform the Valsava manoeuvre during the test. Finally, the force exerted was digitally recorded by the apparatus and only the maximum value achieved was used, as a higher value indicated greater muscular effort.

2.3.2 Range of motion in external rotation

A goniometer (Tandou_1AA800252[®]) was used to measure the swimmers in the supine position on a stretcher, with the arm stabilised and a towel placed under the humerus to maintain a 10/15° arm position anterior to the coronal plane. The athlete's arms were placed at 90° shoulder abduction, the elbow off the stretcher at 90° flexion, and the forearm and wrist at 0° (perpendicular to the stretcher and floor). The axis of the goniometer was placed over the central part of the acromion. The fixed arm of the goniometer was superimposed on the fixed arm, aligned with the longitudinal midline between the ulna and its styloid process.

2.3.3 Muscular balance of the rotator cuff

With the results of the maximum isometric strength assessment, a ratio was made between the internal and external rotators of each arm (maximum isometric strength - maximum internal rotation/ maximum isometric strength—maximum external rotation); a value closer to 1 indicates a better muscular balance.

2.3.4 Scapulohumeral coordination using the PALM

The PALM was used to measure the medial/lateral displacement of the shoulder blade and its upward rotation during arm raising and

at rest. The swimmers were placed in a standing position and the arms of the PALM (da Costa et al., 2010) were placed corresponding to the inferior angle of the scapula and the spinous process of the closest thoracic vertebra. The distance between the two points was measured at rest and at the end of arm elevation. The results were then compared with the contralateral side.

2.4 Procedure

Elastic bands were used during the test, according to the protocol described by Batalha et al. (Batalha et al., 2015) with the aim of increasing the muscle strength of the external rotators and achieving the optimal angle of force application of the external rotators. Each session with the experimental group lasted approximately 4 min per subject and took place 2 days per week during the 8-week period. The intervention took place before the usual aquatic exercise session. The control group had to follow their usual routine without repeating the exercises suggested to the experimental group. The sessions were led by the physiotherapist-researchers of the study, who were responsible for supervising the correct performance of the exercises.

During each repetition, the subjects had to carry the end of the elastic band following Kabat's D2 diagonal pattern for flexion. All started from a position of adduction, extension and internal rotation of the shoulder with extension and pronation of the elbow, flexion and ulnar tilt of the wrist, to a position of flexion, abduction and external rotation of the shoulder with extension and supination of the elbow, extension and radial tilt of the wrist. Each subject in the experimental group began the first session by performing 3 sets of 10 repetitions for each upper extremity. Each subject in the intervention group performed 3 sets of 10 repetitions for each upper extremity. At the end of each set, each patient's subjective perception of exertion (RPE) was assessed using a visual scale with values from 0 to 10, depending on the intensity of the perceived exertion. If a value of 6 or less was reached on the RPE, 5 repetitions were added up to a maximum of 20. Once 20 repetitions were reached, the resistance of the elastic band could be increased in the following session, starting again with 10 repetitions.

2.4.1 Sample size calculation

The sample size calculation was performed using the G*Power Software version 3.1.9.2, considering an alpha error of 0.05 and a statistical power of 0.8, with a medium effect size (f = 0.33 or Eta partial squared = 0.10) based on the primary outcome (shoulder strength) and an estimated dropout rate of 10%. Therefore, a total of 22 participants were determined as the required sample size. This sample was divided into two groups, with each group consisting of 11 participants.

2.5 Data analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 29 for Windows (IBM, Armonk, NY, United States). The distribution of the data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test for sample sizes less than 50, in addition to examining histograms. For parametric variables (p > 0.05), central tendency and dispersion data

Variables	Total sample (n = 22)	Experimental group (n = 11)	Control group (n = 11)	<i>p</i> -value (between- group)
Age (years)	25.71 ± 3.22	25.7 ± 3.4	25.7 ± 2.9	0.981
Height (cm)	177.34 ± 3.52	176.3 ± 2.6	178.5 ± 4.2	0.142
Weight (kg)	75.53 ± 4.31	74.1 ± 3.0	77.1 ± 5.0	0.098
BMI (kg/m2)	23.93 ± 0.64	177.3 ± 3.5	177.3 ± 3.5	0.189
Training frequency (days/ week)	2.20 ± 40.44	2.2 ± 0.4	2.2 ± 0.4	0.849
Experience (years)	13.32 ± 6.36	11.8 ± 6.0	15.1 ± 6.5	0.235
Arm Dominance (L/R)	4/18	3/9	1/9	0.594
Swimming breathing side (L/R)	5/17	3/9	2/8	0.999

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic data of the total sample, experimental and control group.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; L, left side; R, right side. Data are expressed are mean ± standard deviation or frequency

were presented as mean and standard deviation, while for nonparametric variables (p < 0.05), median and interquartile range were reported.

An independent *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U test was performed to compare baseline characteristics between the two groups, taking into account the assumptions of homoscedasticity and sphericity. If the assumptions were met, a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with a 2 \times 2 design was performed. Effect size was assessed using partial eta squared (η 2p), with values of 0.01 interpreted as small, 0.06 as medium and 0.14 as large. A 95% confidence interval was used for all analyses.

3 Results

A total of 22 participants with a mean age of 25.71 years old, weight of 75.53 kg, height 177.34 cm and 13.32 years of swimming experience were included in the study, divided into two groups: experimental group (n = 11) and control group (n = 11). Table 1 shows the sociodemographic characteristics of the total sample. No differences were observed between the experimental and control group (p > 0.05).

Baseline outcome measures did not show significant differences between groups (p > 0.05). There was no group-by-time interaction for the variables related to shoulder range of movement, shoulder muscle strength and scapular position at rest and at maximum flexion (p > 0.05) (Table 2). Small to medium effect size was observed in shoulder internal and external rotation ROM, isometric shoulder internal and external rotation strength and scapular position ($\eta 2p = 0.00-0.10$).

4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to analyse the effect of a strengthening programme for the shoulder rotator muscles using elastic band exercises in a diagonal Kabat pattern (D2 for flexion) in swimmers, in order to develop an effective, quick and easy-to-implement protocol for preventive training routines. In contrast with our hypothesis, the participants of the experimental group did not show a significant improvement in shoulder strength, ROM or scapular movement compared to the control group post-intervention.

Training loads generate an imbalance in swimmers between the adductor and internal rotator muscles due to overload, while the antagonist muscles do not receive the same training load. Indeed, there is evidence of a mismatch between the strength developed by these muscle groups, altering the agonist-antagonist relationship (Weldon and Richardson, 2001; Drigny et al., 2020) as a potential cause of injury. However, corrective measures for this imbalance should be accessible to all swimmers, regardless of their competitive level and technical means.

On the other hand, the natural progression that swimmers undergo with training is towards muscle imbalance, according to data observed in young swimmers (15–18 years old), who develop internal rotator strength with training, but lose external rotator strength over 3 years of continuous training (Habechian et al., 2018) It seems logical to assume that the gains in internal rotator strength are part of the expected athletic development with training. Therefore, the loss of strength in the external rotators should alert coaches to take measures to ensure a harmonious development of strength in the shoulder complex. The isometric agonist-antagonist RE/RI strength ratio that would be expected in healthy shoulders should be between 75%–100% (Cools et al., 2016).

However, it is not only muscle strength that is a parameter to be monitored in the prevention of shoulder pathology in swimmers. Limited glenohumeral mobility is also a risk factor (Cejudo et al., 2019). According to a cohort study with a 12-month follow-up (Walker et al., 2012), the risk of shoulder pain is multiplied by 8.1 in swimmers with an excess of range in external rotation and by 12.5 in swimmers with a restriction of joint range in external rotation. However, in a retrospective study, no relationship was found between variability in humeral torsion parameters and rotation ranges with athletes' history of shoulder injury (Holt et al., 2017). In addition to improved monitoring of agonist-antagonist strength ratios, it seems sensible to monitor joint ranges as a risk factor through systematic screening to identify at-risk populations early. In the present study, the inclusion of this risk factor as an inclusion criterion may have provided meaningful results in the study population, as altered scapular kinematics has also been shown to be a potential risk factor (Su et al., 2004). In contrast, there is no consensus on which of the therapeutic approaches developed to date

0.08

0.06

0.10

0.05

0.07

0.03

0.10

0.01

0.03

0.00

0.04

0.01

0.07

0.00

p-value time

x group Range of Movement (o) Right IR EG 77.09 ± 10.17 80.81 ± 12.21 0.208 CG 80.40 ± 7.49 79.18 ± 11.12 Left IR 80.82 ± 12.21 73.36 ± 12.75 0.263 EG 77.90 ± 6.26 76.80 ± 9.98 CG Right ER 85.55 ± 12.39 88.91 ± 7.35 0.163 EG 91.80 ± 9.08 90.60 ± 5.50 CG Left ER 0.350 EG 85.27 ± 8.30 88.45 ± 8.85 CG 87.50 ± 8.32 88.70 + 7.87Isometric Strength (kg) Right IR EG 14.92 ± 3.07 14.94 ± 2.51 0.265 CG 15.67 ± 3.71 17.71 ± 4.36 Left IR EG 16.25 ± 4.76 15.45 ± 1.91 0.447 CG 16.16 ± 6.21 16.66 ± 3.68 14.76 ± 2.92 16.49 ± 3.25 Right ER EG 0.263 15.09 ± 3.72 CG 1389 ± 435 Left ER 0.709 EG 16.04 ± 3.54 16.73 ± 4.47 CG 14.38 ± 4.73 15.73 ± 3.87 Right ER/IR Ratio 0.92 ± 0.15 0.431 IG 1.06 ± 0.32 CG 1.19 ± 0.37 1.19 ± 0.20 Left ER/IR Ratio IG 1.02 ± 0.21 0.96 ± 0.21 0.926 CG $1.13\,\pm\,0.18$ 1.08 ± 0.17 Scapular position (cm)

 10.27 ± 1.10

 9.95 ± 1.04

 10.05 ± 1.08

 9.95 ± 1.01

 16.08 ± 0.87

15.53 ± 1.22

 16.13 ± 0.75

 15.70 ± 0.89

 10.57 ± 1.65

 9.88 ± 1.05

 10.18 ± 1.25

 10.29 ± 1.51

 16.17 ± 0.81

 15.16 ± 0.67

 15.48 ± 1.44

 15.21 ± 1.52

TABLE 2 Outcome measures at baseline and 8 weeks post-treatment.

to control the agonist-antagonist ratio is the most appropriate (Yoma et al., 2022).

IG

CG

IG

CG

IG

CG

IG

CG

The present study did not obtain the expected results in terms of muscle strength and shoulder ROM. Our results suggest that could be a positive trend in shoulder external rotation strength or range of motion. A previous study (Batalha et al., 2015) obtained significant results in terms of muscle strength. With a similar training protocol using elastic bands, they obtained significant differences in the strength of the external rotators (not the internal rotators) and in the RE/RI ratio. There are several reasons for the difference between the two studies. On the one hand, the follow-up was longer (16 vs. 8 weeks) and closer (supervised training vs. autonomous training). On the other hand, the age of the swimmers (14–15 years vs. 18–33 years) and the strength measurement was isokinetic vs. isometric.

0.379

0.657

0.233

0.788

In accordance with the above, the follow-up time seems to be the key that distinguishes the studies that obtained significant

Right at Rest

Left at Rest

Right at maximum flexion

Left at maximum flexion

differences between groups in terms of muscle strength. Protocols lasting more than 12 weeks (Batalha et al., 2015) proved to be effective, while those with follow-ups of less than 8 weeks were unable to demonstrate differences between the proposed approaches (Hibberd et al., 2012).

However, a new unknown factor is being analysed here. It seems that adolescent swimmers (<18 years) are able to correct muscular decompensation in the shoulder with training protocols of longer duration (12–16 weeks) based on strength exercises with elastic bands (Batalha et al., 2015; Manske et al., 2015). Nevertheless, the asymmetry between the present study and these two previous studies does not allow conclusions to be drawn regarding age, but it seems important to clarify in the future whether the preventive approach could be carried out at any age or whether it would be essential to carry it out in the early stages of sporting development. On the other hand, the therapeutic approaches differ between studies, but all include resistance exercises, for external rotation of the shoulder. It appears that open kinetic chain dry training was the most appropriate for the correct development of muscle strength (Hibberd et al., 2012), so the protocol proposed in this article has the potential to be effective in overcoming the limitations found.

There are several causes that may have led to the non-significant results found. The small sample size (22 participants), in addition to a short follow-up (8 weeks), with a treatment protocol that was too simplified (1 single exercise) and supervision limited to explanation and correction on the first day of treatment. On the other hand, the variables measured could have been improved with isokinetic measurement of muscle strength.

The challenge of creating a research protocol that, while retaining simplicity to encourage swimmer accessibility and adherence, was capable of demonstrating efficacy in the control of risk factors linked to swimming for the development of shoulder pathology. Further research is still needed to create an followed protocol for balancing muscle strength and shoulder joint range in swimmers. This protocol should be available to all swimmers, regardless of competitive level, age, financial or technical means.

5 Conclusion

The strengthening exercise program showed minimal improvement in shoulder rotation strength and range of motion. These findings suggest that the prescribed shoulder-strengthening exercise could be a quick-beneficial dry-land training option to improve external rotation shoulder strength or range of motion, but more studies with larger sample sizes and more weeks of treatment are needed to determine the efficacy of this protocol.

References

Asker, M., Brooke, H. L., Waldén, M., Tranaeus, U., Johansson, F., Skillgate, E., et al. (2018). Risk factors for, and prevention of, shoulder injuries in overhead sports: a systematic review with best-evidence synthesis. *Br. J. sports Med.* 52 (20), 1312–1319. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-098254

Bak, K. (2010). The practical management of swimmer's painful shoulder: etiology, diagnosis, and treatment. *Clin. J. sport Med.* 20 (5), 386–390. doi:10.1097/JSM. 0b013e3181f205fa

Batalha, N., Dias, S., Marinho, D. A., and Parraca, J. A. (2018). The effectiveness of land and water based resistance training on shoulder rotator cuff strength and balance of youth swimmers. *J. Hum. Kinet.* 62, 91–102. doi:10.1515/hukin-2017-0161

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the European University of Madrid (code CIPI/ 20/007). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

ID: Conceptualization, Methodology, Project administration, Writing-review and editing. AT-M: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing-review and editing. PM-L: Writing-review and editing. AG-F: Formal Analysis, Writing-original draft. JD-B-M: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing-original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Batalha, N., Raimundo, A., Tomas-Carus, P., Paulo, J., Simão, R., and Silva, A. J. (2015). Does a land-based compensatory strength-training programme influences the rotator cuff balance of young competitive swimmers? *Eur. J. sport Sci.* 15 (8), 764–772. doi:10.1080/17461391.2015.1051132

Cejudo, A., Sánchez-Castillo, S., Sainz de Baranda, P., Gámez, J. C., and Santonja-Medina, F. (2019). Low range of shoulders horizontal abduction predisposes for shoulder pain in competitive young swimmers. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 478. doi:10.3389/ fpsyg.2019.00478

Cools, A. M., Vanderstukken, F., Vereecken, F., Duprez, M., Heyman, K., Goethals, N., et al. (2016). Eccentric and isometric shoulder rotator cuff strength testing using a

hand-held dynamometer: reference values for overhead athletes. Knee Surg. sports traumatology, Arthrosc. 24 (12), 3838–3847. doi:10.1007/s00167-015-3755-9

Costa, G., Silva, E., Silveira, A., Novaes, J., Masi, F. d., Conceição, M., et al. (2014). Acute effects of static and proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation stretching on sprint performance in male swimmers. *Med. dello sport* 67 (1), 119–128. Avaliable at: http://www.fmsi.it/dmdocuments/MeddelloSport12014.pdf.

da Costa, B. R., Armijo-Olivo, S., Gadotti, I., Warren, S., Reid, D. C., and Magee, D. J. (2010). Reliability of scapular positioning measurement procedure using the palpation meter (PALM). *Physiotherapy* 96 (1), 59–67. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2009.06.007

Drigny, J., Gauthier, A., Reboursière, E., Guermont, H., Gremeaux, V., and Edouard, P. (2020). Shoulder muscle imbalance as a risk for shoulder injury in elite adolescent swimmers: a prospective study. *J. Hum. Kinet.* 75, 103–113. doi:10.2478/hukin-2020-0041

Escamilla, R. F., Yamashiro, K., Paulos, L., and Andrews, J. R. (2009). Shoulder muscle activity and function in common shoulder rehabilitation exercises. *Sports Med. Auckl. N.Z.*) 39 (8), 663–685. doi:10.2165/00007256-200939080-00004

Feijen, S., Tate, A., Kuppens, K., Claes, A., and Struyf, F. (2020). Swim-training volume and shoulder pain across the life span of the competitive swimmer: a systematic review. *J. Athl. Train.* 55 (1), 32–41. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-439-18

Gaunt, T., and Maffulli, N. (2012). Soothing suffering swimmers: a systematic review of the epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation of musculoskeletal injuries in competitive swimmers. *Br. Med. Bull.* 103 (1), 45–88. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldr039

Habechian, F. A. P., Van Malderen, K., Camargo, P. R., and Cools, A. M. (2018). Changes in shoulder girdle strength in 3 consecutive years in elite adolescent swimmers: a longitudinal cohort study. *Braz. J. Phys. Ther.* 22 (3), 238–247. doi:10.1016/j.bjpt.2018. 01.001

Hébert, L. J., Maltais, D. B., Lepage, C., Saulnier, J., Crête, M., and Perron, M. (2011). Isometric muscle strength in youth assessed by hand-held dynamometry: a feasibility, reliability, and validity study. *Pediatr. Phys. Ther.* 23 (3), 289–299. doi:10.1097/PEP. 0b013e318227ccff

Hibberd, E. E., Oyama, S., Spang, J. T., Prentice, W., and Myers, J. B. (2012). Effect of a 6-week strengthening program on shoulder and scapular-stabilizer strength and scapular kinematics in division I collegiate swimmers. *J. sport rehabilitation* 21 (3), 253–265. doi:10.1123/jsr.21.3.253

Hill, L., Collins, M., and Posthumus, M. (2015). Risk factors for shoulder pain and injury in swimmers: a critical systematic review. *Physician Sportsmed.* 43 (4), 412–420. doi:10.1080/00913847.2015.1077097

Holt, K., Boettcher, C., Halaki, M., and Ginn, K. A. (2017). Humeral torsion and shoulder rotation range of motion parameters in elite swimmers. *J. Sci. Med. sport* 20 (5), 469–474. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2016.10.002

Jürimäe, J., Haljaste, K., Cicchella, A., Lätt, E., Purge, P., Leppik, A., et al. (2007). Analysis of swimming performance from physical, physiological, and biomechanical parameters in young swimmers. *Pediatr. Exerc. Sci.* 19 (1), 70–81. doi:10.1123/pes.19.1.70

Kluemper, M., Uhl, T., and Hazelrigg, H. (2006). Effect of stretching and strengthening shoulder muscles on forward shoulder posture in competitive swimmers. J. Sport Rehabilitation 15 (1), 58–70. doi:10.1123/jsr.15.1.58

Manske, R. C., Lewis, S., Wolff, S., and Smith, B. (2015). Effects of a dry-land strengthening program in competitive adolescent swimmers. *Int. J. sports Phys. Ther.* 10 (6), 858–867.

Marek, S. M., Cramer, J. T., Fincher, A. L., Massey, L. L., Dangelmaier, S. M., Purkayastha, S., et al. (2014). Acute effects of static and proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation stretching on sprint performance in male swimmers. *Med. dello Sport* 67 (1), 119–128.

Moeller, C. R., Bliven, K. C., and Valier, A. R. (2014). Scapular muscle-activation ratios in patients with shoulder injuries during functional shoulder exercises. *J. Athl. Train.* 49 (3), 345–355. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.3.10

Page, P. A., Lamberth, J., Abadie, B., Boling, R., Collins, R., and Linton, R. (1993). Posterior rotator cuff strengthening using theraband(r) in a functional diagonal pattern in collegiate baseball pitchers. *J. Athl. Train.* 28 (4), 346–354.

Park, S. Y., and Park, D. J. (2019). Comparison of muscular activities between subjects with and without scapular downward rotation impairment during diagonal pattern of exercises. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 23 (1), 59–64. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2018.01.006

Richards, J. A., and Dawson, T. A. (2009). Optimizing exercise outcomes: the efficacy of resistance training using conventional vs. novel movement arcs. *J. strength Cond. Res.* 23 (7), 2015–2024. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181b43aa6

Sein, M. L., Walton, J., Linklater, J., Appleyard, R., Kirkbride, B., Kuah, D., et al. (2010). Shoulder pain in elite swimmers: primarily due to swim-volume-induced supraspinatus tendinopathy. *Br. J. sports Med.* 44 (2), 105–113. doi:10.1136/bjsm. 2008.047282

Su, K. P., Johnson, M. P., Gracely, E. J., and Karduna, A. R. (2004). Scapular rotation in swimmers with and without impingement syndrome: practice effects. *Med. Sci. sports Exerc.* 36 (7), 1117–1123. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000131955.55786.1a

Swanik, K. A., Lephart, S. M., Swanik, C. B., Lephart, S. P., Stone, D. A., and Fu, F. H. (2002). The effects of shoulder plyometric training on proprioception and selected muscle performance characteristics. *J. shoulder Elb. Surg.* 11 (6), 579–586. doi:10.1067/ mse.2002.127303

Tessaro, M., Granzotto, G., Poser, A., Plebani, G., and Rossi, A. (2017). Shoulder pain in competitive teenage swimmers and it's prevention: a retrospective epidemiological cross sectional study of prevalence. *Int. J. sports Phys. Ther.* 12 (5), 798–811. doi:10. 26603/ijspt20170798

Tooth, C., Gofflot, A., Schwartz, C., Croisier, J. L., Beaudart, C., Bruyère, O., et al. (2020). Risk factors of overuse shoulder injuries in overhead athletes: a systematic review. *Sports health* 12 (5), 478–487. doi:10.1177/1941738120931764

Trinidad, A., González-Garcia, H., and López-Valenciano, A. (2021). An updated review of the epidemiology of swimming injuries. *PM R J. Inj. Funct. rehabilitation* 13 (9), 1005–1020. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12503

Walker, H., Gabbe, B., Wajswelner, H., Blanch, P., and Bennell, K. (2012). Shoulder pain in swimmers: a 12-month prospective cohort study of incidence and risk factors. *Phys. Ther. sport.* 13 (4), 243–249. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2012.01.001

Wanivenhaus, F., Fox, A. J., Chaudhury, S., and Rodeo, S. A. (2012). Epidemiology of injuries and prevention strategies in competitive swimmers. *Sports health* 4 (3), 246–251. doi:10.1177/1941738112442132

Weldon, E. J., and Richardson, A. B. (2001). Upper extremity overuse injuries in swimming. A discussion of swimmer's shoulder. *Clin. sports Med.* 20 (3), 423–438. doi:10.1016/s0278-5919(05)70260-x

Witt, D., Talbott, N., and Kotowski, S. (2011). Electromyographic activity of scapular muscles during diagonal patterns using elastic resistance and free weights. *Int. J. sports Phys. Ther.* 6 (4), 322–332.

World Medical Association, (2001). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 79 (4), 373–374.

Yoma, M., Herrington, L., and Mackenzie, T. A. (2022). The effect of exercise therapy interventions on shoulder pain and musculoskeletal risk factors for shoulder pain in competitive swimmers: a scoping review. *J. sport rehabilitation* 31 (5), 617–628. doi:10. 1123/jsr.2021-0403

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Andrew Sortwell, University of Notre Dame Australia, Australia Alexandra Malheiro, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Xinghe Weng ⊠ wxinghe76@163.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

RECEIVED 17 August 2023 ACCEPTED 26 September 2023 PUBLISHED 16 November 2023

CITATION

Liu X, Wu B, Weng X and Shan Q (2023) The effect of the partnership between DanceSport couples on competitive performance: the mediating role of athlete engagement. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1278874. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1278874

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liu, Wu, Weng and Shan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The effect of the partnership between DanceSport couples on competitive performance: the mediating role of athlete engagement

Xiuxia Liu^{1†}, Bo Wu^{2†}, Xinghe Weng^{1*} and Qi Shan³

¹Department of Physical Education, Xiamen University, Xiamen, China, ²Department of Physical Education, Beijing Technology and Business University, Beijing, China, ³Department of Health and Physical Education, The Education University of Hong Kong, Tai Po, Hong Kong SAR, China

Objectives: Although the positive association of partnership between DanceSport couples with competitive performance (CP) is documented, less is known about the mediating factors of this relationship. According to the related literature and self-determination theory (SDT), the present study finds and verifies that athlete engagement (AE) mediates the association between partnership and competitive performance.

Methods: A total of 242 Chinese sports dancers were recruited using the purposive sampling method. The Partnership Scale-DanceSport Couples (PS-DSC), the Athlete Engagement Questionnaire (AEQ), and the Competitive Performance Questionnaire (CPQ) were adopted to collect data.

Results: The obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception scores are all positively correlated with both athlete engagement and competitive performance, and athlete engagement scores are positively correlated with competitive performance. Athlete engagement completely mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance, and it partially mediates the association between expressive ties, interpersonal perception, and competitive performance, with the mediating effect accounting for 25.29 and 24.40% of the total effect, respectively.

Conclusion: Athlete engagement mediates the association between DanceSport couples' partnership and competitive performance. High levels of athlete engagement are needed to improve the chance of promoting obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception between DanceSport couples toward excellent competitive performance. Overall, the results represent an attempt to extend our understanding of the mechanisms by which the three partnership stereotype factors individually influence dancers' cognitive and psychological states.

KEYWORDS

DanceSport, partnership, competitive performance, athlete engagement, self-determination theory

1. Introduction

Achieving high-level competitive performance is important for competitive sports (Taylor et al., 2022). To improve competitive performance, researchers have traditionally focused on individuallevel variables such as anxiety (Hardy and Parfitt, 1991). However, Isoahola (1995) proposes an interactionist model, which indicates that behavior or performance is a function of the interaction between the person and their environment [B=f (P X E)]. Interpersonal relationship, in this context, is a very important environment for athletes to achieve excellent competitive results, which is supported by the literature on the coaches-athletes relationship (Jowett and Meek, 2000; Jowett and Cockerill, 2003; Jowett and Ntoumanis, 2004; Jowett and Poczwardowski, 2007; Jowett and Palmer, 2010; Davis et al., 2013) and the athlete-athlete partnership (Poczwardowski et al., 2019). As a competitive sport, DanceSport requires partners to follow the rhythm of the music and compete against a couple of contestants to display the beauty of the sport (Chae and Koh, 2012). Therefore, competitive performance is also affected by the partnership between DanceSport couples (e.g., Fostiak, 1996; Majoross et al., 2008; Lai, 2014; Budnik-Przybylska et al., 2015). Even the top dancers in the world are not immune to the fluctuations in their performance caused by problems in dance partnerships. For example, Slavik Kryklyvyy, the legendary Ukrainian dancer, kept changing partners, resulting in a lower world ranking. Similarly, Ralf Lepehne, Germany's top dancer, retired early after his partner split.

The partnership between DanceSport couples is the psychological projection of mutual adaptation and the basis of high-level cooperation (Majoross et al., 2008). The premise of showing a perfect image in the competition is to establish a stable and high-quality partnership (Fostiak, 1996). Scholars find that partners who achieve elite performance are always in a romantic partnership (Pistole, 2003; Ifrar et al., 2020). The reason may be that the nature of the partnership affects the performance of partner skills, which is one of the important judging factors in the World DanceSport Federation competitions (Remelc^{*} et al., 2019; Yoshida et al., 2020). During the competition, judges look for body control, posture, shape, footwork, timing, rhythm, and the level of difficulty of the routine (Pittman et al., 2005), and they assess all these components within a noticeably fleeting period. With up to 50 couples on the floor in the early heats, judges eliminate 50% of the couples in 2 min (Tremayne and Ballinger, 2008). Therefore, it is not enough to execute technically correct steps but to make it look effortless, graceful, enjoyable, and harmonious. Even as in other sports that combine esthetic art with athletic ability, due to the subjective nature of scoring, the judgment may lead to unexpected or undesired results, which is still maintained for now (Tremayne and Ballinger, 2008).

Given that partnership is so vital, any analysis of the various problems surrounding DanceSport always considers the partnership between couples (Wiesława et al., 2013). Therefore, belittling or ignoring partnerships might hurt performance (e.g., persistence, motivation, and success) (Davis et al., 2013). However, thus far, there are few theories to guide the management methods of partnership. The reason may be that the mediating factor of the association of partnership between DanceSport couples with competitive performance remains unclear. Therefore, to address this problem, in this study, we draw useful experiences from the previous research results. Based on the conceptual framework of the partnership between DanceSport couples (expressive ties, obligatory instrumental ties, and interpersonal perception) (Liu et al., 2022; 2023), we review the literature on the relationship between partnership and competitive performance and propose athlete engagement as an important mediating variable based on self-determination theory and other research findings. In addition, the first author of our study has been involved in professional DanceSport training for seven years and has competition experience; she has a deep sense and understanding of partnerships, which is also extremely valuable in completing this study.

1.1. Partnership between DanceSport couples and competitive performance

1.1.1. Obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance

Obligatory instrumental ties (OIT) refer to the reciprocal behavior tendency of elite dance couples based on the principle of obligation ruled by "renging (favor) or mianzi (face)." It mixes instrumental and obligatory factors (Liu et al., 2023), which is also possessed by elite dancers. On the one hand, achieving excellent competitive performance is rewarded with international recognition; on the other hand, dancers who are unable to achieve excellent competitive performance are eliminated in the elimination rounds (Joanna, 2015, p. 26). Therefore, to obtain prizes and prestige, dancers take the competitive victory as the most important starting point for participation (Budnik-Przybylska et al., 2015), and partners are always considered instrumental tools and assets that help dancers improve their athletic ability and performance outcomes (Lai, 2014). Consequently, partners often exhibit a high degree of reciprocity and interaction (Reisman, 1981; Marion, 2006), and the partnership is taken as an instrument to obtain benefits (Lai, 2014; Liu et al., 2023). Even when describing the qualities of an ideal dance partner, a good dancer states that a perfect partner is one who helps them improve their dancing skills and stand out in competitions (Marion, 2006). Therefore, the questionnaire on obligatory instrumental ties includes the following four items: "Cooperating with my partner promotes my ability," "Cooperating with my partner will make me grow professionally," "My partner and I are tied together," and "Cooperating with my partner will get me closer to my goal" (Liu et al., 2023). These items all reflect the obligatory instrumental ties between DanceSport partners in order to obtain excellent competition results.

On the other hand, there is a strong emphasis on obligation ruled by *"renqing"* between partners, which is different from the contractual obligation emphasizing taking an interest. In Asian countries, such as China, the obligation between DanceSport couples is stressed (Liu et al., 2023). This obligation is defined by *"renqing"* or *"mianzi"* based on Confucianism, which is based on personal feelings rather than commercial law to uphold the obligation. When people fail to follow the rules, they invite public criticism. So, they obey the rules to maintain harmonious relationships (Hwang, 1987; Seligman, 1999). Thus, the obligatory instrumental ties questionnaire developed by Liu et al. (2023) includes the item: "X20 I obligately follow the training plan agreed with my partner," indicating that dance partners must obey the training plan to dance together, which is vital to achieving better performance.

1.1.2. Expressive ties and competitive performance

Expressive ties refer to the emotional bond between elite dance couples (Liu et al., 2023), which exerts a profound influence on dancers' partnerships (Julia, 2011, pp. xii-46; Majoross et al., 2008). It includes instant intimacy (Julia, 2011, pp. 20–21) and long-term affection (Brewińska and Poczwardowski, 2012; Yang, 2015). Instant intimacy is a short-term enthusiastic state of desire formed between dance partners in the context of the competition. Long-term affection develops over a long period of time, resulting from interactions in personal and professional contexts, which is different from instant intimacy marked by weaker emotional concentrations and slower emotional outbursts. For long-term affection to be established, dancers must feel appreciated and cared for and be in a harmonious relationship with their partners.

Based on the previous literature, the expressive ties between DanceSport couples have a positive impact on competitive performance (e.g., Fostiak, 1996; Majoross et al., 2008; Brewińska and Poczwardowski, 2012; Lai, 2014; Park and Choi, 2014; Budnik-Przybylska et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2023). In particular, studies involving participants in dyadic groups have found that dyadic groups perform better if the members like each other (Krivonos et al., 1976). Very often, elite DanceSport couples are also pairs in life (Majoross et al., 2008; Brewińska and Poczwardowski, 2012), and the connection between them is intimate, passionate, and immersive (Yang, 2015).

The reasons are as follows: first, DanceSport is a discipline based on romantic fantasies about love and sex between heterosexual dyads (Julia, 2011, pp. xii). It requires open expression of sexual intimacy (Julia, 2011; Harman, 2019), and romance is at the core of the sport (John, 1998, p. 11). Therefore, the instant intimacy among the couples in competition is a key factor in achieving excellence. Although sexual attraction does not pass between the dancing couples (McMains, 2006; Gainor, 2007; Joanna, 2015, p. 61), most of the high-level participants tend to interpret the romantic relationship among the sexes in dance as the passion for their partners, at least in their on-stage performances (Liu et al., 2023). In addition, the idea that instant intimacy is a requirement for partners under mirror neural mechanisms is also supported by neuroscientific perspectives. For example, Fogassi (2011) and Ye et al. (2016) hold that the human cerebral cortex has a "mapping" function of mirror neurons in the inferior parietal lobe, ventral premotor cortical area, and posterior inferior frontal gyrus. This mapping function translates sensual movements, such as tightly connected crotches, closely attracted eyes and breath, and feelings of passion into emotional boosters between them and their partners. Scholars describe sexy movements in detail:

"Dancers employ a number of signals of varying subtlety to express romantic interest within a dance. They include placing hands on a partner's intimate body parts (such as low hips and buttocks), wrapping arms completely around a partner to ensure shoulder-toknee contact, stroking a partner's hair or face, dancing literally cheek to cheek, looking directly into one another's eyes, and other idiosyncratic gestures" Joanna (2015, p. 61).

"He approaches her from behind until his chest touches her back, then thrusts his hands to her lower thighs and caresses her upwards. After grabbing her waist, he pushes her away and sharply pulls her back to him, provoking an impact of her back against his ribcage" Valentin (2020). "Shimmering in a beaded gold costume, Tanya alternately approached and fled from Edward, spiraling in toward him, hesitating, smiling, then spinning rapidly away. Hands caressed lightly, fleetingly, arms swirled in a serpentine embrace. Edward moved deliberately to showcase Tanya, their bodies forming luxurious and strangely balletic lines as she acquiesced to his touch. And all the while, their hips undulated in Latin motion, that sensuous pelvic movement that is the essence of the rumba/bolero. Desire begot desire, stirring reveries" Peters (1992).

"The judges watched as the dancers dipped low to the floor, the pelvis wed to the pelvis, man guiding woman into an "over sway." The dancers moved cautiously, pulling themselves across the floor heel first. One couple had a decidedly Argentine look. Sleek in black, they revolved warily, crouched into the knees, Alicia exaggeratedly arched, Miguel proudly upright. They maintained this posture even as they punctuated their stalking with legs that flashed with lightning speed, hooking around hips and thrusting between thighs. Both executed the sharp libidinous jabs and pelvic climbs, which sometimes began or ended with the elegance of around de jambe. This eroticism vaguely recalled the knives carried by male dancers a century ago in Argentina as they challenged one another to combat Mack the Knife as a tango dancer. In Boston, the judges were not impressed" Peters (1992).

Peters (1992) wonders whether dancers sometimes get caught up in the desire for each other on the dance floor.

Second, long-term affection is a prerequisite for satisfactory performance. To be more specific, excellent competitive performance requires a prolonged period of systematic and professional practice (Ericsson et al., 1993). Like any skill, dancing requires practiceperhaps 5h for every lesson (John, 1998, p. 168), and dancers may train with a partner for more than 10 or 20 years, or even a lifetime, as John (1998) stressed, "there is no final destination. Learning to dance is a lifetime process, which represents part of its fascination. There will always be a new dance to learn, a new figure to experiment with, and a new dancing style to explore (p. 166)." During this time, they often leave home to train elsewhere, and a rapport between the dancers is essential, whether it is a romantic attraction to each other or a shared passion for dance (John, 1998, p. 27). Eventually, a pattern of harmonious partnership develops, in which partners face difficulties together and share intimate emotions, such as a romantic relationship. Most couples in the field of international professional sports dancers are married (John, 1998, p. 117) and rarely define their partnerships as mere working relationships (Majoross et al., 2008).

While the positive effect of expressive ties between DanceSport couples on competitive performance has been recognized, no study has tested this idea with the widest possible range of investigations, which is the goal of our study.

1.1.3. Interpersonal perception and competitive performance

Interpersonal perception (IP) refers to the ability of elite dance couples to share and expose each other in the full process of taking competition as the goal, to sensitively perceive the psychological and behavioral tendencies of dance partners, including revealing their hearts, sharing, and understanding each other (Liu et al., 2023). Interpersonal perception plays a significant role in improving the quality of training and competitive performance. The reasons may be that interpersonal ability is the engine of artistic communication, and the desire to dance comes from the wish to communicate and feel connected to partners (Dan, 2012). Strengthening the sense of bonding and communication between partners increases the effectiveness of training and satisfaction with competitive performance (Jin and In, 2006). Wulff (1998) flags how "dancers are, for example, extremely skilled at communicating without looking at each other, which is something they learn in dancing but carry over to how they move and behave when they are not dancing" (p. 108).

In addition, the DanceSport partnership is a special bond that mixes expressive ties and instrumental professional ties (Wang, 2018) and falls under the principles of "need" and "fairness," respectively (Hwang, 1987). Under the principle of "fairness" in expressive ties with partners, cooperation is likely to intersect with love, leading to quarrels and conflicts (Liu et al., 2023). However, under the principle of "need" in instrumental professional ties, dancers may miss training or competitions because of a lack of professionalism. For Chinese dancers, intimacy is about blurring the boundaries between the individual and others so as to achieve a state of separation between "you" and "me" (Lynn, 1998; Sara, 2005). Therefore, we believe that high-quality interpersonal perception can help alleviate the above contradictions. However, this view has not been proven. This study aims to test this view.

1.2. Mediating variable: athlete engagement

At present, few studies have explored the mediating variables between partnership and competitive performance, making it difficult to obtain reliable hypotheses from relevant studies on partnerships between DanceSport couples. Therefore, our study draws on the interdependence theory, which forms the basis of the coach-athlete relationship. We constructed this theory by conducting in-depth interviews with four couples. We also explored the pathway of influence that this theory suggests on competitive performance.

Related studies and self-determination theory (SDT) support the hypothesis that athlete engagement mediates the association between partnership and competitive performance. To be more specific, Jowett and Cockerill (2003) show that high-quality communication and respect between athletes and coaches contribute to athletes' satisfaction and improve competitive performance. Building on his previous study, Jowett and Poczwardowski (2007) propose an integrated research model of the coach-athlete relationship that further clarifies that the relationship between the two affects competitive performance (Jowett and Palmer, 2010). The selfdetermination theory suggests that a sense of human relatedness and a basic human psychological need is significantly correlated with athlete engagement (Lonsdale et al., 2007; Hodge et al., 2009). Following that, Wang et al. (2014) find that the coach-athlete relationship significantly influences the athlete engagement. They construct a chain mediation model in which athlete engagement is the mediating variable between the coaches-athletes relationship and the satisfaction of competition performance (as a proxy variable of competition performance) ($\beta = 0.04$, p < 0.001) (Ye et al., 2016).

Based on this literature, it is believed that athlete engagement mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception, and competitive performance. To be more specific:

1. Athlete engagement between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance. Sport dancers need to consciously

observe the normative manners with their partners, including mutual respect, appreciation, and a sense of responsibility (especially the responsibility to adhere to the training schedule and to work hard). According to John (1998, p. 33), successful DanceSport competitors are dedicated athletes; the dancers need to devote as much time as possible to practice skill techniques with their partners and be more enthusiastic and dedicated. At the same time, according to Ostrom (2003), repetitive interaction helps individuals to promote mutual benefit and mutual assistance with others. Through continuous cooperative training, partnerships between DanceSport couples generate mutually beneficial behaviors that promote the achievement of the dancers' own training goals. Furthermore, better-performing dancers tend to be more diligent with a firm belief in their success, confident in attaining their goals, and more motivated (Ifrar et al., 2020). Therefore, to a considerable extent, athlete engagement mediates the association of obligatory instrumental ties with competitive performance.

- 2. Athlete engagement between expressive ties and competitive performance. A long-term relationship between partners triggers positive psychological feelings, such as recognition among both partners, thereby increasing their athlete engagement. More importantly, through the "mapping" function of mirror neurons in several areas of the human cerebral cortex, the inferior parietal lobule, the ventral premotor gyrus Broca's area, and the posterior inferior frontal gyrus (Fogassi, 2011; Ye et al., 2016), the tightly absorbed eyes and breath, emotions and feelings between partners get transformed into emotional boosters for the dancers themselves and their partners, which may enhance the infectiousness and competitive performance of the dance. At the same time, the instant intimacy between the partners stimulates the dancers' passion for the dance and deepens their immersion in the dance (Yang, 2016). This immersion is like vigor and enthusiasm (two dimensions of athlete engagement). Vigor is defined as "a feeling of being physically and mentally active," and enthusiasm is characterized as "a feeling of excitement and high enjoyment." Therefore, high-quality expressive ties directly contribute to athlete engagement. This positive psychological trait also enables dancers to overcome difficulties and burnout, thus increasing their competitive ability (Gustafsson et al., 2011). In addition, from the judges' point of view, they will give the final decision based on whether the partners are harmonious, vigorous, and confident (Tremayne and Ballinger, 2008). Therefore, athlete engagement mediates the association of expressive ties with competitive performance.
- 3. Athlete engagement between interpersonal perception and competitive performance.

Relatedness is an innate and indispensable element for humans (Ryan, 1995; Deci and Ryan, 2002, 2004), and all dualistic relationships begin with a process of interpersonal perception in which both parties participate (Kang and Bodenhausen, 2015). Therefore, the partnership perception among DanceSport dancers is inevitable, and its satisfaction contributes to the generation of self-determination, motivation, and the maintenance of partnership behavior (i.e., athlete engagement), thus affecting competitive performance. Effective communication and understanding between partners, along with providing encouragement and confidence in difficult situations, are important means to improve

compatibility, according to Majoross et al. (2008). When dancers perceive that their partners sincerely express emotional support and reciprocate, they tend to communicate with each other in a more friendly manner and exhibit positive emotional tendencies and behaviors, which becomes instrumental to achieving their expected goals (Miller, 1990). In addition, individuals predict their future behavior through what they know about others in interpersonal interactions (Sang, 2014). Therefore, the higher the degree of interpersonal perception, the more it can provide a good foundation for cooperation with partners and the more it is instrumental in improving the dancers' athlete engagement and obtaining excellent competitive results. Therefore, athlete engagement mediates the association of interpersonal perception with competitive performance.

1.3. The current study: development of theoretical framework and hypotheses

Analyzing DanceSport practices and related theories, we find that athlete engagement mediates the partnership between DanceSport couples (the three dimensions of obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception) and competitive performance. However, of the studies we reviewed, none had tested the hypotheses with surveys. Hence, the present study aims to test the following hypotheses:

H1: Athlete engagement partially mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance.

H2: Athlete engagement partially mediates the association between expressive ties and competitive performance.

H3: Athlete engagement partially mediates the association between interpersonal perception and competitive performance.

In addition, since athletic ability also plays a crucial role in competitive performance, it is used as a control variable in this study.

2. Methods

2.1. Participants

Our sample consisted of 242 participants (see Table 1) who had participated in the 2019 Chinese DanceSport Championship (Beijing Station)-the highest-level event of Chinese DanceSport held at the Ditan Gymnasium. They were selected by five experienced nationallevel DanceSport judges who were engaged in front-line teaching of DanceSport and were from Beijing Sports University, Wuhan Sports University, Capital University of Physical Education and Sports, Xi'an Physical Education University, and the Institute of Psychology of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS). Among them, there were two professors, two doctors, and one champion. The champion had 20 years of training and experience in DanceSport, was the champion of Latin dance among the Chinese professional team for three consecutive years (2013–2016), and broke international competition records among Chinese athletes. The judges used the following selection criteria: (a) having a regular partner for at least 3 years; (b) outstanding performance in the past.

TABLE 1 Demographic information of the participants (n = 242).

Variable	Classification	Frequency	Percent(%)
Sex	Male	122	50.4
	Female	120	49.6
Training time	5.1 ~ 10 years	107	44.2
	10.1 ~ 15 years	28	9.92
	>15 years	16	6.61
Partner time	$0 \sim 12 \text{ month}$	151	62.4
	13~36 month	58	24
	37 ~ 60 month	22	9.1
	>60 month	11	4.5
Athletic ability	High-level	134	55.4
	Low-level	108	44.6

2.2. Materials

2.2.1. Partnership quality

We used the Partnership Scale-DanceSport Couples (PS-DSC) (Liu et al., 2023), which had a three-dimensional scale consisting of 13 items. Cronbach's α of the subscales relating to obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception was 0.905, 0.846, and 0.848, respectively, which established that the scale could be applied in this study.

2.2.2. Athlete engagement

We adopted the Athlete Engagement Questionnaire (AEQ) (Lonsdale et al., 2007), which already had good adaptability among Chinese athletes and has been verified (Wang et al., 2014; Ye, 2014; Ye et al., 2016). The scale with its 16 items had Cronbach's α of 0.951, and its four dimensions had a Cronbach's α of 0.921, 0.939, 0.900, and 0.873, respectively, proving that the scale could be applied in this study.

2.2.3. Competitive performance

Competitive performance includes the satisfaction degree of field performance and field performance; therefore, we used the Competitive Performance Questionnaire with four items (Liu et al., 2023). Furthermore, the Athlete Satisfaction Questionnaire (ASQ) (Riemer and Chelladurai, 1998) was adopted. The competition ranking was determined by the performance outcomes, which were evaluated by five international-level DanceSport judges. The ranking was assigned to a 5-level Likert scale, which took into account the five levels of ordinal variables. The results obtained after processing the data from these variables were considered unbiased, even when combined with continuous variables. The scale consisted of four items, and Cronbach's α was 0.704, which indicated that the scale could be applied in this study.

2.3. Analysis strategy

We used SPSS 22.0 to process and analyze the data. First, the Pearson correlation was used to examine the relationship between partnership, athlete engagement, and competitive performance. Second, all variables were standardized, and then Model 4 in PROCESS, developed by Hayes (2018), was adopted to test the mediating effect of athlete engagement between partnership and competitive performance, controlling for gender, training time, partner time, and athletic ability.

2.4. Common method variance bias

Since the data used in this study was collected from self-report questionnaires, common method variance bias (CMVB), which affects the results and even draws wrong conclusions, was a potential concern. The possibility of CMVB is assessed when independent and dependent variables are measured under the same context and obtained from the same source. We adopted the harmony one-factor test to inspect whether there was an artificial covariation between the independent and dependent variables. The results showed that the variance of the first common factor explanation was 18.05%, which is lower than the 40% criterion proposed by Podsakoff et al. (2003). Therefore, CMVB was not found in this study.

3. Results

As shown in Table 2, obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception scores were all positively correlated with athlete engagement and competitive performance. Furthermore, athlete engagement scores were positively correlated with competitive performance.

After controlling for gender, training time, partner time, and athletic ability, three regression models were established to analyze the influence of partnership quality on competitive performance through the moderating effect of athlete engagement. In the first model, obligatory instrumental ties were used as the independent variable. The model and regression coefficient are shown in Table 3.

As seen in Table 3, obligatory instrumental ties significantly influenced competitive performance (β =0.12, *t*=2.01, p<0.05) when athlete engagement was added to the regression model. Obligatory instrumental ties by itself could not significantly influence competitive performance (β =-0.04, *t*=-0.56, *p*>0.05); however, it could significantly influence athlete engagement (β =0.48, *t*=8.45, p<0.001) and athlete engagement could influence competitive performance (β =0.33, *t*=4.99, p<0.001). This demonstrated that athlete engagement completely mediated the effect of obligatory instrumental ties on competitive performance. Thus, H1 that athlete engagement partially mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance is supported by this study.

In the second model, expressive ties were used as the independent variable. The model and regression coefficient are shown in Table 4.

As seen in Table 4, expressive ties significantly influenced competitive performance (β =0.35, *t*=5.81, p<0.001) when athlete

TABLE 2 Correlation matrix of each research variable.

	OIT	ET	IP	AE	СР
OIT	1				
ET	0.58**	1			
IP	0.55**	0.67**	1		
AE	0.59**	0.40**	0.35**	1	
СР	0.19**	0.37**	0.37**	0.36**	1

** indicates *p* < 0.01; OIT: obligatory instrumental ties; ET: expressive ties; IP: interpersonal perception. AE: athlete engagement and CP: competitive performance.

engagement was added to the regression model. Expressive ties could also independently significantly influence competitive performance (β =0.26, *t*=4.09, *p* < 0.001) and athlete engagement (β =0.41, *t*=6.54, *p* < 0.001), and athlete engagement could significantly influence competitive performance (β =0.22, *t*=3.52, *p* < 0.01). The direct effect value of expressive ties affecting competitive performance was 0.26 [95% confidence intervals (CI)=0.14, 0.39]. In addition, athlete engagement partially mediated the effect of expressive ties on competitive performance [indirect effect=0.09, 95% CI=0.04, 0.15]. The direct effect value and indirect value accounted for 74.71 and 25.29% of the total effect, respectively. Thus, H2 proposing that athlete engagement partially mediates the association between expressive ties and competitive performance is supported by this study.

In the third model, interpersonal perception was used as the independent variable. The model and regression coefficient are shown in Table 5.

As seen in Table 5, interpersonal perception significantly influenced competitive performance (β =0.34, t=5.54, p < 0.001) when athlete engagement was added to the regression model. Interpersonal perception could also significantly influence competitive performance (β =0.25, t=4.05, p < 0.001) and athlete engagement (β =0.35, t=5.53, p < 0.001), and athlete engagement could significantly influence competitive performance (β =0.23, t=3.87, p < 0.001). The direct effect value of interpersonal perception affecting competitive performance was 0.25 [95% CI=0.13, 0.38]. In addition, athlete engagement partially mediated the effect of interpersonal perception on competitive performance [indirect effect=0.08, 95% CI=0.03, 0.14]. The direct effect value and indirect value accounted for 75.60 and 24.40% of the total effect, respectively. Thus, H3 on athlete engagement partially mediating the association between interpersonal perception and competitive performance is supported by this study.

4. Discussion

Our results indicate that athlete engagement completely mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance (H1), partially mediates the association between expressive ties and competitive performance (H2), and partially mediates the association between interpersonal perception and competitive performance (H3). These findings demonstrate that obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, and interpersonal perception between DanceSport couples and athlete engagement are critical factors influencing individuals' competitive performance. The findings are a result of the self-determination theory (SDT) and research mentioned in the current study's introduction and other theories.

4.1. Athlete engagement completely mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance

In our study, athlete engagement completely mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance. It suggests that athlete engagement influences the relationship between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance. On its own, obligatory instrumental ties are unable to significantly influence competitive performance, contradicting the

Dependent	Independent	0	β SE		95% Boo	otstrap CL	R ²	F
variable	variable	β	SE	t	LLCI	ULCI	R	F
СР	Gender	-0.01	0.12	-1.65	-0.44	0.04	0.16	8.75
	Training time	0.07	0.07	1.11	-0.06	0.22		
	Partner time	0.22	0.07	3.49**	0.11	0.40		
	Athletic ability	0.19	0.12	3.18**	0.15	0.63		
	OIT	0.12	0.06	2.01*	0.00	0.25		
AE	Gender	-0.14	0.11	-2.46*	-0.50	-0.06	0.27	17.82
	Training time	-0.05	0.07	-0.82	-0.19	0.08		
	Partner time	-0.01	0.07	-0.16	-0.15	0.12		
	Athletic ability	0.10	0.11	1.68	-0.03	0.41		
	OIT	0.48	0.06	8.45***	0.37	0.60		
СР	Gender	-0.06	0.12	-0.92	-0.336	0.12	0.24	12.17
	Training time	0.09	0.07	1.42	-0.04	0.24		
	Partner time	0.22	0.07	3.71***	0.12	0.40		
	Athletic ability	0.16	0.12	2.78**	0.10	0.55		
	OIT	-0.04	0.07	-0.56	-0.17	0.10		
	AE	0.33	0.07	4.99***	0.20	0.47		

TABLE 3 Results of the mediating effects of athlete engagement between obligatory instrumental ties and competitive performance.

* indicates p < 0.05 **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001. CP: competitive performance; AE: athlete engagement; and OIT: obligatory instrumental ties.

TABLE 4 Results of the mediating effects of athlete engagement between expressive ties and competitive performance.

Dependent	Independent		65		95% Bootstrap CL		R ²	
variable	variable	β	SE	t	LLCI	ULCI	R-	F
СР	Gender	-0.05	0.12	-0.87	-0.33	0.13	0.25	15.66
	Training time	0.03	0.07	0.45	-0.11	0.17		
	Partner time	0.18	0.07	2.98**	0.07	0.35		
	Athletic ability	0.25	0.12	4.23***	0.26	0.72		
	ET	0.35	0.06	5.81***	0.23	0.47		
AE	Gender	-0.12	0.12	-2.03*	-0.47	-0.01	0.20	11.77
	Training time	-0.05	0.07	-0.74	-0.19	0.09		
	Partner time	-0.02	0.07	-0.25	-0.16	0.12		
	Athletic ability	0.16	0.12	2.65**	0.08	0.55		
	ET	0.41	0.06	6.54***	0.28	0.53		
СР	Gender	-0.02	0.11	-0.42	-0.27	0.18	0.29	15.75
	Training time	0.04	0.07	0.62	-0.09	0.18		
	Partner time	0.18	0.07	3.11**	0.08	0.35		
	Athletic ability	0.21	0.12	3.67***	0.20	0.65		
	ET	0.26	0.06	4.09***	0.14	0.39		
	AE	0.22	0.06	3.52**	0.10	0.34		

* indicates p<0.05; **, p<0.01; and ***, p<0.001. CP: competitive performance; AE: athlete engagement; and ET: expressive ties.

hypothesis of economic man. Moreover, it also contradicts the theory of group dynamics, which holds that a harmonious interpersonal atmosphere within a group can stimulate the creation of excellent competitive performance in a sports team. For dance dyads, their partnership is premised on meeting specific needs and achieving competitive goals. The reason may lie in special norms inherent in Chinese culture relating to instrumental relationships, which weaken the utilitarian purpose and pay more attention to "renqing" and "mianzi" (Hwang, 1987). Establishing and maintaining interpersonal relationships is to maintain an interpersonal relationship that is different from other partnerships that emphasize mission and work completion, and the latter is covered under the principle of "contractual obligations." For Chinese dancers, showing utilitarian tendencies in their interpersonal relationships with their partners is not supported by "renqing" and "mianzi" and can even undermine the stability of partnerships, the quality of athlete engagement, and their impact on

Dependent	Independent		C.F.		95% Boc	otstrap CL	D ²	F
variable	variable	β	SE	t	LLCI	ULCI	R ²	F
СР	Gender	-0.06	0.12	-1.07	-0.35	0.10	0.24	14.95
	Training time	0.01	0.07	0.22	-0.12	0.15		
	Partner time	0.18	0.07	2.95**	0.07	0.35		
	Athletic ability	0.23	0.12	4.02***	0.24	0.69		
	IP	0.34	0.06	5.54***	0.22	0.46		
AE	Gender	-0.14	0.12	-2.32*	-0.52	-0.04	0.16	9.18
	Training time	-0.05	0.07	-0.82	-0.21	0.09		
	Partner time	-0.01	0.07	-0.15	-0.16	0.14		
	Athletic ability	0.14	0.12	2.30*	0.041	0.52		
	IP	0.35	0.06	5.53***	0.226	0.48		
СР	Gender	-0.03	0.11	-0.52	-0.28	0.16	0.29	15.69
	Training time	0.03	0.07	0.43	-0.11	0.16		
	Partner time	0.18	0.07	3.08**	0.08	0.35		
	Athletic ability	0.20	0.11	3.51**	0.18	0.62		
	IP	0.25	0.06	4.05***	0.13	0.38		
	AE	0.23	0.06	3.87***	0.11	0.35		

TABLE 5 Results of the mediating effects of athlete engagement between interpersonal perception and competitive performance.

* indicates *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01; and ***, *p* < 0.001. CP: competitive performance; AE: athlete engagement; and IP: interpersonal perception.

performance outcomes. In a previous study, when interviewed by our first author, a DanceSport champion said, "We are like a business relationship," embarrassing his partner on the spot. The partnership later broke apart, with each of them finding new partners (Liu et al., 2023). During follow-up interviews aimed at understanding the reason for the partner splitting, it was found that the interpersonal relationship was also filled with a more exposed utilitarian purpose. Therefore, the study holds that instrumental ties should foreground the Chinese "obligatory" principle, such as "renqing" and "mianzi," that considers partnership as not only a tool to achieve personal goals but also to maintain and develop partnerships. By maintaining the partnership between dance couples, dancers can promote each other's dedication, enthusiasm, and confidence and promote athlete engagement. In this way, obligatory instrumental ties can promote performance results.

4.2. Athlete engagement partially mediates the association between expressive ties and competitive performance

Our results indicate that athlete engagement partially mediates the association between expressive ties and competitive performance (H2). This finding demonstrates that expressive ties and athlete engagement are critical factors influencing individuals' competitive performance, which also reaffirms findings under relevant literature (Julia, 2011, pp. xii-46; Majoross et al., 2008). On the one hand, instant intimacy—a vital element of expressive ties referred to as a short-duration passionate state of desire formed between dance partners in the competition context—can showcase romantic sexual relationships and give a good impression to the judges. The reason may be that the inferior parietal lobule of the human cerebral cortex, the Broca region before the ventral motor, and the posterior part of the inferior frontal gyrus have the "mapping" function of mirror neurons (Fogassi, 2011;

Ye et al., 2016). This mapping function turns sexy movements such as intricately connected crotch, closely attracted eyes and breath, and passionate feelings into an emotional booster between the partners, transforming "interpretation" into "experience," at least a real experience on the court, potentially further enhancing the appeal and expressiveness of dance. In addition, the instant intimacy (e.g., passion) of the dancers deepens their immersion in the dance (Yang, 2016), which becomes the sufficient basis for judges to give "marks (scores)" (Tremayne and Ballinger, 2008). Based on the passionate movements, Peters (1992) points out that even dancers get confused by the desire expressed by partners on the dance floor and are surprised whether they are just a partner off the court.

On the other hand, expressive ties, including long-term affection, which requires the dancers to appreciate, care for, and be harmonious with their partners, refers to an emotional tie generated in long-time interactions in life and professional contexts between dance partners. According to Krivonos et al.'s (1976) research on the social-psychological attributes of interpersonal relationships between two people shows that, if dancers like each other, they will perform better. The care, appreciation, and other emotions formed by the long time of the dance partners will help them to complete the competition routine of showing the intimate partnership among the sexes with a more open mind, help stimulate positive feelings, and promote the dancers' athlete engagement and competitive performance.

4.3. Athlete engagement partially mediates the association between interpersonal perception and competitive performance

Our results indicate that athlete engagement partially mediates the association between interpersonal perception and competitive performance (H3). This finding demonstrates that interpersonal perception between DanceSport couples and athlete engagement is a critical factor that influences individuals' competitive performance. This finding is not only proven under SDT and its applied research but is also supported by many psychological theories. According to Kang and Bodenhausen (2015), all dyadic relationships begin with a personal perception process in which both parties participate. The satisfaction of the dancers' sense of partnership helps in motivating self-determination, thus promoting athlete engagement and competitive performance. In addition, individuals can predict their future behavior by understanding others in interpersonal interactions. Increased communication and understanding between dance partners, tolerance to dance partners in difficult situations are important means to improve tacit cooperation (Majoross et al., 2008).

Social exchange theory and Pavlov's dynamic stereotype theory also support our results. To be more specific, according to social exchange theory, when dancers perceive that their sense of unfamiliarity with their partners has diminished and instead perceive sincere and expressive ties between them, they tend to communicate in a more friendly manner, often displaying positive emotional tendencies. This can lead to behaviors that are beneficial for achieving their desired goals. On the contrary, the performance (such as persistence and success) of athletes can be affected if the partnership is belittled or ignored (e.g., coach-athlete relationship) (Isoahola, 1995). Therefore, DanceSport partners can promote the satisfaction of interpersonal perception by being open with each other by engaging with and treating each other sincerely, stimulating the cooperative behavior of continuous cooperation and effort. Likewise, according to Pavlov's dynamic stereotype theory, after repeated practice, the dance movement can be shaped, and the excitement and inhibition of the cerebral cortex are more concentrated and accurate in time and space. It is not only helpful for accurate and beautiful movements but can also control and complete the movements unconsciously. So only when dancer partners reach a certain tacit understanding can they pay more attention to the overall artistic expression, which is the key to obtaining competitive performance (Majoross et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2023), often among elite dancers (Majoross et al., 2008). In addition, it needs to be emphasized that within Chinese culture, the state of mutual understanding, mutual benefit, and heart-to-heart connection is to ease the blurring of the "I-He" boundary of intimate relationships and inhibit the contradiction in the athletes' rational thinking and field theory that requires the athletes to rationally deal with emotional and cooperative issues to ensure effective training and improve competitive performance. To sum up, having a high degree of interpersonal perception leads to a better foundation for cooperation among dance couples, and it also promotes athlete engagement, resulting in excellent competitive performance.

5. Conclusion

This study found that based on relationship-related theories, such as SDT and Pavlov's dynamic stereotype theory, athlete engagement mediates the association between obligatory instrumental ties, expressive ties, interpersonal perception, and competitive performance. Among them, the intermediary effect of athlete engagement explains 100% of the variation of obligatory instrumental ties. It partially mediates between expressive ties, interpersonal perception, and competitive performance,

respectively, with the upper and lower limits of the 95% confidence interval of the mediating effect being (0.036, 0.148) and (0.034, 0.138). The effect values of 0.088 and 0.082 accounted for 25.29 and 24.40% of the total effect. Overall, the results represent an attempt to extend our understanding of the mechanisms by which partnerships influence dancers' cognitive and psychological states.

In addition, the results apply to countries influenced by Confucian culture, such as South Korea and Japan, and apply to professional athletes rather than amateur athletes.

6. Strengths and limitations

The findings of this study should be considered in light of two strengths and two limitations. The two strengths include: 1) offering a path for transforming DanceSport partnerships into competitive performances and providing dancers with high-quality ideas for strengthening partnerships; 2) Further strengthening the scientific nature of the self-determination theory and providing evidence to enrich and improve the theory of self-determination to a certain extent. Nonetheless, due to the preliminary nature of our study, two limitations should also be noted. First, the sample comprised dance couples only from China. This has implications for the international generalizability of the study findings. Future research with diverse samples from other countries should be considered. Second, the sample size needs to be expanded further. Because of the need to control as much as possible the influence of referees, lighting, venues, and other factors on the results of the study, we obtained data from a single match. However, it is difficult to increase the sample size beyond 242 people in a single match. In the future, other methods need to be explored to compensate for the difficulty of expanding the sample size so as to avoid statistical bias in the study.

7. Future research directions

DanceSport couples are cognitively, emotionally, and behaviorally interdependent. However, the two have gender and individual differences, and how their psychology and behavior affect each other needs to be further studied. Our study suggests that, in the future, the actor-partner interdependence mediation model (methods of dyadic data analysis for interpersonal relationships between couples) can be used to further explore the relationship between partnerships, athlete engagement, and competitive performance. Thus, opinions can be provided to male and female dancers, respectively, to ensure excellent competitive performance.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Wuhan Sport University. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

XL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BW: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Writing – original draft. XW: Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. QS: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research was funded by the Humanities and Social Science Research Project of the Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China (22YJA890030) and the Research on the Exploration and

References

Brewińska, A., and Poczwardowski, A. (2012). "Exploration of positive elements in the sporting ballroom dancing couples'interpersonal relations: the results of qualitative research" in *Optimization of sports and health training from the perspective of psychology.* eds. J. Blecharz, M. Siekańska and A. Tokarz (Cracow: Academy of Physical Education im. Bronisława Czech Republic)

Budnik-Przybylska, D., Lewandowska-Walter, A., and Czyz'yk, P. (2015). Subjective and objective determinants of the satisfaction from the cooperation in a dance couple. *Health Psychol. Rep.* 3, 35–46. doi: 10.5114/hpr.2015.48989

Chae, J. S., and Koh, Y. B. (2012). The Relationship between Perfectionism, Partnership, and Sport Coping in Dancesport Players. *J. Sport and Lei. Stud.* 49, 387–399.

Dan, V. (2012). Artistic communication and dance sport particularities. *Proc. Soc. Behav. Sci.* 46, 4869–4873. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.351

Davis, L., Jowett, S., and Lafrenière, M.-A. K. (2013). An attachment theory perspective in the examination of relational processes associated with coach-athlete dyads. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 35, 156–167. doi: 10.1123/jsep.35.2.156

Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2004). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. *Encycl. Appl. Psychol.* 3, 437–448. doi: 10.1016/B0-12-657410-3/00689-9

Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2002). "Self-determination research: reflections and future directions" in *Handbook of self-determination research*. eds. E. L. Deci and R. M. Ryan (Rochester: University of Rochester Press)

Ericsson, K. A., Krampe, R. T., and Tesch-Römer, C. (1993). The role of deliberate practice in the acquisition of expert performance. *Psychol. Rev.* 100, 363–406. doi: 10.1037/0033-295x.100.3. 363

Fogassi, L. (2011). The mirror neuron system: how cognitive functions emerge from motor organization. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 77, 66–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2010.04.009

Fostiak, D. (1996). Motor coordination of rhythmic gymnastics athletes, figure. Skating athletes and ballroom dancing athletes. Gdańsk: Wydawnictwo Uczelniane AWF.

Gainor, Ellen. (2007)."But who leads?'same-sex ballroom dance and the heteronormative paradigm." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association of Theater in Higher Education, New Orleans.

Gustafsson, H., Hassmén, P., and Hassmén, N. (2011). Are athletes burning out with passion? *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 11, 387–395. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2010.536573

Hardy, L., and Parfitt, G. (1991). A catastrophe model of anxiety and performance. *Br. J. Psychol.* 82, 163–178. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1991.tb02391.x

Harman, V. (2019). The sexual politics of ballroom dancing. London: Springer Nature Limited.

Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. New York: Guilfor Press.

Hodge, K., Lonsdale, C., and Jackson, S. A. (2009). Athlete engagement in elite sport: an exploratory investigation of antecedents and consequences. *Sport Psychol.* 23, 186–202. doi: 10.1123/tsp.23.2.186 Penetration of Ideological and Political Elements in College Physical Education Curriculum supported by the Education and Teaching Reform Research of Beijing Technology and Business University (jg225220).

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Hwang, K. K. (1987). Face and favor: the Chinese power game. Am. J. Sociol. 92, 944–974. doi: 10.1086/228588

Ifrar, T., Majoranc, K., and Kajtna, T. (2020). Matching of personality trains, emotional intelligence and social skills among dance partners in competitive dancing. *Kinesiology* 52, 242–249. doi: 10.26582/k.52.2.9

Isoahola, S. E. (1995). Intrapersonal and interpersonal factors in athletic performance. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Spor.* 5, 191–199. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.1995.tb00035.x

Jin, H. M., and In, H. K. (2006). The difference of partner reliance, team commitment, and Unity in the individual and environment variables of DanceSport expert. *J. Sport Leis. Stud.* 27, 439–450.

Joanna, B. (2015). *Becoming beautiful: Ballroom dance in the American heartland*. Illinois: The Board Trustees of the University of Illinois.

John, L. R.. (1998). Ballroom dancing: The romance, Thythm and style. San Antonio: Laurel Glen.

Jowett, S., and Cockerill, I. M. (2003). Olympic Medallists' perspective of the athlete-coach relationship. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 4, 313-331. doi: 10.1016/s1469-0292(02)00011-0

Jowett, S., and Meek, G. A. (2000). The coach-athlete relationship in married couples: an exploratory content analysis. *Sport Psychol.* 14, 157–175. doi: 10.1123/tsp.14.2.157

Jowett, S., and Ntoumanis, N. (2004). The coach-athlete relationship questionnaire (CART-Q): development and initial validation. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Spor.* 14, 245–257. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2003.00338.x

Jowett, S., and Palmer, A. (2010). Our understanding the role and significance of a key two-person relationship in sport and executive coaching. *Sport Exerc. Psychol. Rev.* 6, 19–30. doi: 10.53841/bpssepr.2010.6.2.19

Jowett, S., and Poczwardowski, A. (2007). "Understanding the coach-athlete relationship" in *Social psychology in sport*. eds. S. Jowette and D. Lavallee (Champaign, Human kinetics)

Julia, A. E. (2011). Dance with me: ballroom dancing and the promise of instant intimacy. New York University Press, 20–25.

Kang, S. K., and Bodenhausen, G. V. (2015). Multiple identities in social perception, and interaction: challenges and opportunities. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 66, 547–574. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015025

Krivonos, P. D., Byrne, D., and Friedrich, G. W. (1976). The effect of attitude similarity on task performance. *J. Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 6, 307–313. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1976. tb02406.x

Lai, Y.-T. (2014). *Exploration of the dance partner relationship in dance sport*. Taiwan: Asia University.

Liu, X. X., and Wang, X. F. (2022). The study of Partnership in Chinese DanceSport couples. Int. Conf. Sports Sci. AESA 6:31.

Liu, X. X., Yang, G., Wang, S., Wang, X. F., and Wang, X. L. (2023). Development and initial validation of the partnership scale-DanceSport couples. *Front. Psychol.* 14, 1032767–1032780. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1032767

Lonsdale, C., Hodge, K., and Jackson, S. A. (2007). Athlete engagement: II. Development and initial validation of the athlete engagement questionnaire. *Int. J. Sport Psychol.* 26, 769–785. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2007.07.007

Lynn, J.. (1998). Intimacy: Person relationships in modern societies. Cambridge: Cambridge Polity Press.

Majoross, K., Hamar, P., Dózsa, I., and Dancs, H. (2008). The relationship of couples in competitive dancing. *J. Hum. Sport Exerc.* 3, 12–24. doi: 10.4100/jhse.2008.32.02

Marion, J. S. (2006). Dance as self, culture, and community: The construction of personal and collective meaning and identity in competitive ballroom and salsa dancing. San Diego, CA: University of California.

McMains, J.. (2006). *Glamour addiction: Inside the American ballroom dance industry*. Middletown, Conn: Wesleyan University Press.

Miller, L. (1990). Intimacy and liking: mutual influence and the role of unique relationships. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 59, 50-60. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.59.1.50

Ostrom, E. (2003). "Toward a behavioral theory linking trust, reciprocity, and reputation" in *Trust and reciprocity; interdisciplinary lessons from experimental research.* eds. E. Ostrom and J. Walker (New York: Russell Sage Foundation)

Park, C.-h., and Choi, J.-h. (2014). The relationship among partnership, perfectionism, and team Performance's satisfaction in DanceSport players. *Kor. Soc. Well.* 9, 29–38.

Peters, S. (1992). The elegant passion. J. Pop. Cult. 25, 163–172. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3840.1992.1674153.x

Pistole, C. M. (2003). Dance as a metaphor: complexities and extensions in psychotherapy. Psychother. *Theory Res. Pract.* 40, 232–241. doi: 10.1037/0033-3204.40.3.232

Pittman, A., Waller, M., and Dark, C. (2005). Dance a while: A handbook of folk, square, contra, and social dance (9th). New York: Pearson, Benjamin Cummings.

Poczwardowski, A., Lamphere, B., Allen, K., Marican, R., and Haberl, P. (2019). The 5C's model of successful partnerships in elite beach volleyball dyads. *J. Appl. Sport Psychol.* 32, 1–38. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2019.157 3205

Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J. Y., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 88, 879–903. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879

Reisman, J. M. (1981). "Adult friendships" in *Personal relationships 2: Developing personal relationships*. eds. S. Duck and R. Gilmour (New York, NY: Academic Press), 205–230.

Remelc', J., Vuc'kovic', G., James, N., and Leskošek, B. (2019). Reliability of judging in dance sport. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1001. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01001

Riemer, H. A., and Chelladurai, P. (1998). Development of the athlete satisfaction questionnaire(ASQ). J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 20, 127–156. doi: 10.1123/jsep.20.2.127

Ryan, R. M. (1995). Psychological needs and the facilitation of integrative processes. *J. Pers.* 63, 397–427. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1995.tb00501.x

Sang, H. P. (2014). Difficulty of imagining Others' behaviors and expectations about future interactions. *Soc. Psychol. Germany* 45, 286–298. doi: 10.1027/1864-9335/a000175

Sara, F. (2005). The intimacy of state power: marriage, liberation, and socialist subjects in southeastern China. *Am. Ethnol.* 32, 312–327. doi: 10.1525/ae.2005.32.2.312

Seligman, S. D. (1999). Guanxi: grease for the wheels of China. *China Bus. Rev.* 26, 34–38.

Taylor, J., Ashford, M., and Collins, D. (2022). The role of challenge in talent development: understanding impact in response to emotional disturbance. *Psychology* 4, 668–694. doi: 10.3390/psych4040050

Tremayne, P., and Ballinger, D. A. (2008). Performance enhancement for ballroom dancers: psychological perspectives. *Sport Psychol.* 22, 90–108. doi: 10.1123/tsp.22.1.90

Valentin, M. (2020). Coding sexual violence as love-choreographed heteronormative gender performances in Latin American competitive dancing. J. Gend. Stud. 29, 962–980. doi: 10.1080/09589236.2020.1823824

Wang, B., Ye, L., Wu, M., Feng, T., and Peng, X. (2014). Effects of gratitude on athlete engagement: mediation of coach-athlete relationship. *J. Beijing Sport Univ.* 37, 85–90. doi: 10.19582/j.cnki. 11-3785/g8.2014.09.014

Wang, P. H. (2018). Dynamic dual relationship between intimate & professional— Take ballroom dance for example. Hsinchu: Institute of Mass Communication Hsuan Chuang University, 2–53.

Wiesława, P., Robert, P., and Walery, Z. (2013). Rating size of selected characteristics and indicators of construction somatic dancers against them partners in the couples dancing, a specific choice of the standard style of dancing couples dance sports. *J. Health Sci.* 104, 1200–1205. doi: 10.3852/11-409

Wulff, H. (1998). Ballet across Borders: Career and Culture in the World of Dancers. (Oxford: Berg).

Yang, E. S. (2015). Reverification of dance sport partnership scale applying Rasch model. *Korea J Sport* 13, 347–358.

Yang, E. S. (2016). The effects of passion on dancesport partnership. J. Korea Entertain. Industry Assoc. 10, 171–178. doi: 10.21184/jkeia.2016.06.10.3.171

Ye, Lv. (2014). *The impacting factors and mechanism of engagement*. (Wuhan, China: Central China Normal University).

Ye, L., Wang, B., Liu, Z. J., Wu, Y. Y., and Dong, L. S. (2016). The effect of coachathlete relationship on sport performance satisfaction—serial multiple mediating effects of hope and athlete engagement. *China Sport Sci.* 36, 40–48. doi: 10.16469/j. css.201607005

Yoshida, Y., Bizokas, A., Demidova, K., Nakai, S., Nakai, R., and Nishimura, T. (2020). Partnering effects on joint motion range and step length in the competitive waltz dancers. *J Dance Med Sci.* 24, 168–174. doi: 10.12678/1089-313X.24.4.168

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Diogo Monteiro, Polytechnic of Leiria, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Nuno Amaro, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal Teresa Bento, Polytechnic Institute of Santarém, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Yan Liang ⊠ njnu219@163.com

RECEIVED 28 September 2023 ACCEPTED 28 November 2023 PUBLISHED 04 January 2024

CITATION

Liang Y, Rascle O, Hanel PHP, Yang J and Souchon N (2024) Values and physical activity among sports science students in France and China: a transcultural analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1304019. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1304019

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Liang, Rascle, Hanel, Yang and Souchon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Values and physical activity among sports science students in France and China: a transcultural analysis

Yan Liang^{1,2*}, Olivier Rascle², Paul H. P. Hanel³, Jian Yang⁴ and Nicolas Souchon⁵

¹Sino-French Joint Research Center of Sport Science, College of Physical Education and Health, East China Normal University, Shanghai, China, ²Department of Sports Sciences, VIPS2 laboratory, Rennes 2 University University of Rennes 2 – Upper Brittany, Rennes, France, ³Department of Psychology, University of Essex, Colchester, United Kingdom, ⁴College of Physical Education and Health, East China Normal University Université Paris Nanterre, Nanterre, France, ⁵UFR STAPS, LICAE laboratory, Université de Paris, Nanterre, France

Objective: The aim of this study was to analyze the relationships between values and physical activity in France (a Western European individualistic country) and in China (an East Asian collectivist country).

Method: Six hundred and twenty-seven sport science students in France (N = 308, $M_{age} = 18.99$, SD = 1.64) and China (N = 319, $M_{age} = 20.44$, SD = 1.09) completed the International Physical Activity Questionnaire long version and the Portrait Values Questionnaire.

Results: In both France and China, moderated regression analysis revealed that hedonism positively/negatively predicted physical activity, while security-societal, security-personal, and conformity-rules values negatively predicted physical activity. In contrast, stimulation and universalism-nature values positively predicted physical activity only in France. In China, benevolence and benevolence-care positively predicted physical activity, while power dominance negatively predicted physical activity. Additionally, we found evidence of measurement invariance of the value questionnaire.

Discussion and conclusion: Our findings add to the literature by showing that the value–behavior link is partly the same across countries and partly different. Further, our findings show that for certain populations, the previously established hierarchy of human values does not replicate.

KEYWORDS

human values, physical activity, cross-cultural research, France, China

Introduction

Values (e.g., freedom, pleasure) can be defined as abstract ideals that are important guiding principles in one's life (Schwartz, 1992; Sagiv and Roccas, 2021). Values motivate people over time and across situations (Schwartz, 1992; Maio, 2010; Arieli et al., 2020) and represent a central part of identity and self-concept (Verplanken and Holland, 2002; Maio, 2016). As such, values shape both individuals' current and future health-related behaviors. There is evidence that specific values relate to several everyday health-related behaviors such as smoking (Nieh et al., 2018), drinking alcohol (Inman et al., 2017; Rudnev and Vauclair, 2018), or drug-use (Sanchez et al., 2018; for an overview, see Hanel et al., 2022).

One important health-related behavior is engagement in physical activity. The latter can be defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure and can be done at a variety of intensities and accumulated through work, domestic chores, transportation, or during leisure time, or when participating in sport, walking, cycling, active recreation, and active play (World Health Organization, 2022). Physical activity can be considered as a complex system of relationships affected by multiple levels of the surrounding environment, from immediate family and school settings to broad cultural values and customs (Lee and Park, 2021).

However, an understudied question is how values impact physical activities and whether this impact is invariant across cultures. Previous research suggests that the pattern might be different across countries. Culture can affect the specific behaviors that individuals spontaneously associate with a specific value (Hanel et al., 2017, 2018). We focus on human values as predictors, because they are the core of a culture (e.g., Sagiv and Schwartz, 2022) and they influence human behaviors (e.g., Maio, 2010; Sagiv and Roccas, 2021). Hence, it is conceivable that people attribute a different meaning to physical activities across countries and associate physical activity with different values across countries.

Focusing on sports science students in France and China, the aim of this study was consequently to establish which values predict physical activity in France (a West European individualistic country) and in China (an East Asians collectivist country), and whether these associations differ between countries.

Schwartz's model of values

Values are grounded in one or more of three universal requirements of human existence: the needs of individuals as biological organisms, requisites of coordinated social interaction, and survival and welfare needs of groups (Schwartz, 1992). Schwartz's (1992) model of values is considered to be one of the most important theoretical advances in the field of human values (Maio, 2016). Schwartz's (1992) model is central in psychology, but also in other disciplines such as philosophy, sociology, and anthropology (Maio, 2010). Its structure (Figure 1) has been supported in more than 100 countries (e.g., Schwartz et al., 2017; Sagiv and Schwartz, 2022).

Schwartz (1992) universally identified ten broader categories of values (see Supplementary Table S1) and organized these value types into a quasi-circumplex to highlight the dynamic relationships between them (Figure 1). Schwartz represents motivationally compatible values (e.g., stimulation and self-direction) adjacently in the model, while motivationally incompatible values are on opposite sides in the model (e.g., self-direction and security).

Moreover, the model (Figure 1) distinguishes between values conveying (1) openness to change: i.e., stimulation, self-direction, and hedonism; (2) conservation of the status quo: i.e., tradition, conformity, and security; (3) serving self-interests: i.e., power and achievement; and (4) transcendence of self-interests in the service of others: i.e., universalism and benevolence, all of which explain different variables such as behavior (e.g., Maio, 2016; Sagiv and Roccas, 2021).

More recently, Schwartz et al. (2012) proposed a refined model that divided the motivational quasi-circumplex from 10 into 19 value types. For example, security was divided into security-personal and security-societal, and conformity into conformity-interpersonal and conformity-rules. This was done to get a better understanding of the relations of values with other variables. For example, behavior that aimed to increase one's personal safety was as expected connected to security-personal, but not connected with security-societal (Schwartz and Butenko, 2014).

Research has shown that values predict emotional reactions (e.g., Conte et al., 2023), political orientation (e.g., Caprara et al., 2006), prejudice (e.g., Wolf et al., 2019), well-being (e.g., Sortheix and Schwartz, 2017), and a series of health behaviors (Rudnev and Vauclair, 2018). However, only four studies to our knowledge have tested the relationships between values and physical activity using Schwartz's (1992) model (Worsley et al., 2013; Souchon et al., 2015; Skimina et al., 2019, 2021).

Values and physical activity

In one of these studies, the aim was to analyze relationships between values and more general health behaviors (Worsley et al., 2013), while in two other studies, the aim was to test relationships between values and more general typical everyday behaviors (Skimina et al., 2019, 2021). This particularity explains why the authors in these three studies used a short measure of self-reported frequency of everyday behavior rather than a well-validated self-reported measure of physical activity.

Skimina et al. (2021) found that security and security-personal values were negatively related to physical activity, while stimulation was positively related to physical activity. In another study, Skimina et al. (2019) found that both security-personal and conformity-interpersonal were negatively related to physical activity. Finally, measuring only universalism and conformity values, Worsley et al. (2013) found a positive relationship between universalism and physical activity.

To the best of our knowledge, only one study tested the relationships between values and a well-validated self-reported measure of physical activity. Souchon et al. (2015) investigated the associations between a value measure, the PVQ-40, and the Godin Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire (GLTEQ, Godin and Shephard, 1985). Results indicated that stimulation, hedonism, and achievement were positively related to physical activity. These findings were consistent with Skimina et al.'s (2021) results on the role of stimulation values, but were less reliable for other values.

Moreover, none of the studies explored whether human values predict physical activity in China. Nevertheless, the relationships between values and behaviors are complex and research has shown that individuals in different cultures prototypically instantiate different behaviors to the same values. For example, security in Brazil is related to avoiding gunshots when walking in the street, while in United Kingdom, security is related to being able to finance higher education for children (Hanel et al., 2018; Coelho et al., 2022).

The present study

Our aim in this study was to establish if values predict physical activity in France and China in the same way or differently. The



comparison between French participants and Chinese participants is particularly relevant as there is a remarkable social cognitive distinction in cultures. Western culture, particularly those influenced by European traditions, tend to emphasize individual freedom, autonomy, and personal achievement. In contrast, Eastern cultures, such as those found in Asia, place greater emphasis on collective harmony, familial ties, and societal obligations (Vignoles et al., 2016). A large amount of cross-culture studies have focused on the comparison across Western and Eastern cultures to better understand the similarities and diversity across two culture paradigms and foster a deeper understanding and appreciation of the global community (e.g., Honka et al., 2019; Ho et al., 2022). We expect the present study could reveal the similarities and/or diversity in the relationships between values and physical activity to provide further valuable suggestion to the physical activity promotion plans in China and France (World Health Organization, 2018).

For the participants, we focused on sports science students in France and China. The aim of sports science students is not to become professional athletes but to work in the general management of physical and sporting activities (e.g., teachers or working in health domain). This population has not been studied in research on valuesphysical activity relationships before. Sport science students have presumably a positive attitude toward physical activity and should often engage in it. Given that a high level of physical activity is desirable because it is associated with physical and mental health benefits, investigating predictors of physical activity in a population that routinely engage in it can have important policy implications.

Hypotheses in the present study

Openness to change

Openness to change values emphasize independence of thought, action, and feelings, and readiness for change (hedonism, selfdirection, and stimulation). Souchon et al. (2015) and Skimina et al. (2021) found that hedonism (pleasure) and stimulation (excitement, novelty, and challenge in life) were positively associated with physical activity. These results suggest that pleasure, emotion, and challenges experienced during physical activity could be an important drive for people who value hedonism or stimulation. We expect to replicate those findings in France with sport science students.

However, compared to Western culture, the cultural tradition in China inclines to Daoism, which advocates the pursuit of a peaceful life rather than a stimulating one (no excess). Daoism emphasizes respect for life, nature, adaptation to changes, supplemented by appropriate moderate exercise (Li, 2015). From the perspective of Daoism, we propose that stimulation does not significantly relate to physical activity in China. Finally, selfdirection has shown a non-significant relationship to physical activity in previous studies (Souchon et al., 2015; Skimina et al., 2021). We expect no relationship between self-direction and physical activity in this study.

H1: Hedonism and stimulation are positively associated with physical activity in France but not in China.

H2: Self-direction is not significantly associated with physical activity in France and China.

Self-transcendence

Self-transcendence values emphasize concern for the welfare and interests of others (universalism and benevolence) in Schwartz's (1992) model. In the physical activity domain, Worsley et al. (2013) found in Australia a positive relationship between universalism and physical activity, but Souchon et al. (2015) in France and Skimina et al. (2019, 2021) in Polona did not find any associations. Consequently, we do not have clear expectations on the role of universalism in France.

In China, we speculate that an association between universalism and physical activity might exist, because one of the most important doctrines of Chinese thoughts, Confucianism, emphasizes Ren (仁), which is very similar to benevolence in Schwartz's (1992) model and which emphasizes the need to develop virtuous qualities through proper social engagement, such as to love parents, siblings, and the whole family, but also to share activities with others (Low, 2011; Ahmad et al., 2020). We therefore hypothesize that benevolence values are positively associated with physical activity, because participants are eager to integrate into society and involve more prosocial behavior.

H3: Universalism and benevolence values are positively associated with physical activity in China.

Conservation values

Conservation emphasizes order, self-restriction, preservation of the past, and resistance to change (conformity, tradition, and security). In previous studies, conservation values were negatively related to physical activity. Especially, security-personal (Skimina et al., 2019), conformity-interpersonal (Skimina et al., 2021), and tradition were negatively related to physical activity (Souchon et al., 2015). Consequently, conservation values should be negatively related to physical activity in this research both in France and China.

This reasoning is further supported by Confucianism, which perceives the body as the medium of moral practice. Conformity and tradition are correlated with body ideology in tradition Daoism. Daoism emphasizes respect for life and adaptability to changes, supplemented by appropriate moderate exercise (Li, 2015). One of the functions of ritual training in body is to maintain the order of the superior and inferior in social order (Guan, 2022). Zuo and Wang proposed that the anchoring concepts "psyche is precious rather than body" and "advocate morality development rather than physical strength" have certain limitations and have even played a negative role in the development of Chinese sports (Zuo and Wang, 1998). Therefore,

we hypothesize that the conservation values conformity, tradition, and security are negatively associated with physical activity in China.

H4: Conservation values (including humility and face) are negatively related to physical activity both in France and China.

Self-enhancement

Self-enhancement is defined as the pursuit of one's own interests and relative success and dominance over others (achievement and power; Schwartz, 1992). Achievement is defined as personal success through demonstrating competence according to social standards. As the sporting context is an achievement area (Gröpel et al., 2016), achievement values may be related to a higher level of physical activity especially among sport science students because they tend to be passionate about sport and physical activity. This prediction is in line with previous research showing this within the general population in France (Souchon et al., 2015). Consequently, we expect that in France, achievement and physical activity are positively associated. However, since we are assuming that in China, benevolence values, which are opposed to achievement values in Schwartz's (1992) model, are positively associated with physical activity due to the cultural importance of Ren values, the association between achievement and benevolence will be non-significant.

Moreover, power value is defined as social status and prestige, control or dominance over people and resources. Although power values are motivationally compatible with achievement values which might positively predict physical activity, power values were found to be unrelated with physical activity in France (Souchon et al., 2015). Consequently, we expect no relationship between power and physical activity in France.

Finally, traditional Chinese culture emphasizes "self-cultivation, family management, state governance, and bringing peace to all under heaven" as the four terminal goals in life (Zhang, 2023). Self-cultivation is explained as the cultivation of mind, which advocates improving one's mental character through studying knowledge rather than body training (Li, 2015). Therefore, studying to pass the imperial examination was basically the only approach to enter the higher societal class in China (Ko, 2017), whereas excessive physical labor was regarded as a sign of the lower class in Chinese society (Lu, 2012). Hence, we postulate that Chinese participants who attach more importance to power tend to engage in less physical activity due to the idea that "psyche is more precious rather than body."

H5: Achievement is positively associated with physical activity in France, but not in China.

H6: Power is negatively associated with physical activity in China, but not in France.

The hypotheses are summarized in Table 1.

Method

Participants and procedure

A power analysis using G*Power 3.1.9.7 (Faul et al., 2009) revealed that to detect a small effect size of f=0.15 with a power of 0.95 and

TABLE 1	Hypothesis synthe	esis.
---------	-------------------	-------

	<i>H1</i> : Hedonism and stimulation are positively associated with physical activity in France, but not in China <i>H2</i> : Self-direction does not significantly predict physical activity in France and China.
Openness to change	
Self-transcendence	H3: Universalism and benevolence are positively associated with physical activity in China.
Conservation	H4: Conservation values (including humility and face) are negatively related to physical activity both in France and in China
Self-enhancement	H5: Achievement is positively associated with physical activity in France, but not in China.
	<i>H6</i> : Power is negatively associated with physical activity in China, but not in France.

TABLE 2 Description of the sample.

	Sum (<i>N</i> = 627)		France (<i>N</i> = 308)		China (<i>N</i> = 319)	
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
Ν	414	211	196	112	220	99
Age	19.88	19.73	19.05	18.89	20.61	20.07
(SD)	(0.60)	(1.57)	(1.64)	(1.65)	(1.14)	(0.88)
BMI	22.35	21.95	22.13	21.65	22.55	20.61
(SD)	(2.38)	(2.38)	(2.39)	(2.38)	(2.16)	(2.25)

 α =0.05 in a 2 \times 2 \times 2 between-subjects design, a total sample size of 580 is required. While previous research (e.g., Worsley et al., 2013; Skimina et al., 2019) found small and medium effect sizes, we assumed a small effect size to be conservative. Six hundred and twenty-seven sport science students completed the study individually in France and in China. The study included two hundred and eleven women and four hundred and fourteen men in France and China (see Supplementary material for more information). Table 2 describes the sample in France and China.

Participants provided informed consent prior to completing the pen-and-paper questionnaire in Chinese or French in class before lectures in a sport science department. Participants were informed that participation was voluntarily and they were able to drop out at any point. All procedures performed in our studies were in accordance with the ethical standards of the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments, and also in line with the American Psychological Association (2017) and the British Psychological Society (2009). Moreover, the present study received ethical approval by the University Committee on Human Research Protection of East China Normal University (HR 725–2021). The data can be found online on https:// osf.io/kjz5d/?view_only=c9fef240a011443abaad89a235023483.

Measures

Values

In France and in China, participants first completed the PVQ-RR-57 (Portrait Values Questionnaire refined model; Schwartz et al., 2017), which we downloaded from the Schwartz's repository of value instruments¹, the official website of the Schwartz Value Questionnaire. The PVQ-RR-57 has been validated both in France and

in China (Schwartz and Cieciuch, 2022). It measures each of the 19 value types with three items. Each question refers to a portrait of an individual that participants are asked to identify with by responding from 1 (not at all like me) to 6 (very much like me). For example, the items that measure the importance male participants attach to self-direction-thought are: "It is important to him to form his views independently," "It is important to him to develop his own opinions," and "It is important to him to figure things out himself." The 57 items can be combined into four higher order values, 10 basic values, or 19 narrowly refined values.

Self-reported physical activity behavior

To measure physical activity, we used the well-validated International Physical Activity Questionnaire long version (IPAQ-L) which has been successfully used cross-culturally (Bauman et al., 2009) and also been validated in French by Crinière et al. (2011) and in Chinese by Fan et al. (2014).

The IPAQ-Long version contains 27 items and examines four PA domains (job-related, transportation, domestic, and leisure). The results can be described as a continuous score, by domain, and by intensity of PA (moderate or vigorous). PA is found according to the following formula (in MET-min-week): the number of days making physical activity X mean duration of the activity per day X the energy cost of the activity. The energy cost of an activity is expressed in METs (the metabolic equivalent of task).

MET is the ratio of the energy expenditure during a given activity divided by the resting energy expenditure. The following MET values were drawn from the scoring protocol: 3.3 for walking, 4 for moderate intensity PA, 8.0 for vigorous PA, 6.0 for cycling, 5.5 for vigorous PA in a garden or yard, and 3.0 for domestic activities (IPAQ group, 2005).

Data cleaning and analysis

Following best practice recommendations, participants who responded more than 45 times with the same response option or had more than 28 missing values were excluded (Schwartz, 2021). Twelve French participants and 13 Chinese participants were excluded, leaving 308 French participants and 319 Chinese participants. Analyses were conducted using STATISTICA 13.0 and SPSS 24.0 software IBM Corp (2016). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, New York: IBM Corp.

To test for configural, metric, and scaler invariance of the PVQ-RR in our sample, we used the simultaneous factor analysis framework (Schwartz et al., 2012, see analysis in Supplementary Material).

¹ https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/orpc/vol2/iss2/9/

Reliability

We used Cronbach's alpha to report the internal reliability for the 19 narrowly defined values, 10 broader values, and four higher order values in France and in China. Since some of the 19 value types are broad, some Cronbach's alphas were below 0.60 (Graham et al., 2011). This is in line with the literature (e.g., Schwartz et al., 2012). In contrast, the internal reliabilities of all four higher order value types were satisfactory. They ranged from 0.75 to 0.84 in France and 0.76 to 0.87 in China (see the confirmatory factor analysis, measurement invariance, and fit of the 19 values to the circular structure in the Supplementary Material).

Other statistical analysis

We analyzed global physical activity and mean values with mixed ANOVAs and we analyzed the relationships between values and global physical activity with moderated regression analysis (see in Supplementary Tables S8–S13 the interrelations between four values, 10 values, 19 values and in Supplementary Table S14, the interrelations between values and physical activity in the four specific domains). Specifically, we tested the relationships between values and physical activity using one single value type at a time. Following Schwartz's recommendations, we used values centered on a person level within the ANOVA and within the regressions.

Moreover, we tested in simple regressions whether gender, $\beta = 0.08$, p < 0.05 (women -0.5 and men +0.5), age, $\beta = -0.10$, p < 0.01, BMI (weight: kg /height: meters²), $\beta = 0.06$, p = 0.141, country (France +0.5 and China -0.5), $\beta = 0.16$, p < 0.001, and competition level (coded 0 "leisure time," 1 "low local level," 2 "high local level," "3 low intermediate level," 4 "high intermediate level," "5 low national level," 6 "high national level" and "7 international level"), $\beta = 0.28$, p < 0.001, predicted global physical activity. As the results were significant for gender, age, country, and competition level, we tested in multiple regressions whether the effects obtained in the main analyses remained significant after controlling for the impact of these variables.

Results

Descriptive statistics

Global physical activity was analyzed with a $2 \times 2 \times 2$ betweensubjects ANOVA, with country (France vs. China), gender (men vs. women), and competition statement (competition vs. leisure) as factors. The adjusted R^2 was 0.096, and the model was significant, F(7,619) = 10.50, p < 0.001.

The results indicated a marginally significant main effect of country, F(1,619) = 3.41, p = 0.065, $\eta^2 = 0.005$, a significant main effect of gender, F(1,619) = 4.87, p = 0.027, $\eta^2 = 0.027$, a significant main effect of competition, F(1,619) = 32.08, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.049$, and a significant two-way interaction between country and competition, F(1,619) = 11.71, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.018$.

The marginally significant main effect of country suggested that participants in France (M_{France} =9432.21, SD=6311.27) were slightly more physically active than participants in China (M_{China} =7312.88, SD=6600.96). The significant main effect of gender revealed that men (M_{men} =8749.57, SD= 7024.16) were more physically active than women (M_{women} =7573.96, SD=5398.10). The significant main effect of competition indicated that participants who took part in competition (M_{men} =10210.63, SD= 7071.50) were more physically

active than participants who did not take part in competition $(M_{men} = 6661.44, SD = 5506.81)$. The interaction between country and competition showed that participants who took part in competition in France (M = 10027.32, SD = 6765.11) and in China (M = 10569.98, SD = 7659.04) had a similar level of physical activity, p = 0.465, while participants who did not take part in competition were more physically active in France (M = 8361.03, SD = 5260.28) than in China (M = 5803.86, SD = 5440.12, p < 0.001).

Regression analysis

Higher order values and physical activity in France and in China.

Supplementary Table S5 describes the regression analysis made for testing whether higher order values, controlling for the influence of gender (coded -0.05 for female and +0.05 for male), age, country (coded a -0.05 for France and +0.05 for China), and competition level (from 0 "leisure" to 7 "international competition level"), predict global physical activity.

The results indicate that only openness to change values predicted global physical activity across the two samples from France and China (B=0.12, p=0.002). This effect remained significant even after controlling for the influence of gender, B=0.10, p=0.009, age, B=0.00, p=0.992, country, B=0.04, p=0.305, and competition level, B=0.26, p<0.001, R²=0.106, F (5,621)=15.87, p<0.001.

Ten broader categories of values and physical activity in France and in China

Tables 3–5 present significant regression analyses (see the non-significant regression analysis in Supplementary Tables S6, S7) testing how the single-value categories predict global physical activity, controlling for the influence of gender, BMI, age, country, and competition level.

Specifically, there was a simple effect of hedonism values. This effect remained significant after controlling for gender, age, country, and competition level (Table 3). There was a significant interaction between stimulation values and country in the prediction of global physical activity (Table 3): stimulation values positively predicted global physical activity in France, but not in China, after controlling for gender, age, and competition level. There was also a significant interaction for selfdirection action in predicting global physical activity. Nevertheless, the self-direction action values did not remain significant both in France and in China after controlling for age, gender, and competition level.

Moreover, there was a significant interaction between universalism nature and country in the prediction of global physical activity (Table 4). After controlling in France and in China for the influence of gender, age, and competition level, univer-salism nature positively predicted global physical activity in France but not in China. Also, there was a significant interaction between benevolence values and country in predicting global physical activity (see Table 4). Benevolence values positively predicted global physical activity in China but not in France after controlling for gender, age, and competition level. Specifically, there was a significant interaction between benevolence care and country. After controlling for gender, age, and competition level, benevolence care positively predicted

		Global physical activity						
		Т	p	В				
Hedonism	$R^2 = 0.047, F(3,623) = 11.29, p < 0.001$							
	Hedonism	1.94	0.052	0.08				
	Country	2.91	0.003	0.12				
	Hedonism X country	0.94	0.346	0.03				
	$R^2 = 0.097, F(5,621) = 14.55, p < 0.001$							
	Gender	2.58	0.010	0.10				
	Age	0.16	0.871	0.007				
	Country	-1.44	0.148	0.06				
	Competition level	6.57	<0.001	0.26				
	Hedonism	1.79	0.073	0.07				
Stimulation	$R^2 = 0.047, F(3,623) = 11.29, p < 0.001$							
	Stimulation	3.32	0.006	0.11				
	Country	2.75	<0.001	0.13				
	Stimulation X country	2.62	0.008	0.10				
France	$R^2 = 0.123, F(4,303) = 11.81, p < 0.001$							
	Gender	2.53	0.011	0.13				
	Age	1.55	0.121	0.08				
	Competition level	4.50	<0.001	0.24				
	Stimulation	4.86	<0.001	0.26				
China	$R^2 = 0.099, F(4,314) = 9.75, p < 0.001$							
	Gender	2.02	0.043	0.11				
	Age	-1.98	0.047	-0.11				
	Competition level	5.38	<0.001	0.29				
	Stimulation	0.51	0.611	0.03				
Self-direction-	$R^2 = 0.028, F(3,623) = 7.13, p < 0.001$							
action	Self-direction-action	-0.19	0.841	-0.01				
	Country	4.11	<0.001	0.16				
	Self-direction-action X country	-2.03	0.042	-0.08				
France <i>R</i> ² = 0.061	F(4,303) = 6.03, p < 0.001		I					
	Gender	2.09	0.036	0.11				
	Age	1.50	0.133	0.08				
	Competition level	3.89	<0.001	0.22				
	Self-direction-action	-1.44	0.149	-0.08				
China $R^2 = 0.099$,	, <i>F</i> (4,314) = 9.77, <i>p</i> < 0.001							
	Gender	2.00	0.046	0.11				
	Age	-1.96	0.050	-0.11				
	Competition level	5.25	<0.001	0.28				
	Self-direction-action	0.55	0.580	0.03				

TABLE 3 Results of moderated regressions for hedonism, stimulation, and self-direction values with country as the moderator in predicting global physical activity.

Gender: -0.05 for women and +0.05 for men, Country: -0.05 for France and +0.05 for China.

global physical activity in China but not in France, albeit the effect was only marginally significant.

Finally, Table 5 shows significant simple effects and/or significant interaction effects for conformity-rules, security, security

personal, and power-dominance. Conformity-rules and security negatively predicted global physical activity across countries after controlling for gender, age, country, and competition level. Also, there was a significant interaction between security personal values TABLE 4 Results of moderated regressions for universalism-nature, benevolence, and benevolence-care values with country as the moderator in predicting global physical activity.

		Global physical activity				
		Т	p	В		
Universalism-nature	$R^2 = 0.030, F(3,623) = 7.62, p < 0.001$					
	Universalism-nature	-0.15	0.875	0.00		
	Country	4.11	<0.001	0.16		
	Universalism-nature X country	2.40	0.016	0.10		
France	$R^2 = 0.074, F(4,303) = 7.20, p < 0.001$					
	Gender	2.24	0.025	0.12		
	Age	1.56	0.118	0.08		
	Competition level	4.37	<0.001	0.25		
	Universalism-nature	2.53	0.011	0.14		
China	$R^2 = 0.100, F(4,314) = 9.85, p < 0.001$					
	Gender	1.76	0.079	0.10		
	Age	-1.89	0.058	-0.10		
	Competition level	5.28	<0.001	0.29		
	Universalism-nature	-0.77	0.438	-0.04		
Benevolence	$R^2 = 0.038, F(3,623) = 9.35, p < 0.001$					
	Benevolence	0.88	0.375	0.04		
	Country	3.27	0.001	0.04		
	Benevolence X country	-3.25	0.001	-0.13		
France	$R^{2} = 0.051, F(4,291) = 4.98, p < 0.001$					
	Gender	1.85	0.064	0.10		
	Age	1.14	0.255	0.06		
	Competition level	3.77	<0.001	0.22		
	Benevolence	-1.10	0.269	-0.06		
China	$R^{2} = 0.109, F(4,314) = 10.76, p < 0.001$					
	Gender	2.12	0.034	0.11		
	Age	-1.85	0.064	-0.10		
	Competition level	5.02	<0.001	0.27		
		1.96	0.050			
Benevolence-care	Benevolence 1.96 0.050 0.11 R ² = 0.033, F (3,623) = 8.14, p < 0.001					
	Benevolence-care	1.10	0.269	0.04		
	Country	3.74	<0.001	0.15		
	Benevolence-care X country		0.009			
France	Benevolence-care X country -2.61 0.009 -0.10 $R^2 = 0.058, F(4,303) = 5.73, p < 0.001$ -0.10 -0.10					
Tance	Gender	2.05	0.040	0.11		
	Age	1.28	0.198	0.07		
	Competition level	4.05	<0.001	0.07		
	Benevolence-care	-0.99	0.322	-0.05		
China	Benevolence-care -0.99 0.322 -0.05 $R^2 = 0.107, F(4,314) = 10.55, p < 0.001$ -0.05 -0.05					
China	$R^{2} = 0.107, P(4,514) = 10.55, p < 0.001$ Gender	2.10	0.036	0.11		
	Age	-1.83	0.067	-0.10		
	Competition level	5.14	<0.001	0.28		

Gender: -0.05 for women and $+\,0.05$ for men, Country: -0.05 for France and $+\,0.05$ for China.

Conformity-rules T p B						
Conformity-rules -1.74 0.080 -0.07	-0.07					
Country 3.19 0.001 0.13	0.13					
Conformity-rules X country -0.81 0.414 -0.03	-0.03					
$R^2 = 0.100, F(5,621) = 14.97, p < 0.001$	$R^2 = 0.100, F(5,621) = 14.97, p < 0.001$					
Gender 2.43 0.015 0.09	0.09					
Age -0.04 0.967 -0.01	-0.01					
Country 1.33 0.181 0.06	0.06					
Competition level 6.68 <0.001 0.27	0.27					
Conformity-rules –2.25 0.024 –0.09	-0.09					
Security $R^2 = 0.033, F(3,623) = 8.26, p < 0.001$						
Security -1.75 0.078 -0.07	-0.07					
Country 3.49 <0.001 0.18	0.18					
Security X country -1.33 0.180 -0.07	-0.07					
$R^2 = 0.100, F(5,621) = 14.92, p < 0.001$						
Gender 2.33 0.019 0.09	0.09					
Age -0.03 0.975 -0.01	-0.01					
Country –1.64 0.101 0.07	0.07					
Competition level 6.59 <0.001 0.26	0.26					
Security –2.21 0.027 –0.09	-0.09					
Security-personal $R^2 = 0.043, F(3,623) = 10.57, p < 0.001$						
Security-personal -1.62 0.103 -0.06	-0.06					
Country 3.79 <0.001 0.15	0.15					
Security-personal X country –2.83 0.004 –0.11	-0.11					
France $R^2 = 0.089, F(4,303) = 8.49, p < 0.001$	$R^2 = 0.089, F(4,303) = 8.49, p < 0.001$					
Gender 1.46 0.144 0.08	0.08					
Age 1.17 0.242 0.06	0.06					
Competition level 3.96 <0.001 0.22	0.22					
Security-personal -3.35 <0.001 -0.19	-0.19					
China $R^2 = 0.099, F(4,314) = 9.74, p < 0.001$	$R^2 = 0.099, F(4,314) = 9.74, p < 0.001$					
Gender 2.05 0.041 0.11	0.11					
Age -1.91 0.056 -0.10	-0.10					
Competition level 5.33 <0.001 0.29	0.29					
Security-personal 0.46 0.639 0.025	0.025					
Power-dominance $R^2 = 0.038, F(3,623) = 9.41, p < 0.001$	$R^2 = 0.038, F(3,623) = 9.41, p < 0.001$					
Power-dominance -1.52 0.128 -0.06	-0.06					
Country 3.10 0.001 0.13	0.13					
Power-dominance X country 3.16 0.001 0.12	0.12					
France $R^2 = 0.055, F(4,303) = 5.52, p < 0.001$	$R^2 = 0.055, F(4,303) = 5.52, p < 0.001$					
Gender 2.04 0.041 0.11	0.11					
Age 1.29 0.194 0.07	0.07					
Competition level 3.97 <0.001 0.23	0.23					
Power-dominance 0.45 0.648 0.02	0.02					

TABLE 5 Results of moderated regressions for conformity-rules, security, security-personal, and power-dominance values with country as the moderator in predicting global physical activity.

(Continued)

TABLE 5 (Continued)

		Global physical activity			
		Т	p	В	
China	$R^2 = 0.125, F(4,314) = 12.40, p < 0.001$				
	Gender	2.47	0.013	0.13	
	Age	-1.92	0.055	-0.10	
	Competition level	5.29	<0.001	0.28	
	Power-dominance	-3.11	0.002	-0.16	

Gender: -0.05 for women and +0.05 for men, Country: -0.05 for France and +0.05 for China.

and country. Security personal negatively predicted global physical activity after controlling for gender, age, and competition level in France, but not in China. There was a significant interaction term between power dominance and country for global physical activity. Power dominance negatively predicted global physical activity in China, but not in France, after controlling for gender, age, and competition level. Additional analyses, such as correlations between values and physical activity separately for each of the four domain and country, are reported in the Supplemental materials (e.g., Supplementary Table S13).

Discussion

Using sports science students as participants, our aim of this study was to establish if values predict physical activity in France and in China in the same way or differently. Our research adds to the literature because only very few studies have been undertaken on the relationships between values and physical activity previously (Worsley et al., 2013; Souchon et al., 2015; Skimina et al., 2019, 2021). All of these studies were conducted in Western countries and no study to our knowledge has been undertaken on the relationships between values and physical activity in China. Below, we discuss the findings in detail, as well as limitations and future directions.

Openness to change and physical activity

Our first hypothesis was that hedonism and stimulation are positively associated with physical activity in France, but not in China. Our results tended to validate this hypothesis as hedonism predicted marginally positively a greater level of physical activity across countries. Also, stimulation positively predicted a greater level of physical activity in France, but not in China. The relationships between hedonism and stimulation and physical activity in France were overall consistent with our expectations and previous research (Souchon et al., 2015; Skimina et al., 2019, 2021).

These results showing that hedonism and stimulation are related to physical activity in France add to the literature showing that openness to change values predict antisocial and violent behaviors (e.g., delinquency) in real life (e.g., Benish-Weisman, 2015) or aggressive behaviors in sporting activities (e.g., Danioni and Barni, 2017). They also add to the literature showing that hedonism and stimulation are positively related to drinking behaviors (e.g., Rudnev and Vauclair, 2018) or internet consumption (Metin-Orta and Demirtepe-Saygili, 2021). Interestingly, aggressive-antisocial behaviors, drinking behaviors, or internet consumption behaviors may all have, like physical activity, an addictive component (e.g., Rendi et al., 2007; Symons Downs et al., 2019). Someone may become dependent on physical activity as being dependent on being aggressive towards other people (e.g., fighting in a pub) due to dependency on physiological responses (e.g., searching for adrenaline or endorphin, Howard, 2011). An interesting question is why stimulation–hedonism did not relate to physical activity the same way in China.

Results have shown that a greater attachment to hedonism is marginally related to a greater level of physical activity across countries, but stimulation values are not related to physical activity in China. So, globally, hedonism-stimulation values are not related to physical activity in China. An explanation may be the importance attributed to Daoism in China. This cultural "conservation" principle emphasizes the importance of being in harmony with others, and reducing excessive exercise or avoiding aggressive body contact with others is the appropriate approach to practicing moral development in Confucianism (Li, 2015; Guan, 2022). Interestingly, our results indicated (see Supplementary Material) that French participants attached a higher importance to openness to change values than Chinese participants, while these latter attached more importance to conservation values, which is in line overall with previous research (e.g., Schwartz, 2006). Also, in the French sample hedonism values were the most important values, while security values were the most important values in the Chinese sample, albeit hedonism remained fairly important in China as well. This adds to the literature by showing that for young people who clearly like physical activity, the value hierarchy is somewhat different. Across 54 nations, Schwartz and Bardi (2001) found that for students, benevolence was most important, while hedonism ranked only in position 7 (out of 10). This suggests that there are some selfselection effects or socialization effects for sports science students (Bardi et al., 2014).

The simple fact that Chinese participants attached less importance to openness to change values does not explain intrinsically why stimulation values were not related to physical activity in China. A possibility is that physical activity in China would not be represented in memory as something fun, pleasant, and stimulating as it would in France. For example, Chinese individuals are the best players in table tennis in the world, but their very well-known method involves very hard work from a very young age (e.g., 8h of training a day). The large number of players available all over the country presumably forces them to place less emphasis on the game's playful dimensions and instead focus on the competitive side (e.g., authoritarian coaching, strong conformity to the rules, etc.); while in Europe, the hedonist-playful dimension of the game is seen as very important for motivating players over the long term (Lenartowicz, 2023). We therefore speculate that sport or physical activity is prototypically associated in memory in Europe with hedonism and stimulation, but not necessarily in China (Hanel et al., 2017, 2018). Previous research supports the notion that certain physical activities are differently perceived across countries. For example, cycling is perceived as tiresome and socially undesirable in China but as normative and even fashionable in Denmark (Bauman et al., 2009).

Our second hypothesis was that self-direction is not associated with physical activity in France and China. Our results validate this hypothesis as self-direction, self-direction action and thought, are not related to physical activity. This result is consistent with previous studies on the relationships between values and physical activity (e.g., Souchon et al., 2015). Interestingly, research has shown that attaching a greater importance to self-direction is related to a higher level of well-being (Sortheix and Schwartz, 2017). Also, people attaching greater important to self-direction and self-direction thought tend to be more academically successful (Vecchione and Schwartz, 2022). Nevertheless, self-direction is not related to physical activity. This is surprising as people attaching a greater xxx importance to self-direction and especially selfdirection thought could better understand the importance of doing physical activity for their health or well-being.

Self-transcendence value and physical activity

Our third hypothesis was that universalism and benevolence are positively associated with physical activity in China. Our results do not support this hypothesis. Indeed, a greater attachment to benevolence values was associated with a higher level of physical activity in China, while universalism values were not related to physical activity in this country. Moreover, a greater attachment to univer-salism nature predicted a greater level of physical activity in France. These results are nonetheless very interesting.

Ren principles in traditional Chinese culture, very close to benevolence values, promote sharing activities with others and then acting collectively in opposition to individualistically. Moreover, in China, due to a rapid population expansion, doing physical activity is becoming increasingly difficult, leading individuals to share it (e.g., large Qi Gong event) more and more collectively (Day, 2016). This may explain why, in China, benevolence values could be prototypically associated in memory with physical activity (Hanel et al., 2017, 2018). Sharing physical activity with other would be part of the culture in China.

In France, Souchon et al. (2015) as well as Skimina et al. (2019, 2021) did not find any relationship between universalism and physical activity within their samples. Nevertheless, the relationship between universalism nature and physical activity in our sample is in agreement with a previous study undertaken in Australia in which the authors found that a greater attachment to universalism predicted a higher level of physical activity habits (Worsley et al., 2013). Universalism nature values are defined as preservation of the natural environment (Schwartz et al., 2012) and people who attach a high importance to universalism values may like being outside (e.g., de Groot and Steg, 2007). Universalism nature-oriented people may be motivated to run, ride, or walk outside to be part of nature or at least because they need to be outside.

Conservation value and physical activity

Our fourth hypothesis was that conservation values (including humility and face) are negatively related to physical activity both in France and in China. Our results tended to validate this hypothesis, as a greater attachment to conformity rules and security predicted a lower level of physical activity. Nevertheless, tradition, humility, and face were not related to physical activity. Also, a greater attachment to security personal predicted a lower level of physical activity in France, but not in China. These results are interesting and in agreement with previous studies undertaken on the relationships between values and physical activity (e.g., Souchon et al., 2015; Skimina et al., 2019).

Interestingly, at first glance, it appears surprising that securitypersonal negatively predicted physical activity, as health is part of security-personal values (Schwartz, 1992; Schwartz et al., 2012). Nevertheless, security-personal values are defined as the "Security of self and one's immediate environment" (Schwartz et al., 2012) and doing physical activity implies taking some risks. Cycling as a means of transport may be perceived to be dangerous, especially in big cities. Also, security value-oriented people may be afraid to walk, run, or ride in some areas of big cities (e.g., because they might fear to being hit by a car; Foster and Giles-Corti, 2008). Security-oriented people could also be reluctant to meet other people to do physical activity (fear of meeting new people) and may feel easily threatened.

Security personal values are adjacent in Schwartz et al.'s (2012) model to conformity-rules values, which are defined as "Compliance with rules, laws, and formal obligations." Our research also revealed that conformity-rules predicted a lower level of physical activity. In some circumstances, physical activity could violate conformity rules values. For example, the way people dress when running (or their nudity level) could be perceived to be socially inappropriate. Cycling in towns may also be perceived as inappropriate as it may be a problem for cars and road circulation in general. Understanding these processes may help politicians to better communicate with people who are valuing security to encourage them to be physically active (e.g., by emphasizing measures to be taken to improve safety for cyclists, if applicable).

Security-personal and conformity-rules values are "self-protection anxiety control values" with a social focus. They are directly in opposition in the Schwartz's model with stimulation–hedonism values which are "growth, self-expansion, and anxiety free" values with a personal focus. Schwartz et al. (2017) demonstrated that valueexpressive behaviors, such as physical activity in our present research, are regularly not the product of a single value (e.g., stimulation). Rather, values on one side of the motivational structure (here stimulation and hedonism) promote them whereas values on the opposite side of the motivational structure prevent them (here conformity rules and security personal). Thus, behaviors are a product of value trade-offs. Finally, this is particularly interesting that conservation values were related to physical activity the same way in both France and China.

Self-enhancement value and physical activity

Our fifth hypothesis was that achievement is positively associated with physical activity in France, but not in China. Our results invalidated this hypothesis in France. Achievement was not related to physical activity both in France and China. In France, a possible
10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1304019

explanation may be related to the diversity of values pursued by sport science students. Indeed, sport science departments in France, but also in China, are not devoted to developing professional sportsmen or sportswomen. Students most often study to become teachers in national education institutions or health institutes like hospitals (e.g., teaching physical activity (PA) to patients with obesity). For example, in our French sport science sample, the most important values were hedonism and benevolence (see Supplementary Material). Consequently, it was not so surprising to find no relationship in our sample between achievement values and physical activity. Students could not strongly associate in memory physical activity (PA) with achievement values in a sport science department (e.g., Hanel et al., 2018) or think about achievement values (i.e., value states) when they did physical activity in a sport science department (Skimina et al., 2019). They may simply relate achievement values to simple success in academia (Vecchione and Schwartz, 2022). Also, a statistical analysis (see Supplementary Table S8) indicates that competition level status (playing a sport in competition vs. playing a sport not in competition) did not interact with achievement values to predict physical activity in France and in China.

Our sixth hypothesis was that power is negatively associated with physical activity in China, but not in France. Our results tended to validate this hypothesis, as a greater attachment to power dominance was related to a lower level of physical activity in China, but not in France. This result is interesting as power dominance is motivationally opposed to benevolence values in the Schwartz model, and the results indicate that benevolence and benevolence care values in China positively predict physical activity. These results are congruent with our expectations and are related to prior research showing that the self in China is more interdependent and harmonious (Markus and Kitayama, 1991; Fiske and Taylor, 2008). The findings suggest that Chinese sport students are less likely to express power-dominance by engaging in physical activity. It might be the case that people who are perceived as dominant are more reluctant to engage in physical activities because it could have a negative impact on how they are perceived by others. Globally, this result confirms that Chinese individuals could associate strongly in memory physical activity with benevolence values (Hanel et al., 2018).

Limitations and future directions

Several limitations of this work need to be mentioned. First, we did not measure objective but self-reported measures of physical activity, and participants tend to overestimate physical activity in selfreported measures (Nelson et al., 2019). However, as long as participants overestimated it to a similar extent, it does not threaten the validity of our findings. Previous research indicates that our measures are not impacted by socially desirable responding (Danioni and Barni, 2017), suggesting that our findings are probably not biased. Second, our participants were not representative of the whole populations both in France and in China, and we focused on sports science students. Consequently, the generalizability of the findings is limited. Future research with representative samples from France and China could add to the literature by also investigating whether our effects also generalize across a wider range of demographic groups (e.g., older participants and participants from different social backgrounds). Especially, following Skimina et al. (2019), it may be interesting in another study to understand the specific values (i.e.,

value states) participants have in mind when engaging in physical activity in the context of a sporting club. This may help to better understand the influence of achievement values (i.e., value traits) when engaging in physical activity in a competitive context.

Moreover, we did not focus on the gender impact on valuesphysical activity in this research. Future research can focus on how values may differently relate to physical activity according to gender. Crucially, it is important to explore what behaviors individuals in France and in China spontaneously associate with stimulation and benevolence values (e.g., Hanel et al., 2017). Finally, numerous studies have made use of the self-determination theory (Ryan and Deci, 2020) to understand physical activity (e.g., Teixeira et al., 2012). Recently, Vecchione and Schwartz (2022) have shown that values relate to autonomous and controlled forms of academic motivation to predict academic success. An interesting question and perspective for future research is to better understand how abstract values may relate to more specific forms of motivation (e.g., more or less autonomous or controlled) to predict physical activity.

Conclusion

We found that conservation values were associated negatively with physical activity in similar ways in France and in China. In contrast, openness to change values were positively related to physical activity in France, but not in China. Similarly, benevolence values were related positively to physical activity in China, but not in France. Finally, the role of universalism and achievement values both in France and in China remained unclear in this research. Future research with representative samples from France and in China could clarify those relations.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary material.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the University Committee on Human Research Protection of East China Normal University (HR 725–2021). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

YL: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Software, Validation, Writing – original draft. OR: Investigation, Project administration, Supervision, Validation, Writing – review & editing. PH: Methodology, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. JY: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. NS: Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Project administration, Software, Writing – original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research was funded by Chinese Scholarship Council (No.202006140041).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

Ahmad, W., Kim, W. G., Anwer, Z., and Zhuang, W. (2020). Schwartz personal values, theory of planned behavior and environmental consciousness: how tourists' visiting intentions towards eco-friendly destinations are shaped? *J. Bus. Res.* 110, 228–236. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.01.040

Arieli, S., Sagiv, L., and Roccas, S. (2020). Values at work: the impact of personal values in organisations. *Appl. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 69, 230–275. doi: 10.1111/apps.12181

Bardi, A., Buchanan, K. E., Goodwin, R., Slabu, L., and Robinson, M. (2014). Value stability and change during self-chosen life transitions: self-selection versus socialization effects. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 106, 131–147. doi: 10.1037/a0034818

Bauman, A., Bull, F., Chey, T., Craig, C. L., Ainsworth, B. E., Sallis, J. F., et al. (2009). The international prevalence study on physical activity: results from 20 countries. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 6, 21–32. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-21

Benish-Weisman, M. (2015). The interplay between values and aggression in adolescence: a longitudinal study. *Dev. Psychol.* 51, 677–687. doi: 10.1037/dev0000015

Caprara, G. V., Barbaranelli, C., Steca, P., and Malone, P. S. (2006). Teachers' selfefficacy beliefs as determinants of job satisfaction and students' academic achievement: a study at the school level. *J. Sch. Psychol.* 44, 473–490. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2006.09.001

Coelho, G. L. D. H., Hanel, P. H. P., Johansen, M. K., and Maio, G. R. (2022). Mental representations of values and behaviors. *Eur. J. Personal.* 36, 926–941. doi: 10.1177/08902070211034385

Conte, B., Hahnel, U. J. J., and Brosch, T. (2023). From values to emotions: cognitive appraisal mediates the impact of core values on emotional experience. *Emotion* 23, 1115–1129. doi: 10.1037/emo0001083

Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E., et al. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 35, 1381–1395. doi: 10.1249/01. MSS.0000078924.61453.FB

Crinière, L., Lhommet, C., Caille, A., Giraudeau, B., Lecomte, P., Couet, C., et al. (2011). Reproducibility and validity of the French version of the long international physical activity questionnaire in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J. Phys. Act. Health* 8, 858–865. doi: 10.1123/jpah.8.6.858

Danioni, F., and Barni, D. (2017). The relations between adolescents' personal values and prosocial and antisocial behaviours in team sports. *Int. J. Sport Exer. Psychol.* 17, 459–476. doi: 10.1080/1612197x.2017.1367951

Day, K. (2016). Built environmental correlates of physical activity in China: a review. *Prev. Med. Rep.* 3, 303–316. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.03.007

de Groot, J. I. M., and Steg, L. (2007). Value orientations to explain beliefs related to environmental significant behavior: how to measure egoistic, altruistic, and biospheric value orientations. *Environ. Behav.* 40, 330–354. doi: 10.1177/0013916506297831

Fan, M., Lyu, J., and He, P. (2014). Chinese guidelines for data processing and analysis concerning the international physical activity questionnaire. *Chin. J. Epidemiol.* 35, 961–964. doi: 10.1260/1750-9548.6.4.365

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., and Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G* power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav. Res. Methods* 41, 1149–1160. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

Fiske, S. T., and Taylor, S. E. (2008). Social cognition: from brains to culture. 3rd Edn McGraw-Hill Higher Education.

Foster, S., and Giles-Corti, B. (2008). The built environment, neighborhood crime and constrained physical activity: an exploration of inconsistent findings. *Prev. Med.* 47, 241–251. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.03.017

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1304019/ full#supplementary-material

Godin, G., and Shephard, R. J. (1985). A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. *Can. J. Appl. Sport Sci.* 10, 141–146.

Graham, J., Nosek, B. A., Haidt, J., Iyer, R., Koleva, S., and Ditto, P. H. (2011). Mapping the moral domain. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 101, 366–385. doi: 10.1037/ a0021847

Gröpel, P., Wegner, M., and Schüler, J. (2016). Achievement motive and sport participation. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 27, 93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2016.08.007

Guan, C. L. (2022). The meaning of rites and the Confucian view of the body: clarifying the old interpretation of "rite means the body". *Int. Stud. Confucianism* 3, 29–34.

Hanel, P. H. P., da Silva, S. M. G., and Inman, R. A. (2022). Using public datasets to understand the psychological correlates of smoking, alcohol consumption, and obesity: a country-level analysis. *Cross-Cult. Res.* 56, 99–124. doi: 10.1177/10693971211062130

Hanel, P. H. P., Litzellachner, L. F., and Maio, G. R. (2018). An empirical comparison of human value models. *Front. Psychol.* 9, 1643–1657. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01643

Hanel, P. H. P., Maio, G. R., Soares, A. K., Vione, K. C., Coelho, G. L. D. H., Gouveia, V. V., et al. (2018). Cross-cultural differences and similarities in human value instantiation. *Front. Psychol.* 9, 849–862. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00849

Hanel, P. H. P., Vione, K. C., Hahn, U., and Maio, G. R. (2017). "Value instantiations: the missing link between values and behavior?" in *Values and behavior: taking a cross cultural perspective.* eds. S. Roccas and L. Sagiv (Springer International Publishing), 175–190.

Ho, K. F., Liu, F., Tarabashkina, L., and Volery, T. (2022). Cross-cultural differences in consumers' attention to food labels. *Br. Food J.* 124, 4888–4904. doi: 10.1108/bfj-07-2021-0751

Honka, A. M., Helander, E., Pavel, M., Jimison, H., Mustonen, P., Korhonen, I., et al. (2019). Exploring associations between the self-reported values, well-being, and health behaviors of Finnish citizens: cross-sectional analysis of more than 100,000 web-survey responses. *JMIR Mental Health* 6:e12170. doi: 10.2196/12170

Howard, R. C. (2011). The quest for excitement: a missing link between personality disorder and violence? *J. Forensic Psychiatry Psychol.* 22, 692–705. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2011.617540

Inman, R. A., da Silva, S. M., Bayoumi, R. R., and Hanel, P. H. (2017). Cultural value orientations and alcohol consumption in 74 countries: a societal-level analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1963. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01963

Ko, K. H. (2017). A brief history of imperial examination and its influences. *Society* 54, 272–278. doi: 10.1007/s12115-017-0134-9

Lee, Y., and Park, S. (2021). Understanding of physical activity in social ecological perspective: application of multilevel model. *Front. Psychol.* 12:622929. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.622929

Lenartowicz, M. (2023). Clash of sports organization cultures: differences in table tennis training and coach-athlete relationships between China and Poland. *Int. J. Sports Sci. Coach.* 18, 46–56. doi: 10.1177/17479541221122455

Li, Y. Q. (2015). Daoism's body-thinking and sports ideology of inner-transcendence. Chin. Sport Sci. 35, 90–97. doi: 10.16469/j.css.201506014

Low, K. C. P. (2011). Confucius, the value of benevolence and What's in it for humanity? *Conflict Resol. Negot. J.* 2011, 32–43.

Lu, X. (2012). Social structure of contemporary China. World Scient. 2:10. doi: 10.1142/8347

Maio, G. R. (2010). Mental representations of social values. *Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 42, 1–43. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(10)42001-8

Maio, G. R. (2016). The psychology of human values Routledge.

Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol. Rev.* 98, 224–253. doi: 10.1037/0033-295x.98.2.224

Metin-Orta, I., and Demirtepe-Saygılı, D. (2021). Cyberloafing behaviors among university students: their relationships with positive and negative affect. *Curr. Psychol.* 42, 11101–11114. doi: 10.1007/s12144-021-02374-3

Nelson, M. C., Taylor, K., and Vella, C. A. (2019). Comparison of self-reported and objectively measured sedentary behavior and physical activity in undergraduate students. *Meas. Phys. Educ. Exerc. Sci.* 23, 237–248. doi: 10.1080/1091367X.2019.1610765

Nieh, H. P., Wu, W. C., Luh, D. L., Yen, L. L., Hurng, B. S., and Chang, H. Y. (2018). Will personal values predict the development of smoking and drinking behaviors? A prospective cohort study of children and adolescents in Taiwan. *J. Health Psychol.* 23, 982–992. doi: 10.1177/1359105316681063

Rendi, M., Szabo, A., and Szabó, T. (2007). Exercise and internet addiction: communalities and differences between two problematic behaviours. *Int. J. Ment. Heal. Addict.* 5, 219–232. doi: 10.1007/s11469-007-9087-3

Rudnev, M., and Vauclair, C. M. (2018). The link between personal values and frequency of drinking depends on cultural values: a cross-level interaction approach. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1379. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01379

Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a selfdetermination theory perspective: definitions, theory, practices, and future directions. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 61:101860. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860

Sagiv, L., and Roccas, S. (2021). How do values affect behavior? Let me count the ways. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev. 25, 295–316. doi: 10.1177/10888683211015975

Sagiv, L., and Schwartz, S. H. (2022). Personal values across cultures. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 73, 517–546. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-020821-125100

Sanchez, D., Hamilton, E. R., Gilbert, D. J., and Vandewater, E. A. (2018). Examining africentric cultural values, ethnic identity, and substance use abstinence in low-income, early adolescent, African American girls. *J. Black Psychol.* 44, 74–100. doi: 10.1177/0095798417746265

Schwartz, S. H. (1992). Universals in the content and structure of values: theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. *Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 25, 1–65. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60281-6

Schwartz, S. H. (2006). A theory of cultural value orientations: explication and applications. *Comp. Sociol.* 5, 137–182. doi: 10.1163/156913306778667357

Schwartz, S. H. (2021). A repository of Schwartz value scales with instructions and an introduction. Online Read. Psychol. Cul. 2. doi: 10.9707/2307-0919.1173

Schwartz, S. H., and Bardi, A. (2001). Value hierarchies across cultures taking a similarities perspective. *J. Cross-Cult. Psychol.* 32, 268–290. doi: 10.1177/0022022101032003002

Schwartz, S. H., and Butenko, T. (2014). Values and behavior: validating the refined value theory in Russia. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 44, 799–813. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2053

Schwartz, S. H., and Cieciuch, J. (2022). Measuring the refined theory of individual values in 49 cultural groups: psychometrics of the revised portrait value questionnaire. *Assessment* 29, 1005–1019. doi: 10.1177/1073191121998760

Schwartz, S. H., Cieciuch, J., Vecchione, M., Davidov, E., Fischer, R., Beierlein, C., et al. (2012). Refining the theory of basic individual values. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 103, 663–688. doi: 10.1037/a0029393

Schwartz, S. H., Cieciuch, J., Vecchione, M., Torres, C., Dirilen-Gumus, O., and Butenko, T. (2017). Value tradeoffs propel and inhibit behavior: validating the 19 refined values in four countries. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 47, 241–258. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2228CVX

Skimina, E., Cieciuch, J., and Strus, W. (2021). Traits and values as predictors of the frequency of everyday behavior: comparison between models and levels. *Curr. Psychol.* 40, 133–153. doi: 10.1007/s12144-018-9892-9

Skimina, E., Cieciuch, J., Schwartz, S. H., Davidov, E., and Algesheimer, R. (2019). Behavioral signatures of values in everyday behavior in retrospective and real-time selfreports. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 1–23. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00281

Sortheix, F. M., and Schwartz, S. H. (2017). Values that underlie and undermine wellbeing: variability across countries. *Eur. J. Personal.* 31, 187–201. doi: 10.1002/per.2096

Souchon, N., Bardin, B., Perrissol, S., and Maio, G. R. (2015). Étude exploratoire des relations entre valeurs humaines et Activité physique. *Staps* n° 107, 63–74. doi: 10.3917/sta.107.0063

Symons Downs, D., MacIntyre, R. I., and Heron, K. E. (2019). "Exercise addiction and dependence" in *APA handbook of sport and exercise psychology, exercise psychology*. eds. M. H. Anshel, S. J. Petruzzello and E. E. Labbé (American Psychological Association), 589–604.

Teixeira, P. J., Carraça, E. V., Markland, D., Silva, M. N., and Ryan, R. M. (2012). Exercise, physical activity, and self-determination theory: a systematic review. The. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 9:78. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-78

Vecchione, M., and Schwartz, S. H. (2022). Personal values and academic achievement. Br. J. Psychol. 113, 630-652. doi: 10.1111/bjop.12555

Verplanken, B., and Holland, R. W. (2002). Motivated decision making: effects of activation and self-centrality of values on choices and behavior. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 82, 434–447. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.82.3.434

Vignoles, V. L., Owe, E., Becker, M., Smith, P. B., Easterbrook, M. J., Brown, R., et al. (2016). Beyond the 'east-west' dichotomy: global variation in cultural models of selfhood. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 145, 966–1000. doi: 10.1037/xge0000175

Wolf, L. J., Weinstein, N., and Maio, G. R. (2019). Anti-immigrant prejudice: understanding the roles of (perceived) values and value dissimilarity. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 117, 925–953. doi: 10.1037/pspi0000177

World Health Organization. (2018). Global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030: more active people for a healthier world. World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241514187

World Health Organization. (2022). Global status report on physical activity 2022. World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240059153

Worsley, A., Wang, W. C., and Hunter, W. (2013). Gender differences in the influence of food safety and health concerns on dietary and physical activity habits. *Food Policy* 41, 184–192. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2013.05.011

Zhang, L. (2023). Research on the integration of Confucian culture into life education of college students: take Chinese perspective. *J. Gen. Educ. Human.* 2, 263–274. doi: 10.58421/gehu.v2i4.95

Zuo, Y. H., and Wang, D. F. (1998). The negative influence of Confucianism on Chinese feudal sports culture. *Shandong Sports Sci. Technol.* 20, 81–88.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hassane Zouhal, University of Rennes 2—Upper Brittany, France

REVIEWED BY Sérgio Matos, Instituto Politécnico de Viana do Castelo, Portugal Gaetano Raiola, University of Salerno, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Pedro Forte Ø pedromiguel.forte@iscedouro.pt

RECEIVED 12 October 2023 ACCEPTED 08 January 2024 PUBLISHED 26 January 2024

CITATION

Portella DL, Jatene P, Da Silva AO, dos Santos GS, Monteiro D, Teixeira JE, Branquinho L, Ferraz R and Forte P (2024) Comparison of force variables and dynamic strength index between age groups in elite young Brazilian football goalkeepers. Front. Sports Act. Living 6:1282214. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2024.1282214

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Portella, Jatene, Da Silva, dos Santos, Monteiro, Teixeira, Branquinho, Ferraz and Forte. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Comparison of force variables and dynamic strength index between age groups in elite young Brazilian football goalkeepers

Daniel L. Portella^{1,2}, Pedro Jatene^{1,3}, Alex O. Da Silva^{1,4}, Gustavo S. dos Santos^{1,5}, Diogo Monteiro^{6,7}, José E. Teixeira^{7,8,9,10,11}, Luís Branquinho^{7,12}, Ricardo Ferraz¹³ and Pedro Forte^{7,9,11,14,15*}

¹Group of Study and Research in Physical Exercise Science, University of São Caetano do Sul, São Caetano do Sul, Brazil, ²Master Program in Innovation in Higher Education, University of São Caetano do Sul, Brazil, ³São Paulo, F.C., São Paulo, Brazil, ⁴Cefise Biotecnologia, São Paulo, Brazil, ⁵Ibrachina F.C., São Paulo, Brazil, ⁶ESECS—Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal, ⁷Research Center in Sports, Health and Human Development, Covilhã, Portugal, ⁸Department of Sports Sciences, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança, Bragança, Portugal, ¹⁰SPRINT—Sport Physical activity and health Research & Inovation Center, Rio Maior, Portugal, ¹¹CI-ISCE, ISCE Douro, Penafiel, Portugal, ¹²Agrarian School of Elvas, Polytechnic Institute of Portalegre, Portalegre, Portugal, ¹³Department of Sports Sciences, Higher Institute of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal, ¹⁴Department of Sports Sciences, Higher Institute of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal, ¹⁴Department of Sports Sciences, Higher Institute of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal, ¹⁴Department of Sports Sciences, Higher Institute of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal, ¹⁴Department of Sports Sciences, Higher Institute of Wellbeing, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança, Bragança, Portugal, ¹⁴Department of Sports Sciences, Higher Institute of Research Centre for Active Living and Wellbeing, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança, Bragança, Portugal, ¹⁵LiveWell—Research Centre for Active Living and Wellbeing, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança, Bragança, Portugal

Introduction: The application of muscle force is a determinant of football success as it is inherent to the motor control and sport. The aims of this study are: (1) to describe force variables Isometric Maximal Force (IMF), Concentric Peak Force (CPPF), and Dynamic Strength Index (DSI) in football goalkeepers from different age groups; (2) to compare these variables' behavior between those groups.

Methods: The sample was formed by 19 youth players (15.97 ± 1.55 years old) from a first-division Brazilian football team. The CPPF and IMF variables were obtained through the Countermovement jump and isometric squat tests, respectively. For data collection, a force plate (Cefise, Brazil) was used with an acquisition frequency of 600 Hz and mono-axial. The DSI was calculated using the ratio between CPPF and IMF. For data analysis, the sample was separated into clusters by age. After the grouping, a descriptive analysis of the data and a comparison between the groups with p < 0.05.

Results: The sample was grouped into three groups (GA, GB, and GC) and one of the individuals did not enter the group, totaling 18 individuals in the analyzed sample. The comparison between the ages of the groups showed a significant difference and small and moderate effect size (ES), validating the cluster strategy. The CPPF and IMF variables showed increased values according to chronological age. CPPF showed a significant difference between GA-GB, (ES = very large) GA-GC (ES = very large), and GB-GC (ES = moderate). The IMF variable had significant differences between GA-GB (ES = moderate) and GA-GC (ES = very large). However, DSI showed significant differences only between GA GB (ES = small) and GB-GC (ES = very large). **Conclusions:** The CPPF and IMF variables had constant increases and distinct values with an increase according to age, and this did not occur for DSI. The difference between CPPF and IMF compared to DSI bring to light the variability in dynamics and proportionality between muscular force in the concentric phase and maximal force in the isometric regime during the developmental process over chronological age in soccer goalkeepers.

KEYWORDS

youth, force, countermovement jump, goalkeeper, soccer

1 Introduction

The application of force is a determinant of football success as it is inherent to the motor activity required by the sport (accelerations, decelerations, changes of directions, etc.) (1, 2). In that regard, it is of uttermost value for goalkeepers, who explosively apply force to perform jumps, dives, and saves, hence influencing directly the outcome of matches (3, 4). Thus, the football goalkeeper presents characteristics related to strength, power, agility and power particular in relation to the other field positions. Specifically, quick reactions and agility are crucial for goalkeepers to make rapid movements and save shots effectively (5, 6). Goalkeepers need strength in their arms, legs, and core to generate powerful dives and clears. The ability to catch, parry, or punch the ball safely is a fundamental goalkeeping skill (7). Also, goalkeepers should be adept at stopping shots, whether they come from close range, long-range shots, or set-pieces, requiring an optimal footwork allows goalkeepers to position themselves correctly, move swiftly, and distribute the ball effectively getting the ball back in the right direction (7, 8). Additionally, the goalkeeper's tactical behavior requires a good game reading, decision making and position themselves optimally to cut down angles and be ready for shots in which agility, power and strength are key (7).

The development of explosive force depends on morphofunctional elements such as the increase in the transverse section of skeletal muscle, tendon stiffness, motor unit recruitment (1), and the kinetic and kinematic applied to the action itself (9). Thus, the training tasks should increase goalkeeper skills for fast decisions, direction changes, and movement on the pitch (10). Speed, agility, and response time are all essential characteristics in football, and training methodologies such as speed, agility, and quickness (SAQ) ttraining focuses on building the neuromuscular system to improve these skills (11, 12). The literature has been debating some biomechanical parameters that allow to evaluate concentric, isometric, and dynamic strength parameters because it can be difficult to determine if the trainning stimulus is in the right dose and direction for each age group or maturational (13, 14). Furthermore, explosive power stands out among the conditional and coordinated qualities that make up agility in goalkeeper position (10).

There are appropriate measurements to verify if the application of force is fit for the task. The Dynamic Strength Index (DSI) is a relationship between concentric peak power and isometric maximal strength (IMS) (15–17). The Concentric Phase Peak Force (CPPF) refers to the maximum force exerted by a muscle or group of muscles during the concentric phase of a dynamic movement. The concentric phase is the phase of muscular contraction where the muscle shortens, and it is typically associated with overcoming resistance or lifting a load (15). Additionally, the IMS refers to the maximum force that a muscle or group of muscles can generate during a static, or non-moving, contraction. The young football players often need to maintain stability or hold a specific position against resistance (16). Strength levels tend to increase with age as individuals go through puberty and experience physical development, where playing positions in football may have distinct strength requirements (17). The CPPF is measured through countermovement jumps and presents the force generated at the highest velocity, whereas IMS is measured through isometric half-squats and presents the maximal force generated employing a larger motor unit recruitment (16, 17). The information arising from these tests combined with DSI offers sports coaches and practitioners practical knowledge for elaborating interventions aiming at the improvement of strengthdependent capacities (18, 19).

Force platforms, dynamometers, or other force-measuring devices are commonly used to assess CPPF and IMS. Countermovement jump (CMJ), squat jump (SJ) and isometric squat tests allow for the assessment of players' lower limb strength and power (20, 21). CMJ involves the utilization of the stretch-shortening cycle (SSC), where the pre-stretching of muscles during the countermovement enhances the subsequent force production during the jump. In an SJ, the individual starts from a static squatting position with the knees flexed, and then jumps vertically without any countermovement (22).

However, biological development is a non-linear process that entails different paces of evolution for CPPF and IMS over time, thus affecting DSI itself throughout the chronological age of youth football goalkeepers (1, 23, 24). In this sense, it is of uttermost importance to understand the dynamics of each of these variables to prescribe more accurate hence effective training stimulus (25). Although there is a large amount of research showing distinct correlations between isometric and dynamic strength, less research has been done on how training affects the changes in each kind of strength (18, 19). Previous research showed a wide range in the difference between isometric and dynamic strength improvements. A strong evidence that isometric and dynamic strength represent separate neuromuscular domains (20). Specifically, the goalkeepers may have different strength demands compared to outfield players, however little is known about the normality values for DSI indexes in elite young Brazilian football goalkeepers. Thus, the aims of this study were: (1) to describe force variables IMS, CPPF and DSI in football goalkeepers from different age groups; (2) to compare these variables' behavior between those groups.

2 Methods

2.1 Sample

This study had a cross-sectional observational prospective design with descriptive and comparative purposes. The sample was formed by 19 academy players (age = 15.97 ± 1.55 years; height = $184.28 \text{ m} \pm 6.22$; body mass = $74.94 \pm 7.38 \text{ kg/m}^2$) from an elite Brazilian football club competing with its professional team in the highest national division as well as in continental tournaments. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki ethics guidelines and protocols

from the local Ethical Committee of University of São Caetano do Sul, Brazil.

2.2 Inclusion criteria

The sample was selected according to the following inclusion criteria: (i) athletes had to be goalkeepers between 13 and 20 years old; (ii) duly affiliated to their club through registration in the Brazilian Confederation of Football (CBF); (iii) young football players performed all data collection tests. Noncompliance with either inclusion criterion represented the subject's removal from the convenience sample.

2.3 Data collection

Data were collected between 8 and 11 AM (GMT -3 h) on two subsequent days. Football players from U17 and U20 were tested on the first day, whereas athletes from U14, U16, and U17 were tested the day after. All of them undertook a 48 h period of rest before the test. For data collection, for both the IMS variable and CPPF variable, a force plate (Cefise, Brazil) was used with an acquisition frequency of 600 Hz and monoaxial. In order to calculate body weight for the countermovement jump (CMJ) (vertical force averaged over one second), individuals were required to remain stationary for the first second of data collection (15, 16). With a minute of rest in between each trial, each subject completed three CMJ trials using their maximum effort. With their hands on their hips, the subjects were encouraged to execute the leaps as quickly and high as they could (15, 19). CPPF, IMS and DSI have been previously validated in youth football insights as critical force variables (18, 26).

2.4 Statistical procedures

Descriptive statistics, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Levene's test were used to assess the normality and homogeneity. Data are presented as the mean ± one standard deviation (SD). A cluster modeling was performed using single linkage for rescaled distance cluster combination, represented by a dendogram. Based on the similarities between a set of points or subjects, the kmeans defines a centroid, or the mean of the cluster. To guarantee a logical comparison of data sets with various magnitudes and/or units, standardized z-scores were employed. To determine how many clusters should be kept for analysis, the elbow approach was applied (27). Additionally, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for repeated measures were tested to identify differences between age group with turkey's post-hoc tests for localized effects. The effect size index (eta square: η^2) was computed and interpreted as: (i) without effect if $0 < \eta^2 \leq$ 0.04; (ii) minimum if $0.04 < \eta^2 \le 0.25$; (iii) moderate if 0.25 < $\eta^2 \leq 0.64$; and (iv) strong if $\eta^2 > 0.64$. For pairwise comparison, using the Tukey post hocs, the standardized effect sizes (ES) were calculated with Cohen's d, classified as: without effect if d < 0.2, moderate effect if $0.2 > d \ge 0.5$ and strong effect if d > 0.5. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 (28). All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS for Windows Version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and Microsoft Excel[®] spreadsheet (Microsoft Corporation, U.S.).

3 Results

Figure 1 presented the distance cluster combination using a Single Linkage Dendrogram. The DSI of cluster A and B athletes (younger) occurs at the expense of a concentric peak force proportionally greater than the isometric peak force. Unlike the younger clusters (A and B), cluster C presents its DSI values because of a higher IMS proportional to the CPPF.

Table 1 showed the descriptive statistic for age, body mass, height, CPPF, IMS, and DSI from Clusters A, B, and C.

There are differences between the performance variables by age clusters (F = 5.92-53.38, p < 0.001 to p < 0.05, $\eta^2 = 0.72$ to 0.96) with significant pairwise on all variables. Pairwise comparison confirmed significant differences between three age groups with small to very large effect size (ES) (d = 0.63-5.79) (Table 2).

The evolution dynamics of the CPPF and IMS occur increasingly in the course of age, unlike the variable DSI (Figure 2).

4 Discussion

This study is the first to address DSI in a population of young athletes, that is, under 19 years of age, in the present study, in particular for goalkeepers. This is of great importance, as these are variables with precise acquisition as well as tools such as protocols. The main results of the study were: (1) The concentric action was statistically different between all groups; (2) peak isometric strength did not show statistical difference between groups B and C; (3) DSI appears as a non-linear variable between groups according to age group.

The force peak in the concentric action showed an incremental dynamic from groups A to B and from groups B to C, with moderate effect sizes or above. This demonstrates that over chronological age this variable behaves linearly and positively concerning the increase in the values obtained. This is largely explained by two points, the first being the natural increase in body mass and in particular muscle mass that occurs during adolescence as a result of biological maturation (15, 29, 30). The second point is the improvement of muscle function as force production through concentric action, both due to the training stimuli (31, 32) and the biological development arising from the increase in the hormone secretion rate (33–35).

The IMS showed a dynamic similar to the CPPF, however, the differences demonstrated were significant only between groups A and B as well as A and C, and the effect size between A and C was very large and between A and B moderate. A possible explanation for why the same dynamics did not occur concerning the significant differences in the IMS variable



compared to the CPPF variable is the ability to recruit muscle fibers and muscle tissue maturity. The application of maximum force, whether in an isometric form or any other regime of muscular contraction, demonstrates a very high dependence on the recruitment of muscular fibers (1, 36, 37). Thus, skeletal muscle tissue maturity occurs chronologically at a later stage and may not significantly interfere with this variable in which the recruitment of muscle fibers is a priority (1, 32).

TABLE 1 Age, body mass, height, concentric phase peak force, isometric maximal strength, and dynamic strength index from under 14 to under 20 soccer players.

Clusters		Age (years)	Body mass (Kg)	Height (cm)	Concentric phase peak force (<i>N</i>)	lsometric maximal strength (N)	DSI
Cluster A	Mean	14.86	66.53	178.67	1,431.60	1,845.24	0.78
(<i>n</i> = 6)	SD	1.29	3.94	6.68	63.36	149.25	0.09
	Min	13.82	61.00	166.0	1,371.64	1,715.29	0.65
	Max	17.11	71.20	186.0	1,550.84	2,114.41	0.90
Cluster B	Mean	15.56	77.80	187.83	1,773.98	2,111.45	0.85
(<i>n</i> = 6)	SD	0.88	3.78	3.55	98.61	203.45	0.11
	Min	14.89	72.50	183.0	1,610.08	1,863.83	0.68
	Max	17.11	88.20	192.0	1,872.37	2,369.51	0.98
Cluster C	Mean	17.48	80.50	186.33	1,965.65	2,972.61	0.66
(<i>n</i> = 6)	SD	1.13	4.87	4.03	142.02	231.15	0.04
	Min	16.09	75.00	180.0	1,830.78	2,692.20	0.60
	Max	19.54	88.20	192.0	2,174.34	3,336.60	0.70
Total	Mean	15.97	74.94	184.28	1,723.74	2,309.77	0.76
(<i>n</i> = 18)	SD	1.55	7.38	6.22	248.27	528.73	0.11
	Min	13.82	61.00	166.0	1,371.64	1,715.29	0.60
	Max	19.54	88.20	193.0	2,174.34	3,336.60	0.98

DSI, dynamic strength index; Max, maximum; SD, standard deviation.

Variable	А	NOVA	Pairwise comparison			
	M ± SD	F	p	η²	post hoc	d Cohen
Age (years)	15.97 ± 1.55	8.99	0.003	0.96	$\begin{array}{c} A \leftrightarrow C^{\star} \\ B \leftrightarrow C^{\star \star} \end{array}$	0.63 1.90
Body mass (Kg)	74.94 ± 7.38	5.92	0.013	0.90	$\begin{array}{c} A \leftrightarrow B^{*} \\ A \leftrightarrow C^{*} \end{array}$	2.91 3.15
Height (cm)	184.28 ± 6.22	18.48	<0.001	0.72	$\begin{array}{c} A \leftrightarrow B^{*} \\ A \leftrightarrow C^{**} \end{array}$	1.71 1.39
Concentric phase peak force (N)	1,723.74 ± 248.27	38.86	<0.001	0.91	$\begin{array}{c} A \leftrightarrow B^{\star} \\ A \leftrightarrow C^{\star} \\ B \leftrightarrow C^{\star \star} \end{array}$	4.13 4.86 1.57
Isometric maximal strength (N)	2,309.77 ± 528.73	53.38	<0.001	0.89	$\begin{array}{c} A \leftrightarrow B^{\star} \\ A \leftrightarrow C^{\star} \end{array}$	1.49 5.79
DSI	0.76 ± 0.11	7.42	0.006	0.91	$\begin{array}{c} A \leftrightarrow B^{*} \\ B \leftrightarrow C^{**} \end{array}$	0.70 2.30

TABLE 2 Significant peak force, isometric maximal strength, and dynamic strength index from under 14 to under 20 soccer players.

Statistical differences were verified as: *p < 0.001; **p < 0.05.

DSI, dynamic strength index; M, mean; SD, standard deviation.

On the other hand, the DSI variable showed significant differences between groups A and B as well as between B and C, with the effect size between A and B being small and between B and C being very large. However, between the extreme groups A and C there was no such difference. It is known that DSI occurs due to a relationship between two variables that do not have the same morphofunctional dependencies. The CPPF occurs a lot because of the ability to produce force in the concentric action, which implies a morphological issue (18). On the other hand, IMS is primarily influenced by neural issues. Thus, fiber recruitment was stable between groups B and C as opposed to force production through concentric action (16).

Several collinear and multi-independent factors such as training history, skill level and the specific demands of the position can contribute to the variability of strength variables (DSI, CPPF and IMS) (38). Football player with a longer training experience within a regular and well-structured training programs tend to have better strength levels over time (16). Also, higher technical proficiency may be able to better translate their strength into sport-specific movements. Skilled young football often display more efficient neuromuscular coordination (39). Moreover, different playing positions in football have distinct physical demands (16). For example, defenders may benefit from isometric strength for physical challenges and stability, while forwards may require explosive strength for sprints and shots (16). However, the positional effect can be overlooked when reporting on young football players (40). However, the specificity of the goalkeeper position tends to differ from the other positional roles (8). This may partly explain the fact that CPPF and IMF variables had constant increases and distinct values with an increase according to age, whereas the DSI has not increased.

In the adult population, these variables can develop linearly and in parallel, however these adaptations of different natures (neural and morphological) occur asynchronously, that is, at different times in the young population (15, 19). Therefore, the DSI that is measured by a relationship between the two variables may show non-linear results of improvements. This observation resulting from the results presented points to the longitudinal follow-up of these variables to understand the cause-and-effect relationship in the performance of young athletes (41). In addition, the DSI is a variable that can be used as a reference for understanding training content needs after collections and over the years (18).

The practical applications of this study are as follows (8, 3): (1) stability and positioning: Isometric strength is crucial for goalkeepers to maintain stability and hold positions, especially when preparing for a shot or making a save. Developing IMF can contribute to improved body control and balance; (2) shot power: concentric strength is essential for explosive movements, such as diving to reach a ball or generating power in a throw or kick. Goalkeepers with higher CPPF may exhibit greater shot-stopping ability and efficiency in dynamic actions; (3) performance analysis: DSI, if used as a measure of dynamic force production, could be valuable for analyzing the goalkeeper's ability to generate force in real-game situations. This can aid in



identifying strengths and areas for improvement in dynamic movements; (4) Integrated Training Programs that incorporates isometric and concentric strength training along with dynamic movements is beneficial. This can include exercises focusing on stability, power, agility, and reaction time; (5) Injury Prevention: understanding force variables can help identify potential muscular imbalances, allowing for targeted training to prevent injuries. Goalkeepers often engage in asymmetrical movements, and a balanced strength program can mitigate the risk of overuse injuries; (6) individualized Programs: Tailoring training programs based on assessments of IMF, CPPF, and DSI can help in creating individualized strength and conditioning plans. Periodic assessments can track progress and guide adjustments to the training regimen.

The present study brings the first analysis in the literature of the behavior of these variables in the young athlete population. This research has a prospective cross-sectional observational study design, which allows more hypotheses to be generated than tested. Furthermore, some methodological limitations should be considered when reading this article. Current training data reflect only Brazilian football goalkeepers and hence cannot be extended to other contexts. Hence, more analyses are required for this purpose, with a wider follow-up and comparing different competition level and age groups. In addition, it points to the importance of understanding the cause variables and not just looking at the outcome variables. Understanding the behavior for later use is an extremely positive point. For future studies, there is a need to include biological maturation as an adjustment variable to increasingly understand the behavior of force applications in young Brazilian football players. Also, the influence of plyometric training, SAQ or SSG strategies on the development of strength variables in young Brazilian football players should be studied from an intervention and clinical trial perspective, controlling for other variables such as the season phase (39), maturational variables (25) and the player's starting status (41).

5 Conclusions

The CPPF and IMF variables had constant increases and distinct values with an increase according to age, and this did not occur for DSI. The differences for DSI compared to CPPF and IMF bring to light the variability in dynamics and proportionality between muscular force in the concentric phase and maximal force in the isometric regime during the developmental process over chronological age in soccer goalkeepers.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by University of São Caetano do Sul, Brazil. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

DL: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Data curation. PJ: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. AD: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. GS: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. DM: Writing – review & editing. JT: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft. LB: Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization. RF: Writing – review & editing. PF: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing, Data curation, Formal analysis.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

This work is supported by national funds (FCT—Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology) under the project UIBD/DTP/04045/2020.

Acknowledgments

The authors express acknowledgements to all coaches and playing staff for cooperation during all collection procedures.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10.3389/fspor.2024.1282214

References

1. Cossio-Bolaños M, Vidal-Espinoza R, Urra Albornoz C, Leite Portella D, Vega-Novoa S, Mendez-Cornejo J, et al. A systematic review of intervention programs that produced changes in speed and explosive strength in youth footballers. *Eur J Transl Myol.* (2021) 31:9692. doi: 10.4081/ejtm.2021.9692

2. Jatene P, dos Santos GS, Portella DL. C-reactive protein Serum levels as an internal load indicator of sprints in competitive football matches. *Int J Sports Med.* (2019) 40:762–7. doi: 10.1055/a-0985-4464

3. Ibrahim R, de Boode V, Kingma I, van Dieën JH. Data-driven strength and conditioning, and technical training programs for goalkeeper's diving save in football. *Sports Biomechanics*. (2022) 0:1–13. doi: 10.1080/14763141.2022.2099966

4. Wik EH, Auliffe SM, Read PJ. Examination of physical characteristics and positional differences in professional soccer players in Qatar. *Sports*. (2019) 7:9. doi: 10.3390/sports7010009

5. Jamil M, Phatak A, Mehta S, Beato M, Memmert D, Connor M. Using multiple machine learning algorithms to classify elite and sub-elite goalkeepers in professional men's football. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:22703. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-01187-5

 Moreno-Pérez V, Malone S, Sala-Pérez L, Lapuente-Sagarra M, Campos-Vazquez MA, Coso JD. Activity monitoring in professional soccer goalkeepers during training and match play. *Int J Perform Anal Sport*. (2020) 20:19–30. doi: 10.1080/24748668. 2019.1699386

7. Clemente FM, Castillo D, Los Arcos A. Tactical analysis according to age-level groups during a 4 vs. 4 plus goalkeepers small-sided game. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:1667. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051667

8. Malone JJ, Jaspers A, Helsen W, Merks B, Frencken WGP, Brink MS. Seasonal training load and wellness monitoring in a professional soccer goalkeeper. *Int J Sport Physiol Perform.* (2018) 13:672–5. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0472

9. Ibrahim R, Kingma I, de Boode V, Faber GS, van Dieën JH. Angular velocity, moment, and power analysis of the ankle, knee, and hip joints in the goalkeeper's diving save in football. *Front Sports Act Living*. (2020) 2:13. doi: 10.3389/fspor.2020.00013

10. Trecroci A, Cavaggioni L, Rossi A, Moriondo A, Merati G, Nobari H, et al. Effects of speed, agility and quickness training programme on cognitive and physical performance in preadolescent soccer players. *PLoS One.* (2022) 17: e0277683. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0277683

11. Milanovic Z, Sporis G, Trajkovic N, James N, Samija K. Effects of a 12 week SAQ training programme on agility with and without the ball among young soccer players. *J Sport Sci Med.* (2013) 12(1):97–103. PMID: 24149731

12. Trecroci A, Milanović Z, Rossi A, Broggi M, Formenti D, Alberti G. Agility profile in sub-elite under-11 soccer players: is SAQ training adequate to improve sprint, change of direction speed and reactive agility performance? *Res Sports Med.* (2016) 24:331–40. doi: 10.1080/15438627.2016.1228063

13. Abade E, Silva N, Ferreira R, Baptista J, Gonçalves B, Osório S, et al. Effects of ad ding vertical or horizontal force-vector exercises to in-season general strength training on jumping and sprinting performance of youth football players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2021) 35:2769–74. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003221

14. Ramírez-Campillo R, Meylan C, Alvarez C, Henríquez-Olguín C, Martínez C, Cañas-Jamett R, et al. Effects of in-season low-volume high-intensity plyometric training on explosive actions and endurance of young soccer players. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2014) 28:1335–42. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000000284

15. Comfort P, Thomas C, Dos'Santos T, Jones PA, Suchomel TJ, McMahon JJ. Comparison of methods of calculating dynamic strength index. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2018) 13:320–5. doi: 10.1123/ijspp.2017-0255

16. McMahon JJ, Jones PA, Dos'Santos T, Comfort P. Influence of dynamic strength index on countermovement jump force-, power-, velocity-, and displacement-time curves. *Sports.* (2017) 5:72. doi: 10.3390/sports5040072

17. Thomas C, Dos'Santos T, Jones PA. A comparison of dynamic strength index between team-sport athletes. *Sports.* (2017) 5:71. doi: 10.3390/sports5030071

18. Comfort P, Thomas C, Dos'Santos T, Suchomel TJ, Jones PA, McMahon JJ. Changes in dynamic strength Index in response to strength training. *Sports.* (2018) 6:176. doi: 10.3390/sports6040176

19. Suchomel T, Sole C, Bellon C, Stone M. Dynamic strength Index: relationships with common performance variables and contextualization of training recommendations. J Hum Kinet. (2020) 74:59. doi: 10.2478/hukin-2020-0014

20. James L, Weakley J, Comfort P, Huynh M. The relationship between isometric and dynamic strength following resistance training: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and level of agreement. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*. (2023) 19(1):2–12. doi: 10.1123/ ijspp.2023-0066

21. Jlid MC, Racil G, Coquart J, Paillard T, Bisciotti GN, Chamari K. Multidirectional plyometric training: very efficient way to improve vertical jump performance, change of direction performance and dynamic postural control in young soccer players. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:1462. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01462

22. Rahlf AL, John C, Hamacher D, Zech A. Effects of a 10 vs. 20-min injury prevention program on neuromuscular and functional performance in adolescent football players. *Front Physiol.* (2020) 11:578866. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.578866

23. Dobbs IJ, Oliver JL, Wong MA, Moore IS, Lloyd RS. Effects of a 12-week training program on isometric and dynamic force-time characteristics in pre– and post–peak height velocity male athletes. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2020) 34:653. doi: 10. 1519/JSC.000000000003467

24. Radnor JM, Oliver JL, Waugh CM, Myer GD, Lloyd RS. Influence of muscle architecture on maximal rebounding in young boys. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2021) 35:3378–85. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000004152

25. Teixeira JE, Alves AR, Ferraz R, Forte P, Leal M, Ribeiro J, et al. Effects of chronological age, relative age, and maturation status on accumulated training load and perceived exertion in young sub-elite football players. *Front Physiol.* (2022) 13:832202. Available online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys. 2022.832202 (accessed April 15, 2022). doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.832202

26. Comfort P, Dos'Santos T, Beckham GK, Stone MH, Guppy SN, Haff GG. Standardization and methodological considerations for the isometric midthigh pull. *Strength Cond J.* (2019) 41:57. doi: 10.1519/SSC.00000000000433

27. Jaeger A, Banks D. Cluster analysis: a modern statistical review. WIRES Comput Stat. (2023) 15:e1597. doi: 10.1002/wics.1597

28. Hopkins WG, Marshall SW, Batterham AM, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2009) 41:3–12. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818cb278

29. Portella D, Arruda M, Gómez-Campos R, Checkin Portella G, Andruske CL, Cossio-Bolaños MA. Physical growth and biological maturation of children and adolescents: proposed reference curves. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2017) 70:329–37. doi: 10. 1159/000475998

30. Portella GC, Portella DL, de Olivera Siqueira J, Iuamoto LR, Tess BH. Encouraging physical fitness in Brazilian adolescents with excess weight: can they outperform their eutrophic peers in some activities? *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. (2022) 34:41–8. doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2021-0042

31. Contreras-Díaz G, Chirosa-Ríos LJ, Chirosa-Ríos I, Riego-Ruiz A, Intelangelo L, Tuesta-Roa M, et al. Dynamometric strength profile of hip muscles in youth soccer players. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2023) 20:1291. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20021291

32. MacLennan RJ, Mota JA, Thompson BJ, Stock MS. Effects of strength and conditioning on maximal isometric strength, motor unit behavior, and concentric isokinetic peak torque in middle-school boys'. J Strength Cond Res. (2022) 36:1318–26. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003643

33. Amado BL, De Lira CAB, Vancini RL, Forte P, Costa T, Weiss K, et al. Comparison of knee muscular strength balance among pre- and post-puberty adolescent swimmers: a cross-sectional pilot study. *Healthcare*. (2023) 11:744. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11050744

34. de Arruda M, Portella DL. (2018). *Maturação biológica: uma abordagem para treinamento esportivo em jovens atletas.* CREF4 Available online at: http://dspace. unisa.br/handle/123456789/470 (accessed August 2, 2023).

35. Mandroukas A, Metaxas TI, Michailidis Y, Christoulas K, Heller J. Effects of soccer training in muscular strength: a comparative study in trained youth soccer players and untrained boys of the same biological age. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*. (2021) 61:1469–77. doi: 10.23736/s0022-4707.20.11822-x

36. Costa T, Murara P, Vancini RL, de Lira CAB, Andrade MS. Influence of biological maturity on the muscular strength of young male and female swimmers. *J Hum Kinet*. (2021) 78:67–77. doi: 10.2478/hukin-2021-0029

37. Lynch AE, Davies RW, Jakeman PM, Locke T, Allardyce JM, Carson BP. The influence of maximal strength and knee angle on the reliability of peak force in the isometric squat. *Sports.* (2021) 9:140. doi: 10.3390/sports9100140

38. Teixeira JE, Forte P, Ferraz R, Leal M, Ribeiro J, Silva AJ, et al. Monitoring accumulated training and match load in football: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:3906. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18083906

39. Branquinho L, Ferraz R, Duarte-Mendes P, Petrica J, Serrano J, Marques MC. The effect of an in-season 8-week plyometric training programme followed by a detraining period on explosive skills in competitive junior soccer players. *Monten J Sports Sci. Med.* (2020) 9:33–40. doi: 10.26773/mjssm.200305

40. Sampaio T, Marinho D, Teixeira JE, Oliveira J, Morais J. Clustering U-14 Portuguese regional team football players by lower limb strength, power, dynamic balance, speed and change of direction: understanding the field position factor. *PeerJ.* (2023) 11:e15609. doi: 10.7717/peerj.15609

41. Teixeira JE, Branquinho L, Ferraz R, Leal M, Silva AJ, Barbosa TM, et al. Weekly training load across a standard microcycle in a sub-elite youth football academy: a comparison between starters and non-starters. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022b) 19:11611. doi: 10.3390/ijerph191811611

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Luís Branquinho, Polytechnic Institute of Portalegre, Portugal Nadhir Hammami, University of Jendouba, Tunisia

*CORRESPONDENCE Chulhwan Choi ⊠ chulhwanchoi@gachon.ac.kr Chul-Ho Bum ⊠ bch2180/@khu.ac.kr

RECEIVED 26 December 2023 ACCEPTED 28 February 2024 PUBLISHED 12 March 2024

CITATION

Yang HJ, Yang J-H, Jung SC, Choi C and Bum C-H (2024) Effects of golf instructors' professional certification levels on amateur golfers' perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention: testing placebo and nocebo effects.

Front. Psychol. 15:1361470. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1361470

COPYRIGHT

these terms.

© 2024 Yang, Yang, Jung, Choi and Bum. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with Effects of golf instructors' professional certification levels on amateur golfers' perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention: testing placebo and nocebo effects

Hye Jin Yang¹, Ji-Hye Yang¹, Si Cheol Jung¹, Chulhwan Choi^{2*} and Chul-Ho Bum^{3*}

¹Department of Physical Education, Graduate School, Kyung Hee University, Yongin-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea, ²Department of Physical Education, Gachon University, Seongnam-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea, ³College of Physical Education, Kyung Hee University, Yongin-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea

This study investigated the differences in amateur golfers' perceptions of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention depending on the golf instructor's certification level to investigate whether placebo and nocebo effects exist depending on the certification level. Accordingly, the study analyzed 153 amateur golfers with at least 1 year of playing experience, and the results were as follows: First, there was a difference in the perception of instructor expertise among amateur golfers depending on the golf instructor's certification level. Specifically, there were significant differences in perceived performance and teaching skills but no differences in personality and emphasis on basic principles. Second, the participants reported significant differences in their perceptions of instructor credibility depending on the instructor's certification level. Instructor credibility of the tournament professional group was the highest, whereas that of the amateur group was the lowest. Third, the results showed differences in lesson participation intention among amateur golfers depending on the instructor's certification level. Lesson participation intention was higher for semi-professional and tournament professional instructors than for amateur instructors. These results verified the presence of psychological biases, such as placebo/nocebo effects, that result in differences in the perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention depending on the certification level of instructors. Additionally, based on the data obtained from this study, further research is required to improve the performance of golf instructors and create an efficient teaching environment.

KEYWORDS

golf, instructor expertise, instructor credibility, lesson participation intention, placebo, nocebo

1 Introduction

The golfing population in South Korea reached 4.69 million people in 2017, which is an increase of 860,000 from the previous year, and it has recorded a remarkable average growth rate of 11.6% for six consecutive years (Kim, 2018). Owing to the increase in the number of new golfers, the number of enthusiasts willing to take golf lessons is also increasing. Notably, among amateur golfers, nine out of ten have received golf lessons owing to the perception that "golf is difficult to master and basic posture is essential" (Shin, 2017).

Two significant implications can be drawn from this information. First, owing to the nature of golf, which is a sport that is difficult to master compared to other leisure sports, the instructor's role is critical. Kelly et al. (2010) stated that a good golf swing, which is essential in lowering the score, is made up of various aspects, such as flexibility and stability, thereby making it challenging to master within a short period. Additionally, amateur golfers recognize the challenge of correcting one's posture once a golf swing is off, which emphasizes the importance of receiving regular lessons from an instructor (Jang, 2019). Therefore, both well-known elite athletes and the general population who enjoy sports require instructors.

Efficient coaching in all sports fields, including golf, is recognized as a crucial issue in both the relevant academic and practical fields involving the coaching of athletes or students (Gould et al., 2002; Thelwell et al., 2008). Among the many factors required from a sports instructor, the most important is "expertise," which is a concept that is viewed differently across different fields and among scholars. Swanson (2001) defined expertise as having the best capabilities necessary to perform one's job in one's field. Hoffman et al. (1995) described the necessary components necessary to possess expertise as rich knowledge, competent skills, and the attitude necessary to perform a task. Moreover, field experience and problem-solving ability (Herling, 1998; Swanson and Holton, 2001), flexibility and an achievement-oriented attitude (Heijden, 2000), self-confidence or intuition, and efforts for self-improvement (Germain, 2006) are also considered components of expertise.

Instructor expertise in the field of sports can be analyzed from an integrated perspective that includes knowledge, game operation methods, tactics and strategy development, as well as specific coaching contexts for achieving the ultimate goal of performance improvement (Riemer and Chelladurai, 1995; Côté and Gilbert, 2009). Furthermore, encouraging active participation through motivation (Grant, 2006; Liljenstrand and Nebeker, 2008) and efforts for building mutual relationships (Gyllensten and Palmer, 2007) have also been mentioned. These characteristics of coaches with expertise have a significant impact on athletes' trust in their instructors (Zhang and Chelladurai, 2013).

Trust refers to one's faith and confidence in another being and the sense of physical and mental stability one experiences when they are with another person (Bede et al., 2021). Trust has been described as the degree to which one believes and fully accepts the words, actions, and behaviors of others (McAllister, 1995; Mcknight et al., 1998). Although it is difficult to find a standardized definition of trust, many people agree on its importance (Hosmer, 1995; Dirks, 2000). Ultimately, trust results in positive outcomes (Smyth et al., 2010) by fostering understanding and seamless interaction between two parties (Bstieler, 2006).

The positive effects of trust have been demonstrated in sports. According to Zhang and Chelladurai (2013), trusting the instructor is a precursor to being immersed in the instructions, which further helps to enhance performance. Conversely, even if an instructor possesses excellent coaching behaviors or strategies, if the athlete does not trust the instructor, the effectiveness of coaching is likely to be limited (Dirks, 2000; Furrer and Skinner, 2003).

This study selected people who genuinely enjoy golf as the study participants for two reasons. First, most research related to coaching behavior focuses on elite athletes, and research on coaching behavior related to amateurs is lacking, despite its importance. Second, golf was chosen based on the aforementioned characteristic of the sport as having a higher lesson rate than other sports. From a new perspective, this study verified the logical causality of the basic premise that "a great player makes a great coach" and investigated whether evaluating coaches based on this belief is a logical error.

Challenging the premise that "a great player makes a great coach," this study verified the psychological errors (placebo and nocebo effects) involved in judging one's ability based on one's background as an instructor. The findings of this study are meaningful in that they provide data for developing the practical abilities required among instructors and creating an efficient coaching environment as well as a satisfying lesson environment for golfers.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

In this study, people from the Republic of Korea aged 20 years or older and with more than a year of golf experience or golf lessons experience were selected as the study population, and non-probability sampling and purpose sampling were applied. Those who had never played golf, had never taken lessons, or had not played golf for less than a year were excluded from this study. The study involved only the people who provided consent to participate. Online and offline data collection was conducted at an outdoor golf practice range, a university practice range, and a 4-year university located in the Republic of Korea through purposeful sampling. Detailed information is reported in Table 1. The Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Kyung Hee University provided ethical approval in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

2.2 Study design and procedure

Before the filming of the lesson video, this study conducted a discussion involving the common issues amateur golfers may encounter regarding swing posture, which was handled by four professionals inform the Korean Professional Golf Association with over 3 years of teaching experience. Based on the issues regarding swing posture, the lesson content was structured in detail to ensure that the participants could determine the factors that would indicate instructor expertise. An instructor selected by the researchers filmed a 10-min lesson video (Table 2) featuring the amateur golfers' problems and the corresponding methods for improvement. During filming, the instructor followed the script without expressing their personal opinions or coaching methods. The lesson content was the same for all three groups of amateur golfers. Subsequently, the lesson video was sent to the amateur golfers who expressed interest in participating in the study, both online and offline (through golf practice facilities in C and S cities).

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics by groups.

		Group 1 Amateur	Group 2 Semi-professional	Group 3 Professional
0	Male	37 (72.5%)	34 (66.7%)	41 (80.4%)
Sex	Female	14 (27.5%)	17 (33.3%)	10 (19.6%)
	20 s	12 (23.5%)	6 (11.8%)	1 (2.0%)
Age	30 s	12 (19.6%)	17 (33.3%)	9 (17.6%)
	40 s	14 (27.5%)	12 (23.5%)	25 (49.0%)
	Over 50 s	15 (29.4%)	16 (31.4%)	19 (31.4%)
C-161	Yes	37 (72.5%)	49 (96.1%)	44 (86.3%)
Golf lesson experience	No	14 (27.5%)	2 (3.9%)	7 (13.7%)
	Less than 1 year	15 (29.4%)	7 (13.7%)	12 (23.5%)
	1–5 years	12 (23.5%)	31 (60.8%)	15 (29.4%)
Golf experience	5–10 years	12 (23.5%)	6 (11.8%)	15 (29.4%)
	10–20 years	9 (17.6%)	5 (9.8%)	7 (13.7%)
	More than 20 years	3 (5.9%)	2 (3.9%)	2 (3.9%)
	Less than 10	4 (7.8%)	1 (2.0%)	5 (9.8%)
	10–15	13 (25.5%)	10 (19.6%)	11 (21.6%)
Golf handicap	15–20	14 (27.5%)	14 (27.5%)	19 (37.3%)
	More than 20	11 (21.6%)	14 (27.5%)	13 (25.5%)
	I do not know	9 (17.6%)	12 (23.5%)	3 (5.9%)
	Less than once per month	2 (3.9%)	4 (7.8%)	5 (9.8%)
	Once or twice per month	16 (31.4%)	11 (21.6%)	14 (27.5%)
Frequency of golf practice	Once per week	13 (25.5%)	10 (19.6%)	15 (29.5%)
	More than twice per week	12 (23.5%)	20 (39.2%)	15 (29.5%)
	Almost everyday	8 (15.7%)	6 (11.8%)	2 (3.9%)
Total		51 (100%)	51 (100%)	51 (100%)

To determine the sample size for this study, the analysis used G*Power 3.1.9.7. A medium effect size (0.07) and acceptable power (0.95) were set for the program. A total sample size of 153 participants was calculated after entering the number of groups (3) representing the participant groups, which were divided into two groups by one independent variable, and the response variables (3) representing the dependent variables (instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participants in each group) received the lesson video and were told that the coach was a tournament professional (tour pro) (Group 1), a semi-professional (semi-pro) (Group 2), and an aspiring pro (Group 3). After watching the lesson video, the participants completed a questionnaire regarding instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention.

2.3 Instruments

The dependent variables used to compare and analyze the psychological errors of the golf participants were instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention. For instructor expertise, this study modified the factors previously used by Kim D. H. (2013), Hwang (2019), and Lee (2009) to analyze participants' perceptions of instructor expertise. This study developed 14 survey

questions based on four sub-factors (performance, teaching skills, personality and ethics, insight, and analytical ability). For instructor credibility, this study composed four survey questions by applying the factors used by Kim J. S. (2013) to analyze the causal relationships between controlling coaching behavior, group cohesion, instructor credibility, and exercise satisfaction as a single factor. Finally, for lesson participation intention, this study restructured the single factor revised by Jung (2008) based on the measurement methods of behavioral intention reported by McAuley (1993) and Wilson and Rodgers (2001) into five survey questions to fit this study. All the items were rated using a Likert scale ranging from 1 = not at all to 5 = extremely.

2.4 Data analysis

Based on SPSS/AMOS 23.0 for the data collected, this study conducted an exploratory factor analysis using a statistical criterion of eigenvalue 1.00 or greater to identify the structure of the factors used in the study. This study (a) derived basic socio-demographic results, including gender and age, using descriptive statistics and (b) used Cronbach's alpha coefficients to verify the reliability of the data, with a statistical criterion of >0.7, as suggested by Nunnally and Bernstein (1994). After analyzing the collected data, this study conducted the main data analysis to address the research problem. A one-way

TABLE 2 Golf lesson video contents.

Lesson script	Details
1. Opening	Instructor's self-introduction and purpose of the lesson
2. Problem:	Explanation and cause of early extension
Early extension	Compensations caused by early extension
Maintaining spine and hip angles	Importance of maintaining spine and hip angles
3. Instructor's demonstration	Front/side swing
4. Correction of early extension	Swing with hips against the wall
	Swing while pressing a gym ball with hips
5. Problem:	Explanation of back swing coiling
Incorrect rotation during back swing	Compensations and problems caused by incorrect rotation
Back swing coiling	Effects of back swing coiling
6. Instructor's demonstration	Front/side swing
7. Correct rotation and correction method for back swing	Rotate with the club on the right shoulder and extend arms after rotation
8. Closing	Summary of the lesson and importance of practice

TABLE 3 Results of EFA.

Factors	Survey items	1	2	3	4
Performance	Performance This instructor has a great swing.		0.322	-0.025	0.115
	This instructor has a variety of swing techniques.	0.870	0.287	0.100	0.078
	This instructor is an outstanding athlete.	0.859	0.268	0.114	0.103
	This instructor does a great job of demonstrating the swing.	0.842	0.315	0.131	0.149
Teaching skills	This instructor effectively utilizes precise instruction.	0.264	0.876	0.155	0.110
	This instructor provides easy-to-follow instructions.	0.346	0.821	0.118	0.142
	This instructor encourages and motivates golfers.	0.358	0.813	0.174	0.146
	This instructor offers solutions for golfers.	0.356	0.760	0.218	0.134
Personality and ethics	This instructor is professional.	0.122	0.029	0.850	0.215
	This instructor is passionate about teaching.	-0.006	0.241	0.839	0.178
	This instructor is responsible.	0.132	0.232	0.810	0.245
Basic principle	This instructor emphasizes basic principle for the swing.	0.104	0.082	0.100	0.869
	This instructor emphasizes the principles of the swing.	0.059	0.177	0.285	0.847
	This instructor explains the basic swing movement.	0.188	0.136	0.301	0.782
Eigenvalues variance (%)		6.711	2.476	1.264	1.009
		47.935	17.688	9.027	7.207

Analysis results exceeding the statistical threshold of 0.40 are in bold.

multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was performed to compare and analyze the differences in instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention among the three groups (tour pro, semi-pro, and aspiring pro).

3 Results

3.1 Validity and reliability

Exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was implemented before the statistical analyses to verify the validity of the scale applied in this study. Specifically, sub-factors with an eigenvalue of 1.00 or greater were selected based on a Varimax rotation to determine the factor structure of the dependent variable (instructor expertise). Two factors (instructor credibility and lesson participation intention) were

excluded from the EFA as single-scale factors. The detailed results of the EFA are listed in Table 3.

Additionally, reliability between the items was tested based on Cronbach's alpha coefficients, and a Cronbach's alpha of >0.7 was considered satisfactory: (a) expertise (basic principle), $\alpha = 0.857$; (b) expertise (personality & ethics), $\alpha = 0.855$; (c) expertise (performance), $\alpha = 0.941$; (d) expertise (teaching skills), $\alpha = 0.929$; (e) instructor credibility, $\alpha = 0.964$; and (f) lesson participation intention, $\alpha = 0.958$. The results showed that all the factors used in this study had satisfactory statistical reliability.

3.2 Multivariate analysis of variance

A factorial multivariate analysis of variance was conducted to investigate the differences among the groups (i.e., the group with an

Variables	Sub-factors	df	F	p	η^2	Post-hoc
Expertise	Performance	2	16.544	0.000***	0.181	a <b<c< td=""></b<c<>
	Personality and ethics	2	2.487	0.087	0.032	_
	Teaching skill	2	7.216	0.001**	0.088	a < b, c
	Basic principle	2	0.479	0.620	0.006	_
Instructor credibility		2	14.661	0.000***	0.164	a <b<c< td=""></b<c<>
Lesson participation intention		2	12.592	0.000***	0.144	a < b, c

TABLE 4 Results of the multivariate analysis of variance among three groups.

p* < 0.05, *p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001.

TABLE 5 Mean scores and standard deviations of dependent variables for each group.

	1	2	3	4	5	6
Group 1	3.015 (1.13)	4.163 (0.72)	3.304 (1.08)	4.000 (0.66)	3.304 (1.10)	3.010 (1.15)
Group 2	3.500 (0.99)	4.353 (0.66)	3.912 (0.93)	4.137 (0.84)	3.824 (1.02)	3.927 (0.89)
Group 3	4.083 (0.63)	4.065 (0.60)	3.882 (0.68)	4.078 (0.60)	4.314 (0.64)	3.716 (0.83)

Group 1, amateur; Group 2, semi-pro; Group 3, tour pro; 1, performance; 2, personality and ethics; 3, teaching skill; 4, basic principle; 5, instructor credibility; 6, lesson participation intention.

amateur teacher, the group with a semi-professional, and the group with a PGA professional) using three dependent variables (i.e., instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention).

The Wilks' Lambda multivariate *F* statistic found a statistically significant main effect of age on the dependent variables [Wilks' A = 0.387, F(12, 292) = 5.837, p < 0.05]. Specifically, the univariate tests for performance, F = 16.544, p < 0.001, personality and ethics, F = 2.487, p > 0.05, teaching skills, F = 7.216, p < 0.01, basic principle, F = 0.479, p > 0.05, instructor credibility, F = 14.661, p < 0.001, and lesson participation intention, F = 12.592, p < 0.001 based on the independent variable were found. As mentioned previously, statistically significant differences were reported among the three groups. To verify the paired groups that were statistically significant, additional *post-hoc* analyses were performed. Detailed statistical results (MANOVA and *post-hoc* analysis) including the mean scores and standard deviations for each factor by group are listed in Tables 4–6.

4 Discussion

This study investigated the existence of placebo and nocebo effects according to the golf instructor's certification level, while focusing on the differences in the perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention among amateur golfers. The results found a partially significant difference in the perception of instructor expertise among amateur golfers, depending on the instructor's certification level. In terms of performance, the semi-pro group rated the instructor higher than the aspiring pro group, whereas the tour pro group rated the instructor higher than the semi-pro group. In terms of teaching skills, the semi-pro and tour pro groups rated the instructor higher than the aspiring pro group, but the semi-pro and tour pro groups showed no significant differences. This study also found no significant differences in terms of personality and basic principle according to the instructor's certification level.

These results suggest that the culture of academic elitism that values the certification level of an instructor over a career persists in

TABLE 6 Results of post-hoc analysis.

		1	2	3	4	5	6
G1	G2	0.036*	0.354	0.004**	0.622	0.023*	0.000***
	G3	0.000***	0.756	0.007**	0.856	0.000***	0.001**
G2	G1	0.036*	0.354	0.004**	0.622	0.023*	0.000***
	G3	0.009**	0.094	0.987	0.916	0.034*	0.546
G3	G1	0.000***	0.756	0.007**	0.856	0.000***	0.001**
	G2	0.009**	0.094	0.987	0.916	0.034*	0.546

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; G1, amateur; G2, semi-pro; G3, tour pro; 1, performance; 2, personality and ethics; 3, teaching skill; 4, basic principle; 5, instructor credibility; 6, lesson participation intention.

Korea. In their analysis of the significant factors in selecting a golf instructor for members at a golf driving range, Hwang et al. (2008) reported that certification level (42.87%) is perceived as being far more important than experience (17.76%). Moreover, previous research (Park and Joo, 2008; Ko and Won, 2010) has shown that female golfers and high-income earners are rated higher, which are partially consistent with the findings of this study. However, Han and Seo (2020), who investigated the criteria for selecting instructors among professional Korean golfers, reported that communication skills, teaching methods, and instructor credibility are important factors. Therefore, unlike amateurs, professional golfers consider various factors when selecting instructors.

The participants of this study perceived instructors with a higher certification level as having higher levels of expertise, although instructor expertise does not necessarily mean having plenty of experience as a player (Kim, 2004). Bereiter and Scardamalia (1993) and Kuchinke (1997) argued that expertise cannot simply be defined by external status or extensive knowledge, and the process of developing expertise is poorly comprehended. Additionally, expertise can be developed through continuous effort, and it requires a combination of objective qualities, including knowledge and skills, as well as subjective qualities, such as personality, character, and temperament (Frensch and Sternberg, 1989; Ericsson and Smith,

1991; Germain and Tejeda, 2012). Therefore, to become a professional instructor, one must make constant efforts to build expertise in various aspects, rather than merely attain certification.

Perceiving an instructor's expertise based on certification affects instructor credibility and lesson participation intention. The results showed that the level of trust in a tour pro was the highest, followed by that in a semi-pro and an amateur. This study found a small difference in lesson participation intention between the tour and semi-pro groups. Meanwhile, the difference between the two groups and the amateur group was statistically significant. Although trust is accumulated through long-term interaction with students, in this short-term study, the tour pro group showed high levels of trust and willingness to learn.

In previous studies, the participants tended to show a higher level of trust in an instructor's teaching skills when the instructor held the Korea Professional Golfers' Association certification (Kim, 2011; Joo, 2020), who compared the perception of domestic and international floral design certifications, verified the difference in the level of trust and preference depending on certification acquisition by identifying learners' increased preference for and trust in international certifications compared to domestic certifications. These results indicate that perceiving expertise differently depending on certification levels affects lesson participation intention as well as instructor credibility. People trust and want to continue taking lessons from instructors they perceive as highly professional (McAllister, 1995). Furthermore, although trust is formed based on various factors apart from ability, such as sincerity and altruism (Hur, 2010), people tend to trust an instructor's qualifications the most.

These results imply that many people prioritize certification when choosing an instructor. Certification proves, to some extent, one's ability and is an objective criterion for judging expertise (Mayer et al., 1995). Janák (2015) stated that experience as a professional athlete or certification, rather than one's qualities or abilities as a coach, has been the criterion for selecting instructors. People who have this belief naturally assume that "a great player makes a great coach" and that a person with a strong athletic career will inevitably have strong coaching ability, thereby leading them to trust such instructors more because they perceive them as having a higher level of expertise. Such biases result in a psychological error that undervalues or overvalues the actual abilities of an instructor. However, sports instructors are not only trainers but also educators (Szabo, 2012) and leaders who manage and guide players for their health and happiness (Janák, 2015). Therefore, the aforementioned belief system is an error of hasty generalization. This problem stems from the academic elitism prevalent in Korean society. Jeon (2017) stated that students attending good universities prove their abilities simply by attending them, and this belief creates a social hierarchy based on educational background.

Relatively, in Western societies, these problems are less prevalent, and meritocracy is a standard practice (Brauns, 2013). Meritocracy does not consider factors other than one's abilities in their field (Son-Hing et al., 2011). For example, David Leadbetter, Hank Haney, and Mike Bender, who are considered the major coaches in the United States golf industry, did not achieve exceptional success as players, but they developed their talent early by studying their relative fields. They are recognized as capable coaches for producing many star players, developing coaching manuals and swing correction tools, and running golf academies. These coaches are recognized for their coaching skills rather than for their experience as players. Previous studies have also pointed out the problem of judging instructor

expertise and selecting coaches based on their experience or certification. Many coaches selected based on these criteria are not capable instructors and lack the professional knowledge necessary to assist in the overall development of players (Côté and Gilbert, 2009; Janák, 2015).

This study verified the psychological errors involved in judging an instructor's abilities based on the instructor's background. Based on the results, this study suggests that academic elitism, which is the blind belief that an instructor with a superior certification background will also have good coaching ability, be avoided and that a coach's ability be observed and evaluated from many different angles. Furthermore, although coaching activities have been conducted based on a coach's certification thus far, future research should focus on the practical abilities that coaches must possess.

5 Conclusions and limitations

This study investigated whether placebo and nocebo effects exist based on the level of certification among golf instructors, focusing on differences in the perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention among amateur golfers. Based on the results of this study, the following conclusions were drawn: First, this study noted a difference in perceived instructor expertise among amateur golfers, depending on the instructor's level of certification. Specifically, the results indicated a significant difference in performance and teaching skills but not in personality and emphasis on basic principles. Second, the results revealed a significant difference in perceived instructor credibility among amateur golfers, depending on the instructor's certification level. The level of trust in the tour pro group was the highest, whereas that in the aspiring pro group was the lowest. Third, this study observed a difference in lesson participation intention among amateur golfers, depending on the instructor's certification level, which was higher in the semi-pro and tour pro groups than in the aspiring pro group.

Through this study, where the participants received the same lesson from the same instructor, this study verified the psychological error (placebo/nocebo effects) of perceiving instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention differently, depending on the instructor's certification level. Blind faith and prejudice based on academic elitism, which is deeply rooted in Korean society, and the psychological error of undervaluing or overvaluing a person's ability should be avoided. A culture that judges a person based on abilities should be established. Additionally, based on the data obtained from this study, follow-up studies should be conducted to develop practical instructor capabilities and create efficient teaching environments.

The limitations of this study are as follows: First, the sample size of 153 participants may not be sufficient to generalize the results of this study. In future studies, the sample size should be increased. Second, this study involved amateur golfers, and there may be differences between amateur and professional golfers. Therefore, further studies should analyze the differences between the two groups. Third, this study was conducted to verify whether placebo or nocebo effects exist in the perception of instructor expertise, instructor credibility, and lesson participation intention among amateur golfers based on the instructor's certification background. Therefore, qualitative research on developing coaching abilities is necessary in the future.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by The Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Kyung Hee University provided ethical approval in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

HY: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – original draft. J-HY: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft. SJ: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft. CC: Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. C-HB: Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

References

Bede, W., Rateau, R.J., Drape, T., and Lyle, W. (2021). *The Recruitment of Student-Athletes: Building Trust between Coaches and Players.* [Doctoral Dissertation]. Location: Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.

Bereiter, C., and Scardamalia, M. (1993). Surpassing Ourselves. An Inquiry Into the Nature and Implications of Expertise. Chicago: Open Court.

Brauns, M. (2013). Aligning strategic human resource management to human resources performance and reward. *Int. Bus. Econ. Res. J.* 12, 1405–1410. doi: 10.19030/ iber.v12i11.8179

Bstieler, L. (2006). Trust formation in collaborative new product development. J. Prod. Innov. Manag. 23, 56–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5885.2005.00181.x

Côté, J., and Gilbert, W. (2009). An integrative definition of coaching effectiveness and expertise. *Int. J. Sports Sci. Coach.* 4, 307–323. doi: 10.1260/174795409789623892

Dirks, K. T. (2000). Trust in leadership and team performance: evidence from NCAA basketball. J. Appl. Psychol. 85, 1004–1012. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.85.6.1004

Ericsson, K. A., and Smith, J. (1991). "Prospects and limits of the empirical study of expertise: an introduction" in *Toward a General Theory of Expertise: Prospects and Limits.* eds. K. A. Ericsson and J. Smith (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 1–38.

Frensch, P. A., and Sternberg, R. J. (1989). "Expertise and intelligent thinking: when is it worse to know better?" in *Advances in the Psychology of Human Intelligence*. ed. R. J. Sternberg, vol. 5 (Virginia, VA: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc), 157–188.

Furrer, C., and Skinner, E. (2003). Sense of relatedness as a factor in children's academic engagement and performance. *J. Educ. Psychol.* 95, 148–162. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.1.148

Germain, M. L. (2006). Stages of Psychometric Measure Development: The Example of the Generalized Expertise Measure (GEM). Paper Presented at the Academy of Human Resource Development International Conference, Columbus, OH.

Germain, M. L., and Tejeda, M. J. (2012). A preliminary exploration on the measurement of expertise: an initial development of a psychometric scale. *Hum. Resour. Dev. Q.* 23, 203–232. doi: 10.1002/hrdq.21134

Gould, D., Greenleaf, C., Guinan, D., and Chung, Y. (2002). A survey of U.S. Olympic coaches: variables perceived to have influenced athlete performances and coach effectiveness. *Sport Psychol.* 16, 229–250. doi: 10.1123/tsp.16.3.229

Grant, A. M. (2006). "An integrative goal-focused approach to executive coaching" in *Evidence Based Coaching Handbook: Putting Best Practices to Work for Your Clients.* eds. D. R. Stober and A. M. Grant (Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.), 153–192.

Gyllensten, K., and Palmer, S. (2007). The coaching relationship: an interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Int. Coach. Psychol. Rev.* 2, 168–177. doi: 10.53841/bpsicpr.2007.2.2.168

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

The authors express their sincere gratitude to all study participants.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Han, J. H., and Seo, K. B. (2020). Choice criteria for selecting golf coach among Korean professional golf players. *J. Korean Soc. Wellness* 15, 229–241. doi: 10.21097/ksw.2020.11.15.4.229

Heijden, B. I. J. M. (2000). The development and psychology evolution of a multidimensional measurement instrument of professional expertise. *High Abil. Stud.* 11, 9–39. doi: 10.1080/713669175

Herling, R. E. (1998). "Expertise: the development of an operational definition for human resource development" in *Academy of Human Resource Development*. ed. R. J. Torraco (Baton Rouge, LA, USA: AHRD), 715–722.

Hoffman, R. R., Shadbolt, N. R., Burton, A. M., and Klein, G. (1995). Eliciting knowledge from experts: a methodological analysis. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 62, 129–158. doi: 10.1006/obhd.1995.1039

Hosmer, L. T. (1995). Trust: the link between organizational theory and philosophical ethics. Acad. Manag. Rev. 20, 379-403. doi: 10.2307/258851

Hur, C. Y. (2010). The Influence on Golf Teaching Pattern to Mutual Trust and Efficiency. [Master's Thesis]. [Daejeon, Korea]: Mokwon University.

Hwang, S. H. (2019). The Structural Relationship between the Leader Expertise and the Athletic Satisfaction of Recognized by Disabled Sports Athletes and Self-Management. [Doctoral Dissertation]. [Seoul, Korea]: Sungkyunkwan University.

Hwang, S. H., Seo, H. J., and Won, J. S. (2008). Golf instructor choice factors: a conjoint analysis. *Korean J. Sport Sci.* 19, 94–103. doi: 10.24985/kjss.2008.19.4.94

Janák, V. (2015). Demands on sport coach and his competence profile. *Studia Sportiva*. 9, 178–182. doi: 10.5817/StS2015-1-22

Jang, H. J. (2019). The relationship among trust of instructors of golf lesson member, teaching satisfaction and customer loyalty. *Korean J. Sport Sci.* 17, 661–670.

Jeon, E. H. (2017). A narrative research on the identity of academic factionalism among Seoul National University students. *J. Anthropol. Educ.* 20, 103–148. doi: 10.17318/jae.2017.20.3.004

Joo, H. (2020). A Comparative Study on the Awareness of Korean Domestic and International Floral Design Certification Based on the Acquisition Status. [Master's Thesis]. [Seoul, Korea]: Korea University.

Jung, Y. G. (2008). Verification on the participation behavior model of participants in leisure sport and exercise. *Korean Soc. Sport Psychol.* 19, 195–214.

Kelly, P., Healy, A., Moran, K., and O'Connor, N. E. (2010). "A virtual coaching environment for improving golf swing technique" in *Proceedings of the 2010 ACM Workshop on Surreal Media and Virtual Cloning 2010*, 51–56. Kim, H. S. (2004). An expertise of sport instructors. J. Sport Leisure Stud. 24, 17–29. doi: 10.51979/KSSLS.2005.08.24.17

Kim, H. S. (2011). A Comparative Analysis of Satisfaction of Golf Trainee According to Qualification Type of Golf Instructors. [Master's Thesis]. [Daegu, Korea]: Keimyung University.

Kim, D. H. (2013). The Effect of Dance Sports Leader's Expertise on Trust, Identification, and Teaching Efficiency. [Master's Thesis]. [Chungnam, Korea]: Chungnam National University.

Kim, J. S. (2013). Causal Analysis of the Relationship between Controlling Coach Behaviors and Group Cohesiveness, Trust in Leadership, and Athletic Satisfaction. [Doctoral Dissertation]. [Chonnam, Korea]: Chonnam National University.

Kim, D. C. (2018). 469 Million Golfers in 2017, An Increase of 820,000 from the Previous Year. Yonhapnews. Available at: https://www.yonhapnews.co.kr/bulletin/2018/04/11/0200000000AKR20180411154000007.HTML (Accessed June 1, 2023).

Ko, J. S., and Won, H. J. (2010). A study on the level of importance of the factors golfers are satisfied with regarding a golf instructor. *J. Golf Stud.* 4, 13–20.

Kuchinke, K. P. (1997). Employee expertises: the status of the theory and the literature. *Perform. Improv. Q.* 10, 72–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-8327.1997.tb00068.x

Lee, S. W. (2009). The Effects of Coach's Expertism on Bowling Players' Flow. [Master's Thesis]. [Seoul, Korea]: Dan kook University.

Liljenstrand, A. M., and Nebeker, D. M. (2008). Coaching services: a look at coaches, clients, and practices. Consult. Psychol. J. Pract. Res. 60, 57-77. doi: 10.1037/1065-9293.60.1.57

Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., and Schoorman, F. D. (1995). An integrative model of organizational trust. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 20, 709–734. doi: 10.2307/258792

McAllister, D. J. (1995). Affect-and cognition-based trust as foundations for interpersonal cooperation in organizations. *Acad. Manag. J.* 38, 24–59. doi: 10.2307/256727

McAuley, E. (1993). Self-efficacy and the maintenance of exercise participation in older adults. *J. Behav. Med.* 16, 103–113. doi: 10.1007/BF00844757

Mcknight, D. H., Cummings, L. L., and Chervany, N. L. (1998). Initial trust formation in new organizational relationships. Acad. Manag. Rev. 23, 473–490. doi: 10.2307/259290 Nunnally, J. C., and Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric Theory*, 3rd. New York, USA: McGraw-Hill.

Park, S. J., and Joo, S. B. (2008). Discriminant factor analysis by golf leader selection action. J. Sport Leisure Stud. 33, 1339–1347. doi: 10.51979/KSSLS.2008.08.33.1339

Riemer, H. A., and Chelladurai, P. (1995). Leadership and satisfaction in athletics. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 17, 276–293. doi: 10.1123/jsep.17.3.276

Shin, B. G. (2017). Are You Taking Your Golf Lessons Well? JtbcGOLF, Vol. 24. Available at: https://jtbcgolf.joins.com/news/news_view.asp?news_type=17&ns1=32722 (Accessed August 25, 2023).

Smyth, H., Gustafsson, M., and Ganskau, E. (2010). The value of trust in project business. *Int. J. Project Manag.* 28, 117–129. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2009.11.007

Son-Hing, L. S., Bobocel, D. R., Zanna, M. P., Garcia, D. M., Gee, S. S., and Orazietti, K. (2011). The merit of meritocracy. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 101, 433–450. doi: 10.1037/a0024618

Swanson, R. A. (2001). Human resource development and its underlying theory. *Hum. Resour. Dev. Int.* 4, 299–312. doi: 10.1080/13678860110059311

Swanson, R. A., and Holton, E. F. (2001). *Foundation of Human Resource Development*. San Francisco, USA: Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Inc.

Szabo, A. S. (2012). What is the meaning of sport coaching? (expectations, possibilities, realities). *Sport Sci. Pract. Asp.* 9, 39-44.

Thelwell, R. C., Weston, N. J. V., Greenlees, I. A., and Hutchings, N. V. (2008). A qualitative exploration of psychological-skills use in coaches. *Sport Psychol.* 22, 38–53. doi: 10.1123/tsp.22.1.38

Wilson, P. M., and Rodgers, W. M. (2001). The relationship between perceived autonomy support, exercise regulations and behavioral intentions in women. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 5, 251–242.

Zhang, Z., and Chelladurai, P. (2013). Antecedents and consequences of athlete's trust in the coach. J. Sport Health Sci. 2, 115-121. doi: 10.1016/j. jshs.2012.03.002.7

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Rafael Peixoto, Instituto Superior de Ciências Educativas, Portugal Nadhir Hammami, University of Jendouba, Tunisia

*CORRESPONDENCE Eduardo Teixeira ⊠ eduardoteixeira@esdrm.ipsantarem.pt

RECEIVED 22 January 2024 ACCEPTED 13 February 2024 PUBLISHED 12 March 2024

CITATION

Teixeira E, Silva C and Vicente A (2024) Development and validation of an interview guide for examining the effects of sports careers on the quality of life of retired Portuguese football players. *Front. Psychol.* 15:1374784. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1374784

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Teixeira, Silva and Vicente. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Development and validation of an interview guide for examining the effects of sports careers on the quality of life of retired Portuguese football players

Eduardo Teixeira^{1,2}*, Carlos Silva^{1,2} and António Vicente³

¹Sport Sciences School of Rio Maior, Polytechnic Institute of Santarém, Rio Maior, Portugal, ²Life Quality Research Centre, Polytechnic Institute of Santarem, Santarém, Portugal, ³Faculty of Human and Social Sciences, University of Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal

Introduction: Considering the importance of assessing the impacts resulting from a sport career, this study aimed at developing and validating a semi-structure interview guide suitable for quantifying the sociodemographic and epidemiological profile of former professional football players.

Methods: Based on the theoretical frameworks and several methodological procedures, an interview guide was developed, consisting of 3 areas of conceptual organization (A1. Biographical data; A2. Professional Career; and A3. Post-Career Transition) and 8 data collection categories (C1. Personal data; C2. Professional data; C3. Sociodemographic background; C4. Epidemiological pathway; C5. Moment of career retirement (career transition); C6. Post-career sociodemographic pathway; C7. Post-career epidemiological pathway; and C8. Perceptions of post-career planning). Thus, in procedural terms, four stages were considered for the construction and validation of the interview guide, namely the Ad hoc construction of the interview guide (i), the review of the interview guide by a panel of experts (ii), definition of procedures and protocol for the application of the interview (iii), and the application of the pilot study for the face validation of the interview guide (iv). The sample consisted of two former Portuguese professional players.

Results and discussion: To analyze and discuss the data, a content analysis was carried out on all the answers given to each question in the script by the interviewees. From them, matrices were created with the response references to each subcategory. In this way, it was possible to analyse the type of answers given by the interviewees and relate them to the theoretical perspectives of the topic being investigated. The results showed that the interview guide for the study of the impacts of the sports careers on the quality of life of Portuguese former football players shows reliability for the collection of qualitative and quantitative information from the respective content analysis. The use of the interview guide characterizes the path of former player, providing information and knowledge on the sociodemographic and epidemiological impact factors resulting from their post-career.

KEYWORDS

football (soccer), interview guide, former players, post-career, career impacts, well - being

1 Introduction

In recent decades, there has been a significant increase in research focused on understanding the long-term impacts of sports careers (Stambulova and Wylleman, 2019; Stambulova et al., 2021; Samuel et al., 2023).

Career transition for athletes is a pivotal juncture in their lives, occurring at an early stage compared to individuals in the general population, non-athletes (Vilanova and Puig, 2017; Wylleman, 2019; Yao et al., 2020). This timing complexity and adds layers of complexity to the process, making it a multidimensional, multilevel, and multifactorial experience (Martin et al., 2014). Consequently, there is an urgent imperative to cultivate specialized and interdisciplinary knowledge from various scientific domains to gain insights into a phenomenon that has far-reaching impacts on both society as a whole and individuals. In the realm of football, sports careers are marked by significant physical strain, considering the extensive depletion of motor energy resources (Barreira et al., 2015; Carapinheira et al., 2019; Silva et al., 2022; Nunes et al., 2023).

Engaging in the sport at the professional level comes with a heightened risk of injury (Roos, 1998; Ekstrand et al., 2011; Pfirrmann et al., 2016; Zech and Wellmann, 2017). Concurrently, the time constraints of an athlete's career compel them to form a deeper connection with their profession, encompassing matters like daily availability, the pursuit of enhanced earnings, the sacrifices of social life, dietary habits, and other facets that may not be as conspicuous in non-sporting occupations (Smismans, 2022). In addition to these considerations, football players often assume a role of social prominence, leading to their recognition and characterization through various descriptors. Moreover, this recognition situates them within a limited social circle (Drawer and Fuller, 2002; Arliani et al., 2016; Monteiro et al., 2021).

A career can be defined as a sequential series of attitudes and behaviors tied to an individual's experiences and activities related to their work over the course of their life (Hall, 2002). It represents a continually evolving process, consisting of distinct stages, each with its specific demands (Schlossberg, 1981; Wylleman et al., 1993; Wylleman, 2019). One of these stages is the transition to post-career life. In the context of football, this transition signifies the moment when a player departs from their professional career and enters a new phase of life (Wylleman et al., 1993; Stambulova et al., 2009, 2021). This situation is particularly delicate as it necessitates the player's emotional adaptation to a new social environment, a different status, and an altered lifestyle (Brandão et al., 2000; Kuettel et al., 2017).

The number of studies in this field, especially in football, is relatively limited. Therefore, it appears pertinent to identify, collect, and disseminate data related to various aspects such as the activity process, professional retirement, sociodemographic realities, health consequences, and longevity influenced by the careers of footballers, guided by existing literature (Rintaugu, 2011; Knights et al., 2016, 2019; Carapinheira et al., 2018a, 2019). To gain a more precise understanding of the patterns and requirements of these professionals, it is essential for research to concentrate on the specific sport and, if feasible, facilitate cross-cultural comparisons (Stambulova and Samuel, 2019; Stambulova et al., 2021). Building on theoretical models concerning careers and career transitions (Taylor and Ogilvie, 1994; Stambulova, 2003; Wylleman et al., 2004; Stambulova et al., 2006; Creswell and Poth, 2017;Wylleman, 2019; Stambulova et al., 2021), a research trajectory has emerged with the objective of examining the sociodemographic and epidemiological effects stemming from the professional football career of former players. Taking this viewpoint into consideration and employing qualitative methodology, we have developed and confirmed the validity of a semi-structured interview guide. This approach, in accordance with the perspectives of multiple authors (Wolcott, 1994; Gall et al., 2007; Turner, 2010; Creswell and Poth, 2017), is an established research method for acquiring comprehensive insights into participants' experiences, emotions, and interpretations.

Framed within the research paradigm on the theme of careers and sport transitions, specifically oriented toward research on the impacts resulting from the professional football career and its effects on the perception of post-career quality of live, as well as in the pursuit of scientific studies carried out in this area by several authors (Drawer and Fuller, 2001; Agresta et al., 2008; Curran, 2015; Sanders and Stevinson, 2017; van Ramele et al., 2017; Carapinheira et al., 2018b; Nunes et al., 2023), the main purpose was to build and validate a meta-evaluative instrument, in the form of a checklist, focused on the interpretivist paradigm, capable of characterizing the sociodemographic and epidemiological profile of former football players in Portugal, considering all the transitional phases of the career, namely from the beginning of the professional activity to the situational moment in the post-career.

The interview guide aims to description of career development stages and career pathways with prediction of normative transitions (Samela, 1994; Wylleman, 2019; Samuel et al., 2023). Simultaneously, aimed at description and explanation of a transition process and factors involved in terms of normative, non-normative and quasinormative athletic transitions (Taylor and Ogilvie, 1994; Stambulova, 2003; Ryba et al., 2016).

The purpose of applying this interview is to develop several studies that holistically conceptualize the entire journey of former football players as a way of evaluating the career impact factors and the quality of life of this population in the post-career period. Used to this end, collecting data from this instrument will provide information on the sociodemographic and epidemiological idiosyncrasies experienced during the sport career, career transition and post-career.

The main objective of this study was to validate the Interview Guide for Examining the Effects of Sports Careers on the Quality of Life of Retired Portuguese Football Players. From the pilot study, we seek to ensure that the interview is carried out in an organized, methodical manner and, simultaneously, that the information collected is framed and directed to each area and specific thematic category. To this end, matrices will be created to characterizing all types of data to be collected through the application of the instrument.

2 Materials and methods

Before initiating the construction of this interview guide, the ethical committee at the University of Beira Interior was obtained (CE-UBI-Pj-2021-015). The quality assurance of an interview for application in the scientific field should respect a set of methodological procedures (Wolcott, 1994; Flick, 2005; Boni and Quaresma, 2005). The theoretical framework, the choice of the type of interview, the interview structure definition, the relevance and clarity of the questions, the validation process, the interview training, the interview

application and the data processing are some of the steps highlighted in the literature (Triviños, 1987; Wolcott, 1994; Flick, 2005; Boni and Quaresma, 2005; Aires, 2015).

Drawing upon the theoretical framework, which is informed by a comprehensive review of the literature concerning the effects of former footballers' professional careers, particularly within sociodemographic and epidemiological dimensions, we meticulously developed a semi-structured interview guide tailored to the research objectives. We opted for a semi-structured interview approach due to its capacity to incorporate relevant theories and hypotheses related to the research theme. This approach not only facilitates the description of social phenomena but also enables their comprehensive explanation and understanding (Triviños, 1987; Aires, 2015).

In terms of the procedural aspects, four distinct stages were considered for the creation and validation of the interview guide: (i) the *ad hoc* construction of the interview guide, (ii) a critical review of the interview guide by a panel of experts, (iii) the formulation of procedures and a protocol for administering the interview, and (iv) the execution of a pilot study to assess the face validity of the interview guide.

2.1 Ad hoc construction of the interview guide

To begin, we initiated our research process by exploring scientific articles centered about careers and post-career transitions in sports, with a particular emphasis on football. We conducted these searches using relevant keywords within popular search engines. Subsequently, we scrutinized the methodologies employed in both quantitative and qualitative studies that delved into career perspectives and career transitions within a sociodemographic and epidemiological framework. The intention was to utilize this analysis to structure the interview guide into thematic sections, aligning them with the overarching research objectives. This process was informed by insights from various sources (Agresta et al., 2008; Knights et al., 2016; Zech and Wellmann, 2017; Carapinheira et al., 2018; Lelbach et al., 2020).

It is widely acknowledged that conceptual research on career transitions should embrace a comprehensive, continuous, and multifaceted approach (Taylor and Ogilvie, 1994; Wylleman et al., 2004; Stambulova et al., 2009). This entails recognizing the unique challenges that athletes face at different stages of their sporting journey, as well as in other aspects of their lives, including their interactions with coaches, parents, and friends (Côté, 1999; Wylleman et al., 2000; Côté et al., 2007). Moreover, it necessitates an understanding of the influence of macrosocial factors such as culture, context, and the personal development of the player (Stambulova et al., 2007). With this perspective in mind, the initial version of the interview guide was structured around three distinct areas, drawing support from relevant theoretical models (Taylor and Ogilvie, 1994; Stambulova et al., 2006; Wylleman, 2019). Subsequently, after considering insights from various sources (Turner et al., 2000; Drawer and Fuller, 2001; Uzunca et al., 2005; Agresta et al., 2008; Baron et al., 2012; Vann Jones et al., 2014; Gomes and Domingues, 2016; Gledhill et al., 2017; van Ramele et al., 2017; Carapinheira et al., 2019; Yao et al., 2020; Jones et al., 2021), we made the decision to incorporate eight research categories, each containing numerous questions organized into various subcategories.

As an initial premise, meticulous attention was given to the wording, structure, and sequence of the questions to ensure that they were framed objectively, in plain language, and without inadvertently suggesting any specific answers (Wolcott, 1994).

2.2 Evaluation of the interview guide by an expert panel

Following the creation of the initial draft of the interview guide, it underwent a face validation process by a panel of three experts from different institutions of Portuguese university institutions. These experts were experienced higher education teachers with a track record of research and published work in the relevant field (Scorsolini-Comin, 2020). After receiving their feedback, several modifications were made to the interview guide. Specifically, eight questions were removed, and the wording of seven other questions was revised, while keeping intact the originally defined categories and subcategories.

2.3 Procedures and protocol for applying the interview

To ensure a thorough and meticulous utilization of the instrument, a set of procedures was established for both preparation and implementation, particularly with regard to the form of contact and preparation for the interview (i. selection and provision of contacts; ii. checking participant availability; iii. Information about the scope and objectives of the research; iv. schedule for the day and location of the interview; v. preparation of a model with the interviewee's pre-defined CV) and, also, the development of a protocol covering the pre-interview, during-interview, and postinterview phases (i. explanation of the scope, objectives and organization of the interview; ii. clarification on the dissemination of results and their confidentiality; iii. Authorization to record the interview; iv. display of the summary of the interviewee's CV to confirm or change the information; v. reading of informed consent for subsequent signing in duplicate of the document; vi. definition of the starting and ending moments of the interview; vii. Reinforcement of the possibility of providing relevant information not mentioned during the interview; viii. Information about the of providing the interview possibility transcript; ix. final acknowledgment).

2.4 Execution of the pilot study

To assess the practical effectiveness of the interview we conducted a pilot study, including factors like its flow, duration, question clarity, and any unforeseen issues (Gall et al., 2007). The primary objective was to identify any constraints or shortcomings in the interview structure (Turner, 2010). The pilot study involved a sample of two retired Portuguese football players, each having accumulated over 8 years of professional experience.

Due to the constraints imposed by the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, the interviews were conducted by videoconference (platform Zoom). This approach was chosen to maintain a desirable level of comfort for the interviewees (Wolcott, 1994; Boni and Quaresma, 2005). It allowed them to participate from the comfort of their own environment while interacting with the interviewer in a quiet, confidential setting and having easy access to the interview guide. On average, the interviews lasted approximately 42 min, which was considered an appropriate duration for field application. Additionally, this phase served as a training opportunity for the interviewer, helping to assess the relevance of the topics covered and evaluate the clarity of the questions to eliminate any potential comprehension issues (Gomes and Domingues, 2016). In conclusion, the final version of the interview guide comprises three main areas and eight categories, encompassing a total of 27 questions more a general questionnaire with biographical and professional data.

2.4.1 Interviews transcription

The interviews were recorded in audio and video format and transcribed. The QSR International – Nvivo, version 11.0 software and SPSS Statistics was used for the information analysis and processing (Leitão, 2002; Bardin, 2007). Simultaneously, to make inferences and interpretations regarding the content analysis, the answers given by each interviewe were detailed, through a table, for each of the categories and subcategories identified in the interview guide.

2.4.2 Content analysis of the interviews

The social construction of an instrument must always be guided by the theoretical framework of the research (Bardin, 2016). Concomitantly, content analysis is a well-established qualitative research method used to interpret the meaning within textual content, aligning with the naturalistic paradigm (Scorsolini-Comin, 2020).

In this sense, the content analysis respected the different phases of analysis, namely pre-analysis (organization), exploration of the material (coding, categorization) and treatment of results (inference and interpretation) (Bardin, 2016). The validation of the interviews was conducted through conventional content analysis, wherein coding areas and categories were directly derived from the textual data. This approach aimed to extract meaning from the transcribed content by organizing it into discrete sections of information, each identified by specific codes (Creswell and Poth, 2017). By employing this method, we ensured the validation of the discourse by the individuals providing the information and upheld the quality of the procedural dialog inherent in the interview technique (Turner, 2010).

To define the codes for presenting and discussing the results, we analyzed phrases, expressions, and recurring ideas common among the selected interviewees. This process helped identify thematic categories and subcategories based on the interview protocol and the primary topics addressed during the interviews. Subsequently, a review of the initial structure of these categories and subcategories was undertaken, incorporating new criteria as additional response options emerged. This approach aligns with recommendations from other authors (Bardin, 2007) for a mixed methodology that simultaneously utilizes pre-defined categories and adapts to new subcategories that best suit the analyzed material (Creswell and Poth, 2017; Creswell and Plano, 2017).

At the same time, for which answer former players gave, argumentative and guidance lists were created about the way which question should be led, so that the quality and pertinence of the data in which category could be satisfied.

3 Results and discussion

The methodology employed, stemming from the content analysis conducted during the research, involved constructing a comprehensive matrix of responses for each of the categories outlined in the guide. This matrix facilitated the identification of all the subcategories and criteria that emerged. Subsequently, these findings were discussed in the context of the theoretical framework pertaining to careers and sports transitions.

3.1 Biographical data (area 1)

The collection of informative biographical data is common practice among severel retrospective studies (Drawer and Fuller, 2001; Vann Jones et al., 2014; Arliani et al., 2016; Carapinheira et al., 2019; Stambulova and Wylleman, 2019; Jones et al., 2021; García-García et al., 2023; Sun and Moon, 2023). In this regard, and firstly, through closed questions, the personal data of the former players were collected (Figure 1).

Both closed and open-ended questions were employed to enable the subsequent determination of dependent and independent variables based on the objectives and research questions posed in scientific studies. This approach aimed to enhance the identification and characterization of former players in relation to their professional careers (Figure 2).

The analyzed content revealed that the responses led to a distinct identification of the criteria for each of the subcategories. The interviewees displayed clarity in their understanding of the questions posed to them, facilitating the interpretation of each subcategory during the transcription of the interviews.

The essentially quantitative information collected in these two categories allow for the personal and professional characteristics of the interviewees.

3.2 Professional career (area 2)

The domain of professional careers encompasses two categories, each providing retrospective information about the sociodemographic and epidemiological aspects of former football players' careers. These categories aim to clarify the unique attributes of football players' careers, particularly within a systems perspective, which will be analyzed in the context of sports psychology (Stambulova et al., 2021). From the career models proposed by Stambulova (Stambulova, 2003) we opted for the guideline of the structural model, i.e., to develop questions that could originate data concerning the direction of sport development (e.g., motivation, quality and style) and, simultaneously, of the psychological determinants reflecting aspects of operational (e.g., psychological processes triggered), situational (e.g., activities and behaviors) and cultural (e.g., organization and lifestyle) scope.

Through the content analysis of interviews pertaining to category 3, which is focused on the sociodemographic aspect, six distinct subcategories have emerged as crucial for exploring and gathering information. These subcategories include the ability to balance professional commitments, the duration of time spent away from one's native area of residence, changes in family dynamics, the pursuit of





academic or technical education, and the perceived socio-economic status achieved during the career. These category are visually represented in Figure 3.

Regarding the content analysis of interviews in category 4 (see Figure 4), we have identified and grouped five subcategories for extracting relevant information. These subcriteria were designed to collect data concerning the occurrence of significant injuries, any surgeries undergone, assessments of the quality of sports medical care, opinions on methodological experiences, and the availability of psychological support during the players' careers. These criteria are aimed at investigating whether health issues experienced during the professional career are indeed factors that should be considered in assessing the quality of life for individuals' post-career. This aligns with findings from previous research studies (Agresta et al., 2008; van Ramele et al., 2017; Lelbach et al., 2020).

Content analysis shows that there is agreement between the researchers in identifying the number and type of injuries that former players considered to be serious during their career. A similar pattern emerges concerning both the quantity and nature of surgeries undertaken, alongside the recognition of the presence of psychological support. The findings suggest that it could be valuable to categorize timeframes during which injuries and surgeries occurred. Regarding the perceptions of sports medical care and the methodologies encountered, coding presented challenges because former players indicated having diverse practices and experiences throughout their careers. This diversity arose from interactions with different medical departments and technical teams, which naturally influenced their perceptions of the quality of experiences. To address this issue and ensure more straightforward coding, both questions should initially be structured with closed-answer options. In other words, former players should assess these criteria as positive, neutral, or negative when considering their entire career trajectory. Subsequently, in a follow-up open-ended question, they can provide justifications and explanations for their choices.

3.3 Transition to post-career (area 3)

The category addressing the termination of a sports career drew inspiration from two key models: the conceptual model of adaptation to retirement among athletes (Taylor and Ogilvie, 1994; Kuettel et al., 2017) and the Sport Career Transition model (Stambulova, 2003). The





questions posed inquired, from a comprehensive standpoint, about the variables that either influence or are associated with the professional career retirement process.

Through the results obtained (Figure 5), it seems that the contents of the answers present informative assumptions capable of inferring about the quality of the transition experienced by former players and, concomitantly, to understand which resources were used for this transition, which results in the effective identification of dependent variables t that define the conclusion of the careers within this population (Park et al., 2013; Carapinheira et al., 2018b; Samuel et al., 2023). The factors that determinate the quality of the transition to post-career are the voluntariness (or involuntariness) of the retirement, the time of acceptance, the athletic identity, the new professional orientation, and the life changes that arise at the moment of retirement. On the other perspective, and in relation to the resources used for this transition, the existence of coping strategies, the type of psychological support, the existence (or not) of a career retirement plan and also the use (or not) of support from programs are highlighted (Carapinheira et al., 2018b).

From the content analysis it is possible to identify the most significant positive and negative factors of transition quality and the resources available for the players which, by itself, helps in the implementation of specialized intervention models by levels (i.e., cognitive, behavioral, emotional, and social) that have purpose of helping athletes who had negative transitions (Wylleman et al., 2000; Sofie et al., 2021; Smismans, 2022). A higher degree of athletic identity related to valued sport correlates such as intrinsic motivation and the mastery goal orientation (Lochbaum et al., 2022) which means that the type of answers given by the interviewees can be analyzed in light of this paradigm.

However, building upon the concept that career and sport transitions should be examined considering the athlete as a holistic entity within a specific context (Stambulova et al., 2021), the answers given in category 6 and 7 (Figures 6,7) emphasize the quality factors and resources that are integral to the transition process, as well as they define the subsequent path of former football players post-career.

For the characterization of sociodemographic variables, the answers showed descriptions related to the experiences and





adaptations in post-career period, the professional path, the changes at socio-economic level, the dynamics and development of the family, and the continuity (or discontinuity) related to the connection that former players maintained with football, as described and proposed in other studies (Grove and Stoll, 1999; Uzunca et al., 2005; Agresta et al., 2008; Rintaugu, 2011; Gazzaroli et al., 2017; Carapinheira et al., 2018b; Monteiro et al., 2021).

It's possible that the content of these questions could provide relevant information's because adaptive processes occur within specific contexts that may influence former sport performers' responses and outcomes (Schinke and Stambulova, 2017).

In the epidemiological characterization, the results allow us to recognize if there are (or have been) health problems, medical follow-up and medical-surgical interventions in the post-career period, aspects that are also highlighted in several scientific papers reviewed (Drawer and Fuller, 2001; Uzunca et al., 2005; Park et al., 2013; Vann Jones et al., 2014; Arliani et al., 2016; Sanders and Stevinson, 2017; Jones et al., 2021).

At the same time, by analyzing the criteria concerning perceptions of career impact, we gather the former players' overarching views regarding the positive and/or negative effects linked to their professional careers, encompassing physical, mental, and social dimensions. So, It will be important aimed to summarize the post-career effects of highly competitive football practice.

It was possible to develop the matrices proposed in Figure 7, where the possible response codes are presented. Through content analysis, the type of answers given by the interviewees allow us to understand the health problems that occurred in post-career, whether former players needed support or medical follow-up, whether there were surgical interventions and, especially, in the case occurrence of health problems, their perception of whether this could be related to their professional career.

In summary of the two categories (post-career sociodemographic and epidemiological pathway), the length of the adaptation process is a factor that can be investigating. Adaption is a dynamic process, the interplay between appraisals, decision-making and active coping may change depending on the course of the transition (Samuel et al., 2023).

In this regard, analyzing the sociodemographic and epidemiological information of former players during their retirement could provide clues about the impact of their careers, the planification of career transition and, at the same time, understand the profiles, life choices and the type of social, professional and health reality that these former players face.





The last category of the interview guide aims to gather the former players opinions regarding the importance of post-career planning, the knowledge and importance of support programs, their suggestions on the topic and, also, from a retrospective, the identification of key moments and possible addictions or dependencies experienced during their life path (Stambulova et al., 2009; Dimoula et al., 2013; Park et al., 2013; Carapinheira et al., 2018b; Jones et al., 2021; Samuel et al., 2023).

From the content analysis of the research, it is possible to create response codes from four subcategories (Figure 8). In this perspective, it seems relevant to assess the set of opinions and suggestions of former professional players that may contribute to the transfer of recommendations to support programs for career transition (McKnight and Kashdan, 2009), in order to help players to get involved in life after sport, helping them to understand the skills they need to succeeded in other areas of activity. Adaptation and professional support associated with change events must consider age and identity as part of the process (Samuel et al., 2023). The lives of sport performers have tremendously changed in last years as a result of the globalization process, social media, and migration (Samuel, 2021). Analyzing the responses from former players, we expect that the collection of information from these subcategories will bring new perspectives and visions about the strategies that can be adopted in this research area.

4 Conclusion

The use of the investigative technique of interview survey is an important research instrument that allows achieving a deep knowledge of the object of study, to the extent that it allows, based on the information provided by the interviewees, to (re) construct meanings and senses.

Under this premise, the objectives of this work aimed at the construction, development and validation of an interview guide based on several methodological procedures that would ensure a

TABLE 1 Areas, categories, and subcategories of the interview guide.

Area 1: biographical data			
Category 1: personal data	Category 2: professional data		
Full name / sport name	Year of beginning and end of career		
Place of birth / date of birth	Internationalisations / tactical position		
Academic and thecnical qualifications	Start of federated practice (formation)		
Residency (pree-carreer and post-carreer)	Characteristics of professionalisation		
Height and weight (current)	Curriculum vitae summary		

Area 2: professional career				
Category 3: sociodemographic backgroud	Category 4: epidemiological pathway			
Conciliation of professional activity	Serious injuries			
Years of living outside the usual residence	Surgical interventions			
Family	Medical-sports monitoring			
Academic and thechnical habilitations	Experienced training methodologies			
General socio-economic level	Psychological suport			

Area 3: transition for post-career					
Category 5: moment of career retirement (carreer transition)	Category 6: post-career sociodemographic pathway				
Retirement form	Experiences and adaptations				
Causes or reasons for retirement	Professional development				
Retirement decision	Socio-economic level evolution				
Retirement planning	Family				
Important people in the retirement	Football connection				
Category 7: post-career epidemiological pathway	Category 8: perceptions of post-career planning				
Health problems	Importance of post-career planning				
Medical follow-up (needs)	The knowledge of support programmes				
Career impact perceptions	Post-career preparation (sugestions)				
Surgical interventions	Career retrospective (significant or problematic experiences)				

TABLE 2 Characterization of the interviewed individuals for the pilot study.

	Former player 1	Former Player 2	
Career time	1983–1999	1982–1993	
Tactical position	Midfielder	Defense	
Competitive level	Level 1 (first division)	Level 2 (second division)	

robust theoretical framework, a justification for the definition of the primary research areas and, through content analysis of two interviews with former football players, systematize the information model to be generated through the application of the interview (Table 1). Therefore, attached to this article is the complete interview guide with all the questions written in Portuguese language.

The interview guide designed to investigate the impacts of a sports career on the quality of life of Portuguese former football players has proven effective in collecting both qualitative and quantitative data through content analysis (Table 2).

The instrument demonstrate efficiency as it delves deeply into the situational context of former players, facilitating a comprehensive

understanding and interpretation of their experiences as conveyed by the diverse research participants. This is relieved in the matrices developed for each of the guide's areas, categories, and subcategories. The instrument seems pertinent regarding data collection for the scope of research oriented toward the study of sociodemographic and epidemiological impacts arising from a professional football career, with transcultural characteristics, focused on individual and multidimensional perception in assessing quality of life in specific context.

Data availability statement

The original data contributions presented are included in the Supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Ethical committee at the University of Beira Interior (CE-UBI-Pj-2021-015).

The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

ET: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. CS: Data curation, Formal analysis, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. AV: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

Agresta, M. C., Brandão, M. R. F., and Barros Neto, T. L. D. (2008). Causas e conseqüências físicas e emocionais do término de carreira esportiva. *Rev. Bras. Med. Esporte* 14, 504–508. doi: 10.1590/S1517-86922008000600006

Aires, L. (2015). Paradigma Qualitativo e Práticas de Investigação Educacional. Universidade Aberta

Arliani, G. G., Astur, D. C., Yamada, R. K. F., Yamada, A. F., Da Rocha Corrêa Fernandes, A., Ejnisman, B., et al. (2016). Professional football can be considered a healthy sport? *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 24, 3907–3911. doi: 10.1007/ s00167-015-3636-2

Bardin, L. (2007). Análise de conteúdo. 3ª, vol. 70 Edições. Available at: https:// madmunifacs.files.wordpress.com/2016/08/anc3a1lise-de-contec3bado-laurencebardin.pdf

Bardin, L. (2016). Análise de conteúdo. 6ª Edição. São Paulo: Edições 70.

Baron, S. L., Hein, M. J., Lehman, E., and Gersic, C. M. (2012). Body mass index, playing position, race, and the cardiovascular mortality of retired professional football players. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 109, 889–896. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.10.050

Barreira, D., Garganta, J., Castellano, J., Machado, J., and Anguera, M. T. (2015). How elite-level soccer dynamics has evolved over the last three decades?: input from generalizability theory. *Cuad Psicol Deporte* 15, 51–62. doi: 10.4321/S1578-84232015000100005

Boni, V., and Quaresma, S. (2005). Aprendendo a entrevistar: Como fazer entrevistas em Ciências Sociais *Revista Eletrônica dos Pós-Graduandos em Sociologia*, 2, 68–80.

Brandão, M. R. F., Akel, M. C., Andrade, A., Guiselini, M., Martini, L., and Nastás, M. (2000). Causas e conseqüências da transição de carreira esportiva: uma revisão de literatura, vol. 10. doi: 10.18511/rbcm.v8i1.355

Carapinheira, A., Mendes, P., Guedes Carvalho, P., Torregrossa, M., and Travassos, B. (2018a). Career termination of Portuguese elite football players: comparison between the last three decades. *Sports*. 6:155.

Carapinheira, A., Mendes, P., Guedes Carvalho, P., and Travassos, B. (2019). Sports career termination in football players: systematic review. *Rev Iberoam Psicol Ejerc El Deporte* 14, 61–65.

Carapinheira, A., Torregrossa, M., Mendes, P., Guedes Carvalho, P., and Travassos, B. F. R. (2018b). A retrospective analysis of retirement of football players in Portugal. *Motricidade*, 74–85. doi: 10.3390/sports6040155

Côté, J. (1999). The influence of the family in the development of talent in sport. Sport Psychol. 13, 395–417. doi: 10.1123/tsp.13.4.395

Côté, J, Baker, J, and Abernethy, B. (2007). Practice and play in the development of sport expertise. Em: handbook of sport psychology. (3rd Edn.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2017.

Creswell, J. W., and Plano Clark, V. L. (2017). Designing and conducting mixed methods research SAGE Publications. 3:3.

Creswell, J. W., and Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among five approaches*. SAGE Publications.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1374784/ full#supplementary-material

Curran, C. (2015). Post-playing careers of Irish-born footballers in England, 1945-2010. Sport Soc. 18, 1273-1286. doi: 10.1080/17430437.2015.1042970

Dimoula, F., Torregrosa, M., Psychountaki, M., and Fernandez, M. D. G. (2013). Retiring from elite sports in Greece and Spain. *Span. J. Psychol.* Cambridge Core. 16, 38. doi: 10.1017/sjp.2013.18

Drawer, S., and Fuller, C. W. (2001). Propensity for osteoarthritis and lower limb joint pain in retired professional soccer players. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 35, 402–408. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.35.6.402

Drawer, S., and Fuller, C. W. (2002). Perceptions of retired professional soccer players about the provision of support services before and after retirement. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 36, 33–38. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.36.1.33

Ekstrand, J., Hägglund, M., and Waldén, M. (2011). Epidemiology of muscle injuries in professional football (soccer). *Am. J. Sports Med.* 39, 1226–1232. doi: 10.1177/0363546510395879

Flick, U. Métodos qualitativos na investigação científica. Lisboa: Monitor, Projectos e Edições, Lda; (2005).

Gall, M.D., Gall, J.P., and Borg, W.R. (2007). Educational research: an introduction. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

García-García, D., Bazán, M. J. A., and Pérez-Rivas, F. J. (2023). Correlation between health and eHealth literacy and a healthy lifestyle: a cross-sectional study of Spanish primary healthcare patients. *Healthcare* 11, 29–80. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11222980

Gazzaroli, D., D'Angelo, C., Reverberi, E., and Gozzoli, C. (2017). At the end of the match: exploring retirement of Italian football players. *Rev Psicol Deporte.* 26, 130–134.

Gledhill, A., Harwood, C., and Forsdyke, D. (2017). Psychosocial factors associated with talent development in football: a systematic review. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 31, 93–112. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.04.002

Gomes, R., and Domingues, M. (2016). Transição dos Atletas na Carreira Desportiva: Da Teoria à Avaliação. *Motricidade*. 12, 159–173. doi: 10.6063/motricidade.4174

Grove, J. R., and Stoll, O. (1999). Performance slumps in sport: personal resources and perceived stress. J. Pers. Interpers. Loss. 4, 203–214.

Hall, D. (2002). Careers in and out of organizations. Network News Boston College. 4:326. doi: 10.4135/9781452231174

Jones, A., Jones, G., Greig, N., Bower, P., Brown, J., Hind, K., et al. (2021). Corrigendum to' epidemiology of injury in English professional football players: a cohort study' [physical therapy in sport 35C (2018) 18–22]. *Phys. Ther. Sport* 50:138. doi: 10.1016/j. ptsp.2021.05.001

Knights, S., Sherry, E., and Ruddock-Hudson, M. (2016). Investigating elite end-ofathletic-career transition: a systematic review. *J. Appl. Sport Psychol.* 28, 291–308. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2015.1128992

Knights, S., Sherry, E., Ruddock-Hudson, M., and O'Halloran, P. (2019). The end of a professional sport career: ensuring a positive transition. *J. Sport Manag.* 33, 518–529. doi: 10.1123/jsm.2019-0023

Kuettel, A., Boyle, E., and Schmid, J. (2017). Factors contributing to the quality of the transition out of elite sports in Swiss, Danish, and polish athletes. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 29, 27–39. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2016.11.008

Leitão, JC. Metodologia de investigação em educação física e desporto: introdução à investigação experimental. Vila Real: UTAD; (2002).

Lelbach, A., Dörnyei, G., Ihász, F., and Koller, A. (2020). Post-sports career healthy ageing: the Janus-faced, high-performance sport. *Dev. Health Sci.* 3, 9–15. doi: 10.1556/2066.2020.00002

Lochbaum, M., Cooper, S., and Limp, S. (2022). The athletic identity measurement scale: a systematic review with Meta-analysis from 1993 to 2021. *Eur. J. Investig. Health Psychol. Educ.* 12, 1391–1414. doi: 10.3390/ejihpe12090097

Martin, L. A., Fogarty, G. J., and Albion, M. J. (2014). Changes in athletic identity and life satisfaction of elite athletes as a function of retirement status. *J. Appl. Sport Psychol.* 26, 96–110. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2013.798371

McKnight, P. E., and Kashdan, T. B. (2009). Purpose in life as a system that creates and sustains health and well-being: an integrative, Testable Theory. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 13, 242–251. doi: 10.1037/a0017152

Monteiro, R., Monteiro, D., Torregrossa, M., and Travassos, B. (2021). Career planning in elite soccer: the mediating role of self-efficacy, career goals, and athletic identity. *Front. Psychol.* 12:694868. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.694868

Nunes, C. L., Rosa, G. B., Jesus, F., Heymsfield, S. B., Minderico, C. S., Martins, P., et al. (2023). Interindividual variability in metabolic adaptation of non-exercise activity thermogenesis after a 1-year weight loss intervention in former elite athletes. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 23, 1761–1770. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2022.2147020

Park, S., Lavallee, D., and Tod, D. (2013). Athletes' career transition out of sport: a systematic review. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 6, 22–53. doi: 10.1080/1750984X. 2012.687053

Pfirrmann, D., Herbst, M., Ingelfinger, P., Simon, P., and Tug, S. (2016). Analysis of injury incidences in male professional adult and elite youth soccer players: a systematic review. *J. Athl. Train.* 51, 410–424. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-51.6.03

Rintaugu, E. G. (2011). Retirement from Competitive Sport: the Experiences of Kenyan Soccer Athletes *Curr. Res. J. Soc. Sci.* 3, 477–482.

Roos, H. (1998). Are there long-term sequelae from soccer? Clin. Sports Med. 17, 819–831. doi: 10.1016/S0278-5919(05)70122-8

Ryba, T. V., Stambulova, N. B., and Ronkainen, N. J. (2016). The work of cultural transition: an emerging model. *Front Psychol* 7:427. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00427

Samela, J. H. (1994). Phases and transitions across sport careers. In, *Psycho-social issues and interventions in elite sports*. Ed. D. Hackfort (Frankfurt: Lang) 10, 11–28.

Samuel, RD. (2021). Career Transitions and Change. *Em Sport, Exercise and Performance Psychology*. Eds. Edson Filho and Itay Basevitch. (Oxford University Press). 264–277. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780197512494.003.0019

Samuel, R. D., Stambulova, N., Galily, Y., and Tenenbaum, G. (2023). Adaptation to change: a meta-model of adaptation in sport. *Int. J. Sport. Exerc. Psychol.* 13, 1–25. doi: 10.1080/1612197X.2023.2168726

Sanders, G., and Stevinson, C. (2017). Associations between retirement reasons, chronic pain, athletic identity, and depressive symptoms among former professional footballers. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 17, 1311–1318. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2017.1371795

Schinke, R. J., and Stambulova, N. (2017). Context-driven sport and exercise psychology practice: widening our lens beyond the athlete. J. Sport Psychol. Action. 8, 71–75. doi: 10.1080/21520704.2017.1299470

Schlossberg, N. K. (1981). A model for analyzing human adaptation to transition. Couns. Psychol. 9, 2–18. doi: 10.1177/001100008100900202

Scorsolini-Comin, F. (2020). Técnicas de Entrevista: Método, Planejamento e Aplicações Vetor Editora.

Silva, A. M., Nunes, C. L., Jesus, F., Francisco, R., Matias, C. N., Cardoso, M., et al. (2022). Effectiveness of a lifestyle weight-loss intervention targeting inactive former elite athletes: the Champ4Life randomised controlled trial. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 56:394. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2022.2115755

Smismans, S. (2022). A holistic perspective on the vocational development of active and former elite athletes. VUBPress.

Sofie, S., Paul, W., De Brandt, K., and Defruyt, D. (2021). From elite sport to the job market: development and initial validation of the athlete competency questionnaire for employability (ACQE) [Del deporte de élite al mercado laboral: Desarrollo y validación inicial del Cuestionario de Competencias de Deportistas Para la Empleabilidad (ACQE)]. *Cult. Cienc Deporte* 16:273.

Stambulova, N. B. (2003). Symptoms of a crisis-transition: a Grounded theory study. *SIPF yearbook 2003*. Ed. Em N. Hassmén. (Örebro: Örebro University Press). 99–107.

Stambulova, N., Alfermann, D., Statler, T., and Côté, J. (2009). ISSP position stand: career development and transitions of athletes. *Int. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 7, 395–412. doi: 10.1080/1612197X.2009.9671916

Stambulova, N. B., Ryba, T. V., and Henriksen, K. (2021). Career development and transitions of athletes: the International Society of Sport Psychology Position Stand Revisited. *Int. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 19, 524–550. doi: 10.1080/1612197X.2020.1737836

Stambulova, N, and Samuel, R. D. (2019). Career Transitions. *Em Routledge encyclopedia of sport and exercise psychology*. Vol. 1 Ed. D. Hackfort and R. J. Schinke. (Routledge). 119–134.

Stambulova, N., Stephan, Y., and Jäphag, U. (2007). Athletic retirement: a crossnational comparison of elite French and Swedish athletes. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 8, 101–118. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2006.05.002

Stambulova, N. B., Wrisberg, C. A., and Ryba, T. V. (2006). A tale of two traditions in applied sport psychology: the heyday of soviet sport and wake-up calls for North America. J. Appl. Sport Psychol. 18, 173–184.

Stambulova, N. B., and Wylleman, P. (2019). Psychology of athletes' dual careers: a state-of-the-art critical review of the European discourse. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 42, 74–88. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.11.013

Sun, K. A., and Moon, J. (2023). Relationship between subjective health, the Engel coefficient, employment, personal assets, and quality of life for Korean people with disabilities. *Healthcare* 11. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11222994

Taylor, J., and Ogilvie, B. C. (1994). A conceptual model of adaptation to retirement among athletes. J. Appl. Sport Psychol. 6, 1–20.

Triviños, A.N.S. Introdução à pesquisa em ciências sociais: a pesquisa qualitativa em educação. São Paulo: Atlas; (1987).

Turner, D. (2010). Qualitative interview design: a practical guide for novice investigators. Qual. Rep. 15, 754–760.

Turner, A. P., Barlow, J., and Heathcote-Elliott, C. (2000). Long term health impact of playing professional football in the United Kingdom. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 34, 332–336.

Uzunca, K., Birtane, M., Durmus-Altun, G., and Ustun, F. (2005). High bone mineral density in loaded skeletal regions of former professional football (soccer) players: what is the effect of time after active career? *Br. J. Sports Med.* 39:154. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2003.011494

van Ramele, S., Aoki, H., Kerkhoffs, G. M. M. J., and Gouttebarge, V. (2017). Mental health in retired professional football players: 12-month incidence, adverse life events and support. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 28, 85–90. doi: 10.1016/j. psychsport.2016.10.009

Vann Jones, S. A., Breakey, R. W., and Evans, P. J. (2014). Heading in football, longterm cognitive decline and dementia: evidence from screening retired professional footballers. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 48, 159–161. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2013-092758

Vilanova, A., and Puig, N. (2017). Estrategias de entrada al mercado de trabajo de los atletas olímpicos. Una tipología. *Rev. Int. Sociol.* 75:063. doi: 10.3989/ris.2017.75.2.15.98

Wolcott, H.F. (1994). Transforming qualitative data: description, analysis, interpretation. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Wylleman, P. (2019). A developmental and holistic perspective on transiting out of elite sport. Em: APA handbook of sport and exercise psychology, 1. Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association; 201–216.

Wylleman, P., Alfermann, D., and Lavallee, D. (2004). Career transitions in sport: European perspectives. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 5, 7–20. doi: 10.1016/ S1469-0292(02)00049-3

Wylleman, P, Knop, D, Ewing, M, and Cumming, S. (Eds.). (2000). Transitions in youth sport: a developmental perspective on parental involvement. 143–160.

Wylleman, P, Reints, A, and De Knop, P. (1993). A developmental and holistic perspective on athletic career development. Manag high perform sport pp 159–182 Foudations sport Manag NY Routledge.

Yao, P. L., Laurencelle, L., and Trudeau, F. (2020). Former athletes' lifestyle and selfdefinition changes after retirement from sports. *J Sport Health Sci.* 9, 376–383. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2018.08.006

Zech, A., and Wellmann, K. (2017). Perceptions of football players regarding injury risk factors and prevention strategies. *Plos One* 12:e0176829. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0176829

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Miguel Jacinto, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal Rafael Peixoto, Instituto Superior de Ciências Educativas, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Shunli Wu ⊠ 1318886379@qq.com Weikai Chen ⊠ chenweikai0819@wmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors share first authorship

RECEIVED 16 January 2024 ACCEPTED 25 March 2024 PUBLISHED 09 April 2024

CITATION

Chen J, Zhou D, Gong D, Wu S and Chen W (2024) A study on the impact of systematic desensitization training on competitive anxiety among Latin dance athletes. *Front. Psychol.* 15:1371501. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1371501

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Chen, Zhou, Gong, Wu and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A study on the impact of systematic desensitization training on competitive anxiety among Latin dance athletes

Jie Chen^{1,2†}, Duoqi Zhou^{3†}, Dan Gong⁴, Shunli Wu⁵* and Weikai Chen⁶*

¹Department of Student Affairs, Jiaxing Vocational Technical College, Jiaxing, China, ²Sports and Art Institute, Harbin Sport University, Harbin, China, ³College of Physical Education, Anqing Normal University, Anqing, China, ⁴Chongqing College of International Business and Economics, College of Physical Education and Health, Chongqing, China, ⁵College of Marine Life Sciences, Ocean University of China, Qingdao, China, ⁶Department of Orthopedics, The Second Affiliated Hospital and Yuying Children's Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University, Wenzhou, China

Objective: In the domain of competitive events, Latin dance athletes have always suffered competitive anxiety, which is a prevalent and prevailing psychological facet, in pre-, intra-, and post-competitive engagements. Usually, the implementation of systematic desensitization training is an efficacious approach to reduce competitive anxiety levels in routine sports to fortify psychological resilience of athletes (like swimming, volleyball, and basketball). This study focuses on the effect of systematic desensitization training on competition anxiety in the training of Latin dancers to establish good mental ability and promote the competitive ability of athletes.

Methodology: The "Sports Competition Anxiety Test Questionnaire" was used to evaluate and classify the competitive anxiety levels of 150 Latin dance athletes. Then, the top 48 participants were selected (24 in the intervention cohort and 24 in the non-intervention cohort) as the study participants after stratifying anxiety score levels from the highest to the lowest. The intervention group was treated with an 8-week psychological intervention by employing systematic desensitization training techniques (encompassing imagery desensitization and *in vivo* desensitization). The anxiety levels of the subjects were quantified by employing the "Sport Competition Trait Anxiety Inventory" (CCTAI-C) and the "Competitive State Anxiety Inventory" (CSAI-2) to scrutinize the efficacy of systematic desensitization training in regulating competitive anxiety levels among Latin dance athletes.

Results: After applying systematic desensitization training, the intervention group displayed a notable reduction in sport cognitive trait anxiety. Specifically, there was a decrease of 29.37% in social evaluation anxiety, 20.31% in competition preparation anxiety, 16.98% in performance anxiety, 25.16% in failure anxiety, 34.47% in opponent's ability anxiety, and 25.16% in injury anxiety. Moreover, for competitive state anxiety, cognitive state anxiety and somatic state anxiety decreased by 39.19 and 21.43%. The state self-confidence increased by 14.42%.

Conclusion: The result indicated that systematic desensitization training not only mitigates anxiety but also positively intervenes in sports-related anxiety. Moreover, systematic desensitization training can significantly diminish competitive anxiety among Latin dance athletes to bolster confidence during competitions. Integrating desensitization training into the regular regimen of Latin dance practice has the potential to fortify dancers' psychological resilience against anxiety.

KEYWORDS

systematic desensitization training, psychological intervention, Latin dance training, sport, competitive anxiety

1 Introduction

Anxiety is usually conceptualized as an adverse emotional state to result in distress, anger, muscular tension, and hypertension (Farber, 1948; Davies et al., 2023). Nevertheless, moderate anxiety can induce physiological responses in the body and brain, amplifying vigilance and ameliorating performance and reaction time in competitive arenas or sporting contexts (Belon, 2019). Moreover, moderate anxiety also can incite more attention of dancers in competitions, which can empower them to surmount challenges and attain peak performance (Hovenkamp-Hermelink et al., 2019).

Competitive anxiety is the stress and apprehension of athletes while they suffered worrisome occurrences before or during competitions (Butt et al., 2003). Based on Spielberger's anxiety taxonomy, Martens classified competitive anxiety into state anxiety and trait anxiety (Martin and Hall, 1997). State anxiety denotes a transient emotional state typified by fluctuations (Endler and Kocovski, 2001). However, the trait anxiety represents a relatively enduring personality trait (Jiang et al., 2022). For athletes proficient in skill, the level of competitive anxiety will dramatically affect game outcomes (De Pero et al., 2016). During the Olympic Scientific Congress in 1984, Gruppo underscored that the psychological aspects accounted for 80% of an athlete's success or failure in performance (Birrer and Morgan, 2010). Consequently, psychological factors and the regulation of competitive anxiety wield a pivotal role in an athlete's performance (Binboga et al., 2012). For example, Shao et al. used imagery and systematic desensitization to adjust the competitive trait anxiety of high-level athletes at Inner Mongolia Normal University. The result showed that systematic desensitization can reduce the competition trait anxiety level of university student-athletes with serious anxiety (Guohua, 2012). Furthermore, the Venezuelan national football team has achieved remarkable results with sports psychology strategies such as systematic desensitization, relaxation, and stress coping. It can be seen that systematic desensitization training has a positive effect on competition anxiety (D'Amico and Hernández, 2017).

While competition anxiety is prevalent across various sports, its impact is particularly pronounced in skill-intensive disciplines such as Latin dance, which require a combination of physical prowess and esthetic performance (Chen, 2011). Latin dancers not only confront physical skill challenges during competition but must also navigate the effects of nervousness (Shaffer et al., 2015). The level of competition anxiety directly correlates with athletes' performance outcomes, a phenomenon observed in Latin dance competitions as well. Thus, comprehension and regulation of competition anxiety are imperative for Latin dancers, representing a pivotal determinant of victory or defeat (Adilogullari, 2014).

Up to now, the academic field extensively deployed cognitive and behavioral intervention techniques to regulate athletes' psychological

states (Birrer and Morgan, 2010). A prominent cognitive approach includes imagery and suggestion training (Xuan, 2020; Kulshrestha et al., 2021). The behavioral strategies encompass progressive relaxation, biofeedback, and systematic desensitization methodologies (Huang et al., 2019). Systematic desensitization (Rachman, 1967), also acknowledged as systematic desensitization therapy or reciprocal inhibition (Rabinovich, 2016), represents a behavioral intervention method that gradually mitigates neurotic anxiety patterns. The hinting language and physical and psychological relaxation are used to fight against the anxiety of each level step by step under the guidance of the intervenor to achieve the purpose of relieving and eliminating anxiety. Desensitization training includes two ways of imaginary desensitization and realistic desensitization (Xiaoling et al., 2008). The basic procedure consists of three parts: muscle relaxation training, establishing fear event hierarchy, and implementation of systematic desensitization (O'Neil and Howell, 1969; Morrow et al., 1992; McGlynn et al., 2004).

This study integrates systematic desensitization training into the training regimen of Latin dance participants to investigate the effectiveness in managing competitive anxiety by randomized controlled trial. The 48 highly anxious Latin dance participants underwent psychological intervention via systematic desensitization training to employ a sports-related anxiety questionnaire. The result indicated that systematic desensitization training can effectively reduce competition state anxiety and trait anxiety of Latin dancers. The main objective of this study was to determine whether systematic desensitization training is effective in reducing competition state anxiety and trait anxiety bridges the gap in the application of systematic desensitization training within the realm of Latin dance, providing valuable psychological intervention insights to alleviate competitive anxiety among Latin dancers across diverse age groups.

2 Methods

2.1 Experimental subjects

The "Sport Competition Anxiety Test Questionnaire" (Appendix A) was employed to evaluate the competition anxiety among 150 participants (75 men and 75 women). Following the sorting based on anxiety scores, 48 Latin dance participants were selected for the research. All the participants were aged between 23 and 25 years. Among them, 24 men and 24 women were evenly distributed in the intervention group and the non-intervention group (12 men and 12 women in each group). Preceding the intervention, the subjects were classified into two cohorts: recipients of systematic desensitization training (intervention group of 24) and individuals lacking such training (non-intervention group of 24). An 8-week

desensitization program, involving 16 sessions over the period (twice a week), was implemented in this study. All the subjects were recruited from the Latin Dance Elective Class after rigorous review and approval by the Ethics Committee of the Harbin Institute of Physical Education. During the recruitment process, we publicized the program through classroom announcements, posters, and emails. This study is a randomized controlled trial. All the intervention data were meticulously documented. The study visit procedure is demonstrated in Figure 1.

2.2 Measurement tools

Dr. Ye developed the CCTAI-C (Appendix B) to establish standardized Chinese values derived from the original scale (Ping et al., 2000). It encompasses 6 dimensions and 33 analytical indicators, individually: social evaluative anxiety, competition preparation anxiety, competitive performance anxiety, fear of failure, anxiety regarding opponents' abilities, and injury-related anxiety. The CSAI-2 (Appendix C) was revised by Beili (1994), which was transformed by the anxiety theory by American sports psychologist Spielberger (Beili, 1994). The CSAI-2 consists of three dimensions to assess anxiety: individually, cognitive state anxiety, somatic state anxiety, and state self-confidence (with a comprehensive total of 27 assessment indicators).

2.3 Intervention process

2.3.1 Establishment of the "fear event level scale"

Before applying psychological intervention, the tester interviews the athletes, ranking the athletes' fears from lowest to highest (Akeb-Urai et al., 2020). They are assessed by the Fear Event Level Scale to arrange the triggers in ascending order from mild to severe. Interventions were executed based on the anxiety-provoking incidents to identify in the scale. Then, every anxiety-inducing circumstance was systematically addressed until reaching the athletes' peak anxiety level to alleviate their competition anxiety (Lazarus and Rachman, 1957; Table 1).

2.3.2 Muscle relaxation exercises combined with imagery systematic desensitization

The second phase of systematic desensitization is muscle relaxation training. Initially, the participants recline on a mat to foster a serene environment. The athlete is then asked to imagine the situation on the anxiety stimulus scale (Ujihara et al., 1987). Mental



TABLE 1	Fear	event	scale.
---------	------	-------	--------

Serial number	Event	Level
1	Think of a lot of spectators and contestants	10
2	Think of the atmosphere at the stadium	20
3	Think of the strength of the opponent	30
4	Thinking about how unprepared you might be	40
5	Thinking that the referee may be biased	50
6	Thinking about the possibility of unexpected results	60
7	Thinking about the possibility of injury in the game	70
8	The thought of not getting good grades facing partners and coaches	80

relaxation and progressive relaxation training combined with suggestive language were used to relax the muscles until the subjects were free of anxiety and fear of the imaginary situation and then moved to the next level (Liang et al., 2021).

2.3.3 Mental relaxation method mental relaxation method

Step 1: The athlete needs to adopt a proper preparation position, such as sitting or standing, feet shoulder width apart, arms naturally down, and legs naturally upright.

Step 2: The athlete closes his eyes and mentally imagines that he is riding a "roller coaster at a constant speed." Athletes imagine themselves starting at the beginning of the "roller coaster" and sliding along the lower end to the upper end. At this time, the athlete inhales slowly, silently saying "relax" in his heart. While the athlete appears to be at the top, he holds his breath for 3–5 s. Subsequently, the athlete begins to slide down on his own with the exhalation to reach the bottom end of the "roller coaster." The athlete pauses and relaxes when he reaches the bottom end.

Step 3: The athlete repeats the above imaginary exercise 3 times until the tension disappears or reduces in the body. Moreover, the athlete needs to be consciously focused so that he or she can remain relaxed during practice.

2.3.4 Progressive relaxation training

Step 1: The athlete needs in a supine preparatory position (lying flat on the bed, legs naturally straight, arms naturally placed in front of the body, palming facing down, and eyes gently closed).

Step 2: The athlete first makes a fist with his right hand and feels the tension for 5-8s and then relaxes for 6-10s to experience the relaxation. Then, the athlete makes a fist with his left hand for 5-8s and then relaxes for 6-10s. The above movements were repeated for 3-5 times.

Step 3: The athlete flexes the right forearm, contracting the biceps, and relaxing the body. Then, the athlete flexes his left forearm, contracting the biceps brachii, and relaxing the body. The above movements were repeated for 3–5 times.

Step 4: First, the athlete gritted his teeth and kept the tension for 5–8 s and then exhaled for 6–10 s to relax the body. Second, the athlete shrugs his shoulders, contracts his shoulder muscles to maintain

tension for 5-8 s, and then exhales for 6-10 s to relax his body. Finally, the athlete takes a deep breath and holds the breath for 5-8 s and then exhales slowly to relax his body to experience the feeling of relaxation. The above movements were repeated for 3-5 times.

Step 5: The athlete contracts the abdominal muscles to maintain tension for 5-8 s and then exhales for 6-10 s to relax the body. The athlete tenses his toes for 5-8 s and then exhales for 6-10 s to relax his body. The athlete extends the ankle and holds the tension for 5-8 s and then exhales for 6-10 s to relax his body. The athlete uses abdominal breathing to hold tension for 5-8 s to bulge the abdomen, followed by exhalation for 6-10 s to relax the body and groove the abdomen. The above movements were repeated for 3-5 times.

2.3.5 Relaxation training with added suggestions

After the physical relaxation exercises, the athlete begins to have an imaginary desensitization exercise with suggestive words (20–30 min each). First, the athlete adjusts himself to a comfortable sitting position, keeping the body upright. At the same time, the athlete slowly closes his eyes and takes 3–5 deep breaths. Subsequently, the athlete inhales softly to the accompaniment of light music, feeling the cool air enter the body along the nasal passages. The athlete then exhales slowly, feeling like spitting out all the tension, restlessness, and anxiety.

Step 1: The athlete imagines the situation in the first and second levels of anxiety. When the athlete feels nervous and uncomfortable, the experimenter gives the athlete a corresponding suggestion. At the same time, the athlete engages in autosuggestion ("Now focus your attention on your head, feel your scalp, forehead, and temples, be aware of your eyes, cheeks, ears, and chin. I feel very relaxed in my whole head and face. Give this relaxation to your neck, to your shoulders, to feel these areas," "Breathe calmly and slowly, breathe very slowly and deeply," "I feel quiet," "I feel relaxed" and other suggestive words to intervene).

Step 2: The athlete imagines the situation of the third- and fourthlevel anxiety events. The instructor gives the athlete a cue. ("Shift your attention to the arms, to your upper arms, elbows and forearms and wrists, palms and fingers, the entire shoulders and arms are completely noticed by you." "My whole body is relaxed." "I feel peaceful, comfortable and relaxed all over." "I feel a kind of inner peace").

Step 3: The athlete imagines the situation of the anxiety event in grades 5 and 6. The instructor gives the athlete a corresponding suggestion. ("Now focus your attention on your chest, your back expands as you inhale and contracts as you inhale." "Pay attention to your abdomen, which expands as you inhale and contracts as you exhale." "Put your attention on the spine, relax the muscles around the spine completely, release all the tension completely, and experience this feeling of relaxation," "My mind is quiet, I do not feel anything around me." "My arms are heavy and warm").

Step 4: The athlete thinks of the situation of the anxiety event in grades 7 and 8. The instructor gives the athlete a cue. ("Focus on the pelvis and hips, thighs, knees, and calves." "Bring your breath into these places and relax slowly, slowly relax." "Continue to bring your breath to your feet and toes, the whole leg and both feet are very relaxed." "Then focus on the whole body and imagine yourself as a scanner, from head to toe, everywhere you notice." "Your head, torso and limbs are completely relaxed." "The light warmth flows into my hands, my hands are warm and heavy." "My abdomen, the middle part of my body, felt heavy and relaxed").

2.4 Reality-based systematic desensitization

After the desensitization training of the imaginary system, the realistic desensitization training is carried out in the way of simulated competition. This comprehensive approach will integrate diverse influential factors encompassing audience dynamics, venue specifics, the presence of referees, and the diverse dynamics involving opponents. The experimental group felt the anxiety situation caused by the competition before the match by simulating the competition field.

Simulated Competitions Organization: Scheduled at a biweekly interval, simulated competitions will be meticulously arranged. Each preparatory phase will involve the meticulous recreation of an authentic competitive environment. This will include the utilization of a standard 12 m*12 m Latin dance competition floor, completing with requisite sound and lighting infrastructure. An approximate audience of 200 individuals will be invited to each simulated contest, aiming to replicate the ambiance characteristic of a genuine audience atmosphere. The presence of professional referees will ensure on-site evaluations, thereby safeguarding fairness and impartiality. Attire conformity to the standards of official competitions will be mandatory for all participants, because of both intervention and control group members, alongside additional participants, will be randomly assigned competitive roles for the first time. This progress will be devised for each simulated competition, including tailoring schedules, encompassing award allocations, to strive to emulate the ambiance characteristic of official competitive engagements.

Monitoring Competitors' Anxiety Levels: A comprehensive examination of competitors' competitive anxiety levels will be conducted both before and after the simulated competitions. Upon the conclusion of each simulated event, participants within the intervention group will receive ongoing imaginative desensitization interventions until their competitive anxiety is a successful resolution.

2.5 Statistical analysis

All data were measured as mean ± standard deviations. Statistical analysis was conducted by the one-way ANOVA test, considering the values with $p \le 0.05$ as indicating a significant difference. GraphPad Prism 8 software was used for data analysis.

3 Result

3.1 Sports cognitive trait anxiety intervention

Compared with conventional training approaches, this study implemented systematic desensitization training within athletes' schedules to alleviate the impact of competitive anxiety associated with cognitive traits in sports. Figure 2A demonstrates a comparison of social evaluative anxiety data before and after the intervention. Initial results unveiled that the pre-test social evaluative anxiety score within the intervention group was 16.75 ± 0.96 . After systematic desensitization training, the intervention group experienced a substantial reduction in anxiety levels, with the post-test score notably decreasing to 11.83 ± 0.51 , indicating a significant 29.37% decline. Conversely, the control group maintained consistent pre- and post-test



p < 0.01, *p < 0.001.

social evaluative anxiety values of 16.83 ± 1.24 and 16.66 ± 1.29 , respectively, without statistically significant variance. Figure 2B illustrates a comparative assessment of anxiety levels associated with competition preparation before and after the intervention experiment. The intervention group exhibited a decline from 17.25 ± 0.78 to 13.75 ± 0.80 , representing a reduction of 20.31% in anxiety levels. Similarly, anxiety related to on-field performance decreased from 13.25 ± 1.10 to 11.00 ± 0.98 post-intervention, indicating a reduction of 16.98% (Figure 2C). Furthermore, post-intervention failure anxiety reduced from 13.91 ± 0.52 to 10.41 ± 0.62 , illustrating a decrease of 25.16% in anxiety levels (Figure 2D). Anxiety associated with the opponent's capabilities decreased from 12.33 ± 0.33 to 8.08 ± 0.28 postintervention, demonstrating a significant reduction of 34.47% (Figure 2E). Furthermore, the anxiety related to injuries postintervention decreased from 9.00 ± 0.87 to 7.16 ± 0.67 , signifying a notable 31.56% decrease in anxiety levels (Figure 2F). Additionally, in terms of sports cognitive trait state anxiety, initial values in the intervention group spanned from 106 to 62, with an average of 82.5. After intervention, sports cognitive trait anxiety ranged from 83 to 46, averaging 63.25. Post-assessment data showed significant statistical differences between the experimental and control groups, indicating a 23.33% average reduction in anxiety levels after post-intervention. These results indicated that systematic desensitization training has remarkable efficacy in significantly mitigating sports cognitive trait



anxiety of athletes, specifically in addressing anxiety linked to opponents' capabilities.

Intervention for competition state anxiety

Systematic desensitization training addresses athletes' competitive state anxiety by regulating their cognitive state,

somatic responses, and self-confidence, thereby impacting their performance in competitive settings. Figure 3A illustrates a comparative analysis of cognitive state anxiety levels before and after intervention. The results indicated that the initial cognitive state anxiety value in the intervention group was 22.33 ± 1.15 . After the intervention, this value notably decreased to 13.58 ± 0.60 , reflecting a remarkable reduction of 39.19% in cognitive state anxiety. In contrast, the control group showed pre-test cognitive state anxiety values of 23.33±1.12 and post-test values of 23.08 ± 1.11 , indicating minimal variation. Figure 3B illustrates a comparative analysis of somatic state anxiety levels before and after the intervention. The findings showed that the intervention group's initial somatic state anxiety value was 22.41 ± 1.77 , which notably decreased to 17.16 ± 1.31 after the intervention, indicating a considerable reduction of 21.43% in somatic state anxiety. Conversely, the control group exhibited pre-test values of 23.08 ± 1.34 and post-test values of 22.75 ± 1.25 , indicating no statistically significant disparities. Figure 3C presents comparative analyses of state self-confidence before and after the intervention. The results suggested that the state self-confidence of intervention group initially measured 24.83 ± 1.62 , rising to 28.41 ± 1.25 after the intervention, representing a notable 14.42% increase in state self-confidence. In contrast, the control group's pre-test and posttest values were 22.50 ± 1.55 and 22.41 ± 1.57 , respectively. This study emphasizes the efficacy of systematic desensitization training in alleviating cognitive state anxiety and somatic state anxiety among athletes, augmenting their self-assurance. Moreover, systematic desensitization training exhibits a more substantial impact on alleviating athletes' cognitive state anxiety under similar conditions.

The total anxiety value in the control group decreased by 0.19% after 8 weeks, which was considered to be unchanged within the statistical error range. Conversely, the competition anxiety of athletes could be reduced by 26.17% after the systematic desensitization training intervention (Eq1). To sum up, compared to the control group, the results of the systematic desensitization training intervention reveal a notable reduction in exercise cognitive trait anxiety within the experimental group implying a favorable alteration in exercise cognitive trait anxiety attributed to systematic desensitization training.

The calculation process of the effect size of the interventions is as follows:

$$\left[\left(I_f - I_b\right) / I_f - \left(C_f - C_b\right) / C_f\right] \times 100\%$$
(1)

wherein I_f is the total anxiety before the intervention, I_b is the total anxiety after the intervention, C_f is the total anxiety before the intervention of the control group, and C_b is the total anxiety of the control group after 8 weeks.

4 Discussion

The primary aim of this study is to amalgamate psychological intervention methodologies with Latin dance exercise, thereby investigating the impact of systematic desensitization training on competition state anxiety and exercise cognitive trait anxiety among Latin dance athletes. The physical activity intervention administered in this research endeavors not only to optimize individual physical function and form but also to regulate individual competition anxiety levels through a series of scientifically grounded training modalities and psychological counseling sessions. Concurrently, by bolstering self-efficacy and self-assurance, athletes are better equipped to confront competitions with heightened composure and confidence, thereby mitigating the adverse effects of competition anxiety. Furthermore, significant alterations in competition state anxiety (comprising cognitive state anxiety, somatic state anxiety, and state selfconfidence) were observed within the experimental group postintervention, underscoring the beneficial influence of systematic desensitization training on competition state anxiety among Latin dance athletes.

This study employs a systematic desensitization training strategy to address competition anxiety among Latin dance athletes (Tanguy et al., 2018). Compared to alternative intervention methods, systematic desensitization training can yield positive outcomes within 8 weeks. This advantage is chiefly attributed to the unique mechanism of action inherent in the intervention method. Systematic desensitization training facilitates anxiety alleviation by systematically exposing athletes to anxiety-inducing scenarios, thereby assisting them in cultivating resilience to anxiety (Chirivella and Esquiva, 2011).

In the investigation of systematic desensitization training as an intervention for competition anxiety among Latin dance athletes, several limitations persist. First, the limited participant pool of the study may impede the generalizability and reliability of the findings as they may not fully represent the diversity within the Latin dance athlete population. Secondly, while the measurement methods were underwent rigorous translation and validation processes, they predominantly relied on self-reporting, rendering them susceptible to subjective biases from participants and potentially compromising the objectivity and accuracy of the data. Future research endeavors should focus on establishing the long-term stability of the effectiveness of systematic desensitization training in reducing competition anxiety among Latin dance athletes. Initial research signals suggest the feasibility of such stability, instilling optimistic prospects for future investigations.

5 Conclusion

Systematic desensitization training, a psychological intervention method in psychiatry, is predominantly employed in clinical settings for psychological therapy among patients. Specifically, this method exhibits remarkable effectiveness in anxiety-related emotions. This study innovatively employs systematic desensitization training in the sports realm, investigating psychological alterations in competitive anxiety among Latin dance performers subjected to this intervention. The results suggested that the psychological intervention substantially can reduce competitive anxiety levels among Latin dance performers and significantly enhance competitive skills and achievements. Furthermore, this study also plays a significant role in guiding and reference for other sports.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Harbin Sport University Institutional Review Board. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JC: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis. DZ: Writing – review & editing, Formal analysis. DG: Writing – review & editing, Investigation. SW: Writing – review & editing, Visualization, Supervision, Resources, Methodology, Conceptualization. WC: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Project administration, Methodology, Funding acquisition, Formal analysis.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by the Wenzhou Association for Science and Technology Science Service and Technology Innovation Project (nlts045) fund.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1371501/ full#supplementary-material

References

Adilogullari, I. (2014). The examining the effects of 12-week Latin dance exercise on social physique anxiety: the effects of 12-week Latin dance. *Anthropologist* 18, 421–425. doi: 10.1080/09720073.2014.11891560

Akeb-Urai, N., Kadir, N. B. A., and Nasir, R. (2020). Mathematics anxiety and performance among college students: effectiveness of systematic desensitization treatment. *Intellect. Discourse* 28, 99–127.

Beili, Z. (1994). Revision of Chinese norm of state anxiety scale for sports competition. *Psychol. Sci.* 6, 358–362.

Belon, J. P. (2019). Anxiety and anxiety disorders. *Actual. Pharm.* 58, 18–22. doi: 10.1016/j.actpha.2019.09.005

Binboga, E., Guven, S., Çatikkas, F., Bayazit, O., and Tok, S. (2012). Psychophysiological responses to competition and the big five personality traits. *J. Hum. Kinet.* 33, 187–194. doi: 10.2478/v10078-012-0057-x

Birrer, D., and Morgan, G. (2010). Psychological skills training is a way to enhance an athlete's performance in high-intensity sports. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 20, 78–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01188.x

Butt, J., Weinberg, R., and Horn, T. (2003). The intensity and directional interpretation of anxiety: fluctuations throughout competition and relationship to performance. *Sport Psychol.* 17, 35–54. doi: 10.1123/tsp.17.1.35

Chen, Y. Z. (2011). Influence factors and counter measures of latin players' competitive ability. *Bus. Soc.* 41, 415–445. doi: 10.1177/0007650302238776

Chirivella, E. C., and Esquiva, I. C. (2011). Psychological training in dancesport and competitive dancing. *Rev. Psicol. Deporte* 20, 479–490.

D'Amico, A., and Hernández, M. C. (2017). The Psychological Preparation of the Venezuelan National Football Team (The Burgundy Team): periods 2001–2007 and 2008–2013. *Cuadernos Psicol. Deporte* 17, 59–72.

Davies, M. R., Glen, K., Mundy, J., Ter Kuile, A. R., Adey, B. N., Armour, C., et al. (2023). Factors associated with anxiety disorder comorbidity. J. Affect. Disord. 323, 280–291. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.11.051

De Pero, R., Cibelli, G., Cortis, C., Sbriccoli, P., Capranica, L., and Piacentini, M. F. (2016). Stress related changes during TeamGym competition. *J. Sports Sci. Med.* 56, 639–647.

Endler, N. S., and Kocovski, N. L. (2001). State and trait anxiety revisited. J. Anxiety Disord. 15, 231–245. doi: 10.1016/S0887-6185(01)00060-3

Farber, I. E. (1948). Response fixation under anxiety and non-anxiety conditions. J. Exp. Psychol. 38, 111–131. doi: 10.1037/h0055806

Guohua, S. (2012). Research on competitive anxiety of high-level college athletes in Inner Mongolia.

Hovenkamp-Hermelink, J. H. M., van der Veen, D. C., Voshaar, R. C. O., Batelaan, N. M., Penninx, R., Jeronimus, B. F., et al. (2019). Anxiety sensitivity, its stability and longitudinal association with severity of anxiety symptoms. *Sci. Rep.* 9:4314. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39931-7

Huang, X.-X., Ou, P., Qian, Q.-F., Huang, Y., Yang, S.-W., Wang, Y.-X., et al. (2019). Clinical effect of psychological and behavioral intervention combined with biofeedback in the treatment of preschool children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Zhongguo Dang Dai Er Ke Za Zhi* 21, 229–233. doi: 10.7499/j. issn.1008-8830.2019.03.008 Jiang, W., Zhou, X. L., Lui, S. S. Y., and Chan, R. C. K. (2022). Emotion-regulation goals in people with high trait anxiety. *PsyCh J.* 11, 971–972. doi: 10.1002/pchj.608

Kulshrestha, S., Agrawal, M., Singh, A. K., and Ved, A. (2021). Comparison of changes in cognitive functions of post-stroke patients with the computer-based cognitive intervention (PABLO system) and conventional cognitive intervention (paper-pencil method). *Curr. Psychiatry Res. Rev.* 17, 47–56. doi: 10.217 4/266608221766621040812228

Lazarus, A. A., and Rachman, S. (1957). The use of systematic desensitization in psychotherapy. S. Afr. Med. J. 31, 934-937.

Liang, D. M., Chen, S. Q., Zhang, W. T., Xu, K., Li, Y. T., Li, D. H., et al. (2021). Investigation of a progressive relaxation training intervention on Precompetition anxiety and sports performance among collegiate student athletes. *Front. Psychol.* 11:541. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.617541

Martin, K., and Hall, C. (1997). Situational and intrapersonal moderators of sport competition state anxiety. J. Sport Behav. 20, 435–447.

McGlynn, F. D., Smitherman, T. A., and Gothard, K. D. (2004). Comment on the status of systematic desensitization. *Behav. Modif.* 28, 194–205. doi: 10.1177/0145445503259414

Morrow, G. R., Asbury, R., Hammon, S., Dobkin, P., Caruso, L., Pandya, K., et al. (1992). Comparing the effectiveness of behavioral treatment for chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting when administered by oncologists, oncology nurses, and clinical psychologists. *Health Psychol.* 11, 250–256. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.11.4.250

O'Neil, D. G., and Howell, R. J. (1969). Three modes of hierarchy presentation in systematic desensitization therapy. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 7, 289–294. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(69)90009-6

Ping, Y., Hong, H., Xiaodong, X., Xiaomin, S., Ni, W., Ying, L. (2000). A study on the standardization of sports cognitive trait anxiety scale in China. *J. Chengdu Univ. Phys. Educ.* 1, 33–36.

Rabinovich, M. (2016). Psychodynamic emotional regulation in view of Wolpe's desensitization model. *Am. J. Psychol.* 129, 65–79. doi: 10.5406/amerjpsyc.129.1.0065

Rachman, S. (1967). Systematic desensitization. Psychol. Bull. 67, 93–103. doi: 10.1037/h0024212

Shaffer, C. T., Tenenbaum, G., and Eklund, R. C. (2015). Implicit theories of mental skills abilities in collegiate athletes. *J. Appl. Sport Psychol.* 27, 464–476. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2015.1044136

Tanguy, G., Sagui, E., Fabien, Z., Martin-Krumm, C., Canini, F., and Trousselard, M. (2018). Anxiety and psycho-physiological stress response to competitive sport exercise. *Front. Psychol.* 9:1469. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01469

Ujihara, T., Tsuga, K., Akagawa, Y., Tsuru, H., and Tatara, M. (1987). A psychological approach to bruxism--application of muscle relaxation training and autogenic training. *Hiroshima Daigaku Shigaku Zasshi* 19, 480–485.

Xiaoling, F. U., Yan, Y., Hongbo, Z., Haichun, S. U. N., Mingfeng, Y. A. N., Lei, B. I., et al. (2008). Effect of systematic desensitization method on reducing the surgery fear of children. *Chin. J. Nurs.* 43, 493–496. doi: 10.3761/j.issn.0254-1769.2008.06.003

Xuan, B. (2020). From evaluation to prediction: behavioral effects and biological markers of cognitive control intervention. *Neural Plast.* 2020, 1–11. doi: 10.1155/2020/1869459

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pedro Forte, Higher Institute of Educational Sciences of the Douro, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Rafael Peixoto, Instituto Superior de Ciências Educativas, Portugal Andreia Teixeira, University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Zoe Sirotiak ⊠ zmsiro@iastate.edu

RECEIVED 20 February 2024 ACCEPTED 01 April 2024 PUBLISHED 10 April 2024

CITATION

Sirotiak Z, Brellenthin AG, Hariharan A, Welch AS, Meyer JD and Franke WD (2024) Psychological correlates of physical activity among adults living in rural and urban settings. *Front. Psychol.* 15:1389078.

doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1389078

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Sirotiak, Brellenthin, Hariharan, Welch, Meyer and Franke. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Psychological correlates of physical activity among adults living in rural and urban settings

Zoe Sirotiak^{1*}, Angelique G. Brellenthin¹, Arjun Hariharan¹, Amy S. Welch², Jacob D. Meyer¹ and Warren D. Franke¹

¹Department of Kinesiology, Iowa State University, Ames, IA, United States, ²Department of Health and Human Performance, Norwich University, Northfield, VT, United States

Middle-aged and older adults living in rural settings have been consistently less likely to report regular physical activity (PA) than those living in urban settings. While past literature has identified sociodemographic and environmental correlates of PA that may contribute to these differences, consideration of psychological correlates has been limited. A total of 95 rural and urban adults \geq 50 years old provided self-reported sociodemographic information, PA level, and psychological correlates of PA including measures assessing motivation, self-efficacy, social support, and attitudes related to PA. The average participant age was 68.6 years, and most were female (62.1%) and married (70.5%). While PA level did not differ significantly between the rural and urban groups, different psychological correlates contributed significantly to separate rural and urban linear regression models considering PA status. Among rural adults, more positive attitudes toward PA, and greater PA self-efficacy and social support were associated with greater amounts of PA while for urban adults, no psychological correlates were significantly associated with PA. Psychosocial factors may be key considerations in developing more effective PA interventions in middleaged and older adults living in rural areas.

KEYWORDS

older adults, physical activity, psychological factors, rural health, urban health

Introduction

The benefits of regular physical activity (PA) are well documented in middle-aged and older adults (Langhammer et al., 2018; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023a). PA has an important role in helping adults preserve independence, control weight, prevent or manage chronic disease, and maintain muscle, joint and bone health (Sun et al., 2013; Langhammer et al., 2018; Eckstrom et al., 2020). PA has also been used in the prevention and management of many chronic health conditions affecting a substantial proportion of middle-aged and older adults, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and cancer (Anderson and Durstine, 2019). Although they can benefit from PA, middle-aged and older adults are the least physically active of any age group in the United States (Elgaddal et al., 2020), and there are further inequities in PA across many sociodemographic factors, including geographic location (Whitfield et al., 2023). Compared to urban or metropolitan older adults, fewer rural adults participate in regular PA (Cohen et al., 2018; Pelletier et al., 2021; Whitfield et al., 2023).

Several studies suggest that rural middle-aged and older adults are consistently less active than their urban counterparts (Parks et al., 2003; Martin et al., 2005; Cohen et al., 2018;

Pelletier et al., 2021; Whitfield et al., 2023). However, other studies have noted higher levels of specific types of PA among adults living in more rural environments, such as recreational cycling (Arnadottir et al., 2009; Van Dyck et al., 2011; Fan et al., 2014). PA may be particularly important in rural communities, as rural adults are more likely to die from a variety of chronic diseases associated with physical inactivity including heart disease, cancer, and chronic lower respiratory disease (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023b). PA has been associated with health-related quality of life and mental health among adults living in rural areas (Hart, 2016; Smáradóttir et al., 2020). Limitations in the built environment and other structural barriers may be key drivers of rural-urban differences in PA (Brownson et al., 2009; Ferdinand et al., 2012; Sallis et al., 2020). However, improving the built environment in rural areas may not be sufficient to increase PA participation; other cultural, social, or psychological factors must be considered (Brownson et al., 2000; Trost et al., 2002; Wilcox et al., 2003; Koeneman et al., 2011; Perrin et al., 2016). Participating in regular PA is a complex behavior influenced by many factors (Trost et al., 2002; Park et al., 2015; Pelletier et al., 2021). In addition to the built environment, psychological determinants of PA, such as attitudes, expectations, beliefs, and knowledge of PA, are powerful predictors of long-term participation in PA among middle-aged and older adults (Harris et al., 2009; van Stralen et al., 2009; Kosteli et al., 2016).

While the built environment has been extensively considered in the context of PA differences between rural and urban adults, the associations of psychological factors in these contexts are unclear (Schutzer and Graves, 2004; Newson and Kemps, 2007; Kosteli et al., 2016). Psychological correlates of PA have been identified among older adults, including motivation for PA, social support for PA, and PA self-efficacy (Booth et al., 2000; Shores et al., 2009; Ayotte et al., 2010). However, comparisons of psychological correlates of PA between rural and urban adults may allow determination of specific psychological correlates that may be particularly beneficial in each setting. Identifying specific psychological correlates of PA in rural and urban older adults would allow targeted PA promotion programs for these individual populations. Thus, the purpose of this study is to assess psychological correlates of PA among rural and urban adults.

Methods

Participants

Participants were adults \geq 50 years old who attended mobile health screening clinics at various locations across Iowa. Participants were invited to complete an optional PA questionnaire while waiting for their health screening. The survey probed PA participation and primary theoretical constructs underlying PA behavior (i.e., socio-ecological model, social cognitive theory, theory of planned behavior, and motives for PA). This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board and participants provided informed consent prior to data collection. Questionnaires were provided in the same order to each participant, and the questionnaires took approximately 10–15 min to administer. Participants were encouraged to contact the research team with any questions or concerns.

Rural or urban designation

The U.S. Health Resources and Services Administration guidelines (U.S. Health Resources and Services Administration, 2022), which combine US Census, Office of Management and Budget, and Rural–Urban Commuting Area classifications, were used to identify rural areas as described in previous studies (Chrisman et al., 2014; Abildso et al., 2021). Participants living in zip codes identified to be rural were assigned a "rural" label while those outside of these zip codes were assigned an "urban" label.

Primary outcome

Physical activity

The PA was measured using the Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly (PASE) (Washburn et al., 1993). The PASE is a brief instrument designed specifically to assess PA in older people over the past week. PASE is a reliable and valid measure of PA in older adults (α =0.75) (Washburn et al., 1993, 1999).

Perceptions of an individual's neighborhood were assessed with the Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale (NEWS) (Saelens et al., 2003; Cerin et al., 2006). Three subscales of this measure were utilized including residential density, land use mix-access, and neighborhood satisfaction. Residential density was measured using six items inquiring about the types of buildings in an individual's neighborhood rated on a 5-point Likert scale ("none" to "all"). Land use mix-access was assessed with seven items inquiring about access to various locations in their neighborhood (i.e., local stores, transit stops). These items are rated on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." Finally, general neighborhood satisfaction was measured with a 17-item 5-point Likert scale. Items assessing perceptions of an individual's neighborhood were rated from "strongly dissatisfied" to "strongly satisfied." Internal consistencies were acceptable in the current sample (residential density $\alpha = 0.68$; land use mix-access $\alpha = 0.73$; neighborhood satisfaction $\alpha = 0.94$).

Primary predictors

We assessed numerous psychological variables that have previously been shown to be associated with PA. We included psychological questionnaires, described in more detail below, that assessed motivation, intention, self-efficacy, barriers, enablers, social support, perceptions, and attitudes toward PA. Given the theoretical similarities between the psychological scales, a principal components analysis (PCA) was used to identify distinct psychological correlates of PA and the resulting components used as the primary predictors are described below.

Component 1: motivation for PA

Motivation for PA was assessed using the Motives for Physical Activity Measure - Revised (MPAM-R) (Ryan et al., 1997). The five motives assessed were (1) fitness, or being physically active out of the desire to be physically healthy, strong, and energetic; (2) appearance, or being active to become more physically attractive, to have defined muscles, to look better, and to achieve or maintain a desired weight;

(3) competence/challenge, or being physically active because of the desire to improve at an activity, to meet a challenge, and to acquire new skills; (4) social, or being physically active in order to be with friends and meet new people; and (5) enjoyment, or being physically active because it is fun, increases happiness, and is interesting, stimulating, and enjoyable (Ryan et al., 1997). Internal consistencies were acceptable in the current sample (fitness α = 0.95; appearance α = 0.91; competence α = 0.94; social α = 0.90; enjoyment α = 0.94).

Decisional balance, or the pros and cons of PA, was determined using a 16-item questionnaire, with 10 items pertaining to pros of PA while 6 items measured cons of PA (Marcus et al., 1992). Participants rated how each item affected their decision to engage in regular PA. The pros items were summed to produce raw scores that could range from 10 to 50, while the cons items were summed to produce raw scores that could range from 6 to 30. Internal consistency was adequate in our sample (pros α =0.97; cons α =0.76).

Component 2: PA self-efficacy

Intention to engage in PA and perceived behavioral control of PA, concepts of the Theory of Planned Behavior, were measured using questions from a previous study involving older adults (Gretebeck et al., 2007). Perceived behavioral control was measured with 3 items rating the ease or difficulty and amount of control they had over performing PA on a Likert scale. Internal consistency was adequate in our sample (α = 0.80). Intention was measured with 2 items in which participants rated their likelihood and intention of being physically active for 30 min, 3 days/week. Higher ratings reflected greater intention to participate in PA. Internal consistency was acceptable in our sample (α = 0.91).

Self-efficacy was assessed through two measures. The Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale (McAuley, 1993) is an 8-item measure that considers the participant's beliefs in their ability to continue exercising at a moderate intensity for 3 times/week for 40 min or more over the next month. Internal consistency was acceptable in our sample (α =0.96). Barrier self-efficacy for PA was assessed using a 12-item scale (McAuley and Mihalko, 1998) investigating adults' perceived capabilities to exercise three times/week for the next 3 months in the face of barriers (e.g., bad weather, lack of interest/boredom, pain, and discomfort). Internal consistency was adequate in our sample (α =0.97).

Component 3: social support for PA

Social support for PA was assessed using a 20-item questionnaire in which participants rated how often family (5 items) and friends (15 items) engaged in acts that were supportive of PA in the past 3 months, from 1 (never) to 5 (very often) (Sallis et al., 1987). The mean of the scores were calculated, with higher scores indicating greater social support. Internal consistency was adequate in the current sample (family α = 0.94; friends α = 0.93).

Component 4: attitudes toward PA

Instrumental attitude and affective attitude regarding PA, concepts of the Theory of Planned Behavior, were measured using questions from a previous study involving older adults (Gretebeck et al., 2007). The attitude toward PA scales were measured with 8 items using a 7-point semantic differential bipolar adjective scale (from -3 to 3). Positive scores indicated a more optimistic attitude toward PA. Internal consistency was acceptable in our sample (α =0.94).

Covariates

Participants self-reported sociodemographic and health characteristics including age, gender, education, marital status, health rating, height, and weight.

Statistical analysis

Given the theoretical similarities between the psychological scales, a principal components analysis (PCA) was used to identify distinct psychological correlates of PA. Missing data were addressed at the individual measure level, with individual measure scores imputed from the average of completed rural and urban scales. The number of imputations varied by scale: PASE: 1 (1.1%), barriers self-efficacy: 3 (3.2%), PA self-efficacy: 4 (4.2%), instrumental attitude: 9 (9.5%), affective attitude: 10 (10.5%), perceived behavioral control: 2 (2.1%), intention: 2 (2.1%), pros: 4 (4.2%), social support- family: 7 (7.4%), social support- friends: 8 (8.4%), motives- interest: 4 (4.2%), motivescompetence: 3 (3.2%), motives- appearance: 4 (4.2%), motives- fitness: 4 (4.2%), and motives-social: 4 (4.2%). Imputation was performed prior to PCA analysis. As our sample size precludes inclusion of numerous covariates, demographic and health-related variables were examined for inclusion as covariates in the linear regression models based on relationships with PA using bivariate correlations. Following PCA analysis, individual linear regression models assessing the associations of the PCA components with PA level (PASE) were performed for the combined group, as well as separate rural and urban subgroups.

Results

Preliminary analysis

A PCA was performed with the summary scores of 16 measures of hypothesized correlates of PA in 95 participants. The cons of PA subscale and subjective norm item were dropped from the analysis as neither had a correlation coefficient >0.3 with any other scale, leaving 14 measures in the final PCA. The data was assessed for suitability of PCA prior to analysis. The correlation matrix demonstrated that all remaining measures had at least one correlation coefficient greater than 0.3 and the overall Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) value was 0.84. Bartlett's test of sphericity was statistically significant (p < 0.001), indicating data factorizability. The PCA reported four components with eigenvalues greater than one which explained 45.91, 11.32, 10.00, and 9.33% of the total variances, respectively. Scree plot visualization suggested the retention of four components (Cattell, 2023). Therefore, four components were retained.

The four-component model explained 76.56% of the total variance. A Varimax with orthogonal rotation assisted with interpretation. The interpretation of the data was consistent with identified correlates of PA with strong loadings of motivation for PA on Component 1, PA self-efficacy on Component 2, social support for PA on Component 3, and attitudes toward PA on Component 4. PCA results can be found in Table 1.

Bivariate correlations between PA and age, gender, education, marital status, overall health, and body mass index (by calculating

	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4
Motivation- fitness	0.84	0.31	-0.03	0.14
Motivation- appearance	0.81	0.25	0.11	0.09
Motivation- competence	0.81	0.22	0.32	0.13
Motivation- interest or enjoyment	0.78	0.17	0.34	0.25
Exercise pros	0.74	0.26	-0.08	0.05
Motivation- social	0.62	-0.16	0.51	0.28
Perceived behavioral control	0.16	0.83	0.05	0.23
Intention to exercise	0.19	0.83	0.04	0.20
PA self-efficacy	0.45	0.76	0.27	-0.07
Barriers self-efficacy	0.35	0.62	0.28	0.20
Social support- friends	0.09	0.06	0.84	0.07
Social support- family	0.12	0.30	0.80	0.04
Affective attitude	0.17	0.18	0.12	0.88
Instrumental attitude	0.17	0.21	0.04	0.88

TABLE 1 Principal components analysis results role of psychological correlates in explaining PA in combined, rural, and urban older adults.

Factor 1 represents motivation for PA, Factor 2 represents PA self-efficacy, Factor 3 represents social support for PA, and Factor 4 represents attitudes toward PA. Motivation- fitness, Motivation – appearance, Motivation- competence, Motivation- social, and Motivation- interest or enjoyment measured by Motives for Physical Activity Measure-Revised (MPAM-R). Exercise pros measured by decisional balance items described in Marcus et al. (1992). Perceived behavioral control, Intention to exercise, Instrumental attitude, and Affective attitude measured as described in Gretebeck et al. (2007). PA self-efficacy measured by Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale. Barriers self-efficacy measured as described by McAuley and Mihalko (1998). Social supportfriends and social support- family measured as described by Sallis et al. (1987).

Bolded items indicate the PCA Factor with which each item loads on the most.

weight (kg)/height (m²)) were each assessed, but only age was significantly correlated with PA [r(95) = -0.44, p < 0.001]. Therefore, only age was included as a covariate in the primary regression models.

Primary analyses

Table 2 lists baseline characteristics of the rural and urban participants. In general, urban participants were more likely to be male with greater educational attainment than rural participants. Rural participants were more likely to be married, while urban participants were more likely to be widowed. There was no significant difference in PA levels between urban and rural adults [urban M(SD) = 175.12 (82.65); rural M(SD) = 168.70 (105.69); t(93) = -0.33;p = 0.742]. Middle aged adults (<65 years old) reported higher levels of PA compared to older individuals (≥ 65 years old) [t(94) = 4.09; p < 0.001]. Rural adults reported more positive attitudes toward PA than urban adults, as assessed by Component 4 of the PCA [t(92) = 3.90; p < 0.001] and affective attitude [t(93) = 3.14; p = 0.002]and instrumental attitude [t(93) = 2.17; p = 0.032] subscales. Urban adults reported significantly greater PA self-efficacy [t(93) = -2.22;p = 0.029]. All other individual scale comparisons were not significant between rural and urban groups.

Results of the combined final model indicated that age [$\beta = -0.39$, t(93) = -4.24, p < 0.001] and PA self-efficacy [$\beta = 0.29$, t(93) = 3.36, p = 0.001] significantly contributed to PA level (Table 3). For the rural sample, age [$\beta = -0.31$, t(46) = -2.54, p = 0.015], self-efficacy [$\beta = 0.28 t(46) = 2.41$, p = 0.020], social support [$\beta = 0.34$, t(46) = 2.78, p = 0.008], and attitudes toward PA [$\beta = 0.29$, t(46) = 2.50, p = 0.017] were each significantly associated with PA level. In the urban sample, only age [$\beta = -0.51$, t(47) = -3.63, p < 0.001] was significantly associated with PA level. Sample, and Table 3.

Sensitivity analyses

Gender and education were explored as covariates in conjunction with age in the regression models given their established association with physical activity (Plotnikoff et al., 2004). With these added covariates, the attitudes toward PA component was also significantly associated with PA (p=0.021) in the combined model. There were no significantly different conclusions in the rural or urban stratified models.

In an additional sensitivity analysis, we assessed associations of available neighborhood environment-related subscales with PA. Neighborhood Environment Walkability Scale (Saelens et al., 2003; Cerin et al., 2006) subscales were available for a subset of participants in our sample (residential density n = 78; land use mix-access n = 60; neighborhood satisfaction n=89). Neither residential density, described as the perceived density of residences in an area, or land use mix-access, defined as the perceived ability to access places nearby through PA, differed between rural and urban groups [t(76)=0.06,p=0.949; t(58)=-0.60, p=0.552]. However, rural adults reported greater neighborhood satisfaction than urban adults [t(87) = 2.45, p=0.016]. Therefore, neighborhood satisfaction was included in a regression model with age and the PCA components. In the combined model, social support was significantly associated with PA in addition to age and self-efficacy. Social support (p = 0.012) and attitudes toward PA (p = 0.028) remained significant in the rural model. There were no significant predictors in the urban subsample (ps > 0.05).

Discussion

PA among rural and urban adults

This study aimed to identify psychological correlates of PA in rural and urban middle aged and older adults. Middle aged adults

TABLE 2 Descriptive characteristics of the sample.

	Total (<i>N</i> = 95)	Urban (<i>N</i> = 48)	Rural (<i>N</i> = 47)	
Age, M years (SD)	68.55 (11.2)	67.63 (11.5)	69.49 (11.0)	
Gender, N (%)				
Female	59 (62.1)	26 (54.2)	33 (70.2)	
Male	36 (37.9)	22 (45.8)	14 (29.8)	
Education*				
High school or less	40 (42.5)	16 (33.4)	24 (52.2)	
Trade school	12 (12.8)	3 (6.3)	9 (19.6)	
Some college	10 (10.6)	8 (16.7)	2 (4.3)	
College degree or higher	32 (34.1)	21 (43.9)	11 (23.8)	
Marital status, N (%)				
Never married	2 (2.1)	1 (2.1)	1 (2.1)	
Married	67 (70.5)	36 (58.3)	31 (66.0)	
Divorced or separated	10 (10.5)	5 (10.4)	5 (10.6)	
Widowed	16 (16.8)	6 (12.5)	10 (21.3)	
Overall health, N (%)				
Excellent	15 (15.8)	11 (22.9)	4 (8.5)	
Good	62 (65.3)	28 (58.3)	34 (72.3)	
Fair	16 (16.8)	8 (16.7)	8 (17.0)	
Poor	2 (2.1)	1 (2.1)	1 (2.1)	
BMI, M (SD)	27.95 (4.9)	27.93 (5.1)	27.98 (4.6)	
PASE, M (SD)	171.94 (94.3)	175.12 (82.6)	168.70 (105.7)	
Motivation- fitness, M (SD)	26.87 (8.1)	27.38 (7.5)	26.35 (8.7)	
Motivation- competence, M (SD)	28.67 (11.6)	29.39 (11.7)	27.93 (11.6)	
Motivation- interest or enjoyment, M (SD)	28.99 (12.0)	28.88 (11.9)	29.09 (12.3)	
Motivation- appearance, M (SD)	27.47 (9.6)	28.30 (8.8)	26.62 (10.4)	
Exercise pros, M (SD)	36.95 (10.5)	37.89 (9.5)	35.99 (11.6)	
Motivation- social, M (SD)	16.19 (8.3)	15.19 (7.7)	17.21 (8.9)	
Perceived behavioral control, M (SD)	3.55 (1.1)	3.62 (1.1)	3.47 (1.2)	
Intention to exercise, M (SD)	3.47 (1.4)	3.53 (1.3)	3.41 (1.5)	
PA self-efficacy, <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)*	41.47 (33.0)	48.75 (33.4)	34.04 (31.3)	
Barriers self-efficacy, M (SD)	38.09 (26.7)	37.85 (26.7)	38.34 (27.00)	
Social support- friends, M (SD)	1.69 (0.9)	1.73 (0.9)	1.65 (0.85)	
Social support- family, M (SD)	2.10 (1.0)	2.09 (1.0)	2.11 (1.1)	
Instrumental attitude, M (SD)*	2.13 (1.2)	1.87 (1.36)	2.39 (0.9)	
Affective attitude, <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)*	1.68 (1.4)	1.26 (1.5)	2.10 (1.0)	

*Indicates significant difference (*p* < 0.05) between groups. BMI, body mass index. PASE, Physical Activity Scale for the Elderly. Motivation- fitness, Motivation – appearance, motivationcompetence, motivation- social, and motivation- interest or enjoyment measured by Motives for Physical Activity Measure-Revised (MPAM-R). Exercise pros measured by decisional balance items described in Marcus et al. (1992). Perceived behavioral control, Intention to exercise, Instrumental attitude, and Affective attitude measured as described in Gretebeck et al. (2007). PA self-efficacy measured by Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale. Barriers self-efficacy measured as described by McAuley and Mihalko (1998). Social support- friends and social support- family measured as described by Sallis et al. (1987).

reported higher levels of PA compared older adults, fitting with prior literature (Spartano et al., 2019). We found similar levels of PA in rural and urban participants, which contrasts with other studies reporting that rural residents engage in less PA than their urban counterparts (Cohen et al., 2018; Pelletier et al., 2021; Whitfield et al., 2023). Possible reasons for similar PA levels in our rural and urban participants include similar perceived residential density and land use mix-access, as well as greater neighborhood satisfaction among rural participants although this was not associated with PA in any final regression models. Lack of perceived differences in location accessibility and residential density, as well as greater neighborhood satisfaction may have caused our rural subset to be more active than rural groups in previous literature (Stronegger et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2019). Age was also the strongest predictor of PA levels, and age was

Variable	В	SE	β	t	p	
Combined						$R^2 = 0.37^{**}$
Age	-3.34	0.79	-0.39	-4.24	<0.001	
Motivation for PA	8.95	8.09	0.10	1.11	0.272	
Self-efficacy	27.45	8.16	0.29	3.36	0.001	
Social support	15.56	8.43	0.17	1.85	0.068	
Attitudes toward PA	15.54	8.01	0.17	1.95	0.056	
Rural						$R^2 = 0.49^{**}$
Age	-3.01	1.18	-0.31	-2.54	0.015	
Motivation for PA	1.48	11.38	0.02	0.13	0.897	
Self-efficacy	28.66	11.89	0.28	2.41	0.020	
Social support	34.63	12.47	0.34	2.78	0.008	
Attitudes toward PA	44.30	17.75	0.29	2.50	0.017	
Urban						$R^2 = 0.36^{**}$
Age	-3.83	1.06	-0.51	-3.63	<0.001	
Motivation for PA	17.06	11.47	0.20	1.49	0.144	
Self-efficacy	20.86	11.12	0.24	11,88	0.068	
Social support	-4.20	10.84	-0.05	-0.39	0.701	
Attitudes toward PA	5.21	9.16	0.07	0.57	0.572	

TABLE 3 Role of psychological correlates in explaining PA in combined, rural, and urban older adults.

***p*<0.001. Physical activity as assessed through PASE is the outcome measure for each model. Motivation for PA representing Factor 1, self-efficacy representing Factor 2, social support representing Factor 3, and attitudes toward PA representing Factor 4. Bolded items contribute significantly to the model.

similar between our urban and rural samples, which has not always been the case in previous studies (Parks et al., 2003; Martin et al., 2005). Finally, while we followed HRSA rural–urban definitions, the range of populations for the rural and urban locales may not have been as extreme as in other studies. For example, the 'urban' zip codes in this study had an average population of 211,754 people while the rural areas averaged 25,934 people (US Census Bureau, 2010; U.S. Health Resources and Services Administration, 2022). Previous work reporting on rural–urban differences in PA has included much larger metro areas of 1–5+ million residents (US Census Bureau, 2010; Cohen et al., 2018). Thus, it is quite possible that Iowa is relatively more homogenous in its population density, which could contribute to less separation in rural and urban characteristics.

Psychological correlates of PA

Despite finding no differences in self-reported PA levels, different psychological correlates of PA were identified in stratified analyses performed with rural and urban participants. Among rural participants, greater social support, and self-efficacy, as well as more positive attitudes toward PA were associated with greater amounts of PA. This finding aligns with reports of social support barriers associated with lower PA levels among rural adults, while not urban adults (Pelletier et al., 2022). Among urban participants, however, none of the psychological correlates were significantly associated with PA. These results suggest that the association between psychological correlates and PA may differ based on rural or urban residence. Resources targeting psychological correlates of PA may be particularly impactful among rural adults, while PA may be more affected by other factors in urban adults such as the individual's physical health and environment (Weiss et al., 2007; Sallis et al., 2012).

Interestingly, motivation for exercise, while the leading component identified by the PCA analysis accounting for nearly half of the total variance, was not significantly associated with PA in the combined, rural, or urban models conflicting with findings in prior rural and urban samples (Pelletier et al., 2022). This finding suggests that motivation, which has been viewed as a vital predictor of PA performance and public health promotion target (Teixeira et al., 2012; Molanorouzi et al., 2015), may not be the primary driver of PA behavior in middle-aged and older adults. However, our results do fit with other literature demonstrating that motivation is a weaker predictor of PA than other psychological correlates, perhaps because motivation can be transient (Ryan and Deci, 2000; Braver et al., 2014). Social cohesion has been noted among many rural communities (Avery et al., 2021), and considering group attitudes and social support may be particularly important among individuals living in rural areas. On the other hand, urban areas may have more built-in support for PA with extensive infrastructure for PA, making social support and group attitudes less important in predicting PA level among urban adults. Our results indicate that considering the environment and characteristics of the targeted population and targeting self-efficacy, social support, and attitudes toward PA may produce more effective health promotion campaigns. While many PA promotion programs have targeted the built environment and motivation for PA (Brownson et al., 2009; Ferdinand et al., 2012; Sallis et al., 2020), our findings indicate that interventions targeting selfefficacy, social support, and attitudes toward PA may be more impactful, particularly among rural adults. Further research is needed to develop these intervention programs.

Limitations

There were limitations to the present study. The study was crosssectional, and it is possible that higher levels of PA may exert reciprocal influences on positive psychosocial correlates of PA, distinct from the impact of rural or urban setting. The sample size was limited, and our findings cannot be extrapolated to all rural and urban middle-aged and older adults. PA was self-reported, which is prone to reporting bias.

Conclusion

In summary, rural middle-aged and older adults have been consistently noted to perform less PA than their urban peers and while sociodemographic and environmental correlates have been considered in prior work, there has been little investigation of potential psychological considerations. Our findings suggest that self-efficacy, social support, and positive attitudes toward PA are significantly associated with PA in rural populations, while psychological correlates were not significantly associated with PA in urban populations. Considering these findings in identifying those at risk of low PA levels and while developing more effective and specific PA campaigns may assist in improving health in these populations. Future studies could investigate interventions targeting distinct, specific psychological correlates in rural and urban areas to assist middle-aged and older adults in increasing PA levels and health. Intervention development in improving self-efficacy, social support, and attitudes toward PA among rural adults may be particularly impactful future research. Receiving community input through focus group discussions and an iterative study design may allow identification of community factors to consider in intervention development and implementation. Evaluating community factors will allow identification of important considerations prior to implementation of costly built environment or other intensive intervention. Our results indicate that considering psychological variables rather than solely the built environment may provide impactful PA interventions, particularly among rural adults.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

References

Abildso, C. G., Daily, S. M., Meyer, M. R. U., Edwards, M. B., Jacobs, L., McClendon, M., et al. (2021). Environmental factors associated with physical activity in rural U.S. counties. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 18:7688. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18147688

Anderson, E., and Durstine, J. L. (2019). Physical activity, exercise, and chronic diseases: a brief review. *Sports Med Health Sci* 1, 3–10. doi: 10.1016/j.smhs.2019.08.006

Arnadottir, S. A., Lundin-Olsson, L., and Gunnarsdottir, E. D. (2009). Are rural older Icelanders less physically active than those living in urban areas? A population-based study. *Scand J Public Health* 37, 409–417. doi: 10.1177/1403494809102776

Avery, E. E., Hermsen, J. M., and Kuhl, D. C. (2021). Toward a better understanding of perceptions of neighborhood social cohesion in rural and urban places. *Soc Indic Res* 157, 523–541. doi: 10.1007/s11205-021-02664-0

Ayotte, B. J., Margrett, J. A., and Hicks-Patrick, J. (2010). Physical activity in middleaged and young-old adults: the roles of self-efficacy, barriers, outcome expectancies, self-regulatory behaviors and social support. *J Health Psychol* 15, 173–185. doi: 10.1177/1359105309342283

Ethics statement

This study involving humans was approved by the Iowa State University Institutional Review Board. The study was conducted in accordance with local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

ZS: Formal analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft. AB: Formal analysis, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. AH: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft. AW: Data curation, Investigation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. JM: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. WF: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Booth, M. L., Owen, N., Bauman, A., Clavisi, O., and Leslie, E. (2000). Social-cognitive and perceived environment influences associated with physical activity in older Australians. *Prev Med* 31, 15–22. doi: 10.1006/pmed.2000.0661

Braver, T. S., Krug, M. K., Chiew, K. S., Kool, W., Andrew Westbrook, J., Clement, N. J., et al. (2014). Mechanisms of motivation-cognition interaction: challenges and opportunities. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci* 14, 2, 443–472. doi: 10.3758/s13415-014-0300-0

Brownson, R. C., Eyler, A. A., King, A. C., Brown, D. R., Shyu, Y. L., and Sallis, J. F. (2000). Patterns and correlates of physical activity among US women 40 years and older. *Am J Public Health* 90:264. doi: 10.2105/ajph.90.2.264

Brownson, R. C., Hoehner, C. M., Day, K., Forsyth, A., and Sallis, J. F. (2009). Measuring the built environment for physical activity: state of the science. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 36, S99–S123.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.01.005

Cattell, R. B. (2023). The scree test for the number of factors. *Multivariate Behav Res* 1, 245–276. doi: 10.1207/s15327906mbr0102_10

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *How much physical activity do older adults need*? Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023a).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *About Rural Health*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023b).

Cerin, E., Saelens, B. E., Sallis, J. F., and Frank, L. D. (2006). Neighborhood environment walkability scale: validity and development of a short form. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 38, 1682–1691. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000227639.83607.4d

Chrisman, M., Nothwehr, F., Yang, J., and Oleson, J. (2014). Perceived correlates of domain-specific physical activity in rural adults in the Midwest. *J Rural Health* 30, 352–358. doi: 10.1111/jrh.12065

Cohen, S. A., Greaney, M. L., and Sabik, N. J. (2018). Assessment of dietary patterns, physical activity and obesity from a national survey: rural-urban health disparities in older adults. *PLoS One* 13:e0208268. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208268

Eckstrom, E., Neukam, S., Kalin, L., and Wright, J. (2020). Physical activity and healthy aging. *Clin Geriatr Med* 36, 671–683. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2020.06.009

Elgaddal, N., Kramarow, E. A., and Reuben, C. (2020). Physical activity among adults aged 18 and over: United States. *NCHS Data Brief* 443, 1–8.

Fan, J. X., Wen, M., and Kowaleski-Jones, L. (2014). Rural-urban differences in objective and subjective measures of physical activity: findings from the National Health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES) 2003-2006. *Prev Chronic Dis* 11:E141. doi: 10.5888/pcd11.140189

Ferdinand, A. O., Sen, B., Rahurkar, S., Engler, S., and Menachemi, N. (2012). The relationship between built environments and physical activity: a systematic review. *Am J Public Health* 102, e7–e13. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300740

Gretebeck, K. A., Black, D. R., Blue, C. L., Glickman, L. T., Huston, S. A., and Gretebeck, R. J. (2007). Physical activity and function in older adults: theory of planned behavior. *Am J Health Behav* 31, 203–214. doi: 10.5993/AJHB.31.2.9

Harris, T. J., Owen, C. G., Victor, C. R., Adams, R., and Cook, D. G. (2009). What factors are associated with physical activity in older people, assessed objectively by accelerometry? *Br J Sports Med* 43, 442–450. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.048033

Hart, P. D. (2016). Meeting recommended levels of physical activity and health-related quality of life in rural adults. *J Lifestyle Med* 6:1. doi: 10.15280/jlm.2016.6.1.1

Koeneman, M. A., Verheijden, M. W., Chinapaw, M. J. M., and Hopman-Rock, M. (2011). Determinants of physical activity and exercise in healthy older adults: a systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 8, 142–115. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-142

Kosteli, M. C., Williams, S. E., and Cumming, J. (2016). Investigating the psychosocial determinants of physical activity in older adults: A qualitative approach. *Psychol Health* 31, 730–749. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2016.1143943

Langhammer, B., Bergland, A., and Rydwik, E. (2018). The importance of physical activity exercise among older people. *Biomed Res Int* 2018, 1–3. doi: 10.1155/2018/7856823

Marcus, B. H., Rakowski, W., and Rossi, J. S. (1992). Assessing motivational readiness and decision making for exercise. *Health Psychol* 11, 257–261.

Martin, S. L., Kirkner, G. J., Mayo, K., Matthews, C. E., Durstine, J. L., and Hebert, J. R. (2005). Urban, rural, and regional variations in physical activity. *J Rural Health* 21, 239–244. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-0361.2005.tb00089.x

McAuley, E. (1993). Self-efficacy and the maintenance of exercise participation in older adults. *J Behav Med* 16, 103–113. doi: 10.1007/BF00844757

McAuley, E., and Mihalko, S. L. (1998). "Measuring exercise-related self-efficacy" in *Advances in sport and exercise psychology measurement*. ed. J. L. Duda (Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology), 371–390.

Molanorouzi, K., Khoo, S., and Morris, T. (2015). Motives for adult participation in physical activity: type of activity, age, and gender health behavior, health promotion and society. *BMC Public Health* 15, 1–12. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1429-7

Newson, R. S., and Kemps, E. B. (2007). Factors that promote and prevent exercise engagement in older adults. *J Aging Health* 19, 470–481. doi: 10.1177/0898264307300169

Park, S., Ahn, J., and Lee, B. K. (2015). Self-rated subjective health status is strongly associated with sociodemographic factors, lifestyle, nutrient intakes, and biochemical indices, but not smoking status: KNHANES 2007-2012. *J Korean Med Sci* 30, 1279–1287. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2015.30.9.1279

Parks, S. E., Housemann, R. A., and Brownson, R. C. (2003). Differential correlates of physical activity in urban and rural adults of various socioeconomic backgrounds in the United States. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 57, 29–35. doi: 10.1136/jech.57.1.29

Pelletier, C. A., White, N., Duchesne, A., and Sluggett, L. (2021). Barriers to physical activity for adults in rural and urban Canada: a cross-sectional comparison. *SSM Popul Health* 16:100964. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100964

Pelletier, C., White, N., Duchesne, A., and Sluggett, L. (2022). Rural-urban differences in individual and environmental correlates of physical activity in Canadian adults. *Prev. Med. Rep.* 30:102061. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2022.102061

Perrin, A. J., Caren, N., Skinner, A. C., Odulana, A., and Perrin, E. M. (2016). The unbuilt environment: culture moderates the built environment for physical activity. *BMC Public Health* 16, 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3866-3

Plotnikoff, R. C., Mayhew, A., Birkett, N., Loucaides, C. A., and Fodor, G. (2004). Age, gender, and urban-rural differences in the correlates of physical activity. *Prev Med* 39, 1115–1125. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.04.024

Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *Am. Psychol.* 55, 68–78. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68

Ryan, R. M., Frederick, C. M., Lepes, D., Rubio, N., and Sheldon, K. M. (1997). Intrinsic motivation and exercise adherence. *Int. J. Sport Psychol.* 28, 335–354.

Saelens, B. E., Sallis, J. F., Black, J. B., and Chen, D. (2003). Neighborhood-based differences in physical activity: an environment scale evaluation. *Am J Public Health* 93:1552. doi: 10.2105/ajph.93.9.1552

Sallis, J. F., Cerin, E., Kerr, J., Adams, M. A., Sugiyama, T., Christiansen, L. B., et al. (2020). Built Environment, Physical Activity, and obesity: findings from the international physical activity and environment network (IPEN) adult study. Annu Rev Public Health 41, 119–139. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publicelth-040218-043657

Sallis, J. F., Floyd, M. F., Rodríguez, D. A., and Saelens, B. E. (2012). Role of built environments in physical activity, obesity, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 125, 729–737. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.969022

Sallis, J. F., Grossman, R. M., Pinski, R. B., Patterson, T. L., and Nader, P. R. (1987). The development of scales to measure social support for diet and exercise behaviors. *Prev Med* 16, 825–836.

Schutzer, K. A., and Graves, B. S. (2004). Barriers and motivations to exercise in older adults. *Prev Med* 39, 1056–1061. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.04.003

Shores, K. A., West, S. T., Theriault, D. S., and Davison, E. A. (2009). Extra-individual correlates of physical activity attainment in rural older adults. *J Rural Health* 25, 211–218. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-0361.2009.00220.x

Smáradóttir, B. R., Kristófersson, G. K., Sigurðardóttir, Á. K., and Árnadóttir, S. (2020). Physical activity and depression among older community-dwelling adults in urban and rural areas: population based study. *Laeknabladid* 106, 453–459. doi: 10.17992/lbl.2020.10.600

Spartano, N. L., Lyass, A., Larson, M. G., Tran, T., Andersson, C., Blease, S. J., et al. (2019). Objective physical activity and physical performance in middle-aged and older adults. *Exp. Gerontol.* 119, 203–211. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.02.003

Stronegger, W. J., Titze, S., and Oja, P. (2010). Perceived characteristics of the neighborhood and its association with physical activity behavior and self-rated health. *Health Place* 16, 736–743. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.03.005

Sun, F., Norman, I. J., and While, A. E. (2013). Physical activity in older people: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 13, 1–17. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-449

Teixeira, P. J., Carraça, E. V., Markland, D., Silva, M. N., and Ryan, R. M. (2012). Exercise, physical activity, and self-determination theory: a systematic review. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 9:78. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-78

Trost, S. G., Owen, N., Bauman, A. E., Sallis, J. F., and Brown, W. (2002). Correlates of adults' participation in physical activity: review and update. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 34, 1996–2001. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000038974.76900.92

U.S. Health Resources and Services Administration. *Defining rural population*. Rockville, MD: U.S. Health Resources & Service Administration. (2022).

US Census Bureau. Annual estimates of the resident population for counties in Iowa: April 1, 2010 to July 1, 2019 (CO-EST2019-ANNRES-19). Suitland, MD: U.S. Census Bureau (2010).

Van Dyck, D., Cardon, G., Deforche, B., and De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2011). Urban-rural differences in physical activity in Belgian adults and the importance of psychosocial factors. *J Urban Health* 88, 154–167. doi: 10.1007/s11524-010-9536-3

van Stralen, M. M., de Vries, H., Mudde, A. N., Bolman, C., and Lechner, L. (2009). Determinants of initiation and maintenance of physical activity among older adults: a literature review. *Health Psychol Rev* 3, 147–207. doi: 10.1080/17437190903229462

Wang, Z., Qin, Z., He, J., Ma, Y., Ye, Q., Xiong, Y., et al. (2019). The association between residential density and physical activity among urban adults in regional China. *BMC Public Health* 19, 1279–1277. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7593-4

Washburn, R. A., McAuley, E., Katula, J., Mihalko, S. L., and Boileau, R. A. (1999). The physical activity scale for the elderly (PASE): evidence for validity. *J Clin Epidemiol* 52, 643–651. doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(99)00049-9

Washburn, R. A., Smith, K. W., Jette, A. M., and Janney, C. A. (1993). The physical activity scale for the elderly (PASE): development and evaluation. *J Clin Epidemiol* 46, 153–162. doi: 10.1016/0895-4356(93)90053-4

Weiss, D. R., O'Loughlin, J. L., Platt, R. W., and Paradis, G. (2007). Five-year predictors of physical activity decline among adults in low-income communities: a prospective study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 4, 1–7. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-4-2

Whitfield, G. P., Carlson, S. A., Ussery, E. N., Fulton, J. E., Galuska, D. A., and Petersen, R. (2023). Trends in meeting physical activity guidelines among urban and rural dwelling adults — United States, 2008–2017. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 68, 513–518. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6823a1

Wilcox, S., Bopp, M., Oberrecht, L., Kammermann, S. K., and McElmurray, C. T. (2003). Psychosocial and perceived environmental correlates of physical activity in rural and older african american and white women. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci* 58, 329–337. doi: 10.1093/geronb/58.6.p329

Frontiers in Psychology

Paving the way for a greater understanding of human behavior

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



